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German Disarmament after
World War I

This book examines the difficult challenge that disarming Germany posed
to the Allied enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles.

The destructive legacy of war convinced the victorious nations, espe-
cially Britain and France, of the importance in minimizing German mili-
tary strength. French post-war security concerns, however, were often
faced with the unwillingness of Britain to enforce the totality of the mili-
tary articles of the treaty while German obstruction also influenced Allied
disarmament policies.

The book examines three major areas of the international disarmament
of Germany from 1920–1931: the role and experience of international
arms inspectors working amidst an embittered German populace, the ram-
ifications of the divergent disarmament priorities of Britain and France,
and the effectiveness of united allied policies backed by sanctions. Despite
strained Allied relations and German violations of the military clauses of
the treaty, the author demonstrates that arms inspections crippled
Germany’s ability to pose a military threat to European security.

This book will be of great interest to students of military history,
modern European history and security studies.

Richard J. Shuster is a historian for the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA)
in Washington, DC. His research interests include inter-war diplomatic
and modern military history.
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1 Introduction

When the guns in Europe fell silent on 11 November 1918, the victorious
Allied and Associated Powers, as well as the defeated Central Powers and
their allies, opened their eyes to a Europe changed forever by the brutality
of war. Over eight million soldiers had died, roughly equal to the amount
killed in the previous eight centuries of warfare in Europe.1 The rapid
advance of technology had outpaced the strategic and tactical doctrines of
the great European General Staffs and had helped lead to the sustained
and costly casualty rate. Geopolitical ambition, diplomatic ineptitude,
arrogance, willpower, obsolete planning, together with the twentieth-
century arsenal of heavy artillery, machine-guns, tanks, poison gas, sub-
marines and airplanes, had destroyed a generation. Hence, the leaders of
the victorious powers vowed never to allow the repetition of such a catas-
trophic event. Britain and France held the fate of the powerful German
military in their hands, and the diplomatic path upon which the two
nations embarked would leave an indelible mark upon the entire post-war
decade.

Spawned by strategic concerns and the moral outrage left as a legacy of
World War I, the Allies initiated their decision to disarm Germany in
broad terms in the Armistice in November 1918 and then much more
comprehensively as an entire section of the Treaty of Versailles in June
1919.2 The disarmament of a defeated enemy was not a novel concept in
1918 but the scale involved in disarming Germany was unprecedented.
The most recent instances of European disarmament concerning great
powers occurred in the Napoleonic era. Prussia in 1808, Austria in 1809,
and France itself in 1815 had experienced various disarmament measures.3

The scale, however, was simply not comparable to the disarmament of a
great twentieth-century power. With the introduction of highly lethal
weapons, organized General Staffs and industrial proficiency, the modern
arsenal of the great powers far surpassed the military capacity of the previ-
ous century. To make matters more difficult, the men and material of the
German army at the end of the war were quantitatively and qualitatively
among the world’s elite. Britain, France and the United States stood victo-
rious over a military force of over 400,000 soldiers, tens of thousands of

 



artillery pieces and trench mortars, approximately 100,000 machine-guns,
countless rounds of ammunition, and various types of equipment that con-
stituted a superior modern army. In addition, the German industrial base
that produced massive amounts of war materials remained intact. The
German military, defeated and demoralized at the end of the war, faced
the indictment of the victorious democracies, and the subsequent develop-
ment and implementation of Allied disarmament strategies and efforts
toward Germany became a crucial element of European post-war diplo-
matic and military affairs.

With the defeat of Germany, Britain and France emerged from World
War I as the dominant European powers and quickly established authority
over the development and enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles.
Although Britain, France and the United States were responsible for draft-
ing the treaty, the diplomatic and political withdrawal of America from
Europe after the final rejection of the treaty in 1920 resulted in
Anglo–French control over the peace settlement toward Germany.
Although Belgium, Italy and Japan participated in Allied disarmament
operations in Germany, they generally supported either the policies of
Britain or France with little initiative of their own. Thus, the disarmament
of the German military remained essentially an Anglo–French affair for its
duration from 1920 to 1931. Although British and French losses in the
war justified Anglo–French control of the disarmament process, the
strained relationship raised questions about the efficacy of disarmament
operations in Germany. In fact, British and French differences over disar-
mament priorities augmented the instability of the post-war period and
created difficulties in enforcing the military clauses upon a bitter Germany.
As a result, Britain and France attempted to assert themselves and rise
above the dissolution of the entente in an attempt to control the course of
German disarmament.

Great Britain and France emerged from World War I with bipolar out-
looks concerning European affairs, and their foreign policies reflected this
disparity. Britain, with an insular location essentially safe from military
aggression, focused upon the restoration of the balance of power and
stability on the Continent.4 France, on the other hand, was exclusively
concerned with security against the threat of renewed German aggression.
Allied in the intense struggle to defeat Germany in World War I, at war’s
end the common factor that united the two nations was gone, and the
unified effort to bring an everlasting peace to Europe would soon become
entangled in conflicting strategies toward the enforcement of the economic,
territorial and military aspects of the Treaty of Versailles. Although the
British and French eventually reached an accord toward German disarma-
ment at the Paris Peace Conference, differences would remain throughout
disarmament operations.

When the war came to a close, Britain found itself in a more advanta-
geous and stable position than France. As a major imperialist rival before
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the war, Germany had threatened Britain’s security, trade routes, and colo-
nial empire with its navy. Once a primary concern to British interests,
German naval competition disappeared with Germany’s defeat and the
subsequent scuttling of the Imperial Navy, interned in Scapa Flow, in
1919. During the war Britain had abandoned its traditional foreign and
military policy by becoming heavily involved with ground forces on the
Continent. With its security re-established in 1918, however, Britain
sought to restore the balance of power and stability on the Continent by
preventing French domination of Germany. This strategy was present
throughout the discussions and negotiations at the Paris Peace Conference,
and continued to influence British decisions concerning Allied disarma-
ment operations.

In comparison to the relative safety of Great Britain, French political
and military authorities considered their security threatened by Germany’s
larger population and dominant military-industrial potential. The French
had lost Alsace-Lorraine to Germany in the Franco–Prussian War, and
World War I left France with almost one and half million dead and many
important industrial areas destroyed. The terrible losses in the war thus
rendered France obsessed with security, and victory allowed the French to
attempt to bolster their position vis-à-vis Germany. Germany’s industrial
and military potential was superior to every nation in Europe, and most
French leaders, despite emerging victorious from the war, believed that
German military-industrial power would inevitably dominate the Conti-
nent once again. As a result, at the Paris Peace Conference and throughout
the 1920s, France attempted to weaken Germany to ensure French security
and leadership on the Continent. Britain, in seeking to maintain a stable
balance of power in Europe, feared French hegemony and attempted to
thwart French schemes for political and territorial aggrandizement. The
result was a mix of treaty enforcement, lengthy negotiations, conferences,
modifications and appeasement.

The disarmament of Germany was a contentious issue in post-war inter-
national affairs that ultimately proved to be an area of Allied success. As
one of the main sections of the Treaty of Versailles, German disarmament
emerged in the war’s aftermath as an enormous challenge to the Allied
quest for European security. British and French leaders viewed the disar-
mament of Germany as a focal point of the peace settlement, pushing it to
the forefront of issues that the victorious powers addressed in Paris.
Although the Treaty of Versailles sought to secure European peace
through territorial revision, reparations, occupation, and disarmament,
only the latter represented the most concrete means to remove the possibil-
ity of German aggression. The Allies agreed unanimously that they had to
place severe restrictions upon the German military, and disarmament
became an instant and enduring test of Allied treaty enforcement. Despite
philosophical differences and German obstruction to their efforts, the
Allies stuck to the task for the entire post-war decade. The issue of
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German disarmament remained a priority in the development and enforce-
ment of the peace and had lasting effects upon the Allied coalition by fos-
tering international cooperation through a system of diplomatic
conferences, military operations, and the creation and maintenance of
Allied civilian and military organizations.

Disarmament operations in Germany allowed British and French
troops, along with their Belgian, Italian and Japanese allies, to work in
concert on German soil. The British, French and Belgian soldiers that eval-
uated the extent of German disarmament eventually outlasted their com-
patriots stationed at the Rhine bridgeheads in Cologne, Mainz and
Coblenz. At the center of the issue of disarmament was the system of inter-
national arms inspection that the Allies implemented from 1920 to 1927.
The presence of “boots on the ground” in international disarmament
operations in Germany should not be underestimated as inspections guar-
anteed direct oversight of German military installations and industry. Dis-
armament operations also allowed the inspectors to observe and report on
military and political conditions inside Germany. Allied soldiers working
to disarm Germany provided critical analysis in evaluating the capability
and intentions of the German military for over a decade.

The Allied disarmament of Germany from 1920 to 1931 is relevant to
contemporary questions and lends insight into the understanding and appli-
cation of foreign policy at the start of the twenty-first century. Although the
geopolitical situation of the 1920s differs dramatically from that of the
1990s and early 2000s, the Allied disarmament of Germany does provide
certain lessons that could be applied to current events. Some similarities
between the Allied attempt to disarm Germany and the efforts of the United
Nations in the disarmament of Iraq in the 1990s have been particularly
illuminating. For instance, illegal chemical weapons production, clandestine
caches of war material, and denial of access to inspectors to sensitive sites
are just some of the issues that confronted international inspection efforts
in Germany and Iraq. In both cases, inspectors were able to overcome
many of the difficulties they faced. Although a continuing controversial
subject, evidence suggests that international disarmament operations in Iraq
in the 1990s successfully eradicated stockpiles of weapons of mass destruc-
tion while the second round of inspections in 2002 to 2003 seemed to
verify this success. A robust inspection process, especially when supported
by an international coalition that imposes sanctions to punish non-
compliance with disarmament demands, can prove to be an effective means
of enforcement. Disarmament efforts continue to be a focal point of inter-
national affairs in the twenty-first century, and the international community
can benefit from the knowledge of Allied strategies and successes in efforts
to disarm a modern power of the twentieth century.

The historiography of European inter-war diplomacy is plentiful and
diverse, yet the Allied disarmament of Germany has not received the atten-
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tion it deserves. As Philip Towle argues in Enforced Disarmament: From
the Napoleonic Campaigns to the Gulf War, military historians have
focused on wartime strategy rather than peacemaking, while diplomatic
historians have examined the political questions of peace conferences at
the expense of their military aspects.5 Despite numerous studies concerning
the multitude of issues arising from the Treaty of Versailles, there has been
no specific work that encompasses multinational efforts to disarm
Germany after World War I. Reparations, occupation, territorial questions
and illicit German rearmament have received copious amounts of attention
yet historians have largely neglected the question of disarmament. The
scholarship has consisted of either general studies or has examined only
the German side of the issue. David Williamson, in The British in
Germany, 1918–1930: The Reluctant Occupiers, examines British occupa-
tion forces in Europe after World War I and surveys Allied disarmament
efforts in Germany in the 1920s. In referring to disarmament, Williamson
outlines general British policy and concerns, including initial insight into
British differences of opinion in assessing the level of fulfillment of the dis-
armament clauses of the treaty, but points out that there has been no com-
prehensive analysis of British efforts toward the disarmament of
Germany.6 Aside from the publication of memoirs of Allied officers
involved in the disarmament of Germany, such as General Nollet’s Une
Expérience de Désarmement and Paul Roques’s Le Contrôle Militaire
Interallié en Allemagne, the French perspective in disarming Germany has
been equally neglected.

On the other hand, in Entwaffnung und Militärkontrolle in Deutsch-
land, 1919–1927, Michael Salewski focuses on German strategy and reac-
tion to Allied disarmament and bases his book exclusively upon German
archival sources. He argues that the IAMCC exaggerated German viola-
tions and asserts that Allied disarmament efforts injured German honor
and sovereignty.7 Salewski does not, however, provide an analysis of Allied
disarmament policies and concludes his study in 1927, four years before
the final elements of Allied disarmament disappeared. Francis Ludwig
Carsten has explored the political role of the German army after World
War I in The Reichswehr and Politics, 1918–1933, where he briefly dis-
cusses German violations of the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty.8

Within the context of the emergence of the Reichswehr as a political force
in Weimar Germany, Carsten’s analysis of German disarmament focuses
on some of the German military evasions and strategies under General
Hans von Seeckt without an examination of the Allied perspective on
German disarmament. One additional study, Covert German Disarma-
ment 1919–1939 by Barton Whaley, also focuses upon German disarma-
ment violations of the Treaty of Versailles but precludes an examination of
Allied roles in the enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty.9

Secondary sources on inter-war Anglo–French relations and the enforce-
ment of the Treaty of Versailles are voluminous. Classic studies such as
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Arnold Wolfers’ Britain and France Between Two Wars and Robert
Jordan’s Great Britain, France, and the German Problem, 1918–1939
provide historians with the nuts and bolts of inter-war European diplo-
macy.10 Current historians have not shied away entirely from additional
studies of this particular period of history, nor has the Treaty of Versailles
been collecting dust in the current historiography; but the Allied enforce-
ment of disarmament has not yet received due attention. William Kleine-
Ahlbrandt in The Burden of Victory: France, Britain, and the Enforcement
of the Versailles Peace 1919–1925 surveys Allied conference diplomacy
from Versailles to Locarno but ignores disarmament.11 Similarly, Sara
Moore, in Peace Without Victory for the Allies 1918–1932, concentrates
exclusively on economic issues in Anglo–French relations.12 Astonishingly,
the most comprehensive analysis of the Treaty of Versailles to date, The
Treaty of Versailles: A Reassessment After 75 Years, examines reparations,
territorial questions, war guilt, and British, French, and American policies
toward the drafting and enforcement of the treaty but entirely neglects the
issue of German disarmament.13

In assessing Allied disarmament operations in Germany from 1920 to
1931, this study examines three major areas of interest: the ramifications
of the divergent disarmament priorities of Britain and France, British dom-
inance in controlling the direction of Allied disarmament policy toward
Germany, and the Allied success in destroying German military strength,
most effectively through a united policy backed by military sanctions. The
three focal points of the study are interrelated, and in order to clarify
Allied motivations behind the disarmament of Germany, they necessarily
overlap at various times throughout the period of Allied operations. In
addition, the general foreign policy strategies of Britain and France in the
post-war period, the balance of power versus security, respectively, will
serve as a backdrop to the study.

From the outset of Allied disarmament operations in Germany, Britain
and France held dichotomous opinions toward the most efficient means of
degrading the strength of the German military. Whereas British political
and military authorities advocated the destruction of German armaments as
the most effective means to disarm Germany, the French stressed the reduc-
tion of the German army and police and the eradication of all paramilitary
organizations. Although the French supported and initially demanded the
enforcement of every clause of the Versailles Treaty, their focus on the
question of German armed military personnel led to a distinct difference of
opinion with the British in the development and implementation of Allied
disarmament strategies and operations. The most pressing ramification of
the Anglo–French variance in disarmament priorities was the centrifugal
force it applied to a common disarmament policy. The Allied promises of
1918 to enforce a peace settlement in its entirety would not survive the
post-war divergence of British and French disarmament priorities, but Allied
disarmament operations in Germany would last beyond all expectations.
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Within the post-war Anglo–French relationship, British leadership in
the development and implementation of Allied disarmament operations
was an influential factor in the outcome of German disarmament.
Although German disarmament was largely an Anglo–French undertaking,
British political and military leadership asserted itself as a forceful presence
from the Paris Peace Conference in 1919 to the withdrawal of the last ves-
tiges of Allied military control in 1931. After the political and military
withdrawal of the United States from Europe, the Anglo–French relation-
ship was the key to the maintenance of peaceful European relations in the
post-war period. The Allied enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles was
the initial means to achieve such lofty ends, but changes in British attitudes
toward enforcement throughout the 1920s impacted upon overall German
fulfilment, albeit in a relatively trivial amount. French security depended
upon the strict enforcement of the treaty but the clash of British and
French strategies toward treaty enforcement and the disarmament of
Germany necessitated a change in French policy. The dominant British
presence and the reciprocal French acquiescence in the Allied disarmament
of Germany was a microcosm of Anglo–French relations toward Germany
in the inter-war period. The periodically antagonistic Anglo–French rela-
tionship of the 1920s would have lasting effects until the outbreak of
World War II.

An examination of the use of Allied sanctions to ensure fulfilment of the
military clauses of the Versailles Treaty is crucial to assessing the effective-
ness of Anglo–French disarmament efforts in Germany and sheds light
upon a subject that will continue to influence modern foreign and military
relations. The Treaty of Versailles reflected Allied desires in 1919 to
punish Germany for her aggressive role in the outbreak of the war, address
nationalistic ambitions and the cries for self-determination of peoples, and
prevent another world war. It was an ambitious attempt to address
Europe’s grievances but contained a serious flaw. Although the treaty com-
prised 440 articles, an oversight that would affect the enforcement of the
disarmament clauses and the execution of the treaty in general was the
absence of any effective schemes to address German non-compliance or
violations other than the prolongation of the Rhineland occupation. As a
result, Britain and France had to develop ad hoc policies of enforcement.

Despite violations of the military clauses of the treaty, the Allies experi-
enced much success in disarming Germany, especially when enforcing
common disarmament strategies with the threat of military sanctions. The
development and implementation of Allied sanctions to enforce the disar-
mament clauses of the Treaty of Versailles illustrated the importance
Britain and France placed upon the demilitarization of Germany. With no
legal recourse to apply sanctions in case of German non-fulfilment of its
treaty obligations, except to extend the duration of the Rhineland occupa-
tion under Article 429, the Allies eventually established their authority in
the enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty by applying the threat
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of occupation. The use of the threat of military sanctions by Britain and
France in July 1920, May 1921 and January 1925 would have consider-
able and immediate effects upon German disarmament.

The Allied disarmament of Germany after World War I was a complex
mosaic of diplomatic strategies, political and military policies, technical
and logistic endeavors, and individual ambitions within the context of the
enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles. The different Anglo–French polit-
ical and military policies and priorities, the physical execution of the disar-
mament clauses of the treaty, and the various personalities involved in a
joint effort to disarm Germany during the tumultuous period of the 1920s
comprised a massive undertaking rife with difficulties. The Allies did not
realize the complexity of the military aspects of the treaty when they
drafted the disarmament clauses in Paris. Britain, France, and Germany
would all interpret the language of the treaty in a way that best suited their
own interests. As a result, the victorious Allied powers, recently united
against a common foe, soon clashed with one another and with Germany
in the attempt to carry out the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles.
The Allied disarmament of Germany, however, survived the entire post-
war decade and eliminated the threat of German military aggression.

The development and implementation of Allied disarmament operations
in Germany was a monumental endeavor on a scale never experienced
before in history. The sudden collapse and surrender of German forces in
November 1918 caught the victors by surprise. Despite the fact that the
defeat of Germany had been possible only through a coalition of the
world’s powers, Britain and France were unprepared for the profuse
number of tasks that lay ahead. Similar to the effort taken to defeat the
Central Powers on the field of battle, an Allied undertaking was needed to
enforce the peace and disarm Germany. After the American withdrawal
from European diplomatic and military affairs soon after the war, the vic-
torious powers of Britain and France, and to a much lesser extent Italy,
Belgium and Japan, were left to enforce the Treaty of Versailles and
cripple Germany’s military capacity. The colossal scope of disarmament,
the divergence of foreign policies towards Europe, and the lack of foresight
of the Allies in 1918 set the stage for Anglo–French friction in disarming
Germany in the 1920s. The unprecedented forceful pacification of an
embittered modern power was to be replete with tense negotiations,
momentous decisions and international conflict – all basic ingredients of
disarmament and the diplomacy of arms inspection.
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Part I

Allied disarmament
(1919)

 



 



2 Allied demands at the Paris Peace
Conference

After more than four years of unsurpassed violence, intensity and magni-
tude, the fighting of World War I came to an end on 11 November 1918,
five hours after Allied and German military and political officials signed an
armistice in a railroad car nestled in the peaceful woods of Compiègne,
France. The war dragged on beyond the initial hopes of the combatants yet
the collapse of the German army had come suddenly. Only months before,
the Germans had threatened to capture Paris and divide the British and
French armies. However, the final German push to drive a wedge between
the Allies, Ludendorff’s spring offensive, had failed. As the Allied and
American forces pushed the reeling German troops back toward their own
frontier, the German military and political leadership sued for peace. The
termination of hostilities caught the Allied leaders by surprise. In fact, in
the fall of 1918, the Allied military leadership considered the possibility of
the war carrying on into 1919, even 1920.1 The Allied and Associated
powers had been essentially concerned with military victory. As a result,
the post-war aims of Britain and the United States encompassed vague
principles while the French dreamed of more concrete aims.

During the war the Allied and Associated powers had discussed the dis-
armament of Germany, which would soon comprise a significant element
of the Treaty of Versailles, in rather nebulous terms.2 Although the
German army had rapidly disintegrated and suffered severe casualties and
loss of morale in the final Allied offensives, the German military still con-
stituted a considerable fighting force. In addition, the Armistice ended the
hostilities but a state of war still existed with Germany. Thus the Allies
were left with momentous questions. How could the German armed forces
be rendered ineffective? Would Allied disarmament demands lead to a
German refusal to sign the Armistice? Most importantly, what was to be
done with the German army?

In order to understand the motives behind Allied policy-making toward
Germany from November 1918 to June 1919, the period must be seen in
the context of the horrendous destruction, both in men and material,
caused by the war. The effects of modern warfare transformed both the
demography and the industrial and agricultural productivity of the

 



combatants, particularly France. Manpower losses had been terrible.3 Over
eight million combatants died from 1914 to 1918, with Germany, Russia,
France and Britain suffering the highest casualties. The number of disabled
and wounded soldiers exceeded this figure fourfold. Material destruction
was concentrated in northeast France and Belgium, the areas of the
Western Front that experienced the heaviest fighting. In France alone,
600,000 industrial structures had been damaged or demolished, 6,000
kilometers of rail lines destroyed, and 1,000,000 horses, 2,500,000 cows
and 7,000,000 sheep killed.4 Fresh from the victorious rout of German
forces in the previous three months of fighting, the Allies hoped to prevent
a reoccurrence of such a terrible conflict, and sought both reparation and
revenge through the emasculation of German military, industrial, financial
and territorial strength.

The swiftness of the collapse of German forces and the termination of
hostilities in November 1918 caused the Allies to formulate much of the
Armistice on an ad hoc basis. This type of Allied policy-making, gener-
ally reactive, would continue throughout the disarmament of Germany
from 1920 to 1931. Not until the beginning of October 1918, when
President Wilson of the United States and officials of the German govern-
ment attempted to work out rudimentary armistice conditions, did the
Allies start to draw up concrete proposals concerning the military terms
of the impending armistice. Initially, Allied military representatives of the
Supreme War Council, including senior officers from the British, French,
American, Italian and Japanese armies, considered the disarmament of
the German army to be the highest priority.5 French Marshal Ferdinand
Foch, the hero of 1918, however, used his position to dictate Allied mili-
tary terms to the Germans. As the Commander-in-Chief of the Allied
armies, Foch was the most powerful military leader in the world at the
end of the war. He would continue to play a crucial role in the disarma-
ment of Germany as an Allied expert on military matters until his death
in 1929.

The Allied armies took steps to disarm Germany before the end of the
war but these initial actions affected the German army far less than
the Armistice or the Treaty of Versailles. On 8 October 1918, with the
approval of French Premier Georges Clemenceau, Foch demanded that the
German army retreat to a line ten kilometers east of the Rhine River
within fifteen days of the signing of an armistice.6 All war material that
the German army could not keep would be surrendered to the Allies.
Foch’s proposal, which focused upon the strategic importance of Allied
control of the Rhine, was actually less stringent than the proposals of the
military representatives of the Supreme War Council.7 More concerned
with Allied occupation and control of the Rhine and its strategic bridge-
heads, Foch neglected to make the disarmament and demobilization of the
German army a primary concern. Major General Tasker Bliss, the Amer-
ican military representative of the Supreme War Council, later pointed out
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that the crucial error of the Allies at the war’s end was waiting to disarm
Germany in 1920, and not in 1918.8

Marshal Foch heavily influenced the final Armistice terms.9 Con-
sequently, British, Belgian, American and French troops occupied three
bridgeheads of the Rhine at Cologne, Coblenz and Mainz. The Armistice
forced Germany to retreat to the east of the Rhine and surrender 2,500
heavy guns, 2,500 field guns, 25,000 machine guns, 3,000 trench mortars,
1,700 airplanes, 5,000 locomotives, 5,000 trucks and 150,000 railroad
cars.10 Difficulties arose immediately when the Germans complained about
their ability to surrender armaments and tried to include obsolete artillery
in the overall amounts.11 Yet the disarmament of Germany had only just
begun. At the Paris Peace Conference, when Allied leaders had time for
reflection and where national interests played such an important role, the
Allies would produce much more rigorous demands upon the German
military. Britain, France, Belgium, Italy, the United States and Japan
attempted to transform the basic tenets of the military terms of the
Armistice into a comprehensive settlement. Germany would eventually sur-
render thousands of guns, machine-guns, trench mortars, and various
pieces of military equipment in excess of the amounts demanded in 1918.
In addition, in Paris the Allies demanded the transformation of Germany’s
factories to commercial production, reduction in the size of the German
army and the destruction of German fortifications. The major difference
between the disarmament clauses of the Armistice and the Treaty of Ver-
sailles was that the former demanded the surrender of a definite amount of
war material and ignored demobilization of the German army, while the
latter restricted the Germans to precise numbers of weapons, munitions,
equipment and troops.

The Paris Peace Conference

When the Allied and Associated powers met in Paris to formulate a post-
war settlement in the winter and spring of 1919, they viewed the disarma-
ment of Germany as a crucial issue among many. Territorial questions
involving the Rhineland, Upper Silesia and the Polish Corridor, along with
the issue of reparations, were important factors in the future peace of
Europe. The territorial settlements led to protracted and often bitter nego-
tiations among the British, French and American delegations. The repara-
tions issue was not settled until 1921, and then was subject to further
negotiations and modifications throughout the 1920s. While territorial and
reparations questions took months, even years to settle, the Allied and
Associated powers worked quickly to draft German disarmament clauses
into the final peace settlement. Even though the Allies had few conceptions
regarding disarmament policy toward Germany entering the Peace Confer-
ence, and subsequently experienced a divergence of opinion when initially
drafting such policies, the establishment of future disarmament operations
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in Germany would essentially be settled within two months of the start of
discussions in Paris.

The traditional foreign policies and national self-interests of Britain,
France and the United States influenced the Allied ability to ensure and
enforce a comprehensive peace settlement after the war. The priority of
Britain throughout the war, fully immersed in the destructive fighting in
France and Belgium from 1914 to 1918, had been to end the war in
victory, thereby allowing for the withdrawal of its forces from the Conti-
nent. Britain’s traditional policy of non-interference with continental
affairs and its hope in strengthening imperialist ties, as well as lack of fear
toward a defeated Germany, precluded the disarmament of Germany as a
war aim.12 In terms of substantive post-war schemes, therefore, Britain ini-
tially lacked any detailed policies regarding the disarmament of Germany.
Lloyd George, who often ignored the advice of his political, economic and
military experts, was unquestionably the dominant force behind British
policy-making at the Paris Peace Conference.13 Free from the burden of
war and motivated by public opinion and campaign promises, Lloyd
George wished to see a hasty end to compulsory service in Britain.14 The
nation had experienced two years of war before the horrendous losses on
the Western Front led to the implementation of conscription. Compulsory
service in Britain was anathema both to politicians and the public.15 Lloyd
George sought early negotiations in Paris concerning the disarmament of
Germany and threatened to maintain compulsory military service in
Britain unless Germany reduced its military forces. The Allies would soon
address this issue in Paris.

French policy toward the German question at the Conference placed the
greatest emphasis upon security, with Georges Clemenceau, the French
Premier, and Marshal Ferdinand Foch, the Commander-in-Chief of the
Allied armies, its major advocates. While encouraging the eradication of
German military strength, the importance of ensuring French influence in
the Rhineland transcended disarmament in importance. Foch especially
was skeptical of the practicability and judiciousness of controlling
Germany’s military might. Since the end of the war, he advocated “phys-
ical guarantees” of French security through the maintenance of French
influence in the Rhineland and a powerful force of Allied troops in
Germany.16 Clemenceau shared Foch’s view of the importance of French
influence in the Rhineland and, during both of the discussions concerning
the Armistice and the Versailles Treaty, Clemenceau and Foch regarded
control of the Rhine as a greater priority to French security than the disar-
mament of Germany.17 On the other hand, at the Paris Peace Conference,
Clemenceau and many French government and military officials were
aware that the war left Germany with a large number of trained officers
and men.18 In addition to establishing an Allied presence on the Rhine, the
French would pursue the disarmament of Germany with great zeal.

Woodrow Wilson and his closest adviser, Colonel Edward House,
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formulated American policies toward Germany at the Paris Peace Confer-
ence. Similar to the decision-making powers of Lloyd George and
Clemenceau, both of whom never lacked self-confidence, egotism and
great leadership abilities, Wilson ignored Secretary of State Robert Lansing
and developed policies on his own initiative.19 Wilson’s priority at the
Conference was the creation of the League of Nations, which symbolized
his grand vision of the establishment of an international organization to
prevent war and foster worldwide cooperation. Yet Wilson’s influence
upon Allied discussions regarding German disarmament was relatively
minor and he often expressed his disarmament proposals in general prin-
ciples. For example, in his Fourteen Points address of January 1918,
Wilson vaguely demanded the reduction of national armaments “to the
lowest point consistent with national safety” and later in the Covenant of
the League of Nations the President suggested that German disarmament
should be the antecedent to general disarmament. Wilson instead gave
authority in military matters to General Tasker Bliss, the American mili-
tary representative on the Allied Supreme War Council. The American
general was a staunch supporter of the League of Nations and believed
that modern war was a threat not just to Europe, but to the existence of
civilization.20 Bliss had advocated an extensive disarmament of Germany
in the Armistice discussions as a preliminary step in the reduction of arma-
ments for the future security of the world.21 Yet in the Paris Peace Confer-
ence discussions, Bliss had a moderating influence upon Allied demands
toward the disarmament of Germany.

British, French and American fears either of the explosion of Bolshe-
vism in Germany or the spread of Bolshevism from the east influenced
their decisions in Paris. The fear of a Bolshevist coup d’etat appeared
during the hectic days of January 1919 when an uprising by the German
radical left-wing party, the Spartacists, erupted in bloody street battles in
Berlin. Bolshevism also made short-term inroads into Bavaria (Kurt Eisner)
and Hungary (Bela Kun) in early 1919. Yet Allied perception of a wide-
spread political victory of Bolshevism often surpassed any real threat of
Bolshevik success. Furthermore, the Allies and Germany promoted
national self-interests by using the fear of Bolshevism as a political
weapon.22 At the end of March 1919, Lloyd George, in his Fontainebleau
Memorandum, attempted to modify French demands by claiming that a
harsh peace settlement could lead to the overthrow of the German Repub-
lic by a Bolshevik regime.23 British General Henry Wilson claimed that the
danger of Bolshevism even exceeded any possible threat posed by the
German army.24 Marshal Foch entertained ideas of invading Russia with
Allied, Polish and Czech forces, although Bolshevism did not influence his
ideas concerning German disarmament.25 President Wilson insinuated that
a reduction in the size of the German army in early 1919 could increase
the chances of a Bolshevik coup d’etat in Germany.26 In addition, the
German government played upon Allied fears and claimed that a reduction
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of its military forces would facilitate a Bolshevik takeover in Germany.
The German government used this tactic during the Armistice and the
Paris Peace Conference, and would espouse this line of attack throughout
the first few years of Allied disarmament operations.27

The British, French and American delegations at the Paris Peace Confer-
ence first expressed their viewpoints concerning the disarmament of
Germany at a meeting of the Supreme War Council one week after the
opening of the Conference. In this meeting on 24 January 1919, the Allies
met for the first time to discuss treaty terms to disarm Germany and to
modify the various disarmament schemes of the Armistice. From the begin-
ning of the disarmament discussions, Lloyd George and Marshal Foch dis-
played the disparity between the British and French viewpoints. Given his
success as Minister of Munitions in Britain during the war, Lloyd George
held a rather haughty view of his own expertise in the issue of disarma-
ment. While lacking technical knowledge, Lloyd George had witnessed the
effect of heavy artillery during the war and had significantly increased the
production and delivery of British armaments and munitions to the Front.
His ministry had also been responsible for the organization of resources,
factories, and labor.28 The British Prime Minister believed the key to dis-
arming Germany was to dismantle and destroy Germany’s ability to
produce and manufacture weapons of mass destruction.29 He opened the
disarmament discussion therefore by proposing that Germany deliver arms
and machinery used in armament production to the Allies.30 The Prime
Minister also suggested that the German army reduce its number of troops
“to the minimum necessary for the maintenance of internal order.”31

The Americans and French had mixed feelings toward Lloyd George’s
proposals. General Bliss fully supported the Prime Minister’s ideas. On the
other hand, Foch questioned the dubious effectiveness of military control
and favored a much more direct approach in ensuring Germany’s con-
tinued military prostration – the maintenance of strong Allied military
forces in Europe. Foch believed that the control of factories, surrender of
war material and reduction in the size of the German army would be
impossible to enforce.32 Foch’s pessimistic outlook, however, would not
preclude him from becoming a major force in disarming Germany in the
1920s; after all, disarmament was intended to weaken Germany at
France’s benefit. Lacking agreement, the Supreme Council decided to
establish a committee to formulate the final terms of the disarmament of
Germany.33

The second important stage in developing Allied disarmament policies
toward Germany, soon to be established as the military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles, occurred in February 1919. So far, Allied proposals
had been steeped in rhetoric and lacked both substance and precision. But
in February the discussions increased in intensity when Allied representa-
tives presented diverse and detailed plans. Influenced by Lloyd George’s
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predilection of stressing the destruction of Germany’s industrial capacity
for the production of munitions and armaments, the Supreme Council, on
1 February, attempted first to define what constituted war material, a
problem that would continue to plague Allied disarmament operations for
years. The Council decided that excess war material included any finished
products in the possession of the German army, located in parks, depots
and factories, or in the process of production. All such material was to be
handed over to Allied officers at selected points.34 The Supreme Council
estimated initially that it would take eight months to demilitarize German
factories and proposed setting up subcommittees responsible for sending
Allied officers to conduct inspections of factories in the major industrial
areas of Germany. If the German government refused to comply, Allied
troops would occupy Duisburg, an important coal area at the edge of the
Ruhr. It was obvious that the Allies feared the German industrial capacity
to produce massive amounts of armaments and munitions, since there was
still no discussion of the future organization and size of the German army.

The British General Staff agreed wholeheartedly with Lloyd George’s
emphasis on the control of German industrial production of war material.
On 5 February, they drew up a plan for the disarmament of Germany that
included controlling German factories and destroying machinery that pro-
duced war materials. Their proposal supported Lloyd George, who wanted
simply to destroy German machinery and who viewed the inspection and
control of German armaments as a “temporary substitute.”35 In addition,
the British General Staff believed that the surrender of all excess war
materials to Allied control officers would significantly reduce German war-
making capacity. Unlike Foch, who did not trust German acquiescence in
disarmament demands, the British General Staff proposed that the German
government actually promise not to produce war materials. In case such a
promise did not sufficiently ensure compliance with their disarmament
demands, they suggested that the Allies consider occupying Duisburg and
Essen, important industrial centers in Germany.36 Although the British
General Staff would have an influence upon future German disarmament,
Lloyd George essentially ignored their contributions and recommendations
in Paris.

The disarmament terms of the Treaty of Versailles neared completion
on 7 February 1919, when the Loucheur Committee presented its report to
the Supreme War Council. The Committee, made up of delegates from
Britain, France, Italy and the United States, proposed an Allied organi-
zation of 200 officers to control German armaments and munitions,
restrict the German army to thirty divisions, and set limits for German war
material.37 The Loucheur Committee also aimed to ensure German disar-
mament and prevent industrial production of war material through a mili-
tary occupation of the entire Westphalian Basin.38 The idea of such a huge
occupation would later emerge in 1923, when the French and Belgians
marched into the Ruhr and took over the heart of German industry.
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Allied political and military leaders reacted to the Loucheur Report
with little enthusiasm. Lloyd George merely repeated his obsession that
German militarism could be crippled only through the surrender of
artillery. Foch remained skeptical about the control of German armaments
and adamantly claimed that only war, occupation, blockade and the
restriction of supplies into Germany could guarantee German fulfilment of
the military terms. Foch’s pessimism led him to claim that “it would be
impossible to prevent a country like Germany from doing what she wished
at home.”39 President Wilson called the Loucheur report a “panic
program” and claimed that significant changes to the Armistice were not
“sportsmanlike.”40 The following day, another Allied committee (Commit-
tee for the Reduction of German Armaments) proposed that Germany sur-
render all excess war materials by 17 March 1919.41 Lacking agreement,
the Allies suspended discussions of disarming Germany until 12 February,
when the Supreme War Council appointed a Military Commission under
Marshal Foch to draft military terms for the peace treaty. Foch subse-
quently instructed the French, British, American, Italian and Japanese
members of his commission to draft individual plans.42

The plans of the representatives of Foch’s Military Commission, each
representing the policies of their own governments, revealed important
Allied differences toward German disarmament. The issues of the size of
the German army and the length of time for enlistment illustrated essential
variations. The French military experts favored a small German army of
190,000 men with a one-year enlistment period.43 The Italians proposed
similar conditions, limiting the German army to 210,000 men, with
approximately half of the troops enlisted for one-year service periods. On
the other hand, the British experts proposed a German army with a
maximum strength of 450,000 troops with a long-term voluntary enlist-
ment period of twelve years, while the Americans proposed the same size
but wanted to leave the issue of the enlistment of the German army exclus-
ively to German authorities. The Japanese plan lacked details other than
limiting the German army to thirty-five regiments. The military experts
threshed out their differences however, and on 21 February they agreed to
limit the German army to 200,000 troops. Although British General
Wilson reluctantly accepted the French short-term enlistment proposal to
avoid confrontation over the issue, the enlistment period of the German
army remained a contentious issue for the Allied heads of state during sub-
sequent discussions over disarmament policies in Paris.44

In March, the specter of Bolshevism returned to haunt Allied leaders
when a German communist general strike led to the outbreak of more viol-
ence in the streets of Berlin. This Red Scare had an impact upon Allied per-
ceptions of a Bolshevik victory and influenced Allied discussions over the
military terms of the treaty. At the end of the month, Lloyd George and his
closest advisers produced a memorandum at Fontainebleau outlining
British fears that a harsh treaty, including the reduction of the German
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military to a mere police force, would lead to political instability and make
Germany ripe for Bolshevism. In effect, the British delegation exploited
Allied fears of Bolshevism to modify the clauses of the Treaty of Versailles
and restrain French aspirations, but the fear of Bolshevism also genuinely
influenced Allied policies toward disarmament. For instance, Marshal Foch
devised a French plan to reduce the strength of the regular German army
to 110,000 soldiers with a temporary additional force of 90,000 troops
with the sole purpose of protecting Germany from Bolshevism.45 President
Wilson claimed that “all we need contemplate was the amount of armed
force required by Germany to maintain internal order and to keep down
Bolshevism.”46 General Bliss also held this sentiment. In fact, when the
Allies first agreed upon the figure of 200,000 men for the German army,
Bliss commented that he agreed “to what seemed a reasonable force that
would enable a stable government to maintain order against the incipient
Spartacist or Bolshevist movement.”47 Although the fear of Bolshevism
influenced the development and negotiations of Allied policy toward the
disarmament of Germany, it would ultimately have little effect upon the
comprehensiveness of the final terms of the treaty.

Anglo–French divergence of opinion over German disarmament became
readily apparent in March, when the Allies drafted the final plans for the
disarmament and control of German military industry. The crux of
Anglo–French disparity over the disarmament of Germany lay in the pro-
posed terms for the enlistment period of the German army. On 3 March,
Foch’s Military Commission officially proposed to the Supreme War
Council a reduction in the German army to 200,000 troops, with enlist-
ment periods of twenty-five years for officers and fifteen years for NCOs
(non-commissioned officers), and the establishment of a Committee of
Control for the reduction of the German army and armaments. However,
the proposal stipulated that enlisted men would have one-year service
periods. While Foch explained that the report was an Allied effort, he also
noted that the British delegation in his committee opposed the short-term
service enlistment period proposed for the bulk of the German army.48

British Foreign Secretary Balfour responded despondently that Foch’s pro-
posal could result in the eternal military control of Germany. Without the
presence of Lloyd George at the meeting, Balfour insisted that the Supreme
War Council await the arrival of the Prime Minister to discuss the pro-
posal for German disarmament.49

When Lloyd George returned to the Paris Peace Conference on 6
March, he revealed a fundamental difference of opinion with Foch. The
Prime Minister argued that Foch’s plan would allow Germany to train
200,000 men every year and that Germany would be able to amass a
sizable trained army within ten years. When the Marshal claimed that his
system prevented the creation of cadres (which drove the “flocks of
sheep”), Lloyd George countered Foch’s argument by pointing out that
Britain’s conscripted troops in the war lacked long-term training and
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performed successfully.50 The Prime Minister also dismissed Foch’s plans
by claiming that conscription was not a matter for “technical delegates.”51

Lloyd George therefore brushed aside the committee he had helped create.
By dismissing the proposal of the military experts, Lloyd George ensured
that the disarmament of Germany would be left to the political leadership
of the major powers.

Lloyd George’s arguments the following day, 7 March, marked a
turning point in the disarmament discussions in Paris. He proposed a vol-
unteer German army (similar to Foch) with a maximum size of 200,000
men but with a twelve-year enlistment period for all soldiers.52 Lloyd
George believed that long-term military service, a fundamental change
from previous Allied proposals, would prevent any reinstitution of the his-
toric Krümper system.53 He shared some of Foch’s pessimism as to the
effectiveness of military control when he claimed that permanent disarma-
ment was an illusion, and that Germany would be able to produce war
materials clandestinely. Yet it was Clemenceau who quickly settled any
differences when he accepted Lloyd George’s demands and dismissed the
proposed military terms of Foch’s committee by declaring that such
matters did not concern military experts.54 The French Premier, like Lloyd
George, insisted that ultimate policy decisions rested with the heads of
government and that political power transcended military authority.55

Clemenceau’s support of Lloyd George in Paris was an integral factor in
Britain’s success in shaping Allied policy toward the disarmament of
Germany. The French Premier openly distrusted military authority and
refused to risk disintegrating the Entente over the details of the military
terms for Germany. As a result, the Allied leaders asked Foch’s committee
to draw up a final plan based upon Lloyd George’s suggestions.

The Allies had substantially completed the drafting of the military terms
of the treaty when the French delegation officially accepted Lloyd George’s
plan on 10 March. The French, however, demanded a reduction in German
troop strength to 100,000 men. Using rather convoluted logic, Foch had
come to the conclusion that the German army must be reduced to 100,000
men, which, including the police, forest guards and customs officers, would
still amount to a force greater than 140,000.56 Clemenceau, in an attempt
to justify the severity of the reduction, stated that Foch’s Commission had
recently decreased the number of German effectives to 140,000 and ratio-
nalized the additional decrease to 100,000 by stating that a short-term
enlisted army had a proportion of soldiers in training that lacked military
value; however, a long-term enlisted army negated this effect.57 General
Bliss complained that this additional reduction of the German army would
render it unable to maintain order, but Lloyd George, obviously pleased
that he could now abolish conscription in Britain, supported the French
proposals. When the American Secretary of State Robert Lansing (filling in
for the absent Wilson) proclaimed his support for the new proposals, the
meeting adjourned in agreement. With Allied policy regarding the disarma-
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ment of Germany now essentially united, only the task of drawing up the
final military terms of the treaty remained.

The drafting of the final military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles by
Foch’s Inter-Allied Military Committee and the ultimate acceptance of the
terms by the Supreme War Council marked the concluding steps in Allied
negotiations concerning the disarmament of Germany. The Supreme War
Council received the final proposals, based upon the previous recommenda-
tions of Lloyd George and further modifications by Clemenceau and Foch,
on 17 March. After a month of discussions, debate and critical discourse,
Allied political leaders and military experts approved the plans of Foch’s
Military Committee with only minor revisions in the phrasing of the clauses.

The military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles intended to weaken the
German army so as to prevent any possible military threat in the future.
Only a firm coalition of the world’s powers ensured victory against
Germany and the Central Powers in World War I; the German army was
therefore considered to be one of the elite armies of the world, with excel-
lent officers, training and equipment. The military clauses, Part V, Section
I of the Versailles Treaty, intended to eliminate Germany’s effective capac-
ity to conduct offensive actions by limiting the number of troops, amount
of war material and number of fortifications of the German army. Article
160 limited the German army to 100,000 troops (including 4,000 officers),
imposed strict organizational terms for seven infantry and three cavalry
divisions, and prohibited the existence of the Great General Staff. Further-
more, the treaty limited the German police to its pre-war size (Article 162),
abolished conscription (Article 173) and replaced it with a twelve-year
enlistment period for NCOs (non-commissioned officers) and soldiers
(Article 175), while officers had to serve for twenty-five years (Article
175). The Allies allowed Germany only three military schools (Article 177)
and forbade the existence of paramilitary associations (Article 177),
mobilization (Article 178) and sending military missions abroad (Article
179).

In addition, the treaty restricted Germany’s armaments and munitions
(Articles 164–167), limited war material production to authorized facto-
ries (Article 168), and forbade the importation and exportation of war
material (Article 170), as well as the manufacture and use of poison gas
and tanks (Article 171). The Allies set deadlines by demanding that
Germany reduce the size of its army and amount of armaments by 31
March 1920 (Articles 163 and 166, respectively). Finally, the Allies
demanded the destruction of German fortifications in the Rhineland zone
but allowed those in the south and east of Germany to be maintained in
their existing state (Article 180); no alterations could be made to the forts
located along Germany’s coasts (Article 196). The Allies initially set up the
Military Commission of Control to supervise the control of the surrender
and destruction of excess German war material but left the details of the
organization of the control commissions to future interpretation and
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discussions.58 Consequentially, the organization of the commissions was
not concluded until July, after the signing of the Treaty of Versailles.

While much of the discussions of 17 March pertained to minor revi-
sions of the actual terms of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles,
one of the modifications made to the proposals of Foch’s committee had a
significant effect upon the future of disarmament. When President Wilson
raised the point of the duration of the Military Control Commission, he
opened a debate that would affect the duties of the IAMCC throughout
the 1920s. He declared that the military clauses did not contain any time
limit for the duration of the control commissions and feared the unlimited
continuation of Allied and American armies in Germany. Wilson suggested
that the control commissions remain in Germany for a period of only three
months but Balfour claimed that the duration of control should be an
“indefinite, but not an eternal period.”59 Foch simply wanted to tie the
duration of the commissions to German fulfillment of the military clauses.
Most importantly, the lack of a time limit for the control commissions led
to a modification of the original proposals. As a result of Wilson’s and
Balfour’s fears of an extended presence of Allied troops in Germany, the
Supreme War Council stipulated that only the military clauses which had a
specific time limit had to be fulfilled under the authority of the control
commissions.60 The Allies placed all the military clauses under the jurisdic-
tion of these commissions, and the ambiguity of a number of the military
clauses left the important decision as to what constituted fulfilment to
future interpretation.61 Undoubtedly, the lack of precise language helped
subsequently to extend the duration of the Inter-Allied Military Control
Commission’s operations in Germany.

Although the Allies had essentially drafted the disarmament clauses in
March, they added one other element to the final military settlement with
Germany. In discussions regarding the Covenant of the League of Nations
at the end of April, President Wilson suggested that Germany would be
more amenable to the military terms of the Treaty of Versailles if they
“were presented as preparing the way for a general limitation of arma-
ments for all nations.”62 Therefore, the Council of Four decided to add to
the Covenant of the League of Nations a rather nebulous phrase that
German disarmament was to be a prelude to the general disarmament of
the League members. In addition, the Allies sent a note to the German
government on 16 June 1919 which stated that German responsibility for
the outbreak of the war in 1914 justified the demand that Germany disarm
first.63 Part of Wilson’s visionary plan to ensure post-war international
security, this supplementary stipulation would be used in the future by the
German government to justify the rejection of the military clauses of the
Versailles Treaty. In addition, it later helped embitter Allied–German rela-
tions in the Disarmament Conference in 1933.64

The debates between Lloyd George, Clemenceau, Foch and the military
experts in Paris culminated with the Supreme War Council’s acceptance of
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the final military terms of the Treaty of Versailles on 17 March. French
acquiescence to Lloyd George’s demands over the enlistment period of the
German army, a key component in the future organization of the Reich-
swehr, would have a significant impact upon the work of the Inter-Allied
Military Control Commission and reflects Britain’s often decisive influence
regarding German disarmament in Anglo–French relations. Considering
the importance which the French placed on German military personnel
issues, compared to the British priority in controlling armaments and
munitions, the French concession over enlistment illustrated Britain’s key
role and policy-making power concerning German disarmament. While
Clemenceau and Foch had convinced Allied leaders in Paris to limit the
German army to 100,000 troops, this demand also played into the hands
of Lloyd George by providing justification to reduce British military
strength to pre-war standards. The drafting of the armaments clauses
caused little Allied dissension because Britain placed a priority upon them
and France supported everything that weakened Germany.

Considering France’s obsession with security and Britain’s rather lack-
adaisical attitude toward German military strength, the fact that Britain
played such a crucial role in Anglo–French relations toward Germany
reflected Britain’s ability to enforce its political will and manipulate French
fears of acting independently. Although Clemenceau attempted to ensure
French security through a number of demands, British policies, and in
particular, Lloyd George, had a significant restrictive influence upon
French continental ambitions. Consequently, the British lessened French
ambitions to increase national power through the emasculation of German
territorial and economic strength. For instance, Britain and the United
States prevented the French from either acquiring or separating the
Rhineland from Germany, one of France’s priorities at the Peace Confer-
ence. As a result, Clemenceau had reluctantly traded exclusive French
control of the Rhineland, which Foch had so vociferously demanded, for
the Treaties of Mutual Guarantee with Britain and the United States. The
Supreme Council’s acceptance of the crux of Lloyd George’s military pro-
posal signaled a diplomatic victory for the British, and was a harbinger of
continued British success and French acquiescence in future Allied policies
toward German disarmament. A microcosm of the post-war Anglo–French
relationship, British policies at the Paris Peace Conference toward German
disarmament exemplified their modifying influence on French schemes for
achieving continental dominance as well as the French fear of losing
British support. While the occupation of the Ruhr in 1923 would mark the
last time the French initiated major action against Germany without
British support during the period of disarmament operations, French fears
of independent action appeared as early as 1919. Faced with conflicting
policies and the threat of the weakening or disintegration of the
Anglo–French entente, the French often hesitated to act independently and
bowed to British policy-making decisions.
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3 The organization and hierarchy
of Allied disarmament and
military control

World War I left an indelible mark upon the course of European history as
it transformed international relations, political and social institutions, as
well as the national boundaries of Europe. These metamorphoses, acceler-
ated by the brutal consequences of war, resulted in widespread uncer-
tainty, disillusionment and chaos. In evaluating the events of the
immediate post-war era, the turbulent atmosphere of Europe must serve as
a backdrop to the peacemaking in Paris and the enforcement of the Treaty
of Versailles. Although victorious, the Allies certainly felt the effects of
modern warfare. Britain had forsaken its traditional wartime policy of lim-
iting the preponderance of continental involvement to naval and economic
warfare and had sent hundreds of thousands of soldiers into the trenches
in Belgium and northern France. The extraordinary number of casualties
helped quicken the return of the traditional British policy of limiting polit-
ical and military involvement on the Continent. French losses in men,
industry and territory led to an overwhelming conservative victory in
France in the elections of 1919, and to an obsessive drive for guaranteeing
French security at Germany’s expense. After helping save Britain and
France from German dominance, the United States began to immerse itself
once again in political isolation. The last member of the great alliance,
Russia, was an enigma. After suffering total defeat in the war, Russia had
been torn apart by revolution and was in the midst of a bloody civil war
when the peacemakers gathered in Paris.

The political and economic situation in Germany also added signific-
antly to the chaotic post-war atmosphere of Europe. Revolution had trans-
formed Germany’s traditional political institution of an elitist-dominated
empire in the waning days of the war into a socialist-led republic. Frequent
outbreaks of violence characterized the political instability of the imme-
diate post-war years. The socialist Ebert government initiated a tacit
alliance with the right-wing-dominated army and used paramilitary groups
(Freikorps) to crush leftist uprisings in 1919. Political opponents fought
bloody battles in the streets of Berlin. Inflation began to increase as defeat
had foiled the plans of the military regime of Ludendorff and Hindenburg
to pay for the war through the spoils of victory. The German public had

 



been led to believe throughout the entire war that Germany was on the
cusp of victory; thus the Treaty of Versailles would become the symbol of
Allied cruelty and Weimar defeatism. The perceived threat of Bolshevism,
originating from within Germany or spreading from the Bolshevik armies
in the east, also threatened traditional political institutions throughout
Europe. Thrown into the cauldron of European instability, set to boil by
the exigencies of war, the Allies thus inherited the task of drafting a peace
settlement that would put an end to all wars.

The Treaty of Versailles was signed on 28 June 1919, thereby allowing
the Allies to breathe a sigh of relief and cast aside their contingency plans
for the military invasion of Germany. Consisting of 440 articles, the treaty
comprised a comprehensive peace settlement that placed stringent territor-
ial, economic and military obligations upon Germany. The most significant
territorial demands upon Germany included the loss of a sizable tract of
territory in Upper Silesia and Prussia to Poland, the return of Alsace-
Lorraine to France, the cession of Eupen and Malmedy to Belgium, the
loss of the Saar for fifteen years, and the Allied occupation of the
Rhineland. Economically, Germany was later obligated to pay a repara-
tions amount of thirty-three billion dollars to the Allies. In addition, the
war guilt clause, an Allied attempt to justify reparations legally by making
Germany responsible for the outbreak of war, and the preclusion of
German participation in the Paris negotiations, aside from submitting
written modifications to the treaty, exacerbated international tensions and
escalated German hostility and bitterness toward the Allies and the Treaty
of Versailles. Allied motivations in the imposition of the terms of the treaty
upon Germany amounted to a complex conglomeration of issues: an
intense fear of a future and more destructive war, revenge for Allied losses
in men and territory, Germany’s decisive role in the outbreak of war, and
the response to the cries of national self-determination. As difficult as the
Paris negotiations had been, in the summer of 1919 the Allies faced the
Herculean task of enforcing the Treaty of Versailles upon an antagonistic
and disintegrating Germany.

In conjunction with the numerous restrictions placed upon the German
army, which were no less resolute than the economic and territorial
demands of the treaty, the Allies established the Military, Naval and Aero-
nautical Control Commissions to supervise the execution of the military,
naval and air clauses, respectively. With the bulk of the German navy scut-
tled at Scapa Flow and the size of the German air force relatively insignifi-
cant, the most difficult and extensive mission fell to the Inter-Allied
Military Control Commission. The crucial task of this commission was to
oversee the surrender and destruction of all excess German war material
and fortifications, and the reduction of German armed forces. The treaty
also bound the German government to cooperate with the IAMCC in the
execution of its duties.

The military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, however, contained a
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number of ambiguities, especially concerning the definition of war material
and the length of disarmament operations.1 For instance, some military
equipment had civilian uses, such as clothing and tools, and the definition
of war material became a prolonged and contentious issue between the
German and Allied governments. The duration of IAMCC operations
depended upon German fulfillment of only certain treaty articles and, even
then, evaluating fulfillment was not always precise. Most important was
the fact that the Allies had not established any treaty stipulations, other
than the prolongation of the Rhineland occupation, concerning the possi-
bility of German non-compliance with the military terms. This negligence
would lead to ad hoc reactive Allied policies throughout disarmament
operations. Left to Allied and German interpretations, these important
issues created continuous points of friction between the former combatants
and allies. However, if the military clauses were fulfilled to the letter, the
Treaty of Versailles would indeed cripple German war-making capacity.
But therein lay the problem that the Allies were about to encounter. How
would the Allies know when Germany was disarmed and just how were
the military clauses to be enforced? What would the Allies do in case
Germany flouted the disarmament and military control of their once vast
military industrial institution?

The Inter-Allied Military Control Commission (IAMCC)

From the early stages of the Paris Peace Conference to the day the Treaty
of Versailles went into effect, the Allies established three administrative
bodies involved in the disarmament and military control of Germany: the
Inter-Allied Military Control Commission, the Conference of Ambas-
sadors, and the Allied Military Committee of Versailles. In mid-March
1919, British, French, American, Italian, and Japanese leaders, convening
in Paris to draft the clauses for the treaty of peace with Germany, con-
cluded their negotiations concerning German disarmament. They
addressed major issues such as the size and enlistment period of the
German army, the limitations of German armaments and the destruction
of any excess material, and the creation of control commissions to oversee
the execution of the military clauses. The organization of Allied authority
to oversee the enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty, however,
remained incomplete. In addition, the treaty contained no stipulations
regarding the detailed organization of the Inter-Allied Military Control
Commission. While everyone understood the overall duty of the IAMCC,
matters such as the personnel, bureaucratic organization and operating
procedures of the commission had yet to be determined.

The drawing up of organizational details of the IAMCC moved closer
to completion on 26 June, when the Council of Four agreed that the mili-
tary experts of the Supreme War Council and Marshal Foch should draft
detailed plans for the organization, administration and work of the control
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commissions.2 On 9 July, the military representatives of the Supreme War
Council subsequently delivered a report to the Allied Heads of Delega-
tions, which approved the final details of the organization and duties of
the IAMCC.3 The Allies delegated each of the three control commissions
established by the Treaty of Versailles – Military, Naval and Aeronautical
– a president representing the two major Allied powers. They approved a
French general for the presidency of the IAMCC and entrusted a British
admiral and brigadier-general with supervising the Inter-Allied Naval
Control Commission and the Inter-Allied Aeronautical Control Commis-
sion, respectively.4 The German government would be responsible for the
expenses of the control commissions, including salaries and officers’
accommodations. The Allies also established initial salaries and allowances
for the officers and men of the control commissions in August.5 In the
following years, when the value of the mark plummeted in the midst of
drastic inflation, the payment of the control commissions experienced con-
stant revisions and disputes with German authorities.

The Inter-Allied Military Control Commission, responsible for supervis-
ing the disarmament, destruction and control of one of the largest and
most powerful military forces in the world, was the largest of the three
commissions.6 The Allies placed the IAMCC in charge of supervising the
execution of the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty and expected
Germany to fulfill the terms. The IAMCC consisted of three sub-commis-
sions – Armaments, Effectives and Fortifications. The Allies placed the
Armaments Sub-commission under the presidency of a British general with
an Allied staff of thirty officers and charged it with overseeing the execu-
tion by Germany of treaty Articles 162–72, 180, 195 and 196. These
clauses contained a number of crucial issues in disarming Germany,
including the surrender and destruction of excess German war material
and the control of German industrial production. The Allies placed the
Effectives Sub-commission under the presidency of a French general with
an Allied officer staff of approximately thirty officers. They charged it with
the execution of Articles 159–63 and 173–8, which included the reduction
of the German army, limiting the size of the police, and the abolition of
conscription and paramilitary associations. Finally, the Allies placed the
Fortifications Sub-commission under the presidency of an American
general with a staff of approximately fifteen Allied officers to supervise the
execution of Articles 180, 195 and 196, the maintenance of authorized
forts in their present state, and the dismantling of the remainder of fortifi-
cations and fortified works. In addition, the Allied governments estab-
lished the proportions of officers in the IAMCC as follows: 25 percent
French, 20 percent British, 20 percent Italian, 15 percent American, 10
percent Belgian, and 10 percent Japanese.7

The fact that the Allies agreed to place the presidencies of the Arma-
ments and Effectives Sub-commissions under British and French leader-
ship, respectively, represented the importance the duties of each of these
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sub-commissions had to these nations. The negotiations of the Paris Peace
Conference clearly exemplified this point. Lloyd George had been a con-
stant and vociferous advocate of the dismantling and control of German
industrial production of war material and believed this was the most
effective means of disarmament. The extent of the military clauses of the
Versailles Treaty that pertain to this subject demonstrated the success that
Lloyd George had in convincing Allied leaders of their importance. The
French had experienced higher losses in manpower, in proportion to their
population, than any other major nation in World War I.8 In addition,
France was adjacent to a bitter enemy with a substantially larger popu-
lation. As a result, Clemenceau and Foch concerned themselves most with
the question of the size, recruitment, and enlistment of the German army.
Although they had allowed Lloyd George to infringe upon one of their
priorities of demanding a short-term enlisted German army, French polit-
ical and military leaders expressed relief that the German army would be
forced to maintain its strength far below the size of the French peacetime
army. General Charles Nollet, the IAMCC’s first President, believed that
the Armaments Sub-commission’s duties were the immediate priority of
the IAMCC but that the Effectives Sub-commission was responsible for the
most important issues in the future. Nollet considered the task of the Forti-
fications Sub-commission to be the least important, considering that many
German forts were located in the occupied territory of the Rhineland. The
French General also addressed the question of the size of the IAMCC, and
on 8 August the Allied governments accepted his proposal for a staff of
1,300 men, comprising 350 officers, 800 men, and 150 interpreters.9

The Allies finalized the IAMCC’s organization by the late summer of
1919. After establishing the ratio of officers and nationality of the presi-
dents of the control commissions, the Allies next appointed the key per-
sonnel of the IAMCC. Marshal Foch, with the support of the coalition,
chose General Charles Nollet as President of the Inter-Allied Military
Control Commission.10 Nollet was a true professional soldier and had
served in the French army as a Corps commander during the war.11 With
an astute mind, he was able to comprehend all the details involved in the
disarmament and military control of Germany.12 General Nollet, along
with Marshal Foch, attempted to enforce the military terms of the Ver-
sailles Treaty in the strictest sense possible. Never intimidated by German
opposition and rarely influenced by the British, Nollet was a perfect
vehicle for post-war French policy toward Germany. Under the presidency
of Nollet, the Allies appointed British General Francis Bingham and
French General Barthélemy as presidents of the Armaments and Effectives
Sub-commissions, respectively.13 Furthermore, the subsequent rejection of
the Treaty of Versailles by the United States directly affected the organi-
zation and personnel of the IAMCC. As a result, the Allies replaced the
proposed American president of the Fortifications Sub-commission with
French General Raymond Bizouard and changed the ratios of Allied offi-
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cers in the commission. Consequently, the final percentages of Allied offi-
cers of the IAMCC when it began work in January 1920 were 45 percent
French, 32 percent British, 14 percent Belgian, 6 percent Italian, and 3 per-
cent Japanese, illustrating the preponderance of Franco-British control
over the IAMCC.14

The administrative organization of the IAMCC allowed for the partici-
pation of all Allied officers but gave numerical supremacy to the French.
The Allies established a Council of the IAMCC, made up of the heads of
each delegation and senior officers, as the executive body of the commis-
sion. The Council was composed of four French officers, two British offi-
cers, and one officer each from the Belgian, Italian and Japanese armies.15

Council decisions were originally taken by majority vote. The Allies set up
twenty-two district committees under the sub-commissions throughout
Germany, delegating eleven of them for Armaments, eight for Effectives
and three for Fortifications.16 Initially, the personnel of the IAMCC
included 311 officers, 117 interpreters, 897 troops; and 203 automobiles,
but these numbers often fluctuated. In October, for instance, the Allies
decided to reduce personnel by about 25 percent, with the percentages of
French and British officers fixed at 35 percent and 27 percent respec-
tively.17 The complex inter-allied machinery for the disarmament and mili-
tary control of the German army, however, still existed only on paper, and
the IAMCC would not begin its work until all the signatories ratified the
Treaty of Versailles. The debate in the United States between President
Wilson and the Republican-led Senate delayed the ratification of the
Treaty of Versailles, thereby prolonging the date the treaty was due to go
into effect. Since the Paris Peace Conference would soon come to a close,
the Allies also needed a political organization to oversee the IAMCC as
well as the other commissions created in Paris.

The IAMCC vanguard

The work of the IAMCC to disarm the German military could not start
until the major powers ratified the Treaty of Versailles but the German
government itself assuaged Allied restlessness to implement their disarma-
ment schemes. On 11 August, Baron Kurt von Lersner, President of the
German delegation at Versailles, requested from Clemenceau that the
Allies send a commission to Berlin to “negotiate” the multitude of
complex military questions concerning the disarmament and military
control of Germany.18 The German government’s offer had two major
facets of rationale: to prevent the possibility that the Allies could attempt
an even stricter application and interpretation of the military clauses, and
to attempt to ease the severe restrictions that the Treaty of Versailles
demanded of the German military. There had been no verbal discussions
regarding any clauses at the Paris Peace Conference.

The British and French political and military leadership reacted quickly
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to the German request. They absolutely refused all negotiations over any
of the terms of the Versailles Treaty but they did agree to send an advance
delegation to Germany. Within six days of the German government’s
request, French General Weygand sent a letter to Clemenceau outlining
Foch’s position that the advance commission would be composed of senior
Allied officers but its purpose would be to discuss, not negotiate, means to
carry out the execution of military terms of the treaty.19 On 31 August,
Foch announced the official creation of an advanced delegation of the
IAMCC to the German government. General Nollet formed the vanguard
with sixty officers, seventy-seven troops, twelve interpreters and thirteen
automobiles taken from all of the Allied delegations.20 When the Germans
learned of the size of the vanguard, they claimed that such a large force
would create difficulties with the bitter, and somewhat hostile, German
population.21 Using the threat of a hostile public as a pretext to prevent
Allied disarmament operations was a harbinger of future problems. In
reality, the German government realized that the Allies, far from being
willing to negotiate the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty, intended
to initiate disarmament. German hopes of modifying the treaty’s military
clauses appeared dead. With the support of General Nollet, who pointed
out that the Allies had no legal right to send the IAMCC vanguard if the
Germans opposed it, the Allied Heads of Delegations decided to drop the
whole idea.22 Yet the uncertainty of German expectations of Allied disar-
mament operations led the German government to overcome its resistance
to the size of the Allied force, and Clemenceau announced that the
IAMCC vanguard would leave for Berlin on 11 September.23

In what would amount to the first of many complaints made by
German authorities about the activities and presence of the IAMCC, on 13
October Baron von Lersner objected to the fact that members of the Allied
advance delegation dressed in their military uniforms. The Allied Heads of
Delegation, however, rejected his request that IAMCC members wear civil-
ian clothes after the comment by Eyre Crowe, the British Under-Secretary
of State for Foreign Affairs: “Whoever knew Germans knew that a man in
uniform is far more respected than a civilian.” 24 While trying to crush the
spirit of Prussian militarism in Germany, the members of the IAMCC, all
of whom served in the military of their respective nations, would remain
symbols of Allied military supremacy. As the tension of the war subsided
and the work of supervising the disarmament and military control of
Germany proceeded, many IAMCC officers would later wear civilian garb.

The task of the advance delegation of the IAMCC was to reduce any
problems concerning the execution of the military clauses of Versailles and
to make the transition to the implementation of the treaty as efficient as
possible. Most importantly, the work of the IAMCC vanguard was a
necessary step towards establishing the authority and presence of Allied
disarmament operations in Germany. On 12 September 1919, the van-
guard left for Berlin. Alternatively, the German government was respons-
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ible for housing the members of this delegation, providing transportation
and office space for them, and paying their allowances.25 The first meeting
between members of the IAMCC and German military authorities was a
fiasco, as each delegation hoped to gain an authoritative position. The
Germans attempted to preside over the conference by seating themselves
before the Allies but Nollet refused to be beaten at this high-level game of
protocol and walked out. Eventually they reached a compromise in which
each delegation would enter the room simultaneously!26 This rather
amusing incident illustrated the desperation of the German authorities in
attempting to influence the execution of the military clauses of the Treaty
of Versailles as well as the Allied resolve to maintain their authoritative
supremacy. It also symbolized the strained IAMCC–German relationship
that characterized Allied disarmament operations in Germany. Further-
more, the Germans hoped to keep their former adversaries contained (and
controlled) in Berlin and objected to the fact that the Allies were planning
to send inspectors into districts throughout Germany.27

Since the Allies relied initially upon intelligence estimates of the total
amount of German war materials, Nollet ordered the sub-commission
presidents in the advance delegation to draft questionnaires for the
German military authorities. The premise of the questionnaires was to
ascertain the amount of existing German war material, thereby calculating
the extent of destruction the IAMCC would have to supervise.28 Obtaining
genuine statistics of German war strength and production remained a diffi-
cult challenge. To make matters worse, while the Allies waited to begin
disarmament operations, the Germans continued to import, export, and
manufacture war material.29 Nonetheless, the IAMCC vanguard had
broken the ice in IAMCC–German relations and remained in Germany
until the final ratification of the Versailles Treaty.

While the German government had invited the advance delegation of
the IAMCC to Germany with the hope of favorably influencing the execu-
tion of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, the Reichswehr
Ministry (Reichswehrministerium) created Army, Navy, and Air Peace
Commissions in September, reciprocal organizations to the Allied control
commissions, as well as a liaison office (Verbindungstelle) that acted as the
headquarters to the Peace Commissions.30 Officially set up to work with
Allied inspectors to oversee the execution of the military clauses and justi-
fied by the fact that the Treaty of Versailles had actually stipulated that
Germany supply representatives to work with Allied control officers, the
Peace Commissions acted as a counterweight to the IAMCC.

The Germans modeled the Army Peace Commission (Heeresfrieden-
skommission) after the IAMCC and established three sub-commissions
within it.31 Initially under General August von Cramon, the Army Peace
Commission would often clash with Allied government and military offi-
cials.32 For instance, in the last meeting between the IAMCC vanguard and
German military officials on 14 November 1919, the Germans complained
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about the presence of Allied officers in German districts other than Berlin,
arguing that the Allies could supervise the demobilization but not the cre-
ation of new Reichswehr units. The Germans also claimed that the Allies
had no immediate right to supervise military control in Germany, since the
Treaty of Versailles gave Germany three months to reduce its army to
200,000 troops.33 Nollet rejected these demands, and the IAMCC did not
meet again with German military officials until disarmament operations
started in earnest in January 1920. While deriding the treaty as an Allied
diktat that would destroy the political, economic, and social fabric of
Germany, whenever German political and military authorities found that
specific treaty clauses could be interpreted favorably, they were quick to
use the Treaty of Versailles as a pretext to further national aims.34

The Conference of Ambassadors

In order to supervise the implementation and execution of all of the
clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, the Allies decided in July 1919 to create
an Allied political organization that would ultimately replace the Supreme
Council. Such an organization was necessary to coordinate the interpreta-
tion and execution of Allied policy in the Versailles era. Since the IAMCC
was purely a military organization, composed entirely of Allied army offi-
cers and men with the task of supervising the execution of only the mili-
tary clauses of the treaty, the peacemakers needed a more extensive
commission to supervise the execution of the multitude of treaty clauses.
No official Allied organization existed to supervise the control commis-
sions. In a Supreme Council meeting on 1 July, Clemenceau advocated the
creation of an Allied commission that would “superintend the work of all
Commissions dealing with the details of the provisions of the Treaty.”35

At the end of July, the Supreme Council agreed to set up a commission
in Paris to coordinate the interpretation and execution of the entire treaty.
Each of the principal Allied belligerent nations would be represented on
the commission, which eventually became known as the Conference of
Ambassadors. In terms of the administration and organization of the
enforcement of the military terms of the treaty, the Conference of Ambas-
sadors now had supervisory power over the IAMCC. In fact, the Allies
ordered all the control commissions to address the Conference of Ambas-
sadors with regular reports of the status of the execution of the military
clauses of the treaty. Eventually, under British pressure, the Allies
entrusted the Ambassadors’ Conference with the authority over all three
control commissions, as well as the numerous commissions created at Ver-
sailles, and charged it with the authority to settle all Allied disagreements
over disarmament.36

At the Paris Peace Conference, Britain played a key role in restricting
French post-war ambitions and now feared that the Conference of Ambas-
sadors could become a tool of French policy. Britain’s initial reticence as to
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the creation of the Conference of Ambassadors was due to the fear that
this new political body might be used to enforce the Treaty of Versailles all
too comprehensively. Foch’s ambitions and policies toward Germany espe-
cially concerned British political and military circles.37 British policy-
makers, however, realized that the Conference of Ambassadors could be
used to prevent “French centralization” of political and diplomatic power,
and that it could work as a “clearing-house” between the IAMCC and the
Allied governments.38 Henceforth, Britain supported the creation and work
of the Ambassadors’ Conference.39 With a prophetic view toward the
future, British diplomats realized that this new Allied body could be used
to settle the inevitable differences with the French in the post-war period.

By November, the Allied governments had made their appointments to
the Conference of Ambassadors.40 Under Belgian pressure, France
requested the addition of its smaller northern neighbor as a member of the
Conference.41 The Allies soon agreed to allow a Belgian representative to
participate with the Allied body when they discussed Belgian issues.42

Aside from the fact that Belgium had been part of the Allied coalition that
had defeated Germany in the war, Britain and France agreed that Belgium
qualified for membership in the Ambassadors’ Conference since it bor-
dered Germany and was part of the occupation force in the Rhineland.
Although Britain, France, the United States, Italy, and Japan were the prin-
cipal nations of the Conference of Ambassadors, the American representat-
ive on the Conference remained only as an observer with no official
responsibility after the United States rejected the Treaty of Versailles.43

Finally, the Allies decided to allow political figures such as foreign minis-
ters and heads of state to sit in the Conference of Ambassadors as a substi-
tute for any nation’s appointed ambassador.44 As a result, a number of
different representatives from all member nations would ultimately
participate in important negotiations and decisions.

The final duties of the Conference of Ambassadors were quite extensive,
and eventually included interpreting and executing questions from all the
post-war treaties. Therefore, any contentious issues arising from the
treaties of Versailles, St, Germain, Trianon, Neuilly, and Sèvres fell under
the jurisdiction of the Conference of Ambassadors. The amount of work
was staggering, and the disparate political agendas of Britain and France
led to a number of bitter disputes within the Conference of Ambassadors.
Although deeply involved in the disarmament of Germany, its representa-
tives examined a plethora of questions such as the Marienwerder and
Allenstein plebiscites, the Upper Silesian dispute, and the military control
of Austria, Bulgaria and Hungary. With regard to the military clauses of
the Treaty of Versailles, this Allied “clearing-house” would ultimately
address all major policy changes.
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The Allied Military Committee of Versailles (AMCV)

Although Marshal Foch served the Allied cause in the war with distinction,
the end of the war raised questions concerning his role in post-war Allied
military affairs. With the threat of renewed hostilities all but evaporating
with the signing of the Treaty of Versailles in June 1919, Foch’s position
became uncertain. Shunned at the Paris Peace Conference after demanding
the separation of the Rhineland and the creation of a long-term enlisted
German army, Foch had no intention of losing influence and control over
Allied policies toward the future course of the German military. Despite
the fact that Foch’s role in international affairs had declined since the end
of the war, the marshal soon played a particularly important role in the
creation of the third organizational Allied body involved in the disarma-
ment and military control of Germany: the Allied Military Committee of
Versailles.

On 15 October, Foch addressed a letter to Clemenceau asking to be
relieved of duty as Supreme Commander of Allied forces. Foch, however,
also explained that the execution of the military clauses of the treaty could
be carried out only by “an Interallied Military organ operating under a
single head” which would have command over Allied control commissions,
occupation forces, and general military questions.45 Thus, the marshal
wanted to give up nominal command of Allied military forces to play both
a military and political role in the execution of the military clauses of the
Versailles Treaty. In the discussion of Foch’s letter in a meeting of the
Heads of Delegations on 18 October, British delegate Eyre Crowe pointed
out that the control commissions were already set up to supervise the exe-
cution of the treaty. However, Clemenceau justified Foch’s requests by
explaining that a central Allied body would obviate potential confusion
over Allied command structure. For instance, instead of requesting instruc-
tion from each delegation’s national government, the control commissions
could work with a single organization. Revealing French pride toward the
former Commander-in-Chief, Clemenceau added that “it would never do
for the Germans to think that they were finally rid of him.”46

In December, the Allied decision to create an international organization
to supervise the execution of the Versailles Treaty and furnish advice to
Allied governments concerning military matters moved a step closer to
completion. There was general Allied consensus that Foch would head
such an organization. Even British General Henry Wilson claimed that
there was “no bigger gun than Marshal Foch.”47 Lloyd George agreed with
Clemenceau that Foch’s organization would not have executive powers but
that it would serve as an advisory body to the Allied governments.48 Both
Lloyd George and Clemenceau were careful once again not to invest any
military authority or organization with executive power. Allied policy-
making decisions remained in civilian hands while military authorities
retained only technical and supervisory powers.
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The official creation of the Allied Military Committee of Versailles
occurred on 10 January 1920, the same day the Treaty of Versailles went
into effect. Despite an earlier objection by Italy that the committee should
not be headed by such a prestigious military leader as Marshal Foch, the
political Allied leadership appointed Foch to lead the AMCV.49 They
established the AMCV as an advisory body to the Allied governments con-
cerning military matters pertaining to the post-war settlements and gave it
the power to carry out Allied orders regarding the control commissions
and occupation forces.50 The AMCV’s duties included interpreting the mil-
itary clauses of the treaties, assessing the general military situation in
Europe, and formulating some of the military clauses for the treaties with
Turkey and Hungary.51 In addition, Lloyd George insisted that the com-
mittee’s advisory powers included general military matters and specifically
mentioned the military troubles in Russia. The AMCV was composed of
Allied officers from the French, British, Italian, Belgian and Japanese
armies, while an American representative served occasionally in an advi-
sory role.

The political and administrative organizations that the Allies created in
1919 and early 1920 to oversee the disarmament and military control of
Germany thus consisted of three inter-allied bodies: the Inter-Allied Mili-
tary Control Commission, the Conference of Ambassadors, and the Allied
Military Committee of Versailles. This organizational machinery had
important ramifications in the enforcement of the military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles. When the United States dropped out of European
diplomatic affairs in 1920, the implementation of disarmament became an
Anglo-French affair. After having made terrible sacrifices in the war,
Britain and France, as Europe’s powers, positioned themselves to adminis-
ter the peace settlement with Germany by ensuring control of all three
Allied disarmament bodies. For instance, France (with four members) and
Britain (with two members) dominated the executive body within the
IAMCC, the Council. Initial majority Council decisions favored the French
but the initiative would later pass to the British in early 1922 when the
Allies diminished French membership on the Council and decided to make
decisions only by unanimous vote.

While the task of the Inter-Allied Military Control Commission dealt
specifically with supervising the execution of the military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles, the authority and tasks of the Conference of Ambas-
sadors and Allied Military Committee of Versailles were more pervasive
and ambiguous. Within this hierarchical triumvirate, the Conference of
Ambassadors was the superior body with executive control. Both the
German government and the IAMCC would refer problems, especially
concerning the interpretation or execution of the military clauses of Ver-
sailles, to the Conference of Ambassadors, which would then force the
IAMCC to comply with its decisions. Despite initial British reticence
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toward its creation, the Conference of Ambassadors, as a clearing-house
for Allied problems, would eventually become a political platform for the
British to thwart French disarmament plans. British insistence in early
1921 to refer all political decisions to the Conference of Ambassadors later
increased the authority of the executive body and allowed the British to
veto French demands.

The Allies created the Conference of Ambassadors as a purely civil
administrative body without technical expertise in military matters.
Despite the existence of the IAMCC, an international body composed of
professional military officers and men, the Allied governments agreed to
allow the AMCV to act as the Conference’s technical adviser on military
matters. This decision would ultimately influence the enforcement of the
military terms of the treaty by undermining the authority and ability of the
IAMCC to supervise disarmament operations. The German government
would later exploit the Allied organizational structure of disarmament and
military control by simply bypassing the authority of the IAMCC through
endless complaints to the Conference of Ambassadors. This strategy
helped prolong Allied disarmament operations well beyond the initial
hopes of both Allied and German governments.
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4 Armaments
The Allied offensive on war
material

The costly experiences of World War I illustrated vividly to the Allies the
devastating effectiveness of twentieth-century weaponry. On the Western
Front, the horrendous toll inflicted by machine-guns and artillery had
indeed shown the Allies and Germany the power and destructive capacity
of a modern military power. Disarming Germany therefore seemed an
obvious step toward preventing another world catastrophe and a way to
punish Germany for its leading role in the outbreak of war. At the Paris
Peace Conference, Allied leaders decided to place severe restrictions upon
German ownership of armaments and munitions. Consequently, Articles
164–6 of the Treaty of Versailles fixed the maximum number of arma-
ments for a German army made up of 100,000 men and designated a
specific number of rounds for each weapon.1 The treaty prohibited the
heavy artillery, poison gas, tanks (Article 171) and submarines that had
terrorized Allied forces. In addition, under Article 170, the victorious
powers forbade Germany to import or export war material. Although
they sanctioned the disarmament of the German armed forces as a
prelude to world disarmament, the Allies wanted to make sure that they
prostrated the German army before they agreed to consider similar
actions.2

Under the treaty’s terms, the Allies allowed Germany two months after
the effective date of the Treaty of Versailles to surrender all war material
in excess of the specified amounts and to store all authorized war material
in points communicated to the Allies.3 Therefore, the Allies would know
that any war material found outside of the specified areas would be a vio-
lation of the treaty. In addition, the Allies sought not simply to contain
German ownership and use of armaments and munitions but to severely
restrict, even eradicate, Germany’s massive industrial capacity to manufac-
ture war material. Under Article 168, the Allies thus specified a number of
German factories that subsequently would be allowed to produce war
material. Any other German factory that participated in the “manufacture,
preparation, storage or design of arms, munitions, or any war material
whatever” would be in breach of the treaty and subject to closure.4

The era of disarmament in Germany began on 10 January 1920, when

 



the Inter-Allied Military Control Commission officially started its work.
The Allies set up the IAMCC’s headquarters in Berlin and billeted the offi-
cers and men in a number of hotels in the city.5 The commission set up its
own postal and medical services, as well as telegraph and telephone com-
munications to Marshal Foch and other important military headquarters
throughout Germany. After having tested the waters in the fall of 1919
while awaiting the ratification of the Treaty of Versailles, the IAMCC was
ready to proceed with the disarmament of Germany’s military and indus-
trial establishments.

The Armaments Sub-commission of the IAMCC, with approximately
150 Allied officers, was the largest of the three sub-commissions.6 Under
the leadership of British Major-General Francis Bingham, the Armaments
Sub-commission had its headquarters in Berlin. Bingham, a senior artillery
officer, had played a vital role at the Ministry of Munitions during the war
by helping place British industry on a war footing.7 Hence, Bingham’s
career and wartime experiences shaped his post-war outlook. He was a
consistent advocate of the destruction of German armaments, Britain’s
main line of disarmament policy from the Paris Peace Conference until the
end of disarmament operations. He believed that the destruction of arma-
ments and munitions was the most effective manner of disarming Germany
and considered the destruction of German artillery “a matter of urgency.”8

Bingham and his adjutant, Lieutenant-Colonel Stewart Roddie, also placed
much greater trust in German intentions than did their French counter-
parts.9 The French and Bingham’s second-in-command, Brigadier-General
J.H. Morgan, considered Bingham’s subsequent inclination to believe
German reports of fulfilment to be naive. As a result, the underlying
tension in the command of the IAMCC led to a number of clashes.

Under Bingham’s command, the Allies set up eleven armament district
committees, authorized to conduct local control of armaments. The British
and French had been sure to locate the district committees strategically
throughout Germany.10 The mission of the Armaments Sub-commission
was twofold. First, the Armaments Sub-commission had the responsibility
of overseeing the surrender and destruction of all armaments and muni-
tions, in excess of the limits prescribed by the Treaty of Versailles, that
were under German possession. Second, but no less important to the
IAMCC, the Armaments Sub-commission could close all non-authorized
arms-producing establishments in Germany and oversee the production of
authorized plants. Members of the sub-commission had the explicit
authority to conduct inspections of German facilities to verify compliance
with the treaty.

War material: definition and ownership

The restriction and destruction of German war material produced a
number of difficulties for the Armaments Sub-commission. The ambiguous
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nature of the definition of war material led to serious problems of interpre-
tation and enforcement. Consequently, the IMACC, AMCV and Confer-
ence of Ambassadors had to debate the question of two main issues: the
definition and ownership as well as the surrender and destruction of
war material. The definition of war materials presented immediate prob-
lems to the Allies. For instance, should the Allies restrict or destroy the
trucks, ambulances, and uniforms that the German army possessed? The
problem of defining war materials would plague early Allied disarmament
efforts and test the Allied relationship with German political and military
authorities.

Under the terms of the treaty, the Allies expected Germany to surrender
all excess stocks of war material, including captured foreign armaments, as
well as the machines used for war production.11 Without a precise defini-
tion of war material, however, questions abounded over what was danger-
ous to Allied security.12 Thus, the IAMCC, working in conjunction with
the AMCV and Conference of Ambassadors, drafted a list of war material
that the Germans would be forced to surrender. The outcome of this
project was a lengthy (thirty-three chapters) and detailed list known as the
Blue Book.13 In addition to artillery pieces, armored cars, rifles, grenades,
flamethrowers, shells, fuses, and detonators, the IAMCC listed less
obvious equipment such as gas masks, optical instruments, signalling
equipment, uniforms, field ambulances and telephones. The Blue Book
even contained the number of blank cartridges the German army used in
training.14 Although involving a relatively small number of individuals, the
Allied disarmament and control of the German military establishment was
to be pervasive, ubiquitous and demanding.

The dual-use nature of some military equipment challenged the Allied
definition of war material. On 20 April 1920, the German government
criticized the size and scope of the Allied definition of war materials,
arguing that the inclusion of items such as cooking utensils, and more
importantly transportation, would not only hurt the German economy but
would hinder reparations deliveries to the Allies and make German polit-
ical conditions conducive to Bolshevism.15 The Allies changed their defini-
tion of war material, and soon the IAMCC acquired the responsibility of
distinguishing between war material as a security threat (which had to be
destroyed or rendered useless) and war material that had peaceful uses
(which was sold). The control commissions therefore possessed “full dis-
cretionary powers” in determining whether to destroy or sell war mater-
ials.16 Non-fighting material, such as clothing, was sold within Germany
only (the export of all war material was forbidden) and dispersed through-
out the country to eliminate any possible military utility. Nollet drew up a
list of non-military items that included motor vehicles, railway material,
harness, barbed wire, spades, picks and various tools. Henceforth, the
Allies sold non-military war material and credited Germany’s reparations
account with the proceeds.17
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The issue of distinguishing between war material for combat purposes
or peaceful means continued to have a deleterious effect upon German
relations with the Armaments Sub-commission of the IAMCC. In January
1921, the Fehrenbach government asked the IAMCC to revise the non-
combat war material list, but the IAMCC upheld its decision on the illegal-
ity of items such as gas masks and field ambulances.18 Despite continued
German objections, in August 1921 the Allies demanded the surrender of
all German uniforms, jackets, pants, backpacks and tents (subsequently
sold) and the destruction of helmets.19

Another disagreement between the Allies and Germany arose over the
ownership of surrendered or destroyed war material. The treaty obligated
Germany to surrender all excess war material to the Allies. Yet nowhere
did the treaty stipulate what action to take regarding the ownership of the
remaining product, which could still have utility as well as monetary value.
Foch had responded to Nollet’s appeal of 31 January on the issue of the
ownership of such material by advising that the Allies should retain
ownership of all surrendered war material. The Conference of Ambas-
sadors subsequently adopted Foch’s proposal on 10 February 1920.20 The
Allied governments had already given authority to the Reparation Com-
mission to liquidate surrendered or destroyed war material.21 The AMCV
now reiterated that the Reparation Commission already had the respons-
ibility to conduct the sale of destroyed war material and to credit all pro-
ceeds to Germany’s reparations account.

In May the question of ownership of destroyed war material resurfaced
as the German government simply refused to conform to the 10 February
decision of the Conference of Ambassadors.22 Once again, the Conference
of Ambassadors stated that the term “surrender” (livrer) was equivalent to
the transfer of ownership and upheld its previous decision.23 Lord D’Aber-
non, the British Ambassador in Berlin from 1920 to 1926, as well as
Bingham, thought that Allied efforts regarding strict adherence over
ownership of scrap from destroyed war material were simply unneces-
sary.24 Nevertheless, in June the Allied governments reaffirmed the
responsibility of the Reparation Commission, which set up the Bureau of
Liquidation for War Material, for the sale of surrendered or destroyed
German war material.25 These sales would later influence Allied decisions
concerning the export of any German military products.

War material: surrender and destruction

The Treaty of Versailles stipulated that the IAMCC was responsible for
the supervision of the surrender and destruction of German war material.
Moreover, since the IAMCC was simply not large enough to carry out the
destruction of all excess German armaments, munitions and equipment,
the treaty entrusted the German government with a significant amount of
responsibility for the destruction of its own military prowess. Placing such
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responsibility and trust in a defeated and bitter nation led to constant vio-
lations and delays. One glaring example occurred when the Allies asked
the German government to hand over production registers of armaments
factories so as to ascertain the amount of prohibited German war material.
While the Allies later found many of the registers in a basement of a
factory in Spandau, the Germans reneged on their promise to hand them
over and never placed then in the possession of the Allies.26 Consequently,
some Allied officers expressed doubt about the exact state of German dis-
armament throughout the reign of the IAMCC.

In order to carry out its duties of collecting and destroying surrendered
war material the German government had set up a civilian organization in
August 1919, the Reichstreuhandgesellschaft (War Disposals Board).27

This German office established depots of surrendered material, safe-
guarded these stocks, and carried out the destruction of war material
under IAMCC surveillance.28 Overall, the IAMCC had to oversee the work
of approximately 200 centers of destruction and 300 depots of war mater-
ial.29 Destruction methods varied, depending upon the material in ques-
tion. German laborers cut barrels of weapons and gun carriages into pieces
with oxyacetylene blowtorches and often had to crush larger guns in
industrial presses. They rendered rifles and machine-guns inoperable
before melting them down into raw material, burned gunpowder, and
destroyed shells by cutting through the shell casings with a machine saw.30

In the Krupp factories, workers filled the shrinking pits used in the produc-
tion of heavy artillery with cement and destroyed the heavy plant, such as
furnaces and oil-tanks, with dynamite.31 They also cut the massive guns of
the mighty arms producers of Germany into small sections and stacked
them in towering yet harmless piles of scrap.

After two months of inaction, the IAMCC effectively began to supervise
war material destruction in March 1920.32 Prior to 10 March, the deadline
for the delivery of all surplus German war material, the IAMCC actually
witnessed few accomplishments.33 Although obligated to produce lists of
war material in excess of the stipulated treaty amounts, German military
authorities delivered such lists, often containing inaccurate figures, well
past Allied deadlines. Foch warned that Germany still possessed about
18,000 artillery pieces and therefore posed a dangerous military threat to
the Allies. The British and French political and military authorities were
also skeptical about the claims of the German government concerning the
German destruction of war material from the period of the Armistice up
until 10 March, when German authorities finally supplied the Allies with
lists of surrendered and destroyed material. Unfortunately, the IAMCC
had no means of verifying this alleged destruction. Foch actually com-
plained that premature destruction of war material by Germany violated
the Treaty of Versailles since the treaty obligated Germany to surrender all
excess material to Allied authorities.34 Furthermore, Foch set the tone for
French policy regarding the enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles on
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20 March by delivering a dire warning to the Conference of Ambassadors:
“Beware! It is not an advantageous peace that you have but a dangerous
war that is threatening you, and I, General-in-Chief of the Allied Armies,
will not take the responsibility of your tranquility if you do not disarm
these people as stipulated.”35 This adamant French insistence upon the
absolute enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles soon came into conflict
with British policy regarding German disarmament and set the stage for
Franco–British hostility in the ensuing years.

In addition to the debate over the surrender of German war criminals
and the instability created by the Kapp putsch, German opposition to the
Treaty of Versailles’ stipulations for the size of the Reichswehr delayed the
surrender and destruction of German armaments. Since the treaty
restricted armaments to an army of 100,000 men, Germany was slow to
surrender and destroy its war material in the hopes that the Allies might
still allow an increase in the size of the Reichswehr.36 German military and
political authorities also hesitated to return Allied armaments question-
naires and provided false statements regarding the amount of excess war
material.37 By mid-1921, the numbers of destroyed weapons had easily
surpassed the German figures. Modification of the effectives clauses of the
treaty, a major element of German strategy, would soon play a role in the
negotiations of the Spa Conference.

The British and French governments met in Paris in the latter half of
May to discuss German fulfilment of the military clauses of the Treaty of
Versailles. In essence, the amount of war material simply overwhelmed the
embryonic destruction efforts. The British and French demanded that
Germany surrender excess war material and recognize war material
allowances and the number of factories authorized to produce it.38 These
demands followed in the wake of the German claim that the consumption
of ammunition was a domestic matter and therefore outside Allied juris-
diction.39 The Allies allowed new deadlines for the surrender of police and
fortification armaments (31 May) and Reichswehr and civilian arms (10
June), the surrender of all excess war material (30 June), and the passage
of legislation forbidding the import and export of war material (30 June).
Thus, after a delay of a few months, the Allies had already modified the
original deadlines set by the Treaty of Versailles. At this stage of disarma-
ment, the Allies did not consider reinforcing the modified dates with the
threat of military sanctions, but what would they do if Germany did not
meet these new deadlines?

Despite the initial delay in Allied efforts to disarm Germany, by June
1920 the Armaments Sub-commission reported significant progress in the
surrender and destruction of German armaments. Allied officers verified
the destruction of thousands of rifles, heavy guns, optical instruments,
sighting pieces, fuses, shells, bombs, grenades, small arms ammunition,
and cartridges in the last weeks of spring. While these amounts disap-
pointed the French, the British General Staff pointed out that Allied
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district committees had destroyed “most of the material in their posses-
sion.”40 In addition to compiling detailed records of all material
surrendered and destroyed under its supervision, the Armaments Sub-
commission had been able to verify some of the war material destroyed by
Germany before January 1920 and to determine the nationality and
amount of surrendered non-German war material.41

The Spa Conference

In the immediate post-war years, Britain and France held a number of con-
ferences to settle outstanding issues, especially German disarmament and
reparations, from the peace settlements of 1919. Allied conferences of San
Remo and Hythe in April and May 1920, respectively, led to rather vague
discussions of disarmament but reaffirmed the Anglo–French desire to
discuss the enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles and produced an Allied
agreement to meet with a German delegation in Spa, Belgium.42 At confer-
ences in Boulogne and Spa, the Allies attempted to determine the extent of
German fulfilment of the military clauses of Versailles and to set time
limits for their execution. Despite the progress of the IAMCC, the treaty’s
disarmament deadlines had long since passed. Therefore, at the Boulogne
Conference in June 1920, the British and French governments expressed
their disappointment in German fulfilment of the military clauses of the
Versailles Treaty and demanded that the German government meet its dis-
armament obligations.43 The Allies also conceded important modifications
to the size of Germany’s police forces. If Germany produced no positive
results, the Allied governments threatened “to study the means required to
ensure the complete execution of the terms of the Treaty.”44 The idea of an
occupation of German territory, first seen in the discussions in the Paris
Peace Conference, remained a possible course of action. Yet the import-
ance of the Boulogne Conference was the fact that the British and French
had united their policies towards German disarmament and the enforce-
ment of the Treaty of Versailles, at least for the time being. The French, in
particular, expressed delight with Lloyd George’s emphasis upon the
speedy disarmament of Germany.45

At the Spa Conference in July, the British and French governments
again tackled the subject of German compliance with the military terms of
the treaty and produced a stringent plan of action to ensure German
progress towards disarmament. The Spa Conference, which had the dis-
tinction of being the first post-war conference between the Allies and
Germany, was held from 5 July to 16 July 1920. Representatives at the
conference included Lloyd George, French premier Alexandre Millerand,
and German Chancellor Konstantin Fehrenbach, a moderate conservative
of the Center Party. The German delegation used the disarmament negoti-
ations at Spa as a forum for the modification of the Treaty of Versailles’
military clauses, and the major thrust of the German argument focused on
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justifying the maintenance of an army twice the size prescribed by the
treaty. Time and again the German delegates argued that political stability
in Germany depended upon the maintenance of a German army where “at
least 200,000 men were necessary to ensure public order and tranquil-
ity.”46 Chancellor Fehrenbach also played the Red card and stressed the
danger in the rise of Bolshevism if Germany were not allowed to keep a
sufficient military force. However, Lloyd George, while fearful both of the
rise of left-wing and right-wing political extremists, kept the negotiations
at Spa focused upon the precise fulfilment of the military clauses of the
treaty and demanded a detailed report on German surrender and destruc-
tion of war material.

Disarmament discussions at Spa entered a new stage on 7 July, when
General Hans von Seeckt reported on the status of German armaments,
including rifles, machine-guns, trench mortars, and artillery. As head of the
Reichswehr, General von Seeckt would later attempt to circumvent a
number of military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles.47 Out of a total of
just over six million rifles, Seeckt claimed that Germany lost close to 1.5
million in the 1918 retreat and subsequently surrendered 1.8 million to the
Reichstreuhandgesellschaft. He reported that Germany had surrendered
55,800 machine-guns, 6,400 trench mortars and 11,000 artillery pieces,
and that only about 3,400 machine-guns, 4,000 trench mortars, and 346
heavy guns remained. Seeckt also requested a gradual reduction of the
German army in stages, in which the level of 100,000 would not be
reached until 10 October 1921.48

Lloyd George responded critically to the vast amount of armaments
that remained in German possession and claimed that General von Seeckt
had seriously underestimated the number of machine-guns that Germany
possessed. The fact that the Allies did not contest the small number of
heavy guns that Seeckt claimed remained in German possession illustrated
Allied confidence in the destruction of Germany’s heavy armaments. Under
instructions from Lloyd George and Millerand, Marshal Foch subse-
quently outlined a plan for German fulfillment of five Allied demands.
Aside from the surrender of all excess war material, the Allies demanded
that Germany disarm the Einwohnerwehr (civil defense forces) and the
Sicherheitspolizei (heavily armed security police) immediately, publish a
public demand for German civilians to surrender all arms, take measures
to abolish compulsory service and reorganize the Reichswehr, and fulfil the
naval and air clauses of the Treaty of Versailles. They also decided to
allow Germany a gradual reduction of the Reichswehr, but not along the
lines of Seeckt’s proposal. Most importantly, if Germany did not pass leg-
islation to abolish conscription by 1 September 1920, reduce the Reich-
swehr to 160,000 by 1 October 1920 and to 100,000 by 1 January 1921,
or fulfill the other demands, the Allies agreed to occupy German territory,
possibly the Ruhr region, until they verified absolute compliance.49 This
latter stipulation marked the first time that the Allies used the threat of
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occupation in enforcing disarmament, and the subsequent results assured
that it would not be the last.

The reaction of German political and military authorities to the Spa
Protocol varied. German Foreign Minister Walter Simons supported the
modification of the reduction of the German army but criticized the new
threat of Allied occupation.50 But Allied unity and the threat of sanctions
backed Germany against a wall. Although Simons disliked Spa’s ramifica-
tions he agreed that the treaty bound Germany to the fulfilment of its
obligations.51 While the right-wing press blasted the failure of Fehrenbach
to obtain serious modifications to the Treaty of Versailles, General von
Seeckt, no advocate of the Weimar Republic, supported disarming the
public in order to eradicate the threat of armed workers.52 The Allies,
however, refused to allow any other treaty modifications, and the German
delegation signed the protocol on 9 July.

While fear of political instability resulted in Allied modification to the
effective clauses of Versailles, Lloyd George remained adamant in demand-
ing the surrender and destruction of German armaments. Similar to the
negotiations concerning the military clauses at the Paris Peace Conference,
Lloyd George had once again successfully pushed for the destruction of
German armaments. Allied policy toward armaments remained uncompro-
mising despite the modifications to Allied policy toward German effectives.
At the Spa negotiations, Millerand had opposed the extension of the
period of Germany’s reduction of the Reichswehr but succumbed to Lloyd
George’s wishes. France was simply not willing to risk losing British
support in disarming Germany. Thus, Lloyd George’s concession towards
the reduction of the German army mildly appeased the German govern-
ment, eased his fear of Bolshevism, and sacrificed French policy to British
interests.

The Allied occupation ultimatum of the Spa Protocol produced immediate
results, and Britain and France quickly learned the benefit of military sanc-
tions. After the Spa Conference, the disarmament of Germany’s arsenal
increased in intensity. In fact, by the first week of August, General
Bingham believed that Germany had surrendered as many guns as it pos-
sessed at the end of the war.53 Thus, the head of the British delegation of
the IAMCC believed the destruction of Germany’s heavy guns to be near
completion. In terms of surrendered and destroyed war material, the
British War Office considered the remaining number of rifles and machine-
guns in the hands of German civilians to be a primary concern. French
policy toward German disarmament remained tied to the larger issue of
the complete enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles. In August, French
Army Headquarters in Paris warned that disarmament was still far from
complete despite the recent progress.54 This line of policy remained
entrenched in French political and military circles throughout disarmament
operations in Germany. The policy of occupation as a weapon of Allied
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enforcement, however, had a successful debut and it would continue to
have a significant impact upon future disarmament operations in
Germany.

At the Spa Conference, the Allies had determined that the German civil-
ian population possessed a large number of rifles and other small arms.
The Spa Protocol forced the German government to take steps to disarm
the population by posting notices throughout Germany to surrender arms.
On 7 August, Germany enforced a law to disarm the civil population and
by the end of the month published proclamations regarding fines for those
who did not surrender arms.55 Actual surrender of war material by civil-
ians began in mid-September. The German Commissioner for Disarma-
ment, Dr. Peters, even offered monetary compensation to individuals who
surrendered weapons and informed the authorities of hidden arms.56 Civil-
ians could hand over armaments for reimbursement up until 21 October
and could avoid legal action if they surrendered weapons by November.57

The Germans set up destruction centers where German civilians turned in
a variety of weapons for payment, including rifles, machine-guns, trench
mortars and flamethrowers. Initial results of civil disarmament fell below
Allied expectations, especially in northern and eastern Germany. By the
end of September the Armaments Sub-commission still considered the civil
population to be in possession of a significant amount of arms.58 In
October the IAMCC ordered that all destruction of civilian arms be con-
ducted exclusively in destruction centers of the Control Commission.59

In addition to the ownership of illegal weapons by German civilians, the
Armaments Sub-commission faced the problem of accounting for non-
German armaments, most notably Russian arms in the possession of the
Reichswehr. As stipulated by the Treaty of Versailles, Germany had to sur-
render and destroy any war material in excess of the limits of the treaty,
regardless of its origin. In fact, the Conference of Ambassadors ordered the
IAMCC to destroy all Russian armaments in Germany and the Reparation
Commission to sell the scrap material, with the proceeds of these sales
delivered to the states of pre-war Russia.60 Most military experts con-
sidered the overall quality of Russian armaments to be inferior to German
weapons, but nevertheless, the IAMCC destroyed thousands of Russian
rifles, bayonets, and shells, as well as dozens of artillery pieces.61

The IAMCC experienced considerable progress supervising the destruc-
tion of German war material in the first year of disarmament operations.
In mid-October, Nollet admitted that aside from optical and signaling
equipment, harness and armored cars, the demilitarization of German war
material was proceeding well.62 Bingham reported that a mere 373 guns
remained in Germany’s possession, though his second-in-command,
Brigadier-General Morgan, contested this figure.63 By the end of Novem-
ber, the IAMCC believed that the diminishing numbers of surrendered and
destroyed German guns was simply due to the fact that few remained.64

The number of guns, trench mortars, machine-guns, rifles, and shells
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destroyed under IAMCC auspices in 1920 was impressive. By 13 January
1921, the Germans had surrendered to the IAMCC almost 30,000 guns
and barrels, 10,300 trench mortars, 70,300 machine-guns, 2.9 million
rifles, thirty-three million shells, 412 million rounds of small arms ammu-
nition, as well as parts of various armaments.65 This amounted to about 90
percent of the artillery, 87 percent of the trench mortars, and 72 percent of
the machine-guns that Germany would ultimately surrender.66 Con-
sequently, the British General Staff considered the surrender of artillery
significant enough to prevent German aggression and believed such disar-
mament efforts would be complete by mid-March 1921. Despite this
success, the German army did not yet conform to the military clauses of
the Treaty of Versailles.

At the end of the first year of Allied operations, German opposition to
the strict fulfillment of the military terms of the Treaty of Versailles
increased. As a result, the French government proposed that the AMCV
draft a general report on the state of execution of the military and air
clauses of the treaty. The subsequent report became the basis for the Paris
Note of 29 January and the London Ultimatum of 5 May 1921. Three
major points concerning the armaments obligations of Germany remained:
excess war material from the reduction of the Reichswehr to 100,000 men,
excess war material maintained by the German government for training
purposes and for replacement of worn-out material, and the existence of
civilian arms. In the final days of December, the AMCV agreed that while
“the surrender and destruction of German war material has already
attained very considerable figures, it is nonetheless true that the disarma-
ment of Germany is still far from complete.”67

From 24 to 29 January 1921, the Allies met in Paris to discuss the exe-
cution of the Treaty of Versailles, focusing upon disarmament and repara-
tions. French Prime Minister Aristide Briand, who also held the office of
Foreign Minister, considered the question of German disarmament “a
matter of life and death to France,” and Foch still believed Germany
“capable of undertaking very serious military operations.”68 However,
British policy-makers began to distance themselves from the French insis-
tence on total enforcement. Lloyd George’s closest adviser, Philip Kerr,
had recently warned his Prime Minister that the public could reject the dis-
armament of Germany, and that France must be made to understand that
Britain could not support the strict application of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles.69 At the Paris Conference, Lloyd George claimed he supported
enforcement of the Versailles Treaty but thought “conditions of the
moment” should affect the treaty’s strict enforcement. Thus, the British
Prime Minister did not rule out possible treaty modification. These
Anglo–French differences would soon threaten the future of Allied disar-
mament enforcement but for now the British and French continued to
work effectively in concert.

On 29 January, the Allies backed up demands that Germany pass a new
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military law and surrender excess war material by 15 March, reorganize
the Reichswehr by 15 April, and disband all military associations by 30
June 1921, with the threat to enforce economic and military sanctions and
occupy more territory in the Rhineland.70 However, the new deadlines
passed without significant progress. In fact, these Allied disarmament
decisions would not be accepted by the Germans until the Wirth govern-
ment pledged Germany to a policy of fulfilment in May 1921.71 In the
meantime, the Allies rejected a German request for an independent tri-
bunal to settle the outstanding issues. Consequently, the lack of German
compliance in the fulfilment of disarmament and reparations obligations
led to the enforcement of the Paris sanctions. On 8 March, French, British,
and Belgian forces occupied the cities of Duisburg, Ruhrort, and Düssel-
dorf as Allied leaders applied economic sanctions; these troops remained
until 25 August 1925.72 Although the occupation failed ultimately to elicit
German treaty compliance, it clearly pointed out that the Allies were not
loath to use force in the enforcement of either economic or military
demands upon Germany. The Allied policy of military sanctions, however,
would soon bear fruit and become a diplomatic tool in the quest for
enforcement.

In the spring of 1921, as the modified deadlines of the military clauses
of Versailles expired, French doubts about a timely conclusion of German
disarmament increased. General Nollet believed that true fulfilment of the
military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles was not yet near completion.
The French General blamed the German government for the delay and
obstruction faced by Allied officers of the IAMCC. The Armaments Sub-
commission, encouraged by the surrender and destruction of rifles,
expressed dismay about excess pistols, machine-guns, trench mortars,
harness, vehicles, optical and bridging equipment, and flamethrowers.73 By
the first week in April, Nollet reported that he had not witnessed any new
progress towards the surrender and destruction of German armaments,
and that Germany continued to default on a number of the treaty’s
clauses.74 Most importantly, the German government now declared that it
could not surrender all excess war material until 30 April at the earliest.

On 5 May 1921, Britain and France once again attempted to enforce
the articles of the Treaty of Versailles through the threat of military sanc-
tions. The Allies decided to allow the German government new deadlines
to surrender war material but threatened to occupy the Ruhr Valley if
Germany did not fulfil its disarmament and reparations obligations.75 This
demand was a repetition of the recent Paris strategy in January, subse-
quently emphasized by the marching of Allied troops into the Rhineland in
March. The renewed threat of an Allied occupation forced the hand of the
German government. Consequently, Fehrenbach resigned and Joseph
Wirth, a member of the Center Party and an advocate of fulfillment,
replaced him. Although the crux of the ultimatum concerned the payment
of reparations, Wirth’s acceptance of the Allied note also obligated the
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German government to complete the execution of the modified military
articles of the Treaty of Versailles.76 The German rationale behind accep-
tance of the London ultimatum, aside from wanting to prevent an Allied
occupation, was to eliminate any pretext for the maintenance of Allied dis-
armament operations.77

The entire issue of the disarmament of Germany reached an important
crossroads by the early summer of 1921 as the British first broached the
question of future disarmament operations. At this point, the execution of
the military clauses remained incomplete but much work had been carried
out. In fact, the British Foreign Office believed that only the surrender of
some excess arms, equipment, and signaling materials, as well as the disar-
mament of various coastal fortresses, remained. As a result of Allied enforce-
ment efforts backed by the threat of military sanctions in the May
ultimatum, in June British military intelligence reported that disarmament
was once again proceeding well and that only the district of Königsberg had
recently experienced a dilatory response in the surrender of excess war
material.78 By July 1921, Britain’s attitude toward German disarmament
started to change perceptibly. The amount of destroyed war material dra-
matically influenced British perceptions of the state of German disarmament.
Increasingly, British political and military authorities rejected previously
held assumptions of German intransigence for the belief that German fulfill-
ment of the military clauses of Versailles approached completion.

Although there were some exceptions to the change of British policy,
most notably Brigadier-General Morgan, both the Foreign Office and the
War Office considered the surrender of German armaments negligent only
in certain surplus weapons. Two Central Department members of the
Foreign Office, Sydney Waterlow and Ralph Wigram, believed that
Germany had “substantially executed” the military clauses of the treaty
and that only the surrender of excess German war material such as signal-
ing equipment and the disarmament of some coastal fortifications
remained incomplete.79 The progress of the Armaments Sub-commission’s
disarmament results also pleased Major-General Bingham.80 On the other
hand, General Nollet’s often hostile attitude ebbed and flowed. At times he
vociferously demanded the complete fulfilment of the military clauses of
the treaty. Nollet’s bi-weekly reports to Foch in the spring of June 1921
emphasized Nollet’s impatience with German disarmament violations and
obstruction to Allied efforts. Nollet focused his anger, justified by the
French demand for the complete fulfilment of all the military clauses of the
treaty, primarily at Germany but also at the glowing British attitude
toward the destruction of a single aspect of disarmament. Yet in July, even
Nollet could not deny the success of the May ultimatum and reported that
the surrender and destruction of German war material was proceeding
well; he admitted that regarding illicit war material, Germany essentially
only had to surrender optical instruments, signaling equipment, and
harness.81
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The Armaments Sub-commission faced a number of difficulties in super-
vising the surrender and destruction of German war material. One
problem that plagued the efforts of the Armaments Sub-commission was
the surplus of German war material in Reichswehr depots that the German
government regarded as training equipment. Certain German authorities
gave inaccurate war material figures to the Allies to omit various amounts
of spare parts and practice weapons.82 Consequently, the IAMCC refused
any consideration of training weapons as non-war material. In addition,
the Armaments Sub-commission faced the unauthorized transportation of
war material by German authorities. At times, the Germans would move
war material from depot to depot, thereby altering the amounts under
supervision.83 This ploy hindered the work of the Armaments Sub-
commission in determining the amount of destruction that remained, and
the IAMCC decided to force the Germans to obtain a special permit for
the transport of any war material within Germany.84 Previously, in
October 1920, the IAMCC had declared that all transport of German war
material within Germany be authorized through notification of the local
IAMCC district.85 Altogether, the great number of difficulties that the
Armaments Sub-commission experienced in the early days of disarming
Germany would strain Allied–German relations, hinder progress towards
the completion of the IAMCC’s duties in Germany, and prolong Allied dis-
armament operations in Germany.

The AMCV also criticized the level of German disarmament. In August,
Foch claimed that without the lists of war material that Germany pos-
sessed in 1918, the Allies could not verify German disarmament to the
levels of the Treaty of Versailles. Foch’s belief hinted at permanent control.
Furthermore, the AMCV demanded the completion of every detail of
German disarmament, including the surrender of wagons, bridging equip-
ment, and field bakeries.86 Therefore, even though Germany had already
surrendered and destroyed a vast amount of armaments under the
IAMCC’s supervision, Allied disarmament organizations lacked a consen-
sus of opinion toward Germany’s fulfilment of disarmament. As a result,
even amid discussions of diminishing the extent of military control in
Germany, the IAMCC continued full operations. By the end of 1921, the
discovery of a number of illegal war caches by inspectors of the Arma-
ments Sub-commission raised doubts about the extent of German disarma-
ment.87 While discussions in the British Foreign Office raised the possibility
of modifying the system of military control, which General Bingham sup-
ported, the British section of the AMCV believed that German disarma-
ment was still not complete.88

The crucial difference between British and French perceptions toward
German fulfilment of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles would
remain until the disarmament of Germany finally came to an end in 1931.
By the spring of 1921, both the British and the French involved in disarm-
ing Germany experienced the surrender and destruction of vast amounts of
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German armaments. This was not the contentious issue, though the French
were more willing to believe that Germany still possessed a substantial
amount of armaments. The difference in thinking was that the British, in
light of the fact that German heavy armaments had been destroyed, essen-
tially viewed the remainder of the surrender and destruction of remaining
German war material as negligible and the remaining points of disarma-
ment as less important than the armaments question. The French con-
tinued to insist upon the enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles down to
the last field kitchen. Since the British believed the destruction of arma-
ments essentially disarmed Germany, a hint of complacency began to filter
through British disarmament efforts. The Allied enforcement of disarma-
ment through the threat of military sanctions had produced results that
satisfied the Allies. Certainly the majority of both British and French
IAMCC members did not believe that Germany was capable of offensive
action. A tough enforcement policy now softened the British stance on
German disarmament while the French remained intransigent to any alter-
ation in treaty enforcement. This divergence of opinion continued to affect
Anglo–French relations and policies toward German disarmament, and
would later increase dramatically after the Franco-Belgian occupation of
the Ruhr in January 1923.

British and French evaluations of German disarmament fluctuated in the
second year of operations. In February, the IAMCC reported that the disar-
mament of Germany would take at least another three months to complete
and began to reduce the overall number of centers of surrender and destruc-
tion.89 By April, however, General Nollet reported minimal disarmament
progress while Friedrich Sthamer, the German Ambassador to London,
regarded Allied complaints as petty.90 The Conference of Ambassadors once
again set new deadlines for the fulfillment of the military clauses of the
treaty, expecting Germany to surrender all excess war material by 15 July
and to transform its factories by 1 October 1922.91 Without specific meas-
ures to enforce compliance other than verbal warnings, Allied demands did
nothing to compel the German government to meet these deadlines.

In July, Nollet claimed that the destruction of German war material had
slowed down.92 The French General pointed out that Germany still had to
surrender clothing, gas masks, and both signaling and bridging equipment.
While the Treaty of Versailles outlawed these items, they were hardly a
threat to Allied security. Nonetheless, the French insisted on the surrender
of all remaining war material, regardless of its inherent combative or
administrative nature. The French feared that any further modification to
the treaty would lessen the importance and possibly undermine the
enforcement of other clauses of the treaty. Alternatively, British policy
toward German disarmament was becoming less compatible with French
demands. In a June memo, the War Office emphasized the military clauses
that concerned German armaments. The War Office essentially agreed
with the German position that the amount of illegal war material found in
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clandestine caches paled in comparison to the amount of war material that
had already been surrendered and destroyed.93

In the summer of 1922, Anglo–French differences regarding the disar-
mament of Germany approached boiling-point. Lloyd George and the
French Prime Minister, Raymond Poincaré, revealed the fundamental
divergence of policy between the British and French attitude toward
enforcement of the military clauses, and in reality the entire treaty. Domi-
nating the discussions, Lloyd George declared that Germany was not
capable of equipping an army that could threaten Europe, even if the
IAMCC had determined that Germany still possessed a number of illegal
guns. Furthermore, the Prime Minister stated that “Germany could not
equip an army strong enough to stand up to Czechoslovakia, let alone
France, and she could not manufacture in two years, even with the know-
ledge and consent of the Allies, the quantity of munitions equivalent to
what she had given up to the Disarmament Commission (sic). Germany as
a military Power was broken, prostrate, and in the dust.”94 On the other
hand, Poincaré insisted that German obstruction to Allied disarmament
efforts continued to increase and that Lloyd George was being too opti-
mistic. The French President remained intransigent to anything but the
complete execution of the Treaty of Versailles.

By the autumn of 1922, the surrender and destruction of German arma-
ments had been considerable. Consequently, throughout the spring and
summer the Allies, especially Britain, discussed the possibility of withdraw-
ing the IAMCC and replacing it with a smaller Allied supervisory organi-
zation. Eventually, in what would prove to have serious ramifications
upon the future course of Allied disarmament of Germany, the Conference
of Ambassadors drafted a note on 26 August that outlined five major
points Germany had to fulfill in order for the Allies to consider withdraw-
ing the IAMCC and replacing it with a smaller and less ubiquitous organi-
zation. This note, sent to the German government on 29 September 1922,
stipulated that Germany must complete the transformation of factories,
surrender all excess war material, turn over the 1918 inventories of war
material in existence or production, reorganize its police forces along the
lines of the Treaty of Versailles, and pass legislative measures to prohibit
both the import and export of war material and any illegal recruiting for
the German army.95 If Germany fulfilled these measures, the Allies agreed
to replace the IAMCC with a smaller “Committee of Guarantee.” Shortly
after the delivery of this Allied proposal, however, Germany unleashed a
stream of complaints to the Conference of Ambassadors, especially criticiz-
ing Allied proposals for the organization of the German police, and a
number of IAMCC officers experienced violent attacks in conducting their
duties in Stettin, Passau and Ingolstadt. The eventual response of the
German government on 27 October to the Allied note of 29 September did
not even address the issue of the Committee of Guarantee, and the ques-
tion remained in suspense at the end of the year.96
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At no other time in the history of Allied military control in the post-war
period was the disarmament of Germany carried out so extensively as in
the period from 1920 through 1922. The Allied threat at the Spa Confer-
ence in July 1920 and in the London ultimatum of May 1921 to occupy
German territory helped induce the surrender and destruction of hundreds
of heavy guns, thousands of machine-guns and trench mortars, and mil-
lions of rifles and shells. While below the lofty expectations of the Treaty
of Versailles, the impressive amount of destroyed war material had ren-
dered Germany a second-rate military power by 1922.97 The Allies had
learned that disarmament deadlines without any serious threat of sanctions
to enforce them were not conducive to success. While the British became
mostly satisfied with the level of disarmament, the French adamantly
insisted upon overseeing the complete fulfilment of the military clauses of
the treaty.

By 1922, the unity in British and French policy toward German disar-
mament experienced a reciprocal relationship to results: as the numbers of
destroyed German weapons mounted, Allied unity diminished. The British
political and military leadership had considered Germany disarmed as
early as 1921 and their efforts to begin discussions on the future of mili-
tary control revealed their confidence that the IAMCC would soon be
withdrawn from Germany. The British viewed the remainder of the mili-
tary clauses that Germany had to fulfill as superfluous. The real work had
been done. The Allies had destroyed Germany’s heavy guns and, with
them, the serious threat of German military aggression or defiance. On the
other hand, French political and military authorities continued to view
Germany as an armed nation since the Treaty of Versailles had not been
carried out to the letter. No clause or surplus weapon was insignificant to
the French. With the British generally satisfied with the amount of German
disarmament and the French insistent upon continued extensive military
control, Anglo–French relations began to bend under the strain.
Anglo–French discord in German disarmament, together with German
intransigence to fulfil the military clauses in their entirety, would soon boil
over as a result of the Franco-Belgian occupation of the Ruhr in 1923.
Allied disarmament operations, however, would survive.
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5 Armaments
The Allied offensive on war
production

The import and export of war material

While there were significant inroads into the surrender and destruction of
excess German war material from the summer of 1920 to the autumn of
1922, the illegal importation and exportation of war material into and out
of Germany remained a constant source of friction for the Allies during
this period. In order to maintain German armaments at a fixed level and to
prevent clandestine rearmament, Article 170 of the Treaty of Versailles
strictly forbade the importation and exportation of “arms, munitions, and
war material of every kind.”1 The importation of war material, in actual-
ity, was more a question of maintaining the restricted state of German dis-
armament than any serious threat to Allied security. Where importation
did play a role was in the sphere of strict German compliance with the
treaty since the Allies demanded that Germany pass administrative and
legislative measures to prohibit both the importation and exportation of
war material.2 Although the importation of war material was insignificant,
the Allies always feared that it could enhance German war-making
capacity.

The substantial exportation of German war material during this period,
however, presented a difficult challenge. Germany often exported arms,
machines, gauges and other types of war material to prevent its destruc-
tion.3 Furthermore, the exportation of German war material to neutral
nations complicated Allied enforcement efforts. With determination to
enforce the treaty, the IAMCC, AMCV and the Conference of Ambas-
sadors warned Germany repeatedly of this illegal activity and took a
number of steps to eradicate it. The Allies responded initially with hesita-
tion, however, and the illegal export of war material would continue to
plague efforts to enforce the treaty for years.

At the heart of the problem of the illegal import and export of war
material was the fact that neutral nations participated, and the Allies
simply did not want to threaten relations with most of those involved. A
significant number of neutral countries imported German war material but
none, with the possible exception of Russia, participated as frequently as

 



the Netherlands.4 Germany and the Netherlands had maintained close eco-
nomic relations throughout the war and this relationship continued into
the post-war period. The position of the Netherlands regarding the exiled
Kaiser had already strained relations with Britain and France, and the
Allies had been unable to convince the Netherlands to release Wilhelm for
trial. However, the position of the Netherlands regarding German war
material constituted a blatant disregard of the Treaty of Versailles. The
French had been aware of shipments of German war material to the
Netherlands as early as November 1919, when 25,000 machine-guns
arrived in Amsterdam.5 The amount and type of exported war material
soon increased. In mid-March 1920, Marshal Foch reported that Germany
was exporting heavy artillery, trench mortars, machine-guns, rifles,
grenades, machinery, gun molds, even airplanes and submarine parts, to
the Netherlands.6

By March 1920, the British and French considered that the extent of
German war material exported to the Netherlands had reached “danger-
ous proportions.”7 Whereas a Royal Decree of 1919 prohibited the impor-
tation of arms and munitions without government consent, the Dutch
government had authorized some sales of German armaments and had a
difference of opinion with the Allies as to what constituted war material.8

The Dutch Foreign Minister, Herman van Karnebeek, pointed out that his
government was unaware of the details of the Treaty of Versailles and that
the French had exaggerated many of the reports of war material.9 Yet even
when the Allies apprised the Dutch government of the details of the treaty,
the traffic in military materials continued.

The initial indecision of the Conference of Ambassadors over the export
of German war material prolonged the transport of contraband. The Allies
merely informed the Dutch government that all war material traffic with
Germany constituted a breach of the Treaty of Versailles.10 In April, the
British government authorized Lord Derby, the British representative on
the Conference of Ambassadors, to warn the Netherlands, Switzerland and
all Scandinavian governments that they were accomplices in the violation
of the treaty.11 The Allied governments rejected the more forceful AMCV
measure to charge Germany with reparations payments for the amount of
war material exported from Germany.12

In June 1920 the Conference of Ambassadors officially placed General
Nollet in charge of all information regarding war material traffic between
Germany and neutrals and asked the French General to convey the
“unfriendly character” of the problem to those who were involved.13

Nollet first raised the question of the commercial nature of some of the
war material exported from Germany. Should Germany be allowed to
export goods and equipment that formerly had some type of military
value? This issue soon became a source of conflict between the Reparation
Commission and Marshal Foch, who quickly imposed his authority over
Nollet. The Reparation Commission thought that the sale of non-combat
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material outside of Germany would facilitate Germany’s reparations debt
and therefore benefit the Allies.14 On the other hand, Foch thought that
any alterations to the Treaty of Versailles would open a floodgate of modi-
fications. In short, Foch’s viewpoint represented the core French policy of
enforcing the entire treaty. Modifying a single clause of the treaty to the
benefit of Germany would be analogous to extracting a stone from the
foundation of a wall; the whole structure might collapse. Nevertheless, the
Ambassadors’ Conference resolved the issue in July when it reiterated its
earlier decision to prohibit all war material, regardless of potential non-
military value, from entering or leaving Germany.15

In an abrupt turnaround at the end of November, the Conference of
Ambassadors decided to allow the Reparation Commission to conduct
sales of exported German war material that did not have a direct military
nature. British influence had decisively shifted the Conference’s opinion
but Foch’s anger was mitigated somewhat when he insisted that the war
material must be dispersed to negate potential military value.16 For
instance, sales of army boots could not be conducted in mass numbers
with any single business or locale in order to prevent any possibility of mil-
itary use. In addition, the Allies decided to make the change in policy
subject to General Nollet’s approval. Yet when Nollet refused to back
down and continued to oppose the sale of all German war material, the
Conference of Ambassadors supported Foch and the AMCV, thereby
ignoring Nollet and the IAMCC.17 Despite the stellar efforts of the
IAMCC, the Conference of Ambassadors regarded Foch as the unparal-
leled expert on military affairs.

The fact that Germany had dumped a substantial amount of arms and
equipment in the Netherlands during the 1918 retreat hindered Allied dis-
armament efforts. Subsequent German actions in exporting war material
to the Netherlands in 1920 illustrated a conscious effort to stockpile war
material in the hope of retaining it or at least acquiring some type of com-
pensation for it in the future. The crux of the problem was obvious. How
could German war material, stored outside of German territory, be subject
to the Treaty of Versailles when the treaty itself did not stipulate what
action to take over violations and only forbade the export of such material
after 10 January 1920? German motivations were also obvious. Since it
appeared that the German army would be unable to use this equipment,
Germany could at least make a profit from the sales, thereby circumvent-
ing the authority of the IAMCC in supervising the collection and destruc-
tion of all excess war material and the Reparation Commission in the sale
of the material.

The continuation of the illegal war material trade led to the Allied cre-
ation of frontier stations on the German border in the hope of uncovering
attempts to transport armaments, equipment, and spare parts. Together
with Allied intelligence, these stations succeeded in discovering illegal
activities, but they could do nothing to acquire the German war material
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stockpiled on Dutch soil. In May, the Conference of Ambassadors asked
the Dutch government to hand over all German war material to IAMCC
officers at the frontier stations.18 Once again, the Netherlands refused to
comply, and the German war material remained in its possession.

In October, the Conference of Ambassadors took another step to
resolve the problem when it asked the Dutch government again to stop
importing German war material and demanded that Germany turn over all
its war material in the Netherlands.19 In response, the German government
claimed that the Treaty of Versailles’ armaments clauses referred exclus-
ively to war material in Germany, thereby using the diktat as a pretext to
promote self-interests. Furthermore, with the value of the material placed
at fifteen million marks, Germany hoped to make a six-million mark profit
from the sale of the material.20 This reaction placed the Allies in a difficult
position because they did not want to appear weak in their resolve to
enforce the treaty. Yet they could not coerce a neutral country into com-
pliance for fear of alienating themselves from international opinion and
threatening to increase sympathetic support for Germany. Thus, the Allies
ruled out the possibility of destroying the German war material that had
been surrendered to the Netherlands in 1918.21

Acting tentatively, the Conference of Ambassadors ordered the AMCV
to draft instructions for Allied military attachés in The Hague to supervise
the sale of German war material in the Netherlands and to ask Germany
to whom they intended to sell the material.22 The Dutch government
agreed to protect the war material in its possession and to sell it under the
auspices of Allied military attachés.23 The Allies had now implemented
Germany’s initial idea of selling the stockpiled material for profit, a step
previously rejected outright by the Conference of Ambassadors. The per-
sistence of the German government in avoiding the surrender of this
material to the Allies benefited Germany and certainly influenced German
perceptions of methods to delay and obstruct the enforcement of the mili-
tary clauses of the treaty. The Conference acted more decisively in October
1922 when it ruled that the liquidation of German war material in the
Netherlands had to be completed by mid-November and that any material
not sold by that date would have to be transported to Germany and
destroyed by the IAMCC.24 In reality, the Allies could do little other than
attempt to persuade the Dutch government to comply with Allied wishes
regarding the enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles. As a neutral nation
and a non-signatory of the treaty, the Netherlands was free to act in
accordance with its own wishes. Similar to its protection of the ex-Kaiser
in the face of British and French demands, the Netherlands again chose to
retain its special relationship with Germany, thereby helping to undermine
Allied disarmament operations.

In addition to the illegal transfer of German war material to the Nether-
lands, budding German relations with Bolshevik Russia led to a number of
violations of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles. Initial contacts
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between German and Bolshevik officials started as early as 1919 and
increased in intensity throughout the 1920s. Military discussions began in
1921, and Germany formed a special section of the Reichswehr Ministry
under General Hans von Seeckt, Sondergruppe R, to collaborate with the
Red Army. In an effort to circumvent the restrictions of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles upon German production of war material, in 1922 Germany began
to send military and technical aid to the Soviets and to manufacture air-
plane engines, poison gas, and Krupp armaments on Soviet soil.25 The
German government also set up a special department, “Gefu,” under the
Reichswehr Ministry to conduct military transactions with the Bolshe-
viks.26 The Treaty of Rapallo, signed in April 1922, increased Soviet-
German economic and diplomatic cooperation, thereby forging closer
military relations between the two nations. By 1924, Germany had set up
training schools for tanks and airplanes in the Soviet Union, both of which
were banned by Versailles. Other than stopping the passage of German
war material at border areas and ports, the IAMCC could do little.
Unaware of the true extent of German–Soviet military relations, the Allies
lacked the diplomatic, military, and political means to prevent the produc-
tion of German armaments in the Soviet Union.

Initial Allied suspicions of German–Soviet military cooperation were
well founded, and by the summer of 1920 the Allies were cognizant of
German military and industrial transactions with Russia. A Polish military
attaché informed the British government in July 1920 that a ship, which
contained a cargo of 400,000 rifles and 200 million cartridges bought by
Bolsheviks in Germany, was about to sail from Lubeck or Hamburg to
Reval.27 The following month, French military intelligence reported that
89,000 German workers from factories in Upper Silesia and Essen, includ-
ing specialists from Krupp, had emigrated to Kolomna, an industrial city
southeast of Moscow.28 Over the next two years, Germany continued to
attempt to sell arms, munitions, ammunition, medical supplies, and planes
to Bolshevik forces.29

In the years immediately following the signature of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles, neutral nations continuously attempted to purchase war material
from Germany. The Conference of Ambassadors spent much time and
effort in developing policies to prevent such violations of the treaty. The
AMCV and the IAMCC played lesser roles except for insisting that
Germany pass legislation to prohibit the importation and exportation of
war material. From a neutral nation’s perspective, the decision to import
war material from Germany could be justified under the pretext that it had
not signed the Treaty of Versailles (and was therefore not bound or even
aware of its stipulations). Neutrals hoped to make a profit from a desper-
ate Germany, which itself attempted to unload its vast quantities of war
material in lieu of surrendering it to the victors.

War material transactions between Germany and non-signatories of the
Treaty of Versailles are too voluminous to list in their entirety but, in
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order to illustrate the problem the Allies faced in disarming Germany, it is
necessary to outline some of the major deals that Allied military intelli-
gence and disarmament operations uncovered. For instance, in February
1920 the Conference of Ambassadors refused to allow Poland to purchase
300,000 rifles from Germany and then rejected Foch’s proposal to allow
Czechoslovakia to import German machine-gun and rifle cartridges.30 In a
clear example of political interests, the French government supported sales
of war material to its allies while Britain insisted upon enforcement of the
treaty.31 British and French actions demonstrated the influence of self-
interests upon Allied decisions: the Czech example reveals France’s post-
war diplomatic efforts to ally itself with its eastern allies and British
attempts to thwart French gains on the Continent.

After the first year of treaty enforcement, the illegal export of German
war material continued but to a lesser degree. In the summer and fall of
1921, the Conference of Ambassadors rejected attempts by neutral nations
such as Sweden, Finland, and even the United States to purchase war
material from Germany.32 By 1922, Allied disarmament efforts had
significantly diminished the amount of war material in Germany’s posses-
sion, and the illegal export of war material out of Germany slowed to a
trickle. A few incidents still attracted the attention of the Conference of
Ambassadors, such as a proposed sale of German helmets to the Finnish
government in February 1922, but overall numbers had become
negligible.33

Prohibiting the import and export of war material across German
borders, the enforcement of Article 170 of the Treaty of Versailles pre-
sented a difficult proposition to Allied disarmament operations. The Allies
had demanded that Germany pass legislation to enforce Article 170, yet
the German government hesitated to do so. A major source of irritation to
Allied efforts, the delay in passage of an adequate German law appeared
interminable, and the problem continued to beleaguer the IAMCC until its
withdrawal in 1927. The possibility of the violation of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles in importing or exporting war material in the future was as import-
ant to the Allies as an actual violation. In 1920 the IAMCC objected to
two attempts by the German government to issue a law prohibiting the
import and export of war material because the German definition of war
material was not adequately extensive.34 Therefore, nothing had been done
on the federal level to prohibit transactions of arms, machines and equip-
ment that matched the Allied definition of war material. This fundamental
problem led to another IAMCC demand in April 1921 that the German
government pass such a law by the end of June.35 The deadline passed
without action.

The third year of Allied disarmament operations gave no respite to
British or French concerns over passage of a German law prohibiting the
import and export of war material. With the British considering the war
material question a priority and the French simply content to push for
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German compliance with all the disarmament clauses, the issue of enforc-
ing the legal prohibition of the import and export of war material in
Germany was one area of Anglo–French unity. This issue, however, would
never be resolved to the liking of the IAMCC, and in January 1923 it
joined a number of disarmament obligations that would be delayed for
over a year.

Like many other facets of Allied disarmament, by 1923 the question of
importing and exporting war material remained in perpetual suspension.
Overall, Allied efforts to stop war material traffic emanating from
Germany had mixed results. The IAMCC slowed but did not stop German
sales of war material to neutral nations. Allied indecision and lack of
enforcement measures allowed Germany to violate the treaty’s prohibition
of importing and exporting war material without fear of retribution. Yet
IAMCC inspectors and Allied military intelligence uncovered much of the
illegal traffic, which decreased significantly over time as destruction efforts
succeeded in destroying surplus material. The success of Allied disarma-
ment regarding this issue also depended upon others. Similar to the need
for German compliance in the surrender and destruction of war material,
prevention of the exportation of war material out of Germany relied upon
the cooperation of non-signatories of the Treaty of Versailles. A number of
neutral nations profited from Germany’s disarmament violations. Thus,
the enforcement of the treaty was by no means exclusively in the hands of
the Allies. While it is easy to blame Britain and France for ineffectively
enforcing the Treaty of Versailles, neutral nations also helped widen the
cracks in the treaty’s foundation.

The demilitarization of German industry

From the unification of Germany in 1871 to the signing of the Treaty of
Versailles in 1919, Germany had become the leading industrial nation in
Europe.36 During the war, German industrial and technological leadership
in Europe had been crucial to the massive production of armaments and
munitions for the German war effort. As a result, throughout the Paris
Peace Conference the Allies and especially Britain stressed the need to limit
Germany’s ability to produce war material. Lloyd George had been a
staunch advocate of the dismantling of German industrial production of
war material and believed it was the most effective means to control
Germany’s military capacity. Winston Churchill, as Secretary of State for
War, wholeheartedly supported the destruction of German factories and
machines that manufactured war material.37 The French obsession with
security following the war was due in large part to the fact that Germany
not only had a larger population but a stronger industrial base. The British
and French both feared the current capacity and future potential of
German military production.

The war, which transformed large tracts of French industrial territory
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into a quagmire, left intact Germany’s enormous industrial capacity to
manufacture war material. While the Allied blockade and the manpower
drain of the Western Front hindered German productive output during the
war, the victorious Allies realized that Germany still retained her potential
for industrial supremacy in Europe in the post-war period. Consequently,
Britain and France hoped to eradicate Germany’s powerful military indus-
trial base by transforming a vast number of German factories from the
production of war material to the manufacture of products that precluded
military utility. The complex task of transforming or closing down all
German establishments that produced war material (upwards of 7,500),
other than those authorized by the Allies for the needs of the restricted
Reichswehr, fell to the Armaments Sub-commission of the IAMCC.

In order to diminish Germany’s industrial capacity to produce war
material, the Treaty of Versailles gave the Allies the right to control
Germany’s military production. Specifically, Article 168 stipulated that the
Allies could authorize the number of German factories allowed to produce
war material and that all other establishments that manufactured arma-
ments after three months of the effective date of the treaty would be closed
down. Article 169 stipulated that Germany must surrender to the Allies all
industrial plant used to produce war material in excess of prescribed
amounts. All excess plant was to be destroyed. Finally, Article 172
demanded that the German government give the Allies information regard-
ing the “nature and mode of manufacture” of armaments and chemicals
used in warfare.38 Thus, the treaty gave the IAMCC sweeping powers con-
cerning the transformation and destruction of Germany’s war industries.
These powers would soon lead to bitter disputes between the German
government and workers on one side and the Conference of Ambassadors
and the IAMCC on the other.

The interpretation of the French version of the treaty, which used the
rather vague term “supprimer” (suppress) in dealing with German facto-
ries that produced war material, led to disputes within the IAMCC itself,
and the Ambassadors’ Conference stepped in on 10 February 1920 to
settle the issue. Pushed by General Bingham, the Conference ruled that
“supprimer” was to be interpreted as the prevention of German factories
from manufacturing war material by the destruction of their installations,
machinery, dies and equipment.39 The Germans could reopen a factory
after converting it to commercial production. Furthermore, the treaty
made Germany responsible for the destruction of war-producing facilities,
equipment, and machinery, and prohibited the sale of such machinery. The
German workers and industrialists who had reaped the benefits of war
production from 1914 to 1918 would soon feel the impact of the treaty.

The tasks of the Armaments Sub-commission of the IAMCC relating to
German war production amounted to a variety of difficult undertakings.
First, the IAMCC had to authorize a specific and limited number of
German factories to produce the amount of war material stipulated by the
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Treaty of Versailles for the 100,000-man Reichswehr. This question would
remain in dispute and would be subject to modification in the upcoming
months. Initially, on 26 February 1920, the Conference of Ambassadors
authorized only six German factories to produce war material.40 The Allies
deliberately chose moderately sized factories with the exception of Krupp,
which could produce a limited number of guns. This decision led to
German complaints of economic inefficiency but the Conference of Ambas-
sadors rejected a subsequent German request to allow Krupp to produce
more armaments.41 After Germany requested upwards of seventy-nine war
production facilities, the IAMCC eventually compromised and allowed
fourteen German factories to produce war material, though they authorized
each relatively small firm to produce only a certain type of weapon.42

The Armaments Sub-commission was also responsible for the seizure
and destruction of the plant, machinery and munitions of a vast number of
diverse German factories.43 These were no simple tasks. Despite false
information supplied by the German government, British and French
IAMCC officers discovered that over 7,000 factories in Germany had to be
inspected.44 The daunting task left the Armaments Sub-commission hard
pressed to carry out its numerous duties, and only Allied inspections could
accurately determine whether a factory was in compliance with IAMCC
stipulations. For instance, after an inspection, if IAMCC officers con-
sidered the machinery of a German factory to be destroyed, transformed,
or dispersed, they could release the factory in question from Allied
control.45 The IAMCC treated machines in a similar fashion to the way it
dealt with war material. It destroyed special machines that produced only
war material, while either dispersing throughout Germany or leaving
intact those machines that produced commercial goods. Allied officers
carried out numerous inspections of the same factories over the years of
disarmament operations.46

The district committees of the IAMCC conducted inspections of bar-
racks, military establishments and factories. They also drafted a program
for visits and contacted the appropriate German liaison office
(Verbindungstelle) to accompany the inspectors.47 The Armaments Sub-
commission also carried out surprise inspections. These often led to
trouble with the German authorities, especially after Allied operations
resumed following the Ruhr crisis, but were the best method in determin-
ing compliance with the treaty.48 The German government tried to make
all inspections contingent upon the accompaniment of a German liaison
officer but the Conference of Ambassadors declared on 4 March 1920 that
the IAMCC had the authority to conduct surprise inspections of German
establishments.49 Factory directors often disputed the right of the IAMCC
to destroy machinery, and the German government appealed to the Con-
ference of Ambassadors on numerous occasions to put an end to factory
closings and machinery destruction.50 German efforts in this regard fre-
quently delayed the work of the Armaments Sub-commission.
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Initially, the IAMCC made a key distinction between state and private
firms by insisting on the destruction of machinery that could produce war
material in state firms but only on the dispersal of such machinery in
private firms. The Allies believed that state firms were more dangerous,
since they could carry out armaments orders according to national policies
where private firms would simply fulfill contracts for profit. But the polit-
ical atmosphere in Germany led the IAMCC to ameliorate conditions for
German workers, especially concerning the Deutsche Werke, the former
state conglomeration responsible for war production. The Allies feared
that increased unemployment would give rise to Bolshevism while the
workers of the Deutsche Werke went so far as to swear to General Nollet
that they would not manufacture war material. On 10 February 1920, the
Conference of Ambassadors, in agreement with both the AMCV and
IAMCC, ruled that the Allies would leave open state factories that had a
“non-military purpose” (thus keeping a number of German workers
employed) but would restrict the production of commercial arms and
munitions (for example, sporting rifles).51

The fact that German machines and industrial products had a multitude
of uses created problems for the Armaments Sub-commission. Machines
that produced war material could also be used to produce commercial
products, and many industrial products could be used for both military
and peaceful purposes. For instance, steel and other metals included in its
production were major components of armaments yet also had a number
of commercial uses. Similarly, while German chemical factories produced
munitions, many of these chemicals had a variety of uses. In addition,
some German factories produced only single parts of weapons that were
harmless in their unassembled state. Consequently, in April, an argument
arose in the IAMCC Council over the risk that dual-purpose machinery
posed to Allied security. While French General Senechal claimed that
leaving machines grouped in plants was potentially dangerous, General
Bingham stated that Germany must be allowed to maintain her means of
production in order to render reparations payments to the Allies.52 Lacking
agreement, they passed the problem along to the Conference of Ambas-
sadors.

The Allies resolved the question of dual-purpose machinery on 26 May
1920. Based upon a proposal of the AMCV, the Conference of Ambas-
sadors decided that machines currently used for general purposes, regard-
less of prior production, were not to be destroyed, and the IAMCC had to
distinguish between “machinery for general use and machinery especially
intended for the manufacture of war material.”53 Hence, the Armaments
Sub-commission classified machines into three categories: A category
machines produced war material exclusively and would be destroyed; B
category machines capable of producing both war and non-war material
would be dispersed or left intact; and C category machines used primarily
for commercial purposes would also be left intact.54 The issue continued to
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embitter Allied–German relations. When Germany complained that the
presence of Allied officers in their factories was illegal, the AMCV pointed
out that the Treaty of Versailles gave IAMCC members the right to visit
“any factory or any establishment whatsoever.”55 Nollet pointed out that
the IAMCC had weighed the economic needs of private German industry
against the clauses of the treaty. Consequently, German complaints did
nothing to change Nollet’s mind, and the Conference of Ambassadors
stuck to its decisions of 10 February and 26 May 1920.

The Armaments Sub-commission, which numbered only about 400
Allied soldiers at its peak, faced the extensive task of inspecting thousands
of German factories capable of producing war material. Inspections of fac-
tories began in April 1920 and increased in scope the following month. As
President of the Armaments Sub-commission, General Bingham was keenly
interested in the disarmament of Germany’s industrial base. Armaments
officers delivered questionnaires to German factories to fill out with
information regarding their size, number of employees, machinery, tools
and production.56 In April, Bingham reported that the initial inspections of
German factories showed that the Germans were steadfastly transforming
their factories from military into commercial production.57 By June 1920,
the suppression of German factories experienced a great deal of progress.
Altogether, the IAMCC inspected a total of 887 private factories and
destroyed 300 machines, thirty tons of dies and small machinery, 12,000
accessories and 225,000 gauges.58 When the Armaments Sub-commission
found that a German factory had met IAMCC’s demands for “destruction,
dispersion, or conversion of plant and machinery,” it released the factory
from Allied control and gave it a clearance certificate (Quitus).59 As a
result of these inspections, 577 German factories received their certificates
from the IAMCC.

While the IAMCC had difficulties ensuring that German heavy industry
did not produce war material, it faced a particularly complex problem in
transforming the German chemical industry into peaceful endeavours.
Similar to war material and machinery, chemicals could also be used both
for commercial and military purposes. For instance, the plant needed for
the manufacture of cellulose for commercial sale was similar to the plant
necessary for the production of nitroglycerine.60 Even the German fertilizer
industry would be affected by the restrictions on chemical production. The
fact that Germany had one of the largest chemical industries in the world,
approximately 3,400 chemical factories located throughout Germany,
compounded the problem. By inspecting German factories that produced
chemicals used in the manufacture of explosives or poison gas, such as
nitric acid, sulfuric acid, glycerin, chlorine, ammonia, and the more dan-
gerous nitrocellulose and nitroglycerine powders, the IAMCC aimed to
reduce the German chemical industry to its pre-war level.61 By August
1920, inspections had significantly reduced chemical production.62

The Allied policy of closing German factories, instead of destroying or
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dispersing their machinery, troubled many German politicians and soured
German labor relations with the IAMCC. At times, German workers
simply refused to surrender or destroy their machinery.63 According to
Bingham, the destruction and dispersal of machinery did not result in the
discharge of German workers or have any negative effect upon the
German economy.64 Allied records, however, indicate that the IAMCC
closed down a substantial percentage of German factories that they
inspected. The hasty transformation to commercial production of the
German factories that the IAMCC allowed to remain open, especially at a
time when Germany faced increasing inflation, reparations payments, and
the unemployment of a number of veterans, placed a severe burden upon
German workers.65 By the end of the first year of disarmament operations,
the Allies had inspected about half of all German factories. After Allied
inspectors had destroyed, dispersed, or left the factories’ machinery intact,
the IAMCC either gave the factories a clearance certificate and freed them
from Allied activity, or they closed them down. Overall the Allies
inspected 3,200 of over 6,000 known factories, closing more than 2,600 of
these in the first year of operations.66 Attempts by the German government
in appealing many of the closings went unheeded. With unified determina-
tion, the British and French refused to grant the German military industry
any reprieve.

After a relatively successful debut in transforming German industry into
commercial production and dismantling German war industries, the Arma-
ments Sub-commission experienced a much less sanguine start to the
second year of disarmament operations. At the beginning of 1921, prob-
lems between the IAMCC and the German government and industries
increased. In March, Nollet reported that the IAMCC had made little
progress in switching any more German factories to commercial produc-
tion.67 In fact, inspectors discovered that some factories continued to man-
ufacture automatic pistols and cartridges, items strictly forbidden by the
Treaty of Versailles and the Conference of Ambassadors. The German
government also had not yet accepted the number of factories that the
Allies had authorized to produce war material for the German army.68 In
addition, German resistance to the transformation, closing down and
destruction of factories increased.

The Allied response to the decreased productivity in disarming German
industry varied. Bingham, despite the premium that the British placed
upon dismantling German war production capacity, summarily dismissed
reports of German non-compliance. In July 1921, he pointed out that the
discoveries of the illegal manufacture and hidden caches of war material
were minor problems in light of the fact that the Allies had supervised the
destruction of Krupp’s shrinking pits, special machinery, plant, and
gauges.69 Bingham’s attitude, similar to the future course of British policy
concerning the enforcement of the military clauses of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles, sheds important light upon Allied attitudes in the second year of
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operations. Even after only a year of operating in Germany, the IAMCC
had significantly disarmed Germany relative to pre-war German military
strength and to an even greater degree when considering Allied military
strength at the start of 1921. Relative to the enforcement of all the military
clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, however, the Allies still had quite a lot
of work to accomplish. Increasingly when evaluating German disarma-
ment, British political leaders and IAMCC officers, with the visible excep-
tion of Morgan, would point to the past results of the IAMCC. This
attitude was distinctively different from the French political and military
authorities, especially Foch and Nollet, who pointed instead to the future
tasks that the IAMCC must yet complete.

Krupp

Allied attempts to control German war production often focused upon the
two major industrial firms in Germany that produced war material: Krupp
and the Deutsche Werke (German Works). To disarm Germany effectively,
the Allies had to inspect these immense industrial conglomerates and
decide whether to destroy or transform their ability to produce war mater-
ial. The question of the future of Krupp had been an Allied priority since
the closing of hostilities. Krupp, centered in Essen but with branches in
Bottrop, Kiel, Magdeburg, and Munich, had a historic tradition in central
Europe that rose to fame with the Industrial Revolution.70 Krupp’s produc-
tion of steel and armaments began in the early nineteenth century and cul-
minated in the massive output of armaments during World War I, when
Krupp’s production of war material was superior to all other European
industries. The IAMCC realized that successful disarmament depended
upon controlling the Krupp factories, which quickly became a British pri-
ority and an important component of French security policy.

Officers of the IAMCC, armed with the Treaty of Versailles, had the
responsibility of supervising the destruction and transformation of the
Krupp works. They allowed Krupp to produce only a handful of guns per
year and would later reject German attempts to increase Krupp production
of artillery.71 Altogether, the IAMCC demanded that Krupp destroy
approximately 160 experimental guns, 380 installations, 9,300 machines,
800,000 tools and appliances, and almost 160,000 cubic feet of concrete
installations.72 Inspections of the Krupp factories commenced in May
1920. As early as March, however, Allied inspectors reported that Krupp
continued to manufacture heavy artillery and ammunition wagons and
consequently demanded an end to these illegal activities.73 From mid-May
onward, Allied officers of the IAMCC, mostly British, actually lived in the
Krupp plant in Essen for six years.74 Under the supervision of British
Colonel Leverett, workers on the payroll of Krupp had the task of destroy-
ing all the war-producing plant.75 Born to a destructive purpose, the
machinery, plant and tools met a violent end as the workers smashed thou-
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sands of machines, leveled dozens of buildings and dismantled tons of
equipment.

Although the historic Krupp factories produced howitzers, fuses and
shells, the IAMCC focused its attention on the production of heavy
artillery. Giant blast furnaces, shrinking pits and gun lathes filled a crucial
need in Krupp’s production of the massive artillery pieces turned out for
the war. Altogether, Krupp had seventy-eight colossal gun lathes, crucial
to the production of heavy artillery, eleven of which the Inter-Allied Naval
Control Commission allowed the Germans to maintain (the Treaty of Ver-
sailles allowed Germany pocket battleships, and Krupp manufactured the
guns and armor plate for them). When Germany argued for possession of
all their gun lathes for commercial purposes, Bingham eventually compro-
mised and allowed Krupp possession of thirty-six of them.76 In fact, as
soon as the war was over, Krupp had shrewdly attempted to change its
persona under the slogan “Wir machen alles” (We make everything) and
started to produce everything from locomotives to cash registers, typewrit-
ers, and sprinklers.77 The IAMCC never resolved the question of the
number of gun lathes it allowed Krupp to maintain, and eventually
Germany merely promised to destroy the excess lathes. Nonetheless, while
Krupp would continue to design armaments for the future and retool for
arms production in the 1930s, by the end of 1922 the IAMCC had effect-
ively eradicated Krupp’s productive armaments capacity.

Deutsche Werke

Deutsche Werke was the other great industrial establishment in Germany,
and the Allies immediately focused their disarmament efforts on it follow-
ing the war. At the end of 1919 and in January 1920, the German govern-
ment transformed a number of state arsenals into a single private
corporation, known as Deutsche Werke. These factories had manufactured
everything from heavy artillery and gunpowder to small arms and ammu-
nition during the war. Masquerading as a private firm, Deutsche Werke’s
true nature was discovered when the Allies proved that the German
government owned a significant amount of stock in the German conglom-
erate.78 The ownership of a German factory had particular significance
since the Treaty of Versailles stipulated that Germany had to dismantle all
its state arsenals and discharge their personnel three months after the
treaty went into effect. The Ambassadors’ Conference decision of 10 Feb-
ruary 1920, however, allowed state factories that manufactured products
other than war material to be left open. Thus, a German factory that
proved it was dedicated to peaceful endeavors could remain productive,
albeit in a new capacity.

By the closing months of 1921, the Allies were still not satisfied with the
amount of transformation of Deutsche Werke into commercial production.
The fact that Deutsche Werke had recently produced huge numbers of
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sporting rifles only added to the hostility of the Allies.79 Angry at this lack
of transformation into commercial manufacturing, the IAMCC ordered
reductions in Deutsche Werke’s personnel and production.80 This decision
led to the closing down and dismantling of a number of plants of the con-
glomerate and created great resentment of German workers, industrialists
and government officials toward Allied disarmament efforts. Many of the
targeted plants were in Bavaria (Dachau, Ingolstadt, and Amberg in
particular), and a storm of protest emanated from the large southern
German state. Workers became hostile to IAMCC efforts to destroy
machinery both in the Deutsche Werke and Krupp plants.81 In addition to
the cries of the workers, the Bavarian Prime Minister, Count Lerchenfeld,
cried foul and claimed that the plants only conducted peaceful production,
such as the manufacture of agricultural machinery.82 Moreover, he insisted
that the closing down of the Deutsche Werke plants would create severe
economic strains. In the hope of dividing Allied policy toward German fac-
tories, the German government complained to the Reparation Commission
that the closings would hinder Germany’s ability to pay reparations.83

Other government officials claimed that the IAMCC’s policies damaged
economic development in Germany, pushed the nation toward political
instability, and not only interfered with the administration of Deutsche
Werke’s plants but also prohibited the construction of new facilities.84

Since effective disarmament depended upon German cooperation, the
British and French could not always disregard German protests. In addi-
tion, Bavaria was already a hotbed of anti-IAMCC activity, especially in
the arming and training of a significant number of paramilitary units, and
the IAMCC could not risk inflaming Bavarian hostility toward Allied dis-
armament efforts. Thus, at the end of 1921, the IAMCC instituted an
important policy change regarding the transformation of Deutsche Werke.
In order to appease the German workers, industrialists, and politicians, the
IAMCC Council modified the deadline for Deutsche Werke to complete
transformation after the termination of Allied operations and agreed to
safeguard the interests of German workers amid the current trans-
formation of the plants.85 Nonetheless, Allied disarmament policy had
severe ramifications. By the end of disarmament operations Deutsche
Werke had disappeared, forcing 22,000 employees out of a total
workforce of 37,000 out of work as a result of its switch to commercial
production.86

By the third year of Allied disarmament efforts, Allied teams had success-
fully dismantled German war production after inspecting approximately
7,500 German factories. While the progress in transforming German facto-
ries had been substantial, a number of problems continued to worry the
Allies. The IAMCC had already increased the number of German factories
it allowed to produce war material from six to fourteen. Although the
Armaments Sub-commission had completed operations in the smaller
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factories, it still needed to inspect and transform some of the more sub-
stantial plants. In addition, the IAMCC still had to disperse 15,000
machines of Krupp and Deutsche Werke and to destroy countless build-
ings, machines, and gauges of other factories.87 Nollet and Bingham esti-
mated that this work would take up to six months to complete.

For the remainder of the year, Allied operations to transform German
industry continued to make slow progress against determined German
opposition. In August, Leopold von Hoesch, the German ambassador in
Paris, protested vehemently against the destruction of German machinery
and claimed that the IAMCC was attempting to destroy machines intended
for commercial purposes. Furthermore, in an argument intended to play
upon Keynesian sentiments in Britain, he argued that since the German fer-
tilizer industry would be severely affected by the destruction of its
machinery, the German economy, and hence the world economy, would
face fatal consequences.88 The Allies refused to be swayed by such sweep-
ing arguments and in September, the IAMCC sent a note to the German
government listing five major issues that remained to be fulfilled, including
the complete transformation of factories to peace production.89 The Allied
memorandum contained no threat of inducement but did try to convince
the German government that if the demands were met then the IAMCC
would be quickly withdrawn and replaced by a much less extensive organi-
zation. Soon afterward, the German government bombarded the IAMCC
with an abundance of appeals to modify disarmament operations, and
public violence against Allied inspectors threatened the security of inspec-
tion teams. With no renewed German effort to fulfil Allied wishes, the
future of the entire disarmament question remained up in the air at the
beginning of the fateful year of 1923. The Ruhr Crisis would soon put an
end to any pretense of fulfilment.

The Allied offensive on war production 71

 



6 Effectives
The reduction of German military
forces

The accomplishments of the German army in World War I exemplified
Germany’s status as the foremost military power in the world and deeply
affected Allied post-war disarmament policies. The second largest army in
Europe next to Russia, yet the best trained and equipped, the German
army had gained combat experience on the Western Front, Italy, Russia,
the Balkans, the Middle East, and Africa.1 Despite fighting in these numer-
ous campaigns, the Germans had been poised for victory in the spring of
1918. Only the combined efforts of a great coalition of powers had been
able to force their final collapse. Consequently, the Allies decided to dis-
solve and transform the German army proportionally into the smallest
army in Europe. Yet the Treaty of Versailles also went beyond the imme-
diate reduction of the regular army by forbidding attempts by Germany to
mobilize any portion of its manpower. Thus the Allies sought to reduce
and reorganize the German police force and dissolve the numerous para-
military organizations in Germany. These difficult tasks fell to the officers
and men of the Effectives Sub-commission of the IAMCC.

French and British leadership of disarmament operations dominated the
Allied coalition’s efforts to eradicate the German army as an effective
fighting force. French policy in the disarmament of Germany supported the
enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles in its entirety but within this
context, the French focused on demilitarizing all of Germany’s sources of
armed manpower. In fact, the French quickly became the driving force
behind the reduction and dissolution of German effectives. The French del-
egation at the Paris Peace Conference had focused upon restricting the size
of the German army, and now Nollet and Foch would insist upon restrict-
ing the size and organization of the German army and police, and disband-
ing any civilian military associations. Germany’s larger population
convinced the French of the necessity of minimizing the quantity of
German armed forces.

Nollet, whose reports to Foch often focused on effectives questions,
firmly believed that disarming the German population was the key to the
entire issue of disarmament.2 He advocated the idea of “moral disarma-
ment,” where the German people themselves would have to reject

 



militarism for Germany to be truly disarmed.3 In essence, Nollet believed
that the smaller the proportion of the German population that received
military training and the longer the society remained disarmed, the greater
the chance for European peace. Yet the notion of moral disarmament
through treaty enforcement was inherently contradictory, and the French
military could not understand why “Germany gives in to force for the sur-
render of its war material but it does not disarm morally.”4 The use of mil-
itary force and occupation succeeded in only physically disarming
Germany, and Nollet initially blamed the German government for failing
to “lead the German people in peaceful ways” and allowing them “to
develop tendencies entirely contradictory to the spirit of the Treaty.”5 In
1922, Nollet finally understood that the prolongation of Allied disarma-
ment efforts in Germany hindered the moral disarmament of the nation.6

However, by continuing to embrace the strict enforcement of the Treaty of
Versailles, Nollet guaranteed the failure of moral disarmament. German
obstruction and rejection of Versailles throughout the 1920s was a testa-
ment to that failure.

The Effectives Sub-commission of the IAMCC had its headquarters in
Berlin, where it was billeted in the Hotel Adlon.7 It was the second largest
of the three sub-commissions, with approximately seventy Allied officers.8

The President of the Effectives Sub-commission was General Edouard
Barthélemy, who had recently worked in the French War Office. The
IAMCC set up eight district committees throughout Germany and placed
them under Barthélemy’s command.9 They were responsible for the local
control of German military forces. The head of the British delegation of
the Effectives Sub-commission was Brigadier-General John Hartman
Morgan, who would play a major role in revealing German attempts to
circumvent the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles. Barthélemy’s
pragmatism, Morgan’s tenacity, and Nollet’s stubbornness would soon
force the Germans to bend under relentless Allied pressure. The Effectives
Sub-commission witnessed an initial period of great success, emerging as a
forceful tool of Allied disarmament operations in Germany.

As Britain’s senior officer in the Effectives Sub-commission, Morgan
worked diligently to enforce the military articles of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles. A professor of constitutional law at University College in London,
Morgan’s star rose quickly as a result of the war. He began the war as a
staff captain but was promoted to Brigadier-General in 1918 so as to have
proper authority as a member of the British delegation at the Paris Peace
Conference.10 However, Morgan’s prior appointment in 1915 as Vice-
Chairman of the Committee of Inquiry into Breaches of the Laws of War
deeply influenced his work on the IAMCC. After interrogating British and
German officers, as well as Belgian civilians, Morgan developed an anti-
German bias and began to see all Germans culpable for wartime atrocities.
He believed Germans were all afflicted with “moral distemper” and were
“rotten to the core.”11 Morgan’s experiences investigating German

The reduction of German military forces 73

 



breaches of the laws of war had forged his Weltanschauung. As the head
of the British delegation of the Effectives Sub-commission and second only
to Bingham as a member of the British section of the IAMCC, Morgan
soon established himself as a zealous supporter of the enforcement of the
Treaty of Versailles, revealing a number of German schemes to violate the
effectives clauses of the treaty. While his tenacity, foresight, and thorough-
ness often led to problems with General Bingham and the British Foreign
Office, Morgan’s stance on strict disarmament and anti-German bias made
him a favorite of Marshal Foch and General Nollet.

The Articles of the Treaty of Versailles regarding the reduction of the
Reichswehr were both comprehensive and complex. Formulated to restrict
the German army so that Germany would not be capable of conducting
any offensive actions, the effectives clauses set strict limits upon the size,
organization and classification of all military personnel in Germany. Every
aspect of the German military would be subject to Allied limitations and
control. Article 160 set the standard as it limited the German army to
100,000 men, made up of seven infantry and three cavalry divisions, for
the “maintenance of order within the territory and to the control of the
frontiers.” The Great German General Staff was to be eradicated and the
German officer corps could not exceed 4,000 men. The Allies placed exact
restrictions upon German headquarters, divisions, administrative services
and individual units. In addition, Article 173 prohibited conscription while
Article 175 stipulated twelve- and twenty-five-year enlistment periods for
soldiers and officers, respectively.

The ultimate responsibility of the fulfilment of the military clauses of
the treaty fell to the German government, while the IAMCC took on the
role of caretaker, charged with supervising and evaluating compliance with
the size, organization, and classification of German military forces. The
time limits placed upon the fulfilment of these clauses, however, were
inherently contradictory due to the long delay in the treaty’s ratification.
For instance, Article 163 stipulated that the German army be no greater
than 100,000 men by 31 March 1920 yet allowed Germany three months
after the effective date of the treaty to reduce the army to a transitory
200,000 before the final reduction.12 This contradiction in the treaty terms
gave Germany a possible loophole, which it would attempt to exploit at
the Spa Conference in July 1920.

The reduction of the Reichswehr

The reduction of the German army to the level stipulated by the Treaty of
Versailles – 100,000 men – was a crucial, yet controversial issue in the first
months of Allied inspections. The Allies estimated the size of the German
army on the eve of treaty enforcement to be 400,000 troops.13 Therefore,
they agreed that immediate steps be taken to eradicate the effective fighting
capacity of the German army. The Germans and even some members of
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the Allied coalition soon raised questions, however, as to the practicality
of such a decrease in strength stipulated by the treaty. Although the Allies
had agreed in Paris upon the restricted size of the German army, and
Germany had obligated itself to the clauses of the treaty through its signa-
ture, the unstable political atmosphere in Germany in the embryonic days
of treaty enforcement led to a re-examination of the Reichswehr question
in both the Allied and German camps. The British War Office began to
question the political rationale of diminishing the Reichswehr when Bol-
shevism appeared to be increasing in strength in Germany. In fact, in light
of the political instability in the early months of 1920 and the fear of a
coup d’état, the War Office proposed that Germany be allowed to retain a
Reichswehr of 150,000 to 200,000 troops.14

German political and military leaders decried the vast reduction of
its symbol of stability at a time when street fighting in Berlin was a
common occurrence. Furthermore, they attempted to play on Allied
fears of Bolshevism by claiming that the Reichswehr would soon be
little more than a police force, incapable of guarding its borders while
simultaneously combating internal chaos and unrest. On the other hand,
French political and military leaders wholeheartedly supported the com-
plete reduction of German military might and sought to enforce the Treaty
of Versailles in its entirety. In order to enforce operational effectiveness
and maintain unity, the Allies worked quickly to resolve differences of
opinion over the reduction of the Reichswehr, an issue crucial to the suc-
cessful disarmament of Germany. Indeed, before the Spa Conference
in July, British and French leadership agreed to enforce the reduction of
the Reichswehr to treaty limitations, leaving the hopes of German govern-
ment and military officials for a 200,000-man army in the wake of Allied
unity.

Due to the unexpected delayed ratification of the Treaty of Versailles,
and the American rejection, the Allies had to take steps to alter the time
limits placed upon the German government’s obligations to reduce the
Reichswehr. In early February 1920, General Nollet pointed out contradic-
tions in the treaty when he explained that Article 160 demanded a
100,000-man German army by the last day of March while Article 163
stipulated a reduction to 200,000 by 10 April (three months after the
effective date of the treaty). To clarify the situation, he proposed a reduc-
tion in stages: the Reichswehr had to be reduced to 200,000 troops by 10
April and to the prescribed 100,000 by July 10.15 The Allied governments
subsequently accepted Nollet’s proposal on 18 February.16

Whereas the British War Office worried about the political situation in
Germany in the early months of 1920 and advocated important modifica-
tions to the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, Foch and Nollet
focused upon strict Allied enforcement and German fulfilment. In March,
the Marshal claimed that the “dispositions of the Treaty, concerning the
disarmament of Germany or the reduction of its effectives have up to now
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remained a dead letter.”17 General Nollet reported in April that the
strength of the German army was 290,000, nearly three times the final
amount allotted by the Allies.18 Although this estimate included the Freiko-
rps units that the German government used to combat leftist uprisings, the
Germans had at least begun to dissolve them. For instance, within a month
the notorious Erhardt Brigade, instrumental in the violence associated with
the Kapp putsch, disappeared.19

Disillusioned by the thoroughness of the Treaty of Versailles, the
German government attempted to modify the military clauses of the treaty
in the first few months of enforcement and again at the Spa Conference in
July. On 18 February, Nollet rejected the German government’s proposal
to increase its troop strength.20 Ten days after the initial April reduction
deadline, the Bauer government asked to maintain the army at a level of
200,000 troops along with heavy artillery and airplanes. The German
government justified its request by claiming that the maintenance of order
and frontier defense necessitated an increase in troop strength and arma-
ments above the restrictions of Versailles.21 At this point, Brigadier-
General Morgan estimated the Reichswehr to include at least 250,000
troops, as well as 40,000 Freikorps and 50,000 security police (Sicherheit-
spolizei) forces.22 Foch and the AMCV, however, refused to budge and
demanded the reduction of the German army to 100,000 men. They
agreed only to the modification of the size of the German police force.
While the Germans had dissolved many of the Freikorps units by the
summer of 1920, as well as a number of other volunteer units (Zeitfrei-
willige), the German army still remained twice the size prescribed by the
treaty. Although the Allies raised the possibility of extending the time limit
for reduction, the Conference of Ambassadors eventually demanded the
final reduction of the Reichswehr by 10 July.23 Other issues such as the
existence of excessive infantry, cavalry, and engineer units, and additional
units involved in the liquidation and pension bureaus in the German army,
would have to be addressed as well.24

Allied conference diplomacy, prevalent in the spring and summer of
1920, was a crucial factor in building the foundation of a common policy
toward German disarmament in the first year of operations. During the
months of April, May, and June, the Allies met in the conferences of San
Remo, Hythe, and Boulogne to discuss a number of post-war problems.
Throughout these discussions, they viewed the disarmament of Germany
as a priority and an “indispensable” factor in preserving the peace of
Europe.25 When the German government tested the fragile entente with a
request in April for the maintenance of 200,000 troops, the Allies held
firm by rejecting any augmentation of the Reichswehr.26 Furthermore, on
the eve of the Spa Conference in Boulogne, the Allied governments
adamantly voiced their displeasure at the lack of German fulfilment of the
military clauses of the treaty. In a declaration that did not mince words,
the Allies declared that they had “unanimously decided to adhere com-
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pletely to the clauses of the treaty signed by Germany.”27 Thus, the Allies
entered the Spa Conference as a multinational coalition united in its deter-
mination to enforce the Treaty of Versailles; but how long would such
unity last?

At the Spa Conference in the summer of 1920, Allied–German discus-
sions centred on the issues of disarmament and reparations; however, a
priority of the discussions at Spa concerned the future organization of the
German army. The German delegation at Spa focused upon the issue of
the size of the Reichswehr and the German government, intent on main-
taining at least a 200,000-man army, urged the Allied governments to
acquiesce to their demands. Chancellor Konstantin Fehrenbach and Otto
Gessler, Minister of Defense, feared that discharging 100,000 men from
the army would exacerbate the current political instability in Germany and
hinder efforts to prevent the rise of Bolshevism.28 General Hans von Seeckt
proposed a gradual reduction in the Reichswehr to October 1921.29 React-
ing angrily, Lloyd George emphasized his displeasure with German delays
and claimed that the dilatory German response to the military clauses was
without justification.30 The Allies therefore rejected German proposals but
agreed to modifications of the time limits placed upon the reduction of the
German army.

Under the terms of the Spa Protocol of 8 July, the Allies gave Germany
until 1 October 1920 to reduce the Reichswehr to 160,000 and until 1
January 1921 to reduce it to the final 100,000 men.31 The Allies also
demanded the reorganization of the Reichswehr to the terms of the Treaty
of Versailles as well as the abolition of compulsory service in Germany.
More importantly, the Allies added teeth to their proposal. As an incentive
for compliance, they threatened to occupy German territory if their
demands went unheeded. When disarmament discussions concluded, it
was obvious that the specter of Bolshevism had frightened the Allied gov-
ernments into modifying the effectives clauses. The threat to occupy
German territory would have to offset the lack of strict enforcement.

Although Allied demands at Spa marked the second major alteration of
the effectives clauses of the Treaty of Versailles, the German government
reacted bitterly. Foreign Minister Walter Simons pointed out that the new
deadlines to reduce the Reichswehr were favorable to Germany, but he
decried Allied insistence on reducing Germany’s volunteer defense forces
and the threat of Allied occupation over German non-fulfilment of the
treaty’s clauses.32 Gessler pointed out that Spa shattered any German
hopes for a modified treaty.33 He also struck a particularly sensitive nerve
by bringing the Bolshevik specter to life. Nonetheless, the threat of an
occupation left the Germans with little choice but to comply, and in
August the German government implemented a law to abolish compulsory
service. The Reichswehr, though not organized along the strict guidelines
of Article 160, continued to shrink in size.34

The threat of occupation in the Spa Protocol pushed German
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compliance and by the end of November, Allied inspectors reported that
the Reichswehr numbered 100,000 troops. Nollet reported that “the
reduction of strength, the suppression or the merging of units is being
carried on without interruption.”35 The German army had put an end to
short-term enlistments and had increased discharges. The IAMCC was
cognizant of the fact that the German army in its transitional state
included an excess of officers in divisional commands as well as senior offi-
cers in regimental units. However, they expected an initial surplus of offi-
cers and claimed they would resolve the issue in the future. In addition, the
Allies still awaited the passage of the modified Wehrgesetz, which they
hoped would settle the issues of compulsory conscription, formation of
separate armies under state laws, surplus units, and the 5 percent discharge
rate of Reichswehr soldiers.36 The discovery by British military intelligence
that the German army budget for 1921 was twenty times the per capita
amount for 1914 caused a stir in IAMCC headquarters.37 The Allied coali-
tion feared that Germany was preparing an offensive army for the future, so
the IAMCC continued to scrutinize German army budget expenditures.

Despite the delays, violations, and fears, the British assessed the reduction
of the Reichswehr in the first year of disarmament operations as positive.38

Believing that Germany had “ceased to be a military danger to the Allies for
a considerable period of time,” the British War Office pointed out that
Germany had reduced the Reichswehr accordingly and that only official
Allied verification remained.39 Lord Kilmarnock, former head of the Military
Mission in Berlin in 1920, believed that the Allies had essentially disarmed
Germany and reported that the German army had been “duly reduced” to
the 100,000 level by 1 January.40 Nollet assessed the Allied reduction of the
Reichswehr in a far more negative light than his British counterparts. The
French General criticized German officials for the number of officers and
administrative units in the German army that exceeded the stipulations of
Article 160.41 Nollet’s anxiety would not be eased until the German govern-
ment passed the Wehrgesetz, which he hoped would bring the Reichswehr
unconditionally into line with the Treaty of Versailles.

By the start of 1921, the Reichswehr had been reduced to the 100,000
troop level with various extenuating circumstances. Inspections determined
that while Germany had carried out reductions of its army, various prob-
lems remained. For instance, surplus officers, as well as excess administra-
tive, pioneer, bridging, and bicycle units still existed.42 Thus, aside from
the major questions of the police and self-defense organizations, only the
detailed organization of the Reichswehr required resolution. When the
Reichstag finally passed the Wehrgesetz on 18 March 1921, the IAMCC
had high hopes that it could soon settle the remaining problems concern-
ing effectives questions. Significant progress in the terms of the law,
however, did not satisfy the Allies. They pointed out that the new law
referred ambiguously to the absolute number of officers in the German
army and could allow for an officer to replace a discharged enlisted man.43
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In May 1921, the Allies threatened Germany with military sanctions for
the second time. In the London ultimatum, they warned Germany that
they would occupy sections of the Ruhr Valley if Germany did not acqui-
esce to Allied demands to organize the Reichswehr along the lines of the
Treaty of Versailles, reorganize the police, and abolish the self-defense
organizations. German promises to comply with the ultimatum bore fruit
for Allied disarmament efforts and, by the summer of 1921, matters con-
cerning the reduction of the Reichswehr appeared all but settled. In one of
his more positive reports concerning German disarmament, Foch stated
that Germany had reduced the army to the prescribed level of 100,000
troops, abolished conscription, and maintained military schools at the
proper level.44 Military sanctions had produced the desired effect.

In the midst of generally positive British reports of German compliance
with the military articles that concerned the demilitarization of the Reich-
swehr, a solitary voice stood out. Brigadier-General Morgan, British head
of the Effectives Sub-commission and second-in-command in the British
delegation of the IAMCC, had previously sent three lengthy reports in 1920
to the War Office outlining his belief that the German army had violated
the military articles of the Treaty of Versailles in every serious regard.45

Morgan was convinced that Germany was attempting to violate the appli-
cation of the treaty in maintaining conscription, short-term service, excess
staff, officers, regiments, and even the Great General Staff. He vociferously
proposed that the Germans were preparing for a future war. Similarly, in
June 1921, Morgan claimed that the Reichswehr was “nothing but a cadre
for expansion and the evidence all points to a design to expand it by
passing a large number of men through its ranks for short periods of train-
ing.”46 While admitting that the German army numbered 100,000 men, he
believed that few German troops engaged for the full twelve years but only
volunteered for short periods of time. Morgan feared a rebirth of the
Krümper system, a strategy devised by Prussia to circumvent Napoleon’s
disarmament demands in the Treaty of Tilsit in 1807. As evidence, Morgan
cited the Wehrgesetz, in which the German government tried initially to
allow unlimited discharges from the army, and he pointed to the fact that
Germany maintained 800,000 uniforms, along with the unit names and
numbers of the Imperial army. In addition, Morgan pointed out that the
Germans were keeping their old army registers, which would facilitate a
mobilization that could call upward of one million troops to the colors.
While he saw the handwriting on the wall that pointed to the withdrawal
or at least a reduction in the size of the IAMCC, Morgan asserted that only
some form of continued inspections could prevent such serious violations
from leading to the possibility of aggression.

By the third year of operations, Allied inspectors had helped signific-
antly to diminish the strength of the German army. Whereas the IAMCC
still needed to address the organization of the German General Staff and
the final disappearance of a small number of administrative staff attached
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to the Reichswehr, even General Nollet admitted that disarmament was
“at hand.”47 The German army numbered 100,000 troops, only four mili-
tary schools remained to train new volunteers, mobilization records no
longer existed, and conscription had disappeared. Yet important differ-
ences highlighted French and British approaches to German disarmament.
Unlike their British colleagues, the French insisted upon their desire to see
the organization and recruitment of the Reichswehr in exact accord with
the Treaty of Versailles.48 Fearing the revival of German militarism, and
especially the superior manpower that Germany possessed, French military
and political authorities pushed for the prohibition of all illegal recruit-
ment of soldiers in Germany, the expelling of all surplus troops, and the
organizational conformity (especially fewer officers and NCOs) of the
Reichswehr to the stipulations of the treaty. The reconstitution of the Great
General Staff, discovered by the IAMCC, soon became another major
concern of the Allies.49 Without strict German compliance with these
demands, the French would not consider terminating Allied inspections.

To the delight of Nollet and Foch, Morgan also reappeared in the lime-
light in the summer of 1922 by reasserting that Germany was secretly
preparing for a future war. Morgan was now sending his reports directly
to the Foreign Office, operating behind the back of his commanding
officer, Major-General Bingham. Although Foreign Office officials believed
Morgan’s arguments had credibility, they held rather demeaning opinions
of Morgan and considered him to be more a lawyer than a soldier.
However, Morgan’s reports helped sway the Foreign Office’s opinion of
Bingham. Eyre Crowe admitted that he “lacked confidence in the judgment
and strength of character of General Bingham . . . who sees everything rosy
and through intensely pro-German spectacles,” while Hardinge added that
Bingham was “disposed to pigeon-hole unpalatable reports.”50 But
Bingham was a career officer, Morgan a lawyer in uniform, and the
Foreign Office respected protocol. British policy toward German disarma-
ment now embraced partial fulfillment of the Treaty of Versailles as plans
were already well underway in the summer of 1922 to replace the IAMCC
with a much smaller control organization. Although both the Foreign and
War Offices read Morgan’s reports of German violations, they ignored
them and took no action.51

In 1922, the Allies drafted two detailed notes regarding the fulfillment
of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles. In April, the AMCV out-
lined the remaining clauses Germany needed to fulfill before the Allies
would consider replacing the IAMCC with a less obtrusive organization.
The AMCV demanded that Germany conform strictly to the stipulations
of Versailles concerning the organization of the German army and police,
including the abolition of surplus administrative units, by 1 October
1922.52 The second note of 1922 was a laundry list of all the remaining
steps toward disarmament that the Allies wished to see carried out. The
Allied coalition had accomplished much in reducing and reorganizing the
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German army although details still remained. However, before the
German government could reply, a number of violent attacks upon
IAMCC members refocused the attention of the Allied governments on
necessary retribution.53 The subsequent Franco-Belgian occupation of the
Ruhr brought Allied–German tensions to boiling-point, and inspections
came to an abrupt halt.

The police question

In addition to limiting the German army to 100,000 troops, the Allies
sought to truncate another armed force of manpower in Germany – the
police. The creators of Versailles insisted on preventing the police from
becoming a surplus reserve of armed and trained manpower for the
German military. Article 162 of the treaty stipulated that the German
police could not exceed its pre-war size of 1913 in its various districts,
except in proportion to regional increases in the German population. The
territorial losses inflicted by the treaty on Germany therefore could not be
used to increase proportionally the police forces in the new boundaries of
the nation. Overall, the treaty limited the German police to a strength of
92,000, not including an independent force of 20,000 in the Rhineland.
The Allies not only placed a ceiling upon the size of the German police
force but also prohibited all members from receiving any military training
and forbade military organization, which amounted to centralization of
control, and mobilization measures. In a glaring omission, however, the
treaty failed to prescribe any terms of enlistment for the German police. In
theory, the Germans could pass a large number of men through the ranks
of the police over time, thereby establishing a sizable force of men with at
least small arms training. Hence, Allied efforts in enforcing the military
clauses of the treaty regarding the German police focused upon preventing
any military or central organization of the police forces as well as preclud-
ing their use of military arms.

The various types of police under the responsibility of the Effectives
Sub-commission illustrated the complexity of the police question in dis-
arming Germany. Before the war, the German police force comprised two
major groups: the Gendarmerie and the Ordnungspolizei. The former,
which numbered 11,000 in 1914, were the armed rural constabulary.
Armaments of the Gendarmerie varied but generally each member carried
a rifle, pistol, saber, and bayonet and, at times, would be mounted. On the
other hand, the Ordnungspolizei, made up of state, local, criminal, and
administrative police, were under the control of the individual states of
Germany. This force numbered 80,000 in 1914 and armed themselves
with pistols and sabers, and occasionally had access to rifles.54 Thus, the
lightly armed Ordnungspolizei comprised the bulk of the German police
but the Allies did not consider them to be a military threat. Altogether, the
Versailles Treaty allowed Germany to maintain 12,000 Gendarmerie and
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80,000 Ordnungspolizei.55 The Allies authorized specific factories to
produce arms for the German police forces.56

After the war, the German police force changed perceptibly. The Allies
focused their attention on the emergence of a new, centrally organized
police force in 1919, the Sicherheitspolizei (security police or Sipo). This
police force was of a purely military nature, lived in barracks, and trained
to use heavy armaments such as rifles, machine-guns, flamethrowers,
trench mortars, tanks, and even airplanes.57 The IAMCC argued that the
Sipo, which comprised an elite force of specially picked men that num-
bered 60,000, formed a reserve for the Reichswehr. The Sipo wore gray-
green uniforms similar to the Reichswehr, enlisted for short periods of
time, and were recruited from officers and NCOs of the German army.58 In
fact, the AMCV asserted that they were recruited, armed, trained, and
organized like the Reichswehr.59 Even before the Treaty of Versailles went
into effect, the Allies tried to persuade the German government to dissolve
the Sipo.60

The Allies and Germany frequently discussed the size of German armed
manpower throughout the first year of Allied disarmament operations.
Immediately following the effective date of the treaty, the German govern-
ment attempted to increase personnel strength to 92,000 Ordnungspolizei
and 60,000 Sicherheitspolizei. In addition, the German army was already
transferring men into the Sipo to keep them employed and to fulfill a mili-
tary role.61 The Allies demanded the completion of the reorganization of the
police by 15 July.62 But the German government’s cries for modifying the
terms of the Versailles Treaty soon came to fruition. Amidst the continued
political turmoil in Germany in May and June, the AMCV, while opposing
any increase in the size of the Reichswehr above its treaty limit, argued that
Germany be allowed a police force larger than that prescribed by the treaty
to maintain order.63 Surprisingly, the AMCV thus supported Germany’s
request for an augmentation of police strength to 150,000 but ruled that
regional administration and only light armaments could be maintained for
the entire force. The Versailles Committee advocated an increase in the
Gendarmerie to 17,000 but insisted upon the dissolution of the Sipo.64

At the Boulogne Conference in June 1920, the Allied governments offi-
cially sanctioned the plan of the AMCV and authorized modifications to
the size of the German police forces prescribed by the Versailles Treaty. In
what amounted to significant concessions to the German government, the
Allies allowed Germany an increase of its police to 150,000 and the Gen-
darmerie to 17,000. However, they also imposed conditions: Germany had
to organize its police under local administration and control, arm all police
under IAMCC guidelines, and dissolve the Sipo by 22 September.65 The
police forces in the occupied and demilitarized Rhineland had been the
responsibility of the Rhineland High Commission and therefore were not
included in the 92,000 limit of Versailles. The Allies, however, tempered
the increase in German police strength by including the 20,000 police in
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the demilitarized and occupied Rhineland zone in the overall number of
150,000.

The Allies soon reiterated their demand for the discontinuation of the
Sipo at the Spa Conference but by August the Germans had still not ful-
filled Allied expectations. The fact that Allied demands at Spa were incon-
sistent with their Boulogne demands made matters worse; at Boulogne the
Allies allowed Germany three months to dissolve the Sipo but at Spa the
Allies demanded immediate dissolution. The continuation of the Sipo at a
size of up to 120,000 particularly vexed the French military leadership.
The French considered the Sipo, armed to the teeth and located mainly in
the frontier regions of Germany, “the principal reserve of cadres of the
German army.”66 In his memoir of his time as President of the IAMCC,
General Nollet referred to the German police as the equivalent of a second
army.67 The police question never concerned British authorities, with the
exception of Morgan, to the same degree as their French colleagues.

In October 1920, the German government established a unified police
force. Eight of the sixteen German states, including Prussia, had already
issued decrees dissolving the Sipo, and by January 1921 the Sipo had all but
disappeared.68 The Germans, however, forged a new police force, the
Schutzpolizei (or Schupo), from former Sipo members, and armed them with
rifles, pistols, sabers, bayonets, automatic pistols, armored cars, and
machine-guns.69 The IAMCC supported the establishment of a fourteen-year
enlistment period for the new police force but ultimately rejected the cre-
ation of the Schupo, regarding it as a slight variation of the Sipo, and
demanded the dissolution of its centralized command structure.70 The Allies
sought to prevent the establishment of a second national army. The Schupo
numbered 12,000; Germany intended to increase its total to over 17,000
men (out of a Prussian total of 85,000) although there was no direct connec-
tion between the new police force and the German army.71 Allied demands
to dissolve the Schupo embittered the Germans, who considered this police
force a necessary measure to provide political stability. The Germans also
tried to bend the will of the Allies by claiming that the Schupo’s dissolution
“would imperil the power of industry to make reparations.”72

A number of less important problems exacerbated the difficulties in dis-
arming German armed personnel. One such complication arose from the
fact that Germany organized the police forces under a federal system,
without a national police force (except for the illegal Sipo); thus each state
was responsible for its own police. This system made matters difficult for
the IAMCC since police organization in the various German states had not
been uniform prior to Allied disarmament demands. The IAMCC con-
sidered Prussia, with the largest police force in Germany, a priority, and
Prussia soon fell into line with Allied demands before all other German
states. The Effectives Commission also kept a watchful eye on Germany’s
armed civil servants, and allowed Germany to retain and arm a force of
21,794 foresters, gamekeepers, and water guards.73
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In the Boulogne decree of June 1920, the Allied governments attempted
to reorganize the German police by establishing three categories of police –
uniformed, criminal, and administrative. They increased the size of the
uniformed police to 150,000 and increased the plain-clothes police by per-
centages depending upon the state.74 However, by the end of the year, the
Allies insisted that the German police forces had not been reorganized
along the policies established at Boulogne and Spa. The German govern-
ment rejected Allied criticism and insisted that the new police force was
under local control.75 Germany accused the Allies, especially the French, of
illuminating minor non-fulfillment as a pretext to occupy the Ruhr.76

Allied dissatisfaction with the police question continued into the next
two years but was never as demonstrative as it had been in the first year of
operations. In the spring and summer of 1921, the Allies continued to
complain that the Germans had still not reduced the police force to the
levels stipulated by the agreement at Boulogne.77 The police question,
however, made no more measurable progress for the remainder of the
year. Although reorganized significantly, the state of the German police
did not quite meet Allied demands. The British evaluation of the police,
more favorable than that of the French, estimated the size of the German
police force at 150,000 men and 17,000 Gendarmerie. Out of the total
number of 150,000, they estimated the size of the Schutzpolizei (armed
according to IAMCC demands) to be 90,000 and the criminal, administra-
tive, and local police to be 60,000.78 Nollet, however, pointed out that the
police were still twice the size of the German army and their training,
equipment, quarters, and staffs were under central control.79 He was also
concerned that the German police forces included 5,000 former Reich-
swehr officers. The IAMCC therefore demanded that Germany fulfill all
Allied police demands by 15 March.80 But negotiations and demands over
the same issues (eradication of military or central control and all surplus
units) dragged on for months. Without the threat of economic or military
sanctions, the Germans merely ignored Allied demands. The police ques-
tion was far from settled when the Allies suspended disarmament opera-
tions in early 1923.

The dissolution of the paramilitary groups

The numerous paramilitary organizations that sprouted in Germany imme-
diately after the war represented another major source of manpower that
posed a potential threat to the Allies.81 Formed from overzealous, patriotic
volunteers, paramilitary organizations emerged in Germany in the chaotic
days of post-war political turmoil. Most of these self-defense forces (Selb-
stschutz) formed as volunteer organizations in 1919 to combat Bolshe-
vism, augment the German army in Berlin or the Ruhr, or to crush popular
unrest. Thousands of civilians and former soldiers rallied to the political
and military demand for volunteers. Many of the paramilitary organi-
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zations in Germany in the early Weimar era served as an outlet for anti-
republicanism and a number of them formed under governmental guidance
in early 1919 to combat Bolshevism.82 At the Paris Peace Conference,
Allied leaders knew of the existence of these militant associations and
sought to restrict all sources of German military aggression. As a result,
Article 177 of the Treaty of Versailles forbade any civilian associations
from taking part in “military matters” and the instruction of civilians in
the use of arms. In addition to supervising the reduction and reorganiza-
tion of the Reichswehr and police, the Effectives Sub-commission intended
to eradicate all paramilitary organizations in Germany.

As early as December 1919, the Allied Supreme Council ordered all
German paramilitary forces to be dissolved by 10 January 1920, the effect-
ive date of the Treaty of Versailles.83 The Allies, particularly the French,
saw German paramilitary organizations as a threat to the peace of Europe.
Similar to their fear of a large Reichswehr and a strong police force,
French political and military leaders regarded armed civilian organizations
as a reserve army intent on destroying the peace that had taken millions of
lives to forge. Once again, the French yearning to bridge the manpower
gap led them to work diligently to oversee the eradication of these German
forces. The British, too, feared the possibility of a military threat from the
German paramilitary groups but wavered at times in their opposition to
them. With their ranks filled with monarchists and reactionaries, British
political and military authorities considered German paramilitary organi-
zations to be a shield against Bolshevism. By the spring of 1920, however,
the British began to fear the possibility of a right-wing coup d’état.84 The
French and British generally worked together in overseeing the dissolution
of the paramilitary groups. Of all the questions concerning the Effectives
Sub-commission, the maintenance of these German self-defense forces
remained the most time-consuming and bothersome of all.

The Germans established three major types of paramilitary organi-
zations: the Free Corps (Freikorps), short-term volunteers (Zeitfreiwillige),
and the Civic Guard (Einwohnerwehr).85 The Effectives Commission of the
IAMCC had the task of overseeing the disarmament and dissolution of all
of these organizations. In addition, there were a number of smaller organi-
zations in Germany, such as the Technische Nothilfe, Jungdeutscher
Orden, Grenzwehren, and even armed sports clubs, but their size, organi-
zation, and armaments made them less of a concern to the IAMCC. On
the other hand, the Freikorps, formed in December 1918 from soldiers and
students, numbered in the tens of thousands in the spring of 1919.86 The
German government had taken no steps to see to their dissolution.87 For
two years, the Freikorps fought intermittently against various leftists, revo-
lutionaries, and foreigners in Germany, Upper Silesia, Poland, and the
Baltic states. After the spring of 1920 the Freikorps began to diminish in
strength, and on 24 May 1921 the German government finally published a
decree that outlawed the organization of any Freikorps units.88 This decree
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had an immediate effect upon a number of these combat-experienced vol-
unteer formations, and an additional government order in November 1921
essentially dissolved them. Although the Freikorps faded away, a number
of members simply joined the ranks of other paramilitary groups in
Germany.

The Zeitfreiwillige formed under the auspices of the German army in
January 1919 to preserve order, establish a military reserve, and augment
the Freikorps in Berlin.89 The German government, which armed these
forces with rifles and the occasional machine-gun, generally called them to
service only in times of crisis. Like the Freikorps, the Zeitfreiwillige
received training from German military units. These volunteers consisted
mostly of young, educated, bourgeois members of German society.90 The
British War Office estimated their strength at almost 200,000.91 The Zeit-
freiwillige, while an initial threat to Allied disarmament policies, were
short-lived. Moreover, even Morgan assessed the military value of the
Zeitfreiwillige as practically negligible.92 They were officially dissolved by
government order on 31 March 1920 and by June, the Allies considered
both the Zeitfreiwillige and the Freikorps to be dissolved.93 With the over-
lapping tendencies of the German paramilitary organizations, all of which
shared a common purpose, a number of the Zeitfreiwillige undoubtedly
joined the ranks of the Einwohnerwehr.

The Einwohnerwehr constituted the largest of the paramilitary organi-
zations in Germany. Formed in 1919 as protection against political unrest
and Bolshevism, the dissolution of such a vast patriotic and militant
organization posed a most difficult task for the Allies. Aside from virulent
anti-communism, this paramilitary association advocated a rightist polit-
ical line in trumpeting a German revival through the revision of the Treaty
of Versailles.94 The German states, which controlled the Einwohnerwehr,
generally armed them with rifles and a few machine-guns.95 While the state
government of Bavaria helped subsidize the Einwohnerwehr, the German
government helped provide them with rifles.96 The IAMCC estimated the
strength of the Bavarian Einwohnerwehr alone to be over 300,000 men.97

The question of disbanding the self-defense organizations in Germany
challenged Allied disarmament efforts in 1920. The political stance of
Bavaria, a hotbed of IAMCC opposition, exacerbated the difficult nature
of dispersing armed civilian groups. Conservatives dominated the south-
eastern German state, and members of right-wing political parties pro-
vided most of the members for the Einwohnerwehr.98 After the short-term
Bolshevik coup in 1919, the determination of so many Bavarians to
prevent any repetition of a Bolshevik victory made the dissolution of the
Bavarian Einwohnerwehr a particularly arduous undertaking. The IAMCC
sent many notes to the German government demanding the dissolution of
the Einwohnerwehr throughout Germany by 10 April 1920.99 Con-
sequently, on 8 April, the German government ordered the dissolution of
the Einwohnerwehr but the law fell short of IAMCC expectations.
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Although it forbade military exercises and modified armaments, the law
essentially delegated the question to the German states.100

Although Prussia, Saxony, and some smaller German states had dis-
banded their paramilitary forces, the Einwohnerwehr was a thorn in the
side of Allied disarmament efforts in East Prussia and Bavaria. In these
latter states, the Einwohnerwehr remained armed and well organized.101 In
the Paris meetings in May 1920, the Allies requested that the German
government hand over a list of organizations and demanded the dissolu-
tion of all paramilitary forces in Germany by 20 June.102 German represen-
tatives from Baden, Württemberg, and Bavaria met to pressure the
German government to enter negotiations with the Allies to maintain the
Einwohnerwehr.103 In reaction to Allied demands to dissolve the Einwohn-
erwehr, the German government claimed that the organization existed
merely to protect “the life and property of the peaceful population.”104 In
the summer of 1920, Bavaria still made no efforts to do away with its
illegal military formations while a number of other German states had
taken legal measures to do so. In fact, the IAMCC reported that all
German states, with the exception of Bavaria and Bremen, had either dis-
armed or abolished the Einwohnerwehr.105 Unfortunately for the Allies,
the Bavarian Einwohnerwehr was the largest of all the paramilitary
organizations in Germany. French military intelligence estimated the total
strength of the Einwohnerwehr to be two million men.106 Consequently,
Nollet repeatedly called for the dissolution of the Einwohnerwehr in the
late summer and early autumn months.107

The establishment of a paramilitary administrative body, the Organi-
zation Escherich (Orgesch), augmented the complexity of the paramilitary
question. Georg Escherich, leader of the Bavarian Einwohnerwehr,
founded the Orgesch in Bavaria, which also had headquarters in Munich,
Berlin, Hanover, and Marburg. It was administered by the Ministry of
Labor, received state funding in emergencies, and maintained a close
liaison with the Reichswehr.108 Escherich, a member of the Bavarian
forestry department who owned a farm outside of Munich, claimed that
the Orgesch was a self-defense organization that demanded only the ouster
of Bolshevism from Germany; he estimated the strength of his organization
at around 300,000 men in the autumn of 1920.109 The platform of this
bastion of conservatism demanded the protection of the constitution and
personal property, and the maintenance of public order and the Reich. But
the Orgesch also had a grand plan for all the bourgeois and conservative
paramilitary groups in Germany as it tried to consolidate all the self-
defense associations.110 In essence, the Orgesch acted as the central body of
all the self-defense forces in Germany. In August, Prussian Minister of the
Interior Wilhelm Severing forbade the presence of the Orgesch in Prussia,
and the governments of Saxony and Württemberg took similar measures,
but Bavaria refused to bend under Allied pressure.

Overall, the IAMCC had made significant strides toward the dissolution
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of paramilitary organizations in Germany with the exception of Bavaria.
In fact, Nollet expressed optimism that all of northern Germany had dis-
banded the Einwohnerwehr.111 On the other hand, a direct meeting with
Ritter von Kahr, the Bavarian Prime Minister from 1920 to 1921, con-
vinced Nollet that Bavaria had little intention of disarming or disbanding
its paramilitary forces.112 Nollet asserted that the Einwohnerwehr was
directly involved with the Reichswehr as the IAMCC had ascertained that
officers of the German army worked as liaisons with the paramilitary
organization.113 Nollet believed that the time for any Bolshevik take-overs
had long since passed, and in December he reiterated his demands for the
dissolution of all paramilitary organizations.

Nollet’s position on the paramilitary question was incompatible with
British interests. The British War Office did not consider the Einwohner-
wehr to be a military threat, and together with the Foreign Office and
Lord D’Abernon, proposed a compromise of the gradual reduction of the
paramilitary organization.114 In fact, the War Office regarded the member-
ship of the Einwohnerwehr as consisting of “all the law abiding and best
elements in the Bavarian population” while D’Abernon considered any
Allied attempts to abolish the Einwohnerwehr as “insane.”115 The ambas-
sador’s Germanophile tendencies and virulent anti-communism would
continue to run counter to Nollet and the IAMCC. The threat of Bolshe-
vism, still the British bugbear, had not yet run its course, and continued to
influence British policies toward German disarmament and the enforce-
ment of the Treaty of Versailles.

The Einwohnerwehr issue at the end of 1920 symbolized relations
between Britain, France, and Germany in the enforcement of disarmament.
In short, Britain advocated leniency, France remained intransigent, and
Germany denied everything. The attitude of the War Office, as well as
D’Abernon, illustrated the changing diplomatic policies of Britain toward
Germany in the post-war era and reveals the crucial difference between
French and British viewpoints. The British were at least willing to modify
the demands that had been made in the Paris Peace Conference while the
French believed their national existence was predicated upon those very
demands. While the British War Office correctly assessed the relevant mili-
tary value of the Einwohnerwehr (and the Reichswehr) as less than a
threat against the combined arms of Britain and France, the modification
of either the treaty or the subsequent Allied demands worked as a centrifu-
gal force toward the fragmentation of the unofficial Franco–British
entente. Treaty modification was the fatal chink in the French armor of
Versailles. In the paramilitary question, and in upcoming discussions,
Britain would be more willing than France to meet present exigencies than
to honor demands of the past. German policy often widened this
Anglo–French disparity by continuing to reinforce delay, with the hope
that Allied disarmament operations would simply disappear.

At the beginning of 1921, the British and French governments met in
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Paris where they discussed crucial German disarmament questions and
threatened occupation of the Rhineland unless Germany complied with
their demands. One important step taken by the Allies was the demand for
the termination of the Einwohnerwehr.116 As a result, Foreign Minister
Simons pressured the Bavarian government to comply with orders to dis-
solve the paramilitary forces in the southern German state.117 The Bavarian
government, under Ritter von Kahr, remained intransigent to Allied and
German demands until the Allied ultimatum of 5 May. The policy of sanc-
tions, with the threat to occupy the Ruhr, finally broke von Kahr.118 By
mid-June 1921, Germany had surrendered to the IAMCC two-thirds of all
small arms in the possession of its self-defense forces.119 At the end of the
month, the German government took another step to disband the self-
defense forces that appeared free from federal control. It published a
decree on 24 June that dissolved the Einwohnerwehr and Orgesch
throughout Germany, although it focused upon Bavaria and East
Prussia.120 The Allied ultimatum had broken the back of the paramilitary
movement as the state governments finally bent to Allied and federal pres-
sure by supporting the dissolution of the self-defense forces. Progress in
this matter appeared to increase substantially. In fact, D’Abernon was suf-
ficiently convinced in July that Germany had entirely dissolved all of the
paramilitary organizations.121 In light of the crackdown against the para-
military organizations in Germany, the Einwohnerwehr went into hiding
and partially reconstituted itself a year later as another politically motiv-
ated paramilitary force in Bavaria.122 The AMCV continued to warn that
the self-defense organizations constituted a strong military reserve.123

While paramilitary forces continued to exist in Germany throughout the
life of the IAMCC, they never again posed a serious threat to Allied disar-
mament efforts. In the spring of 1922, the IAMCC continued to press the
Germans to fulfill their obligations toward the self-defense organizations
that remained in Germany. In April, the Conference of Ambassadors,
which played a rather minor role in the paramilitary question, agreed that
Germany disband all military associations before the Allies would consider
terminating inspections.124 By mid-1922, the IAMCC expressed much less
anxiety about the presence of German paramilitary forces. Nollet merely
reported that the German government had ordered their dissolution and
was in the process of carrying out this policy.125 Yet the deal remained:
either Germany terminated all paramilitary associations throughout the
nation or Allied troops would remain billeted in the heart of Germany.
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7 Fortifications
The destruction of German defenses

The third major element of Allied disarmament operations involved the
destruction of Germany’s system of fortifications, which represented an
integral part of German military strength. Made up of dozens of heavily
armed forts and coastal batteries, hundreds of concrete dugouts, and hun-
dreds of kilometers of telephone cables, trenches, railroad tracks, and
canals, Germany’s fortified works presented a formidable line of defense.
The Allies therefore sought to cripple this extensive defensive network.
The Germans had built the heart of their fortresses in the Rhineland, and a
number of forts stood along the coastal waters of the Baltic and North
Seas as well the eastern and southern border areas of Germany.1 Con-
structed for defensive purposes, Germany’s forts did not play a major role
in World War I. In light of the fact that the Allies placed such emphasis on
the reduction of German armaments and armed manpower, the Allies did
not consider the dismantling and destruction of German fortifications to
be a priority in the disarmament of Germany. Unlike armaments and
troops, forts were fixed structures and could not be easily concealed from
Allied inspections. Because British, French, Belgian, and American troops
occupied the Rhineland, the Allies could dismantle the key German
fortresses with impunity. Nonetheless, Allied inspectors expended great
effort in enforcing the treaty articles regarding German fortifications and
focused on the armaments that the forts contained.

The ambiguous nature of the clauses of the Treaty of Versailles that
dealt with the dismantling and destruction of German fortifications and
defense systems allowed for a rather loose interpretation of the original
intent of the treaty’s creators in Paris. Allied inspectors divided their work
into two areas: Articles 180, 195, and 196 of the Versailles Treaty charged
the Allies with destroying the German forts located in the demilitarized
and occupied Rhineland, as well as the area surrounding and including
Kiel. On the other hand, the treaty allowed German forts in the south,
east, and within fifty kilometers of the North and Baltic Seas, to be kept in
their existing state. Strategically, these forts did not concern the disarma-
ment coalition but the extent of their armament was a focal point of the
work of Allied inspectors. Some of the eastern and southern German forts

 



were simply obsolete, positioned to defend Germany from past enemies,
while others helped to defend the eastern reaches from the emerging Bol-
shevik threat.

On Germany’s western frontier, the treaty’s precise wording left no
doubt: Article 180 demanded that Germany disarm and dismantle all forti-
fications west of a line drawn fifty kilometers east of the Rhine. The
Rhineland had great strategic importance to the security of France. As part
of the Allied strategy to demilitarize the Rhineland, the treaty forbade
Germany from having any defensive works in this zone. The Allies gave
Germany two months to disarm all fortifications outside of the Allied
occupation in the west and a period of four months to dismantle them.
With a coalition of troops occupying the Rhineland, the Allies put off any
decisions regarding deadlines to dismantle and destroy the German forts
that lay within the boundary of the occupation. The troop presence in the
Rhineland could be used to ensure and maintain treaty compliance, but the
fortifications system in the Rhineland was a formidable array of defenses
and would take the longest to dismantle and destroy. The peacemakers in
Paris also restricted the number of rounds within all German forts and
forbade any modifications or enhancements to any defensive structure
after 10 January 1920.2 One final treaty stipulation which increased
tension between the Allies and Germany was the demand that the German
government furnish a detailed inventory of all forts.

Germany’s eastern and southern defenses were another matter
altogether. While the Versailles Treaty designated the forts in the west for
destruction, thereby facilitating France’s quest for security, the Allies
allowed Germany to maintain its eastern and southern forts. Germany had
fourteen forts located in the east and south but the Allies did not consider
them to be strategically important. A single sentence of Article 180 of the
treaty, however, was culpable for the polarized interpretations and dis-
agreement that followed: “The system of fortified works of the southern
and eastern frontiers of Germany shall be maintained in its existing state.”
The central concern was the ambiguity of the phrase “existing state.” The
Allies intended that Germany could not modify the condition and arma-
ments of any fort located in the east and south of the nation after 10
January 1920, but the German government had other plans. Grasping at
anything to weaken the military clauses of the hated treaty, the Germans
attempted subsequently to retain and rearm a series of archaic forts. In
addition, to assess the “existing state” of Germany’s southern and eastern
forts, the IAMCC planned a series of inspections. Germany opposed these
inspections as an illegal affront to its sovereignty, and disagreement
between the Allies and the Germans over this particular issue would last
throughout the first year of disarmament operations.

The Allies treated Germany’s coastal forts like those in the east and
south. Germany had to maintain all forts within fifty miles of the coast or
on coastal islands in their existing state of January 1920. Thus, the
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Germans would have to make do with the quantity, quality, and caliber of
guns that were in place in the forts when the treaty went into effect. The
Allies also forbade any new defensive construction in these locations.
More importantly, the treaty targeted the massive fortifications located in
and around Kiel for destruction. Allied inspectors allowed Germany only
three months to destroy the masonry of the Kiel fortifications and six
months to dismantle the entire system.3 The determination of the arma-
ments of the other German coastal forts, including the massive forts in
Königsberg, took months to settle. Yet in terms of the fulfillment of the
military clauses of the Versailles Treaty, the dismantling and destruction of
German fortifications was the most efficient and successful area of Allied
disarmament operations in Germany.

The politics of fortifications

The Fortifications Sub-commission, with approximately thirty Allied offi-
cers, was the smallest of the three sub-commissions of the IAMCC. The
British and French, similar to their leadership of the two larger sub-
commissions, dominated its command. Despite the Fortifications Sub-
commission’s diminutive size, French president General Raymond
Bizouard and his British colleague Colonel Gruble led its inspectors to
great success.4 The Allies established three district committees in Cologne,
Kiel, and Stuttgart.5 After a series of delays and complaints, the work of
the Fortifications Sub-commission proceeded in a fairly straightforward
fashion. Essentially, the Sub-commission had a search-and-destroy
mission. The IAMCC gave its inspectors the responsibility of supervising
the dismantling and destruction of dozens of forts and gun batteries, hun-
dreds of dugouts and trench systems, as well as the means of logistical
support. After a few months of fruitless discussions with their German
counterparts, the Allies eventually conducted a series of inventory inspec-
tions of all of Germany’s forts. These inspections allowed Allied disarma-
ment officers to take stock of German defenses and formulate a precise
plan on how to dismantle them.

The most pressing task for the fortifications inspectors was evaluating
the military capability of the German forts in the east and south, and on
the German coasts. The Treaty of Versailles forbade any modifications to
the forts after 10 January 1920. Regarding the idea of the “existing state”
of fortifications, the treaty focused upon the number and size of guns that
lurked within the German defensive systems. Quite simply, the Allies
would allow Germany to keep the exact number and caliber of guns that
the forts held in place in January 1920. However, in order to determine
the existing state of German forts, the Allies either had to rely on German
inventory reports or visit the forts and make their own inventories. The
subsequent issue of inspections therefore became another sticking point in
the disarmament of Germany’s fortifications.
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In order to make the best of a difficult situation, the Germans naturally
interpreted the fortifications articles to coincide with their own interests. In
January 1920, the Germans presented the Allies with a list of armaments
that the Germans intended to maintain in a number of fortresses. German
political and military officers showed great initiative between the time of
the Armistice and the effective date of the Treaty of Versailles by stockpil-
ing about 4,000 heavy and field guns, as well as various other armaments,
in twelve forts located throughout the eastern and southern districts of
Germany.6 These amounts included over 2,000 heavy guns with 871
replacement barrels, almost 1,500 pieces of field artillery, and over 500
anti-aircraft guns. The German government also notified the Allies that
their coastal forts had about 400 heavy guns, 200 field guns, and almost
500 anti-aircraft guns.7 In presenting the forts as heavily armed in January,
the Germans obviously hoped to force the Allies to allow them to keep a
large number of guns and other assorted armaments. This strategy did not
dupe the British, French, Belgian, Italian, and Japanese officers responsible
for disarming Germany. Reacting forcefully to the figures that Germany
inflated beyond the normal capacity of the forts in question, the Allies gave
no quarter and worked to put an end to German pretensions of maintain-
ing a formidable artillery reserve.

Differences between the Allies and Germany over the interpretation of
the Treaty of Versailles’ fortifications articles continued through the
winter, thereby delaying the work of the inspectors. The major sticking
point was the right of inspections. Although the treaty demanded that
Germany turn over detailed lists of inventories of all fortifications, the
German government undertook no effort to produce them. Eager to fix the
amount of artillery in each fort and suspecting that Germany had exagger-
ated its claims, the Allies hoped to verify German fortifications through
their own inventory inspections. Consequently, General Nollet demanded
the right to inspect the German forts and to take inventories to determine
their actual state at the time the treaty went into effect.8 In his distrust of
German intentions, fueled by German armament demands for the eastern
and southern forts, the French general claimed that the IAMCC had the
right to verify German armaments claims for the forts. General von
Cramon, adamantly opposed to all forms of disarmament, vehemently
protested any Allied visits of German fortifications.9 At the end of Febru-
ary, Nollet reported to the Allied leaders of the Conference of Ambas-
sadors that the German government had contested the right of the IAMCC
to verify, and therefore inspect, the current state of German fortifications.
After Marshal Foch and the AMCV upheld the right of Allied inspections,
the Ambassadors’ Conference ruled on 11 March that the IAMCC had the
right to visit, inventory, and verify the coastal forts as well as the forts
located in the east and south of Germany.10 With the issue settled, full-
scale Allied inspections of German fortifications began late in the spring.

The Allies also made decisions regarding the forts into which Germany
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had transported a significant arsenal of artillery. In order to prevent
Germany from attempting to establish an artillery reserve, the IAMCC
demanded in March that Germany could only retain the number of guns
corresponding to the number of gun emplacements in each fort. Allied offi-
cers of the IAMCC interpreted the phrase of Article 196 concerning fortifi-
cation guns, “those in position,” as guns that were permanently fixed to
the forts in emplacements. Thus, the Allies would not allow any mobile
artillery, and Germany would have to surrender the stockpiles to the
Allies. Most importantly, the IAMCC rejected German proposals to main-
tain (and arm) a number of these ancient forts.11 On 13 March, and again
on 5 May, the IAMCC demanded a reduction of over 4,000 guns that the
Germans had hastily assembled in the towns in which the forts were
located. On 28 May, the IAMCC notified the German government that
only the forts of Königsberg, Pillau, Swinemünde, Küstrin, and Ulm could
be maintained, whereas the question of their armaments remained up in
the air. On the other hand, the IAMCC decided that the defense systems in
Breslau, Marienburg, Ingolstadt, and Königstein could not be considered
to be or maintained as fortresses.12

The issue of obtaining detailed inventories of the German fortifications
remained a pressing concern to Allied disarmament authorities. In June,
the Germans had still not given the Allies any inventories of their fortifica-
tions.13 This negligence was not lost on Marshal Foch, and the AMCV
demanded the completion of the dismantling of forts in the Rhineland by
10 July. On the other hand, the Allies allowed a delay in the dismantling
of the coastal forts until 10 December.14 Aside from the lack of invento-
ries, the problems over the legal interpretation of recording the number of
German guns in the forts in the east and south and dismantling other
German forts effectively prevented the Fortifications Sub-commission from
accomplishing its major tasks.15 The surplus of shells the Germans retained
for their fortifications’ artillery was a crucial Allied concern.

The matter of the quality and quantity of the armaments used in the
eastern and southern German forts continued to concern the Fortifications
Sub-commission, and only the completion of inventories could ease the
IAMCC’s worries. In fact, Nollet sent General Bingham to the forts of
Königsberg, Pillau, and Küstrin to examine their armaments. After a per-
sonal inspection, Bingham believed the Allies should treat Königsberg dif-
ferently than Pillau and Küstrin, but still proposed a significant reduction
in the German demand for Königsberg’s armaments.16 Other Allied inspec-
tions revealed that the Germans had collected and stored armaments in
many of the forts in question. In the face of constant Allied pressure, in
July the Germans finally turned over detailed plans of their forts to the
Allies, who in turn fixed the armaments restrictions for all the forts except
for Königsberg. Consequently, the IAMCC allowed Pillau five batteries of
heavy guns and ten anti-aircraft guns on the north coast, and restricted the
fortress at Swinemünde to twenty-eight heavy guns and four anti-aircraft
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guns.17 But the IAMCC disallowed any armaments for Ulm and Küstrin
and continued to study the question of Königsberg’s armaments.18 Based
on the reports of the inspectors, the Allies refused to sanction spare gun
tubes for any of the forts and forbade any surplus personnel weapons
within the forts. In addition, the IAMCC would not allow any attempt to
improve the conditions of the forts. As a result, the Germans eventually
reduced the guns in the forts in question to a mere 106, and Germany
eventually surrendered excess weapons in toto by May 1921.19 The persis-
tence and tenacity of the IAMCC in enforcing and interpreting the fortifi-
cations articles of the Treaty of Versailles, facilitated by the accord reached
within the disarmament coalition (especially the British and French), was
primarily responsible for this Allied success.

As a result of numerous inspections of Germany’s eastern, southern,
and coastal forts, the Allies thwarted German designs of increasing its mili-
tary strength through the circumvention of Allied disarmament intentions
and policies. Allied inspection teams discovered that many German
demands for heavy armaments in the forts were indeed specious in inten-
tion and devious in scope. The southern German forts of Neisse, Ulm,
Glatz, Königstein, and Ingolstadt were simply obsolete, with some of them
dating back as far as the eighteenth century.20 These forts could barely
withstand a barrage of modern artillery, and lacked command posts, com-
munications, and gun emplacements. The IAMCC would not allow the
obsolete, decaying, and neglected relics to be used as mere storehouses for
German artillery. Inspections of the eastern forts of Küstrin, Glogau, and
Breslau revealed the same conditions. In addition, inspectors discovered
illegal weapons caches that amounted to 250,000 rifles, 2,300 machine-
guns, and 2,000 trench mortars.21 By October, the Allies completed all of
their inventory inspections of German forts, saving the older forts of
Neisse, Glatz, and Königstein for last.22 The inspectors only had to com-
plete their detailed dossiers of these fortifications to complete their tasks.23

The extent of mobile artillery the Allies found in each defensive structure
concerned the IAMCC, and once they discovered the true nature of these
stockpiles, the state of German fortifications became a secondary issue of
disarmament.

Despite rapid progress on all fronts, the IAMCC considered the attempt
of Germany to retain a mobile heavy artillery reserve in the coastal forts to
be of crucial importance.24 On 8 November 1920, the Conference of
Ambassadors demanded that the German government surrender surplus
artillery from the forts of Küstrin, Lotzen-Boyen, and Königsberg. The
Germans refused to comply. Furthermore, in January 1921, the German
government demanded the right to protect Germany’s eastern and south-
ern forts with 2,600 machine-guns (more than the allotment for the entire
100,000 man army!), refused to surrender coastal fort artillery, and
demanded to keep over twice the 420 guns that the IAMCC authorized. As
a result, the Allies toughened their stance, and at the Paris meetings in
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January 1921, the British and French governments notified the Germans
that they had refused to allow any guns for Küstrin and Lotzen-Boyen.
The Allies also decided to allow only twenty-two heavy guns for Königs-
berg.25 In addition, German pleas to keep rifles, machine-guns, and
mortars within the walls of the forts fell on deaf ears. In allowing German
coastal forts only 420 guns, the Allied governments had implemented the
proposals of their arms inspectors as well as the Conference of Ambas-
sadors.

Although the Allies gave Germany until 28 February 1921 to comply,
they did not resort to any economic or military sanctions to strengthen
their demands. Once again the deadlines expired without action, and non-
compliance merely led to new deadlines. At the Paris meeting, the Allies
also demanded that Germany surrender its surplus land fortification arma-
ments by the end of May and its surplus coastal fort armaments by 10
June. The threat of a Ruhr occupation in the May ultimatum, coming on
the heels of the Allied occupation of Düsseldorf in the spring, was too
much for Germany, which surrendered all surplus guns in its eastern and
southern fortifications to the Allies for destruction.26 Only the armaments
of the forts of Küstrin and Königsberg remained in question. The Allied
use of physical sanctions to force German compliance proved to be the
most successfully strategy in all three areas of disarmament: armaments,
effectives, and fortifications.

The mechanics of fortification dismantling and destruction

Although the Germans contested Allied actions regarding the maintenance
of a number of old fortresses, the Fortifications Sub-commission experi-
enced remarkable progress. In essence, of all the questions facing the
IAMCC, the destruction of German forts was the most straightforward
task. The IAMCC refused to back down in the face of German opposition,
and the work soon progressed with alacrity. The Allies knew the locations
of the forts and the IAMCC merely had to verify their dismantling and
destruction. At times, the French demanded more extensive demolition
than their British counterparts. While the British focused upon the destruc-
tion of all gun emplacements, platforms, and masonry, the French even
demanded the complete leveling of earthworks surrounding some forts.27

Nonetheless, the work of the Fortifications Sub-commission was a true
Allied effort, with little of the squabbling that occurred over armaments
and effectives issues.

The dismantling and destruction of German forts began in earnest in
the summer of 1920. Similar to all disarmament efforts, Allied enforce-
ment and German acquiescence determined the amount of progress.
Inspectors of the Fortifications Sub-commission acted in a supervisory role
while German workers produced the manual labor. The Allies contracted
private German demolition companies to carry out the destruction of the
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fortifications, which involved the supervision of hundreds of German
laborers. The German government had the responsibility of drafting
detailed plans of demolition while the inspectors evaluated these plans and
then directed their execution.28

The type of work varied at different sites but it always involved the
demolition of fortresses and fortified works with high explosives. The
fortresses comprised a defensive network of concrete emplacements and
shelters, armored batteries, and massive earthworks, linked together by a
complex web of phone cables and railroad tracks. The Germans had built
most of the defensive works to withstand artillery barrages, but the forts
succumbed easily to the efforts of the skilled demolition teams. In destroy-
ing a fort, teams of experts exploded charges in the concrete and earthen
defenses, thereby crippling the overall strength of the defenses. Once estab-
lished, a breach facilitated further demolition and would be quickly
enlarged. The actual demolition of German forts began in the early
summer, and by June the inspectors witnessed the destruction of the
underground gun emplacements and concrete shelters in Wesel. Seven dif-
ferent contractors started demolishing the numerous artillery emplace-
ments, infantry shelters, and observation posts in Istein, hoping to
complete the work by the end of July. Kiel was a much more massive
endeavor and the Allies surmised that the destruction of the gun emplace-
ments, munitions shelters, ranging stations, blockhouses, and observation
posts would not be completed until the end of the year.29 By the end of the
summer, inspectors reported progress in the leveling of the escarpment at
Wesel and the destruction of the majority of Istein’s concrete shelters and
armored batteries. In Kiel’s massive fortress system, workers tore a huge
breach in the escarpment and initiated the demolition of anti-aircraft bat-
teries, shelters, and gun platforms. In addition, the work in the occupied
Rhineland finally commenced, with up to 400 German laborers involved in
the destruction of the system of fortifications in Mainz.30

In the fall the Fortifications Sub-commission witnessed a great deal of
progress. Demolition of the great citadel of Wesel commenced, the con-
crete shelters of Istein continued to fall under the demolition teams’ handi-
work, and the IAMCC began efforts to destroy the forts in Cologne and
Coblenz.31 In Kiel, especially, Allied officers witnessed substantial progress
as most of the concrete shelters and anti-aircraft batteries met their igno-
minious fate. By mid-November, the IAMCC supervised upward of 400
German laborers in the destruction of the complex of fortifications in Kiel.
Allied inspectors discovered a rather spirited, but minor, attempt at decep-
tion when they found that German workers had overturned a gun plat-
form and covered it with dirt to appear smashed; with the scheme foiled,
the inspectors subsequently destroyed the platform.32 Surprisingly, there
were few attempts to obstruct or sabotage the demolition work that con-
tinued in a number of German cities and towns. Fortification demolition
provided work for hundreds of Germans, offering proof that difficult
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financial straits in desperate times transcended political and nationalist
sentiments. Any accolades for slowing down Allied efforts regarding forti-
fications must be given primarily to the German government. One perti-
nent example of government interference occurred in November when
German political officials advised a local German official involved with the
demolition work in Kiel to proceed as slowly as possible. The Germans
hoped that delaying destruction would render a diplomatic victory as it
awaited a response from the Conference of Ambassadors to one of its
numerous inquiries.33 After June 1920, however, direct efforts to impede
the progress of the Fortifications Sub-commission slowed down dramati-
cally, and the work proceeded at a steady pace.

Demolition of Germany’s powerful bastions of defense experienced no
respite in the cold winter months. By December, the AMCV reported that
the dismantling and destruction of German fortifications was proceeding
so well that it no longer posed a concern.34 As a new year dawned, the
demolition work in the mighty fortifications of Kiel, Istein, and Cologne
neared completion.35 The rapid progress dictated Allied policy changes. In
April 1921, under pressure from the Conference of Ambassadors, the
IAMCC began to reduce dismantling operations to diminish expenses and
allowed an extension of six months for the period of dismantling the
forts.36 Progress continued through the summer to the point where the
British Foreign Office expressed satisfaction with the disarmament of both
land and coastal forts in Germany.37 As the dismantling and destruction of
German forts wound down, the AMCV declared that the work would be
finished by the end of the year. Because Germany had reduced the arma-
ments of its fortifications to the proper levels, the AMCV proposed an
immediate 50 percent reduction in the size of the Fortifications Sub-
commission and even professed a belief that the Fortifications Sub-
commission could be dissolved in January 1922.38 General Bingham
concurred, hoping privately that the Allies would dissolve the Fortifica-
tions Sub-commission by the end of 1921.39

In February 1922, after inspectors witnessed the final dismantling and
destruction of German forts in both occupied and non-occupied territory,
the Allies dissolved the Fortifications Sub-commission. General Nollet
reported that the Fortifications Sub-commission would be changed into an
organ of liquidation to deal with any minor questions that remained. The
Allies dissolved these last vestiges of the Fortification Sub-commission in
February 1923.40 One significant effect of the dissolution of the Fortifica-
tions Sub-commission that influenced the future work of the IAMCC was
the decrease in the number of French on the IAMCC Council from four to
three officers.41 Surprisingly, the French agreed to this modification even
though it decreased their authority and allowed the rest of the coalition
(especially the British) to block French decisions more easily.

In regard to the issues surrounding the disarmament of German fortifi-
cations, the IAMCC was the force behind Allied policy. Suspicious of
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German intentions, the IAMCC had refused to recognize the belated
German fortification reports and demanded the right to visit, take invento-
ries, and verify the amount of artillery contained within each eastern,
southern, and coastal German fort. Yet German efforts to circumvent the
enforcement of Versailles’ disarmament clauses were also certainly less
diligent than those schemes concocted to frustrate the execution of the
armaments and effectives clauses of the treaty. In essence, the issue of for-
tifications for both the Allies and Germany was a less important aspect of
disarmament, but the work of the Fortifications Sub-commission should
not be belittled. Compared with the surrender and destruction of German
armaments or the reduction in numbers of German soldiers, police, and
self-defense organizations, the dismantling and destruction of German for-
tifications was a true Allied victory in the enforcement of the Treaty of
Versailles. The work supervised by the Fortifications Sub-commission was
extremely successful and must be viewed as one of the greatest accomplish-
ments of the IAMCC. The final numbers were impressive. Overall, the For-
tifications Sub-commission had seen to the destruction of twenty-six large
fortresses, thirty-thee intermediate fortified works, two modern forts
(Istein and Mainz), eighteen coastal batteries, 800 concrete dugouts, 300
kilometers of underground telephone cable, forty kilometers of railroad
tracks, and thirty kilometers of fortress canals.42 After a year of debates
with German authorities over the interpretation of the Treaty of Versailles’
fortifications clauses, the Allies had diligently enforced this area of the
treaty. The Allies had rendered Germany’s eastern, southern, and coastal
forts harmless. Undefended and facing the tenacity of the ubiquitous
inspectors, Germany’s forts in the west were demolished as surely as the
great fortresses of Belgium had bowed to the German victors in 1914.
From the modern marvels of Istein and Mainz, to the archaic walls of
Königstein and Glatz, Germany’s fortresses either vanished in clouds of
debris or stood as silent sentinels of yesteryear.
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8 Future control
The struggle for an Allied policy

The Armaments, Effectives, and Fortifications Sub-committees had all wit-
nessed significant progress in carrying out the military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles in the first two years of Allied disarmament operations
in Germany. By the beginning of 1922, Germany had destroyed most of its
armaments and the Allies had dissolved the Fortifications Sub-commission.
The Allies had also witnessed progress in reducing the German army to
100,000 troops, although a number of organizational and technical con-
cerns still presented problems. Nonetheless, the German army had wit-
nessed a massive transformation into a relatively small army, with few
artillery pieces and protected by sparsely distributed fortifications. As
significant progress in the disarmament of Germany continued, an import-
ant question began to emerge: Just how long would the IAMCC remain in
Germany? As the question of the duration of the IAMCC began to wax
with the waning of German military strength, British and French views
toward German disarmament diverged once again.

Although the peacemakers of 1919 hoped initially to disarm Germany
in a matter of months, Article 203 of the Treaty of Versailles stipulated
that the duration of the IAMCC depended upon the execution of the mili-
tary clauses of the treaty that had specific time limits.1 Technically, as long
as these clauses remained unfulfilled, the IAMCC could remain in
Germany. In addition, Article 213 gave the League of Nations the right to
order investigations, presumably after the withdrawal of the IAMCC, to
verify German compliance with the military aspects of the treaty. Thus, the
Allies decided that after Germany had fulfilled the military clauses under
the watchful eye of the IAMCC, they would transfer authority of military
supervision to the Council of the League of Nations. This future transfer
of power provoked British and French anxieties over the possible lack of
authority of the League of Nations and potential German rearmament
upon withdrawal of the IAMCC. As German disarmament progressed
after a year of operations, the British began to advocate the replacement of
the IAMCC with a smaller organization in an attempt to conclude the
work of disarmament and normalize relations with Germany. British
hopes to re-establish international stability ran up against a cornerstone of

 



French security policy.2 Since the French deplored any policy other than
the complete fulfillment of the Treaty of Versailles, Allied unity toward the
enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty would bend, but not
break, under the strain.

The British first explored the modification of the IAMCC, or the idea of
future control, at the close of the first year of disarmament operations.
Discussions with the French gained momentum throughout 1921 but
fizzled out by the end of 1922 when serious incidents of abuse against the
IAMCC suspended Allied notions of replacing the disarmament regime in
Germany. The purpose of establishing a new form of military control was
to maintain Allied supervision of German military strength after the
IAMCC with a more efficient, less obtrusive system. In disarming
Germany, Britain always placed a great deal of emphasis upon the surren-
der and destruction of German heavy armaments. With the bulk of
German armaments destroyed in the first year of operations, British polit-
ical and military leaders began to sound out ideas of replacing the
IAMCC. In fact, Lloyd George’s Cabinet first raised the issue in November
1920.3 Fearing anything short of strict compliance with the military art-
icles of the Treaty of Versailles, the French responded belatedly, and then
tried to maintain Allied officers in Germany for as long as possible. The
French were loath to change their original position that the IAMCC had to
remain in Germany so long as the military clauses remained unfulfilled.4

Security, measured by the physical presence of Allied troops on German
soil, was paramount to French policy.

The first sign of change in Allied disarmament operations in Germany
occurred with the reduction of IAMCC personnel. Due to progress in the
execution of the military clauses, in December 1920, Bingham and Nollet
considered gradually reducing the IAMCC by up to half its strength.5 Even
some French political authorities were impressed by the amount of
destruction and reduction, pointing out in the Chamber of Deputies that
Germany was experiencing gradual disarmament. Georges Leygues, whose
ministry fell within a month, reveled in the gaping disparity between
French and German forces, proclaiming that 800,000 French soldiers faced
only 150,000 German soldiers.6 But other French political and military
officials were much more pessimistic toward the progress of disarming
Germany and pointed to the myriad details of the military aspects of the
treaty that had not yet been fulfilled.7 Pressure from military authorities,
including Foch and Nollet, forced Leygues to take a tougher stance on
German disarmament.8

British authorities first considered Germany essentially disarmed after
one year of disarmament operations, and henceforth initiated discussions
of a change in the organization and dynamics of future Allied control. In
December 1920, the British War Office claimed that Germany no longer
had sufficient armaments to conduct war.9 Particularly assured that the
IAMCC had rendered Germany militarily powerless, British military
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authorities were generally satisfied with German fulfillment of the military
clauses and claimed that Germany had “ceased to be a threat to the Allies
for a considerable period of time.”10 In addition to the War Office,
D’Abernon expressed exultation at the beginning of 1921 over the
progress of German disarmament. D’Abernon believed that Germany
would be no military threat for at least four to ten years since Germany
had surrendered or destroyed its guns, airplanes, and submarines.11 In a
direct reproach of French policy toward Germany, he asserted that France
had “military hegemony of the Continent” and that the issue of disarma-
ment should be viewed according to current circumstances, not through
the lenses of 1914.12 Thus, D’Abernon had little difficulty in ignoring the
provisions of the Treaty of Versailles.

British and French policies toward German disarmament were dissimi-
lar from the inception of military control but their polarization increased
over time. The crux of British policy toward German disarmament was
neatly summarized by a War Office Report of January 1921: “Expert mili-
tary opinion has always regarded the effective disarmament of Germany,
and the destruction of all surplus war material, as the main essential in
rendering Germany incapable of further aggressive action against the
Allies, rather than the reduction of the German standing army.”13 There
are two elements here worth noting. First, as previously discussed, the
British military authorities considered the destruction of German arma-
ments to be the key to disarming Germany. Second, and more importantly,
the War Office made no reference to the fulfillment of the military clauses
of the Treaty of Versailles but was satisfied that Germany could no longer
wage an aggressive war. Thus, when most British officers saw the numbers
of destroyed guns piling up, they considered Germany disarmed and the
remaining fulfillment of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles
superfluous. Many prominent British political authorities, including Lloyd
George and D’Abernon, adhered to this line of policy.

This British attitude shocked French political and military authorities,
most of whom advocated the complete fulfillment of all the clauses of the
treaty that had been signed with the blood of 1.4 million Frenchmen. On
20 January 1921, newly elected French Premier Aristide Briand elicited
cheers from the French Chamber of Deputies by declaring the disarma-
ment of Germany a vital element of French security and pointing out that
“the sanction of the Great War, the consecration of victory, is the execu-
tion of the treaty.”14 Although they did not consider any aspect of German
disarmament inessential, French military authorities focused upon
Germany’s effectives strength. With the issues of police organization, para-
military organizations, and implementation of recruiting laws far from
completion at the time when Britain regarded Germany as disarmed,
France had to be careful to maintain its friendship with Britain as well as
the presence of the IAMCC in Germany. Consequently, most French polit-
ical authorities remained silent about the idea of modifying the present

102 Germany disarmed (1920–1922)

 



system of military control, neither accepting the possibility nor rejecting it
out of hand; they merely pushed for continued control and readied them-
selves to react when the British would inevitably demand modifications.
French military authorities, especially Foch and Nollet, adamantly rejected
the idea that Germany had disarmed.15

As the IAMCC continued to work in overseeing the execution of the
military clauses of the treaty, the conflicting British and French attitudes
toward German disarmament increased in intensity in the discussions over
future control. Sydney Waterlow of the British Foreign Office raised the
idea that Germany (“a bad-tempered, sulky and malignant child”) should
be awarded “good conduct prizes” for fulfilling the military clauses but
believed that Britain was currently “tied to the French chariot wheels.”16 A
number of British officials, led by Foreign Secretary Curzon, began to
worry about the effects of Nollet’s critical reports and feared that such
absolute application of the treaty would do irreparable damage to their
efforts to convince Germany to accept a new form of control. They
demanded that Nollet send any communication with political overtones
first to the Conference of Ambassadors and not directly to German offi-
cials.17 Consequently, Bingham received a sharp rebuke from the Foreign
Office, which believed that Nollet often got the better of him.18 The French
feared that taking away the initiative from the IAMCC would weaken dis-
armament efforts at a time when Germany had not yet fulfilled a number
of military conditions of the treaty. The Allies resolved the issue on 29
January 1921 when they ruled that all political notes must be referred first
to the Conference of Ambassadors.19

Although the Allies weakened the authority of the IAMCC with its
January decision, they did nothing to muzzle Nollet in reporting detailed
violations of the treaty. General Nollet persisted in sending critical reports
of German non-fulfillment to Foch throughout the first half of 1921.20

Immersed in the actual Allied execution of the disarmament clauses in
Germany and a witness to the lack of German compliance with all the mil-
itary clauses, Nollet was able to escape British criticism and muffle discus-
sions of future control. Within a year, however, Nollet would recommend
a future control organization stationed in Berlin.21 If the French had to
concede to a smaller control organization, they at least insisted on estab-
lishing it in the German capital. Bingham supported a smaller Allied
control organization but also warned that severe reductions in IAMCC
personnel could result in slackened German efforts in fulfilling the military
clauses of the treaty.22

In the summer, the British reopened the question of future control with
concrete proposals to modify the existing system. Both the War Office and
the Foreign Office pushed for changes. The War Office submitted the first
proposal for future control in July, after declaring that only a small “liqui-
dating” organization would be sufficient to complete disarmament duties in
1922.23 British military authorities questioned the authority and ability of
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the League of Nations to supervise remaining disarmament questions under
Article 213 of the Treaty of Versailles and expressed the need for a less con-
spicuous form of control following the dissolution of the IAMCC. In fact,
France wholeheartedly shared this lack of confidence in the ability of the
League of Nations to oversee remaining disarmament questions. In July, the
War Office recommended a smaller control organization of between twenty
and thirty members, residing outside of Germany, to carry out investiga-
tions of military questions in Germany only when necessary.24 Both the
War Office and the Foreign Office agreed that Germany would have to
accept a modified future control organization before the Allies could invest
the League of Nations with supervisory power under Article 213.

As the British pressed again for future control in the summer of 1921,
the French re-entered the discussions. The French ambassador in Berlin,
Charles Laurent, warned that unless the Allies replaced the IAMCC with a
smaller organization upon fulfillment of the May ultimatum, France would
be left with nothing in Germany to ascertain its state of disarmament.25

Thus, French motivation in replacing the IAMCC was to offset the British
proposal of a watered-down control system and to prevent the possibility
of permanently withdrawing all troops from German soil. Consequently,
the Supreme Council met in Paris in August to discuss the reduction and
possible replacement of the IAMCC but could not agree on whether a new
organization would be stationed in Germany or elsewhere.26 Nonetheless,
the French agreed in principle to modify the current system of Allied disar-
mament operations in Germany. The one detail that obtained the consen-
sus of Britain, France, Italy, Belgium, and Japan was Allied responsibility
for the expenses of any future control organization. The AMCV refused to
estimate the amount of time it would take the IAMCC to complete its task
but added that it would be necessary to establish a control organization
which would last “for some considerable time.”27

The various offices of political power in London eventually formulated
a plan for future military control in Germany in late October. The British
government proposed a new control organization of between fifteen and
twenty Allied officers, with headquarters in Berlin and larger bodies of
officers stationed in Allied nations. The British insisted that investigations
be carried out only when requested by Allied nations (represented by the
Conference of Ambassadors) and that Germany had to accept any form of
future control. The duration of the new system of control was linked to
the duration of the occupation of the Cologne bridgehead by Allied
troops.28 Thus, if the treaty’s clauses were “faithfully carried out,” the new
surveillance organization and Allied troops stationed in Cologne would
withdraw from Germany. Within a month, the British added one import-
ant element to the mix. They hoped to conclude a political trade with
Germany and proposed acceptance of an Allied future control organi-
zation in return for withdrawal of Allied troops from Düsseldorf, Duis-
burg, and Ruhrort.29
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The War Office revised the British plan for future control in the first
few months of 1922. It submitted a detailed proposal and named the
anticipated control organization the “Mission of Guarantee” so as not to
offend Germany with the stigma of “control.” The new organization, like
the IAMCC, would have a French president but would consist of only
twenty officers.30 Similar to the IAMCC, the purpose of the mission was to
guarantee fulfillment of the military clauses of the treaty by giving its
members the right to investigate military establishments throughout
Germany. Meanwhile, Nollet’s stream of negative reports continued
unabated, pointing out the need to destroy excess war material, transform
factories to permanent commercial facilities, and organize the Reichswehr
according to the treaty.31 But the IAMCC no longer had control over its
own destiny.

Concerned with the British emphasis upon the necessity of imminently
replacing the IAMCC, the French attempted to delay the developments
concerning future control. Nollet’s critical reports, in particular, had an
impact upon French policy regarding the transformation of military
control. As a result, the French government pointed out that the IAMCC
had not yet finished its task and stressed that the time was not right to
discuss a transformation of control when so many military aspects of the
treaty lacked German fulfillment. The French would consider replacing the
IAMCC only when Germany had satisfied Allied requirements concerning
the reorganization of the police, dissolution of the paramilitary associ-
ations, transformation of factories, and the surrender of the inventory lists
of 1918.32 The French accepted the idea of replacing the IAMCC but
refused to link the idea with the March 1921 military sanctions or the
Rhineland occupation until the IAMCC completed its designated tasks.
Although the British supported the withdrawal of occupation troops in
Düsseldorf, Duisburg, and Ruhrort, the French refused to concede. To the
French, military sanctions guaranteed physical security and had success-
fully elicited increased German fulfillment of its treaty obligations follow-
ing the Allied ultimatums at Spa in July 1920 and London in May 1921.
Although the French did accept the British view that the Mission of Guar-
antee could not be imposed upon Germany, they insisted that current dis-
cussions to replace the IAMCC with a smaller organization were still
premature.33

The Conference of Ambassadors examined a final revision of the
Mission of Guarantee, including one significant addition, on 1 March
1922. The British proposed that the Allied Council of the Mission of
Guarantee reach decisions by majority vote and that it must notify the
Conference of Ambassadors if it lacked a consensus of all five Allied
members.34 The British also specified that the responsibility of investiga-
tions would fall to the Conference of Ambassadors. Problems developed in
the Conference of Ambassadors, however, as British and French concep-
tions of future control still differed. The British wanted to remove military
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sanctions if Germany accepted the Mission of Guarantee but the French
adamantly refused to link the two issues.35 The British government first
rejected the idea of military sanctions when the Wirth government pledged
itself to a policy of fulfillment. For Britain, a promise was sufficient reason
to relax its attitude toward Germany. Conversely, the French demanded
physical proof of fulfillment and believed that military sanctions best guar-
anteed German treaty compliance. French officials, however, also had to
be careful not to threaten the Anglo–French relationship. The French espe-
cially feared the ramifications of the lack of British support: the dreaded
possibility of dealing with Germany alone. Thus, Raymond Poincaré, the
French Premier, urged his ambassadors to work in concert with their
British, Italian, Belgian, and Japanese colleagues.36 Without consensus, the
Allies suspended the question of future control and asked the AMCV to
examine it.37

With the issue of future control in the hands of the AMCV, Marshal
Foch used his position and expertise to influence the subsequent discus-
sions. He urged united Anglo–French support of prolonged military
control as a guarantee of French security. Foch accepted the establishment
of the Committee of Guarantee but rejected linking the duration of the
proposed control system with the issue of the Rhineland. He instead
pushed for a minimum five-year duration to allow for an accurate assess-
ment of German military strength.38 The AMCV subsequently drafted a
proposal and presented it to the Conference of Ambassadors on 10
March.39 Under the AMCV plan, the Committee of Guarantee would
consist of a body of twenty Allied officers and thirty men, stationed in
Berlin under a French presidency, and with the right to investigate military
establishments anywhere in Germany. The committee’s function would be
to inform the Allied governments of the level of compliance with the mili-
tary clauses, and the Conference of Ambassadors would have authority
over decisions that lacked unanimity. The AMCV, influenced by Foch,
now proposed an eight-year duration for the Committee of Guarantee
before withdrawing it based upon treaty compliance. The British flatly
rejected this plan.40 Consequently, in another concession to the British, the
French finally agreed to accept linking the duration of the Mission of
Guarantee with the occupation of the Cologne bridgehead.41 Despite the
French concession, the end of military control would still be dependent
upon the fulfillment of the military clauses of the treaty.

While Britain and France argued over the development of a common
policy for the replacement of the IAMCC, they were also unsure of a req-
uisite step in the implementation of their final proposal: the agreement of
the German government. Sthamer, the German ambassador in London,
put an end to any Allied pretenses in a letter to Curzon in April 1922.42

Sthamer claimed that Germany had disarmed and that the Allied supervi-
sion of any remaining issues was unnecessary. Furthermore, he emphasized
that any supervisory body in Germany (i.e., future control) was an
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infringement of the Treaty of Versailles. Thus, Sthamer attempted to use
the shackles of Versailles to free Germany from eternal military control,
but the French were well aware of the lack of any treaty regulations
regarding the establishment of a future Allied military control body in
Germany. Nollet thought that France should simply impose a surveillance
organization upon Germany. Furthermore, the Foreign Ministry clearly
stated French policy regarding German rejection of future control when it
asserted that if Germany did not accept the Allied proposal, the Allies
“will maintain the Commission of Control indefinitely.”43

On 14 April the Conference of Ambassadors sent a proposal to
Germany outlining the replacement of the Inter-Allied Aeronautical
Control Commission (IAACC), which had essentially completed its task of
disarming the German air force. As an integral part of its note, the Confer-
ence also proposed the replacement of the IAMCC with a small supervi-
sory organization.44 The anticipated Military Committee of Guarantee
would consist of twenty Allied officers stationed in Berlin, with the
responsibility of ensuring the fulfillment of the military clauses until the
evacuation of the Cologne zone of the Rhineland occupation. Whereas the
German government agreed to the replacement of the IAACC with a
smaller organization, it did not respond to replacing the IAMCC. Con-
sequently, a member of the British Foreign Office pointed out that the
Allies could “not afford to leave Germany at liberty to re-arm as soon as
the Commission of Control has finished its work of effective disarma-
ment.”45 Along with the French, the British feared the disappearance of all
future Allied supervision of the German military.

With Germany apparently rejecting the Mission of Guarantee and with
the future course of military control and the withdrawal of the IAMCC in
suspense, British policy toward the disarmament of Germany experienced
a major change. In response to Nollet’s report of 17 May which outlined
numerous details of German non-compliance, the War Office enumerated
the remaining disarmament issues according to priority. It considered the
reorganization of the German police, the transformation of factories, sur-
render of remaining excess war material, and the surrender of the war
material production lists of 1918 to be essential issues. The War Office
based its support of withdrawing the IAMCC and replacing it with the
Mission of Guarantee exclusively upon the fulfillment of these points.
However, Germany had not yet fulfilled a number of other disarmament
issues. The War Office believed that the passage of legal texts to prevent
the import and export of war material, control of recruiting, and the disso-
lution of excess administration staff in the Reichswehr staff were only sec-
ondary issues. In addition, it now relegated the issues of excess staff
members and NCOs in the Reichswehr, and the passage of legal measures
to prevent mobilization to inconsequential points.46 The Foreign Office
agreed that Britain should focus only upon the remaining essential points
of disarmament and that all other points would be supervised by the
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smaller Mission of Guarantee. The French, however, considered all of
these issues to be crucial to their security policy of enforcing the Treaty of
Versailles and disarming Germany.

Similar to Germany using the treaty as a defense to protect its interests,
British military and political officials began to interpret and enforce the
military articles of the Treaty of Versailles selectively. Britain clearly now
had little intention of supporting any strict enforcement of the treaty. In
fact, the War Office had become an active advocate of appeasement in
1921. While admitting to Germany’s ability to expand its military strength
for war, the War Office stated that “the German government will not be in
a position to use this weapon unless Allied policy makes the whole popu-
lation willing to accept the risks of a new war as an alternative to
despair.”47 Henceforth, the War Office would work to mollify German
anger through the modification of Versailles. D’Abernon and Bingham
supported a more lenient policy toward Germany while Bingham’s adju-
tant, Lieutenant-Colonel Roddie, went so far as to say that Germany
would “inevitably turn to war for relief” from the restrictions of the
Treaty of Versailles.48

The Foreign Office concurred with the abandonment of a strict enforce-
ment of the treaty. Wigram succinctly pointed out the future course in
British policy toward disarming Germany: “The object was to disarm
Germany, and not – however desirable it might be and as the French seem
to think – to see that Germany remained disarmed.”49 Yet this interpreta-
tion, which British policy now embraced, was fundamentally flawed. It
was true that the IAMCC did not have the task of keeping Germany dis-
armed after the limits of the treaty had been attained but it was certainly
Britain’s obligation under the Treaty of Versailles to see that Germany did
not violate the treaty’s clauses. Although Wigram also pointed out that the
task of keeping Germany disarmed was the responsibility of the League of
Nations, his Foreign Office colleagues initiated discussions concerning
future control due to their lack of confidence in the League’s desire to
oversee German fulfillment of the military clauses.

Britain’s lack of support for true enforcement of the treaty clashed
directly with the French assertion that security demanded the disarmament
of Germany down to the treaty’s last details. The French were particularly
insistent on the absolute necessity of demanding the reorganization of the
Reichswehr along the lines of the treaty.50 Nollet still wholeheartedly sup-
ported disarmament operations and believed them necessary to execute the
military aspects of the treaty. For the rest of his tenure as President of the
IAMCC, Nollet remained a passionate advocate of enforcing the military
clauses of the treaty in their entirety and fought to maintain his authority
in the upcoming decisions regarding Allied policies toward German disar-
mament. Yet he was also cognizant of the impending changes to military
control and knew that it would not last forever. The French General there-
fore comforted himself with the notion that “the results achieved by
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control, even if they do not really ensure the disarmament of Germany, are
nevertheless considerable,” since “the train of military tradition will find
itself broken” in Germany as the result of even temporary disarmament.51

The French successfully demanded the addition to the British list of
essential points of an issue they considered essential to the disarmament of
Germany: the passage of legislative and administrative measures concern-
ing the recruitment and organization of the Reichswehr. The British
government agreed to the addition but only under the condition that it
would not result in the prolongation of the duration of the IAMCC.52 The
Allies now considered five points essential to the fulfillment of the military
clauses of the Treaty of Versailles: the transformation of factories, surren-
der of excess war material, passage of laws prohibiting the import and
export of war material and enforcing the treaty’s stipulations regarding the
organization and recruitment of the army, the surrender of the inventory
lists of 1918, and the reorganization of the German police. Despite the
enumeration of the five points, the British government continued to pay
lip-service to strict adherence to the Treaty of Versailles. The British line of
policy supported fulfillment of the remaining military clauses, yet also pro-
posed withdrawing the IAMCC after fulfillment of the five essential points.
The Mission of Guarantee would theoretically oversee the fulfillment of all
the remaining issues. In August, the War Office drafted a memo that
became the basis of future Allied disarmament operations in Germany.
Reiterating its priorities of the June memo, the War Office claimed that the
five points would have to be carried out by Germany in order to witness
the replacement of the IAMCC. The War Office unsuccessfully pressed the
French to drop their insistence upon other points, including the prevention
of the possession of war material by civilians, the dismissal of excess staffs
and NCOs in the Reichswehr, and the prohibition of mobilization meas-
ures. The British had hoped to use the abandonment of these points as a
bartering chip for German acceptance of the Mission of Guarantee.53

On 29 September 1922 the Allied governments sent a joint note to the
German government offering a disarmament quid pro quo.54 The Allies
agreed to withdraw the IAMCC and replace it with a smaller, less obtru-
sive organization if the German government fulfilled the five points. Thus,
through their acceptance of the five points, the French conceded to British
insistence on treaty modification but maintained their tacit alliance with
Britain. By acting in concert with Britain, the French avoided the possibil-
ity of having to face the German military alone, but relinquished their
insistence on strict enforcement of the treaty under the IAMCC. They still
hoped that the proposed Mission of Guarantee would oversee the remain-
ing execution of all the military aspects of the treaty despite the fact that
British support of enforcement was clearly fading. However, the German
chancellor, Dr. Joseph Wirth, did not reply to the Allied note until the
end of October. More importantly, he only indicated Germany’s willing-
ness to open negotiations over Article 213 without any reference to the
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Committee of Guarantee.55 The Germans feared and rejected the establish-
ment of any form of permanent Allied military control, and the Allies had
no intention of negotiating what they already considered to be a significant
modification of the treaty. 56 Consequently, Poincaré, as head of the Con-
ference of Ambassadors, considered the tardiness of the German reply and
lack of communication regarding the Commission of Guarantee as evid-
ence that Germany had little intention of fulfilling its remaining military
obligations.57

By December, the issue of future control had become bogged down in a
political quagmire. The majority of British officials considered Germany to
be disarmed, and the French were willing to support a new form of control
if Germany fulfilled the Five Points. The Allies wanted some sort of guar-
antee of continued compliance with the standards set by the Treaty of Ver-
sailles and to make military control less odious to Germany. But recent
German attacks against IAMCC officers, which will be examined in
Chapter 9, enraged the Allied political and military leadership responsible
for the disarmament of Germany. The British and French had finally come
to an agreement regarding future military control but now their energy
was refocused upon the confrontational behavior of Germany. As a result,
the IAMCC demanded action and the British and French governments sus-
pended all talks of future control until Germany provided compensation.
On that note, the third year of disarmament operations, as well as discus-
sions of the withdrawal of the IAMCC, came to a disheartening end.

The issue of transforming the present system of Allied control in
Germany vanished quickly but would return in the near future. Nonethe-
less, even without implementation of a new control organization in 1922,
the issue transformed British and French policies toward disarmament.
Embracing the idea of lessening the Allied grip upon the German military
as early as 1921 by agreeing to modifications of the Treaty of Versailles,
the British initiated a confrontation between British and French concep-
tions of post-war security. Hoping to put an end to confrontational diplo-
macy with Germany, Britain instead exacerbated differences in foreign
policy with its de facto partner, France. British acceptance of modifying
the Allied policy of the Paris Peace Conference threatened the French belief
that their national existence was predicated upon the peacemakers of
1919. Demanding alterations to the IAMCC questioned the enforcement
of the Treaty of Versailles at a time when French political and military
authorities embraced nothing less than the strict application of the treaty.
The failure to agree to an Anglo–French Pact at the end of 1921 further
illustrated general differences in Anglo–French conceptions of post-war
foreign policy.58 The French fear of independent diplomacy in Europe,
however, led them to yield reluctantly to British insistence on treaty modi-
fication. An increase in German aggression toward Allied inspections in
the latter half of 1922 subsequently helped unite, at least temporarily,
British and French disarmament efforts.
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9 Violations, obstruction, and
abuse

Throughout the period of Allied disarmament operations in Germany, the
Conference of Ambassadors, the Allied Military Committee of Versailles,
and the Inter-Allied Military Control Commission faced a German strategy
that embodied obstruction of Allied disarmament efforts and delay in the
fulfillment of the military clauses.1 Violations of the military articles of the
Treaty of Versailles presented a constant challenge to disarmament efforts.
Allied officers stationed in Germany experienced spontaneous and premed-
itated outbreaks of nationalist violence and frustrated abuse. The attitude
of various German military and administrative officials and the treatment
afforded a number of members of the IAMCC by various German soldiers
and civilians were a constant reminder of the relationship between the
victors and vanquished. The war had placed severe strains on all the bel-
ligerents, and its destructiveness shaped those who had witnessed the terri-
ble events. The attitude expressed by Foch on the eve of military control,
namely that the war was not over, was not unique.2 Nollet, Morgan,
Cramon, and Seeckt all conveyed similar sentiments. The mutual distrust,
of course, set the stage for a continuation of conflict.3

Prior to the work of the IAMCC, Nollet was fully cognizant of the fact
that the IAMCC would have to function in an “atmosphere of tension,
hostility, and hatred.”4 German nationalists referred to the members of the
Control Commissions as the “hyenas of the battlefield.”5 Conversely, the
French believed that the task of General von Cramon, as head of the
German Army Peace Commission, was simply to discredit the IAMCC.6

The Allies knew they would face opposition to their disarmament efforts
and considered violations of the treaty, obstruction of its enforcement, and
the abuse of Allied officers serious offenses.

Without a formal policy regarding violations, the Allies meted out pun-
ishments on an ad hoc basis. While they usually reacted to the physical or
verbal abuse of IAMCC officers with swift action, often in the form of
public apologies and substantial fines, delays in fulfillment and obstruction
of enforcement led merely to written demands. Thus, deadlines lost
meaning. Pointing out the logic that fulfillment of the military clauses
would result in the withdrawal of Allied disarmament forces from

 



Germany seemed to have little effect upon German compliance with the
treaty. Occupation ultimatums were certainly effective but only in the case
when they represented truly Allied policy. Threats of occupation, when
only supported by French authorities, increased German obstruction and
threatened Anglo–French relations. For instance, when the German
government ordered 18,000 troops into the Rhineland to quell possible
communist unrest in March 1920, a violation of the demilitarized zone
established by the Versailles Treaty, the French occupied a number of
Rhenish cities until German troops withdrew.7 This independent French
action damaged the fragile Anglo–French entente and gave credence to the
belief that France intended to destroy Germany. The Ruhr occupation in
1923 was another such case. Yet when Britain and France collectively used
the threat of occupation as a weapon in forcing Germany’s hand, the
results were startling.

German opposition to Allied disarmament operations from government
officials, military personnel, and civilians varied in intensity. Whereas
German administrative and military officials deliberately planned system-
atic violations of the effectives clauses of the treaty, the physical abuse of
Allied officers was often the result of spontaneous outbursts of civilian
anger. Nonetheless, important conclusions may be drawn. German delays
in meeting Allied demands affected all aspects of disarmament and military
control. The Allies faced the most extensive violations regarding the
treaty’s effectives clauses, where General von Seeckt attempted to maintain
the framework of the Imperial army until the IAMCC withdrew from
Germany. Violations of the armaments clauses, such as illegal Krupp pro-
duction and hidden weapons caches, were less significant. The nature of
dismantling German fortifications along with the presence of an Allied
occupation army in the Rhineland prevented widespread obstruction and
abuse of the Fortifications Sub-commission.

Violations

In an attempt to minimize the effects of the Treaty of Versailles upon the
German army, German government and military officials embarked upon
a path that maintained Allied–German conflict throughout the new
decade. Furthermore, Allied reactive policies often had little effect, and at
times exacerbated international tensions. But delays in meeting Allied dis-
armament deadlines, obstruction to the tasks of Allied control officers, vio-
lations of the restrictions of the Treaty of Versailles, and attacks upon
Allied officers comprised a complex mosaic of German intentions toward
disarmament. Throughout the duration of Allied disarmament operations,
this German strategy had a direct impact upon Allied policy-making. The
end result was a disarmament process that lasted well beyond the initial
expectations of all those concerned.

Delay in the fulfillment of the treaty’s military clauses plagued
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Allied–German relations, frustrated Allied officials responsible for disarm-
ing Germany, and prolonged the existence of the IAMCC. German mili-
tary authorities and government officials hoped to delay fulfillment of the
military clauses of the treaty until the IAMCC withdrew from Germany.
Furthermore, the German government looked at the reduction of the
IAMCC as a precursor to withdrawal. The German strategy was to ignore
deadlines and offer political excuses to offset Allied anger and negate any
possible reprisals. German political authorities used Bolshevism, instabil-
ity, economic duress, and inequality as justifications for refusal to meet
deadlines. At times, especially in the early days of disarmament, these
excuses contained a semblance of validity but they soon became cynical
and cliché catchwords for a policy of non-compliance. Germany simply
ignored deadlines because it did not want to disarm to the levels of the
Treaty of Versailles.

In order to delay fulfillment and to drive a wedge between the different
levels of Allied treaty enforcement, the German government also appealed
repeatedly to the IAMCC, the Conference of Ambassadors, and the Allied
governments themselves for rulings and modifications of IAMCC
demands. The Germans even appealed for changes, sometimes numerous
times, to questions that had already been settled in the hope of modifying
the stringent military limitations of the Treaty of Versailles.8 General
Nollet also complained frequently about the flood of German letters he
received, most of which criticized Allied disarmament stipulations. In
order to stem the tide and divisive nature of German complaints, the Allied
governments eventually decided to refer them to the IAMCC.9 Some
German military establishments tried more direct methods and simply
refused to hand over certain documents to Allied officers or left the
IAMCC standing for hours at the entrances to various German barracks
and factories.10

The Allies were also partly responsible for fostering a contentious
German attitude to disarmament. The disappointment of the Germans in
obtaining modifications at the Spa Conference and the constant threat of a
Ruhr occupation by French troops heightened tensions between the former
combatants.11 In addition, the occupation of Frankfurt and Darmstadt by
a Franco-Belgian force in April 1920 in opposition to the presence of
German troops in the Ruhr, and the Allied occupation of Düsseldorf,
Duisburg, and Ruhrort in March 1921 helped inflame German public
opinion. Complaints of non-fulfillment, especially French demands for
treaty compliance, also worked against the progress of disarmament. At
the end of 1920, the German government believed that the IAMCC was
using German non-fulfillment of various details of the treaty’s military
clauses as a pretext to occupy the Ruhr.12 Yet from the British and French
perspective, the threat of occupation was an attempt to force the Germans
into compliance, and the Allies believed the Germans were simply trying to
place the blame of a possible international crisis on to them.
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Throughout the first year of enforcement, German resistance to Allied
operations yielded results below Allied expectations.13 The French com-
plained that the IAMCC faced obstruction from German officials on all
levels, and that continual local opposition to control was slowing down
Allied disarmament efforts.14 In some cases the Germans established
organized surveillance systems, where agents searched Allied hotel rooms
and examined official letters and telegrams.15 Despite reports of obstruc-
tion to disarmament and the increase in the number of violent incidents
between Germans and IAMCC officers in the fall of 1920, German
Foreign Minister Walter Simons denied responsibility for everything:
illegal weapons caches and export of war material, failure to meet dead-
lines, and abuse of IAMCC officials were simply the result of current con-
ditions in Germany.16 The German government placed the onus of guilt
upon the Allies for unemployment, food shortages, and destruction of
machinery, and the sight of Allied uniforms, reparations, and inspections
merely increased the residual tension of warfare and defeat.

In a common tactic of delay, the German authorities often refused per-
mission for IAMCC officers to enter a German military establishment,
claiming that no liaison officer was available to allow an inspection. Allied
policy concerning the presence of German liaison officers for inspections
was clear: the Allies had the right to inspect and visit any establishment in
Germany without the presence of any German officer, and nothing in the
Treaty of Versailles gave the Germans a right to the presence of liaison
officers. In reality, the Allies chose to inspect most barracks and factories
with a German officer to avoid problems but they needed the right of sur-
prise inspections to uphold their authority and to verify treaty compliance.
However, the Germans had a different view of the validity of Allied
inspection policy. In East Prussia, where official communications referred
to the Allies as the Feinbund (enemy league), German military authorities
ordered the replacement of any German liaison officer who fraternized
with the Allies.17 In July, the German government demanded notification
of all IAMCC visits and claimed that no Allied questions would be
answered without a German liaison officer present.18 The IAMCC also dis-
covered orders from the German organization responsible for the destruc-
tion of excess war material, the Reichstreuhandgesellschaft, which
declared: “in no case can Entente officers be allowed to enter the premises
unaccompanied by German liaison officers.”19 The IAMCC, of course,
rejected these orders and upheld the right of inspection and visitation
regardless of the presence of a German liaison officer. Yet, as tensions
increased toward 1923, inspections without German liaison officers
present were the exception, not the rule, and had less than successful
results. The Allies and Germany never attained a satisfactory settlement of
the issue of surprise visits.
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Armaments

In the first year of disarmament, the IAMCC discovered a substantial
number of war material caches.20 The quantity and quality of this war
material varied from case to case but the overall impact of these discover-
ies should not be underestimated. Illegal hordes of war material provided
physical proof of German non-compliance with the Treaty of Versailles
and inflamed many Allied officers intent on enforcing the military clauses
of the treaty. Yet Allied interpretations of the discoveries varied widely.
Officers like Bingham and his replacement, General Arthur Wauchope,
tended to discount any serious implications of violations of the armaments
clauses while officers like Nollet, Foch, and Morgan saw the discoveries as
proof of a sinister plot for future aggression.

Both Allied perspicacity and German informers helped uncover illegal
stashes of war material. The first reports of inspectors’ discoveries of
illegal German war material stores trickled into IAMCC headquarters
during the spring but quickly turned into a deluge by the summer and fall.
Archival sources abound with such cases so a few examples will have to
suffice. In one of the earliest of many such discoveries, Allied inspectors
unearthed a large cache of war material in Swinemünde in May 1920.21 In
September, IAMCC inspection teams discovered twelve medium howitzers,
1,250 rifles and bayonets, and 5,000 grenades in Hanover and 1,300 gun
breeches and spare parts in Berlin.22 The IAMCC subsequently destroyed a
store of 65,000 rifles in Magdeburg.23 Lieutenant-Colonel Roddie,
Bingham’s adjutant, reported that the various political groups in Germany
often divulged the location of war material caches of their political oppon-
ents.24 However, informers also paid a price for collaboration, as the
German courts convicted them for divulging information of concealed
armaments to the IAMCC.25

The issue of illegal war material caches illustrated a general difference
between British and French views of disarmament. The British tended to
look at the disarmament of Germany in a comparative sense. Relative to
Germany’s previous military dominance and to other nations, defeat and
disarmament had reduced the German military to a fraction of its former
strength by fall 1920. Bingham, who believed that he had all but disarmed
Germany when the Armaments Sub-commission destroyed most of
Germany’s heavy artillery, viewed the discoveries of war material as
inevitable, but minor, indiscretions. Thus, when inspectors uncovered a
clandestine store of weapons in a Königsberg barracks in August, Bingham
failed to notify Nollet. On the other hand, the French saw all violations of
the military clauses, regardless of scope or type of infraction, as an affront
to their security. No violation could be dismissed or overlooked. As a
result, Bingham’s lack of disclosure enraged the French General, who sub-
sequently demanded that Bingham inform him of all violations within a
twenty-four-hour period.26
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Despite Allied prohibition of the production and manufacture of war
material in Germany, unless authorized by the IAMCC, some German fac-
tories made relatively insignificant attempts at illicit production in the first
half of the 1920s. For example, one German firm, Rhein-Metall, was able
to produce artillery under the guise of railway development.27 Yet there
was nothing in the Treaty of Versailles that forbade the production of war
material outside of Germany. German manufactures realized this loophole
and made strides to continue armaments production abroad. Many tried
to establish connections to neutral nations, and German munitions manu-
facturers transported their plants and established branches in the Nether-
lands, Switzerland, and Sweden.28 The AMCV proclaimed this German
strategy illegal, under the rationale that Germany was exporting war
material (or machinery used in its production).

Krupp was able to establish business relations and subsidiary branches
abroad in an attempt to circumvent Allied disarmament restrictions. When
the war came to a close, Krupp opened regional offices in the Netherlands
in order to maintain production.29 As early as March 1920, Allied intelli-
gence uncovered illegal operations of the giant German armaments firm in
the Netherlands. Bofors, the Swedish armaments firm, was a beneficiary of
German treaty circumvention and increased in size due to “equipment,
personnel, and capital furnished by the Krupp plant.”30 In 1921, Krupp
actually gained control of Bofors and sent German engineers and directors
to Sweden. In addition, a small number of German troops soon arrived in
Sweden to test the variety of weapons produced. Krupp also gained
control of Blessing Iron Ore, sold artillery pieces to the Dutch firm, and
then renamed it Siderius A.G. As an official Dutch firm, the Allies could do
nothing to stop its production of war material. By 1925, when the end of
Allied disarmament operations was in sight, a German firm drafted plans
for tanks and artillery.31 After the withdrawal of the IAMCC in January
1927, Krupp increased illegal production of artillery and armor plate.

Years later, when Gustav Krupp was a prime armaments producer for
the Nazi regime, he claimed that he had duped the IAMCC throughout the
1920s and prepared the German military for the future.32 He was partly
right. The IAMCC saw to the destruction of most of Krupp’s heavy
artillery but his inter-war activities certainly helped contribute to the
massive rearmament programs implemented later by Hitler. Once again,
the ability of the Allies to discover German military violations was exem-
plary; the failure in the 1930s lay mostly in the Allied inability to enforce
disarmament policies in a completely different political climate.

Effectives

The IAMCC had particular difficulty in ascertaining infractions of the
effectives clauses of the treaty. The scope of these German violations was
both substantial and diverse, but the core German strategy had a singular
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goal: to maintain the kernel of the German army as a professional and
experienced cadre for future development. German military officials were
quick to attempt to avoid some of Versailles’ more detailed provisions that
affected the German army, such as enlistment periods, size, distribution,
and composition.

One of the first examples of the violation of Versailles was the lack of
German respect for the twelve-year enlistment period of the German army.
The IAMCC discovered numerous instances of short-term enlistments
throughout the period of 1920 to 1922. Lloyd George was keenly aware of
the danger of short-term enlisted soldiers that augmented the overall
number of trained men in Germany. The Allies were more concerned with
the fact that the Reichswehr was larger than Versailles’ restrictions and
they focused initially on reducing the German army to 100,000 troops. But
excess army personnel continued to exasperate Allied officials up through
1922. Nonetheless, by the end of the first year of operations, the German
army contained twice the normal limit of NCOs, a surplus of administra-
tion officials, and an overabundance of superior officers.33

Brigadier-General J.H. Morgan was responsible more than any other
Allied officer in the entire era of military control for uncovering German
attempts to circumvent the clauses of the Versailles Treaty. As the British
chief of the Effectives Sub-commission with formal legal training and
expertise, Morgan perceived German treaty violations as a personal
affront and worked unflinchingly to discover even the smallest of discrep-
ancies with the military clauses. A zealot of strict enforcement, Morgan
often sided with the French in his views about the disarmament of
Germany. In fact, like a true Frenchman, Morgan believed European peace
was dependent upon the occupation of the Rhine and its bridgeheads.34

Conversely, Bingham believed that the German government and people
truly supported the fulfillment of military clauses and blamed only the mil-
itary party for the “internal chaos” that prevented complete compliance.35

This conflict in the viewpoint of the British leadership of the IAMCC
helped lead to the resignation of Morgan in December 1923 and the
replacement of Bingham in May 1924. Upon leaving the IAMCC, Morgan
turned down the French request to withdraw his resignation but continued
“to act in an advisory capacity to the President of the Commission down
to its withdrawal in January, 1927.” Morgan thereby fulfilled an earlier
personal pledge he had given to Nollet and Foch.36 Furthermore, Morgan
sent reports to the British War Office for two years in a “purely honorary
capacity.” Like the IAMCC in Germany, Morgan would not just simply
disappear.

Morgan’s greatest contribution was to point out that Germany, under
General Hans von Seeckt, was attempting to reconstitute the Imperial
army. He was convinced that Germany was preparing for a future war by
maintaining conscription, short-term service, and excess staff, officers, and
regiments. What Morgan found was startling. Pointing to the fact that
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Germany had reduced the twenty-four army corps districts of the pre-war
German army to twenty after the surrender of Alsace-Lorraine, Morgan
soon discovered that the transitional German army of 200,000 (the same
number of that which Germany demanded in 1920) contained brigade
staffs and headquarters for twenty divisions. The German army set up
brigades as small model divisions, including infantry, artillery, and cavalry,
which could be easily expanded in the future.37 Thus, the Reichswehr of
1920 maintained the basic organization of the massive wartime German
army. General von Seeckt also retained the best officers of the Imperial
army, thereby establishing the cadres of a future army that French political
and military leaders especially feared.38 The General had even made plans
to confer upon the new German army the same numbers, badges, and
depots as the old to prepare for its restoration.39 By 1923, the Reichswehr
had plans to mobilize a force of 200,000 to 300,000 troops.40 Morgan also
believed that Germany was trying to expand the size of its army through
short-term enlistment of troops, and numerous Allied intelligence reports
verify his suspicions. Although Morgan knew that the reduction or with-
drawal of the IAMCC was inevitable, he remained an advocate of any
form of Allied control. He was not, however, part of mainstream British
policy.

General von Seeckt, regarded as one of the most powerful men in
Germany, planned to keep the core of the army intact through subterfuge
and deception.41 Morgan and other IAMCC officers found a number of
violations that indicated such a grand design, and IAMCC inspections ver-
ified their fears. In order to escape the eyes of IAMCC inspectors, the
German army supplemented administrative staff with civilians or soldiers
dressed as civilians and transferred army administration services to civil
departments. When the IAMCC realized that the Reichswehr had set up
liquidation offices (Abwickelungsamter) to demobilize the army, Allied
inspectors discovered that hundreds of former German staff officers and
NCOs made up the personnel of these offices.42 Thus, a large cadre of offi-
cers for a future army remained intact. Numbers of units, which could be
expanded in the future, were also greater than the treaty allowed.43 Finally,
the Germans had reconstituted the Great General Staff within the Ministry
of the Reichswehr simply by renaming it the Truppenamt (Troops
Office).44 By maintaining a large cadre of officers for a future army,
Germany hoped to be able to call up a substantial force of troops when
needed.

Official IAMCC demands for strict German compliance with the military
clauses often had little effect upon German authorities as delays continued
to plague the efforts of Allied disarmament officers. In some instances,
Allied demands increased German intransigence. At the start of 1921, soon
after the IAMCC demanded the surrender of surplus arms, reorganization
of the police, and the disarmament of German fortifications, Friedrich
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Sthamer, the German ambassador in London, complained that these Allied
demands signaled “a new spirit of distrust and antagonism” that threat-
ened Germany’s political stability.45 But the continued lack of progress in
many areas hardened the IAMCC’s attitude toward Germany as opera-
tions entered their second year. Even General Bingham claimed that the
German government was sponsoring a deliberate policy of obstruction.46

Some blamed Severing, the Prussian Minister of the Interior, for the “stiff-
ening” German attitude toward Allied disarmament.47 The situation wors-
ened when Nollet reported discoveries of over fourteen tons of artillery
parts and twenty-three tanks in the area of Berlin (the Germans declared
them tractors), and thirty tons of machine-gun parts and accessories in
Buhl.48 The Allies also revealed that the Reichstreuhandgesellschaft, the
German organization responsible for the destruction of excess war mater-
ial, was hiding surrendered armaments and returning it to the German
army.49

Increased German obstruction continued through the winter of 1921.
Military authorities, especially, remained averse to furnishing details
regarding IAMCC questions, and German intransigence to disarmament
increased.50 In fact, the IAMCC soon found concrete evidence of a deliber-
ate German policy of obstruction. In mid-March, Allied officers discovered
a Reichswehr Ministry document declaring that the IAMCC was an intelli-
gence and espionage agency that had transgressed its legal powers. The
memorandum directed German liaison officers to act with reserve toward
the IAMCC.51 Refusal to divulge military information increased Allied sus-
picions of German rearmament and directly violated Article 206 of the
Treaty of Versailles.

Spring marked a new beginning as signs of life appeared in
Allied–German relations. After Germany accepted the Allied May ultima-
tum, the Allies witnessed improvements in the fulfillment of disarmament
demands. When the Allies forged a common policy and backed it by force,
or its implicit threat, they were able to induce effective disarmament
results from Germany. British IAMCC officers remarked that relations
with German liaison officers changed perceptibly after the Wirth govern-
ment accepted the ultimatum.52 British intelligence concurred and reported
that control was proceeding more smoothly.53 French officials also
reported improvement in German fulfillment of the military clauses.54

Within two months, the French ambassador in Berlin believed that disar-
mament was nearly complete, and even General Nollet reported that the
IAMCC could begin to reduce its personnel at the end of the year.55

Progress in German fulfillment of the military clauses occurred in most
areas of disarmament but two notable exceptions were the reorganization
of the Reichswehr and the continued existence of paramilitary organi-
zations.56 Nonetheless, the Allies had accepted the surrender of the bulk of
German armaments, reduced the German army to 100,000 men, and
practically completed the destruction of German fortifications.
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A storm broke in September when two articles appeared in The Times
outlining German violations of the military clauses of the treaty. The art-
icles, based on Morgan’s revelations, pointed out that Germany had per-
sonnel, clothing, and armaments for 800,000 men and was transferring
army staff to civilian positions. They also warned of the danger of the mili-
tary nature of the Sicherheitspolizei and claimed that Germany was
attempting to establish an army based on the historic Krümper system.
The British Foreign Office immediately accused Morgan of writing the two
articles, and Wigram described Morgan as an extremist bent on keeping
the IAMCC in Germany for as long as possible.57 Bingham refuted the art-
icles’ contention that there existed “two schools of thought” in the
IAMCC and shrugged them off as “ridiculous.”58 But the tension between
the Morgan and Bingham camps in British policy would continue to
simmer until Morgan’s resignation at the end of 1923.59

Allied officers continued to discover hidden war material caches in the
second and third year of operations. At times, IAMCC inspectors dis-
played great ingenuity in locating some of the illegal caches. In August, at
the Rockstroh–Werke plant in Dresden, officers smashed a hole in a wall
and discovered parts for hundreds of heavy artillery guns. In November,
inspectors peered under the floor of a military barracks in Potsdam and
unearthed dozens of cases of machine-gun and pistol ammunition. In
Frankfurt, they stopped trucks stocked full of arms and munitions, along
with one million rounds of small arms ammunition. German workers also
took part in the disarmament drama, often depending upon the political
interests of the individual. Some workers supplied the IAMCC with
information concerning hidden weapons while others helped in a factory’s
obstruction efforts. French authorities reported widespread violations of
the treaty’s war material stipulations throughout 1921, and the year came
to a close with Morgan’s sobering report of Germany’s effectives viola-
tions.60 Although obstruction to Allied disarmament plans continued
throughout 1922, reports of hidden war material began to decrease in
severity. Nollet claimed rightly that the Germans were still obstructing the
progress of disarmament but his objections began to focus on surplus war
material such as gas masks, signaling equipment, field kitchens, small
arms, and tools.61

The reaction of the German government to continued disarmament
operations, with no apparent end, was bitter. In April 1922, Sthamer
blasted the IAMCC and claimed that the disarmament of Germany was
essentially complete. As evidence of fulfillment, he pointed to the amount
of destroyed war material and to the fact that the discoveries of hidden
war material had diminished. The continued complaints of the IAMCC of
even the smallest of details of the treaty exasperated the German leader.
Sthamer’s impatience with the continuance of Allied operations was con-
comitant with the increasing impatience of the IAMCC to witness the end
of disarmament. He declared that the activities of the IAMCC were
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“consumed in making unimportant criticisms, in verifying reports of
alleged concealed arms dumps, in an ever-recurring investigation of estab-
lishments, the unimportance of which was long since established.”62

Despite the vast amount of progress in disarmament, the arguments, viola-
tions, and obstruction continued, and the IAMCC remained in Germany.
Rather than significantly augmenting military strength, the real effect of
German violations was to strengthen Allied resolve and to prolong disar-
mament operations.

Abuse

Working in small teams, Allied inspectors examined German military facil-
ities throughout the nation, leaving no stone unturned in rooting out viola-
tions of the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty. The officers and men
of the IAMCC, surrounded by angry civilians and embittered military and
political authorities, operated in an atmosphere bristling with danger.
Working hundreds of miles from friendly bases, Allied inspectors carried
the responsibility of destroying the military dominance of a nation that
had only experienced war in the hinterland of east Prussia. Resentment ran
high and international tensions never abated. Overall, the task at hand was
immense, matched only by the determination of the Allied inspectors. A
relatively small Allied force, surrounded by a hostile populace, had the
responsibility of disarming the great German army. The experience of
Allied inspectors in Germany is testament to their bravery and diligence.
Years after the IAMCC withdrew from Germany, French General
Weygand (later to be humiliated by the German army in 1940) remarked
to a member of the Commission: “We never expected any of you to come
back alive.”63

The experience of Allied inspectors varied widely as the Germans gener-
ally afforded a different standard of treatment to the diverse nationalities
of IAMCC officers. Inspection teams, surrounded by a hostile populace
and embittered military and political authorities, faced the constant threat
of danger. In the worst cases of violence, the French suffered more than
their British, Belgian, Italian, and Japanese allies. The British soldier,
dressed in his khaki uniform, generally received respect but the blue coat
of the poilu was often a magnet for derision, abuse, and assault. For
instance, during an inspection in Hameln in September 1920, German
workers walked out of their factory due to the presence of a French officer.
When the inspection team left the premises, the British member dissuaded
the workers from damaging his car by telling them that it was a British
model!64 General Nollet himself received a number of menacing letters.65

German xenophobia, partly a nationalist reaction to foreign troops on
German soil and to the Treaty of Versailles, was fueled by France’s aggres-
sive actions toward Upper Silesia, the Saar, and the Rhineland. The French
became a scapegoat for Germany’s diplomatic and domestic failings.
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Nonetheless, all Allied inspection officers faced danger from violent
assaults, with some experiencing particularly harrowing escapes from vin-
dictive mobs. As a result, the German abuse of the IAMCC was one area
of disarmament that solidified the fragile Anglo–French relationship.
Britain and France, as the leading members of an allied effort to disarm
Germany, considered an assault on any nationality of the IAMCC to be an
assault on all Allied members.

Within weeks of the start of disarmament operations in Germany,
IAMCC officers suffered physical abuse. One of the first violent episodes
occurred when a German policeman, apparently losing a war of words
with a French officer, proceeded to cut off the little finger of the French-
man with his saber.66 Surprisingly, apologies provided a sufficient settle-
ment of the matter. The first large-scale incidents of abuse, however, took
place in March 1920 when the political violence sparked by the Kapp
putsch in Berlin created ripple effects throughout Germany. During a
routine inspection of a barracks in the Prussian city of Prenzlau, German
soldiers, still stung by their bitter defeat in the fall of 1918, hurled bricks,
stones, and glass at an IAMCC inspection team made up of two British,
one Italian, and one Belgian officer. The German commanding officer was
able to bring the assaults to an end but not before the Belgian officer had
been struck by a brick. Other incidents in March exclusively targeted the
French: German civilians hauled a French soldier out of his truck at gun-
point and arrested him, knocked down a French officer in Bremen with the
help of German soldiers, and actually killed a French officer of the Inter-
Allied Aeronautical Commission who was hunting with fellow Allied offi-
cers.67 A notorious incident occurred in the Hotel Adlon itself (IAMCC
headquarters), where Prince Joachim of Prussia led a group of Germans in
assaulting two French officers for refusing to stand during a spontaneous
outburst of “Deutschland über Alles.”68

Despite expectations of a hostile reception, the Allies had no specific
policy with regard to obstruction or violence against its inspection teams.
Armed with the vague language of the Treaty of Versailles that lacked
punishment schemes for violations of the military clauses other than the
possible extension of the Rhineland occupation, and lacking concrete plans
of their own, Allied leaders reacted to German obstruction and abuse in an
ad hoc manner. They never developed an official policy regarding the mis-
treatment of Allied inspection teams. Only after the attacks on its inspec-
tion officers in March 1920 did the Allies first meet to discuss how to deter
the abuse of Allied soldiers in Germany. The final Allied decision
amounted to nothing more than demanding a public apology from the
German government and fines for those guilty of assault.69

Allied–German relations suffered further during the anxious days of the
Kapp putsch. Although some Freikorps members, loyal to the right-wing
Kapp, slaughtered a large number of civilians, their treatment of Allied
officers was somewhat more circumspect. Kapp needed the recognition of
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Allied governments to give his regime legitimacy and he thus tried to avoid
any incidents with IAMCC officers. The IAMCC members billeted else-
where in Germany, however, experienced some tense moments. For
instance, German mobs insulted and assaulted Allied officers in Bremen
and Premnitz and shot at an Allied officer near Frankfurt. Bingham
demanded improvement in the treatment of Allied troops in Germany and
warned that the work of the IAMCC would otherwise become imposs-
ible.70 Consequently, the IAMCC demanded compensation for the aggres-
sive actions taken by German soldiers against Allied officers and men
during the failed coup attempt.71 Fearful of further inflaming German
public opinion, the Conference of Ambassadors did nothing, and IAMCC
inspectors continued to work in dangerous conditions.

On one notorious occasion at the end of March 1920, the Allies
responded to threatening German workers with unprecedented ferocity.
When a demonstration broke out during an Allied inspection of a Krupp
plant in Essen, Lieutenant Durieux, the French officer in charge of the
inspection team, ordered his troops to fire on a threatening mob of
German workers. Consequently, the Allies shot thirteen German civilians
dead. After the incident, Gustav Krupp, not the French officer, was fined
and sentenced to prison for inciting a riot.72 This case was a bloody excep-
tion to the usual Allied inspection procedure, even when faced with
danger. In fact, many Allied inspectors did not even carry arms.73 With
Allied officers working deep in the heart of Germany, surrounded by
embittered troops and frustrated civilians, violent action was certain to
create an international incident and endanger subsequent inspections. In
this case, the brutal nature of the Allied response failed to deter future
German attacks.

Problems continued all over Germany in the summer of 1920. In
Bremen, German soldiers reacted in a hostile manner to IAMCC officers
who had arrived to conduct an inspection of the barracks.74 The acrimo-
nious reception was due to the fact that the Allied officers wore their mili-
tary uniforms, an apparent affront to the defeated nation. Consequently,
many inspectors dressed in mufti. During a surprise inspection of a bar-
racks in Munster in July, German troops fought the Allied inspectors with
propaganda, pasting anti-Bolshevik posters and a description of the Battle
of Jutland on the sides and rear of the inspectors’ automobile. The car sub-
sequently drove off to a boisterous rendition of “Deutschland über
Alles.”75 In August 1920, a mob ransacked and robbed IAMCC quarters
in Breslau, damaged officers’ automobiles, and knocked down a Belgian
officer. When the local German police took no action, Nollet demanded
immediate apologies to the President and officers of the district committee
of Breslau, punishment of the perpetrators, and the levy of stiff fines under
threat of economic sanctions.76 A similar incident occurred in Schneide-
muhle, where a mob of almost 3,000 local Germans attacked an Allied
train carrying French and British soldiers. Once again the civilians targeted
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mostly French soldiers, beating and robbing them before the arrival of the
local police.77 A German promise to take immediate measures to satisfy the
IAMCC did little to help the Allied inspectors in the field.

Stettin, Passau, and Ingolstadt

With German weapons, artillery, and an overall state of readiness signific-
antly dismantled by the end of 1922, the attention of the IAMCC began to
focus upon diminishing the scope of disarmament operations. The Allies,
especially Britain, started to discuss plans for setting up an even smaller
Allied inspection force. France, however, was hesitant to reduce the scale
of operations with so many violations unresolved. Before the future of dis-
armament in Germany could be settled, however, a number of serious
violent incidents against the IAMCC interrupted the discussions and tested
the fragility of post-war European diplomacy. The ramification of the
assaults of Allied officers was a salve to the wounds of a united Allied dis-
armament policy. Instead of arguing over ways to diminish inspection
efforts, the Allies spoke once again of disarming Germany.

The first of three major incidents against the IAMCC occurred in east
Prussia, in the far north of Germany in July 1922. On a routine barracks
inspection in Stettin on the morning of 17 July, the German authorities
refused entry to three IAMCC officers to a suspiciously camouflaged room.
The German liaison officer left the premises, whereupon armed police
arrived and forcefully removed two IAMCC officers from the barracks. As
a result, Bingham demanded apologies and punishments. Nollet angrily
denounced the actions as “deliberately and seriously affecting the work of
Control and the prestige of the Commission, representing the Allied Gov-
ernments.”78 While the Allies and Germany soon reached a settlement,
German Chancellor Wirth tried to deny responsibility by claiming that the
French officer involved was thoroughly intoxicated.79 The British War
Office, advocating a quid pro quo policy, proposed support for French
demands over the Stettin incident in order to try to elicit French support
for the withdrawal of the IAMCC.80

The abusive behavior of the Germans to IAMCC officers and soldiers in
1922 left Nollet seething. In mid-October, he declared that control was
becoming impossible and that unless the Allies took action against the
German authorities to stop a recurrence of incidents, the prestige of the
IAMCC would be permanently damaged and the entire Allied policy of the
disarmament of Germany compromised.81 Nollet believed that effective
control was predicated upon German respect for Allied officers and troops,
therefore keeping the prestige of the IAMCC intact. However, Nollet was
unable to convince the Conference of the imminent danger to the IAMCC,
and the Ambassadors dropped the matter with no decisive action.82 Where
Nollet failed, however, the Germans would soon succeed in forcing the
Conference of Ambassadors to take action.
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On 24 October a more severe incident took place in the southeastern
corner of Bavaria, a hotspot for anti-Versailles activities. Two IAMCC
officers, French Major Bouychou and British Captain Atkinson, arrived in
Passau to conduct an inspection of a Reichswehr barracks. A hostile
crowd, shouting threats and insults at the officers, greeted their arrival at
the gate. Not allowing the hostility of the local populace to interfere with
their work and despite seeing unsettling posters referring to “French dogs”
posted in conspicuous locations in the barracks, the officers completed the
inspection.83 Unfortunately for the Allied officers, the time allotted for the
inspection also allowed the crowd to increase its size and temper. From
among the throng of several hundred locals, shouts of “To the slaughter-
house” echoed off the walls of the barracks. Luckily, Major Bouychou was
able to obtain police protection, which provided some safety for the offi-
cers on their hasty retreat to their waiting automobile. With two members
of the local police riding on the running boards of the car, the inspection
officers fled the scene in a mad dash for safety. Roaring out of the gate, the
car was pelted with sticks, stones, and iron pieces, breaking the rear
windows and cutting the face of Major Bouychou. On their arrival back in
IAMCC district headquarters, Allied officers discovered two bullet holes in
the back of the car. The IAMCC blamed the battalion commander,
Captain Schuster (a member of a local nationalist organization Bund
Oberland), for organizing and inciting the crowd.84

The Passau incident again revealed the different treatment of British and
French officers at the hands of their German hosts. Captain Atkinson
asserted that the crowd aimed most of its abusive behavior at Major Bouy-
chou.85 The French reacted harshly. Nollet blamed the German govern-
ment for not affording proper protection and facilities to the IAMCC
inspection team in Passau and declared the abuse a premeditated incident.
Believing that the German government was morally responsible to comply
with the Treaty of Versailles, Nollet demanded apologies and the firing of
the local German battalion commander and chief of police.86 After much
debate, the Allies demanded the termination of duties of the Reichswehr
commander and the two liaison officers, an apology from the police chief,
and punishment of the police.87 They would not, however, ever develop a
clear policy of sanctions or punishment.

While the German government soon complied with the Stettin demands,
and discussions concerning Passau continued, another serious incident
further enraged the Allies and revealed the tenuous nature of military
inspections. Once again, local German reaction to an IAMCC inspection
team turned violent, victimizing the same two luckless inspectors, Major
Bouychou and Captain Atkinson. An angry mob ambushed the two offi-
cers as they drove to a routine inspection of a munitions establishment
near Ingolstadt (Bavaria) on 22 November. The officers escaped but not
until the crowd smashed the car’s windows and punctured a tire. Worse,
flying glass had seriously cut Atkinson’s face and a bullet had come close
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to killing both officers. Afterward, the IAMCC cleared the German mili-
tary from any responsibility (the German liaison officer actually helped the
IAMCC officers flee the scene) and placed blame entirely on local workers.
The Allies believed that the attack had been premeditated, given the fact
that the inspection was announced two days in advance and the mob was
wielding clubs upon the officers’ arrival.88

The Allies decided to take immediate action to punish German authori-
ties for the Ingolstadt incident and to reiterate their unfulfilled Passau
demands. The lack of protection for their officers in Ingolstadt led to
Allied demands for the ouster of the local police official. For both Bavarian
incidents, Passau and Ingolstadt, the Allies demanded a public apology
from the mayors of the cities, as well as the Bavarian prime minister, and
fined each city 500,000 marks.89 The British Foreign Office suggested the
occupation of a Bavarian city.90 Foch, however, considered a Bavarian
occupation as militarily unfeasible and the Allies instead considered a
complex plan of compensation by exacting the fine from a part of
Bavaria.91

The German government had little choice but to take responsibility for
the incidents and to take action to ameliorate Allied indignation. First, it
complied fully with Allied demands regarding the Stettin incident.92

Second, with regard to the violent treatment of Allied officers in Passau
and Ingolstadt, Germany paid the million gold marks and apologized for
the Bavarian government. Consequently, the Allies decided not to insist
upon apologies from the mayors of Passau and Ingolstadt and dropped
any consideration of financial action in the Rhineland.93 Although the
Cuno government had met Allied demands concerning the three violent
incidents, relations between the German and Allied governments remained
tense, and it seemed as though any subsequent problem between the
former combatants could have serious ramifications. When Franco-Belgian
forces marched into the Ruhr in 1923, heightened tensions forced the
Allies to terminate all disarmament activities. It would take a year for
them to resume, and then three more years to complete their operations in
Germany.

The most significant contribution of German obstruction to Allied dis-
armament efforts and abuse of IAMCC officers was that it effectively
drove the British back into line with the French, thereby resulting in the
prolongation of Allied disarmament operations in Germany. German
obstruction was as pervasive and ongoing as Allied military control. The
delays in fulfilling deadlines without the threat of sanctions, violations of
all facets of disarmament, and the abuse of Allied officers had only a
minimal effect upon augmenting the strength of the German military but
greatly increased French anxiety and curtailed British intentions of with-
drawing from Germany. At crucial moments of Britain distancing itself
from the enforcement of the military articles of the Treaty of Versailles by
demanding modifications, instances of blatant German disregard for
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disarmament forced the British into the waiting arms of French military
and political authorities. In October 1922, German abuse of Allied officers
led to the cancellation of discussions regarding the replacement of the
IAMCC. The subsequent abundance of Allied discoveries of German eva-
sions of the disarmament clauses of the Treaty of Versailles not only pre-
vented the evacuation of Allied troops from Cologne in 1925 but also
prolonged the Allied military control of Germany for years. The fear that
obstruction and abuse would set a precedent for the cancellation of all
Allied inspections of German military facilities led Britain and France to
set aside their differences and maintain disarmament efforts well beyond
everyone’s expectations.

From simply ignoring Allied demands to the physical assault of Allied
officers, German opposition to disarmament lasted throughout the life of
the IAMCC and prolonged the existence of Allied inspectors in Germany.
The overall German strategy was simple but flawed. The Germans hoped
that delay in the fulfillment of the military clauses of the treaty would
outlast the duration of Allied control in Germany. General Nollet believed
that Germany submitted to Allied disarmament demands only after trying
to gain as much time as possible and yielded “only to force.”94 Opposition
to the treaty’s enforcement produced a vicious cycle: the longer the
IAMCC remained in Germany, the more frustrated the Germans became,
and the consequent increase in obstruction merely extended the existence
of the IAMCC. Another factor that certainly had an impact upon the dura-
tion of the IAMCC, the Ruhr occupation, will be discussed in Chapter 10.
Regardless, Germany’s violations of the military articles of the Treaty of
Versailles and the obstruction to Allied disarmament efforts led to more
obstinate policies of both Britain and France toward the duration of mili-
tary control. In addition, the physical abuse of Allied control officers
heightened international tensions that festered well after the burial of the
last corpse on the battlefield. The serious incidents that occurred in the
latter half of 1922 actually destroyed the ongoing Anglo–French discus-
sions concerning the replacement of the IAMCC with a smaller, less obtru-
sive organization. Consequently, the anticipated yet highly unrealistic
initial expectation for a three-month duration of disarmament produced
disillusionment among both Allied and German political and military
authorities, which  helped prolong Allied disarmament operations in
Germany for seven years.
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10 Uncertain Allies

On 11 January 1923, three years after the Treaty of Versailles went into
effect, French and Belgian troops marched into the Ruhr Valley, the indus-
trial heart of Germany. The Reparation Commission had just found
Germany in default of coal shipments, and defaults on shipments of timber
and telephone poles had given Raymond Poincaré the pretext to meet his
promise to occupy the Ruhr. The French Premier, exasperated by the slew
of broken German promises, hoped that a military sanction would allow
France to exact coal deliveries, force the Germans into compliance with
the Treaty of Versailles, and solidify France’s position in Europe. The
occupation fanned out over almost 1,700 square miles and encompassed
the cities of Essen and Dortmund. The Ruhr occupation would be both a
lengthy and costly operation.1 French and Belgian troops roamed the
streets of the cities of the Ruhr for two-and-a-half years, and the effects of
the German policy of passive resistance strained the already delicate eco-
nomic situations in Germany and France. German inflation sky-rocketed,
and French and Belgian troops became scapegoats for all of Germany’s ills.
Consequently, Allied disarmament operations found themselves immersed
in a state of chaos.

The Anglo–French relationship suffered as a result of the Franco-
Belgian military action in Germany but once again weathered the storm.
Three years of frustration over reparations payments and disarmament
violations left France ripe for action in 1923. Poincaré, with Belgium at his
side, wanted to exact his pound of German flesh that had been bought at
the cost of a generation of young men. On the other hand, Lloyd George
believed that the world economy would be strengthened with the economic
resurrection of Germany and that destroying Germany would have adverse
effects upon the British economy. British statesmen also advocated a
lenient enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles in the hopes of normalizing
relations with the Germans and hoped that Germany could recover at least
some of its pre-war strength. Thus, they considered the forceful takeover
of Germany’s industrial center reprehensible. However, the British position
regarding the Franco-Belgian occupation of the Ruhr was complex, and
the British did not burn any diplomatic bridges. Although Britain opposed

 



the occupation, the British government embarked upon a policy of benevo-
lent neutrality, allowing the French to arrest dangerous Germans within
the British occupation zone in the Rhineland and to use the major railhead
of Cologne to send troops into the Ruhr.2 Overall, Anglo–French relations,
and the intention to enforce the Treaty of Versailles, remained intact.

The Ruhr occupation seriously affected the Allied organizations
responsible for the disarmament and military control of Germany – the
Conference of Ambassadors, AMCV, and IAMCC – but the Allies never
gave any serious consideration to their dissolution. Within days of the
occupation of the Ruhr, General Nollet declared that the IAMCC
remained united in solidarity.3 Although serious cracks soon appeared in
this Allied unity, Anglo–French differences over the military sanctions did
not hopelessly divide the Allied officers responsible for the disarmament of
Germany or permanently render the tasks of military control inoperable.
Allied–German relations, however, were a different matter altogether.

The Allies hoped initially that disarmament operations in Germany
would simply proceed normally. In fact, in light of the consequences of the
Ruhr occupation, the enormity of the situation did not initially affect
Allied officials responsible for disarming Germany. Curzon, the British
Foreign Secretary, seemed more anxious about the future reorganization of
the German police than the possibility that operations might cease to func-
tion.4 Furthermore, as one of its first official acts after the Ruhr occupa-
tion, the IAMCC complained about the existence of illegal military
associations.5 The IAMCC soon demanded cooperation with continued
operations, however, and began to pay closer attention to a situation that
could adversely affect the successful execution of the remaining disarma-
ment provisions.6 The initial hopes that operations could continue
unabated despite German antipathy to the presence of French and Belgian
troops in the Ruhr soon disappeared as Allied inspections of military
establishments and industries came to a halt. By March, Allied efforts were
dissolving in the face of German obstruction.

The vehement opposition and bitterness of the German people toward
the French and Belgian occupation of the Ruhr spilled over into disarma-
ment. As the occupation dragged on, German resistance increased. Con-
sequently, Allied officers faced the hostility of the German populace, which
rendered inspections all but useless.7 Inspectors working in German facili-
ties, especially French and Belgian soldiers, faced immediate difficulties. In
fact, inspections slowed to a trickle in February and March, and practic-
ally ceased altogether by April. Only British and Italian officers carried out
successful inspections.8 The Germans refused to allow the IAMCC to
inspect any army establishments and prohibited the surrender of any
information regarding factories to Allied officers. In addition, German
liaison officers offered little help. French and Belgian inspectors faced the
brunt of German obstruction to their efforts, and on 7 March, the German
government forbade their presence in any German facility.9 As General
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Nollet’s frustration increased, he believed the Allies had two choices: to
retire the IAMCC or take the necessary measures “to force the hand of the
German government.”10 Since the French General actually had no inten-
tion of dissolving the IAMCC, he pushed for a resumption of full opera-
tions. On 10 March, in a controversial decision, Nollet angrily notified the
German government that the IAMCC would resume “in all its intensity,
control of the execution of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles
and of the subsequent decisions of the Allied Governments.”11 Nollet
ordered this new Allied offensive on German disarmament, a move under-
taken to re-establish Allied prestige and authority in enforcing the military
clauses of the treaty, to begin on 15 March.

Nollet’s 10 March decision established cracks in the fragile foundation
of Allied unity and eventually led to the alteration in the planning of sub-
sequent disarmament operations. Bingham had refused to vote on the issue
to resume full operations because he considered it a political decision best
suited to his government or to the Conference of Ambassadors. When
Nollet and the IAMCC sent the note to the German government regardless
of Bingham’s apprehension, the British were furious that the IAMCC had
ignored them and taken the initiative regarding a “political” issue. Nollet
merely considered the decision to be an “internal order.”12 He also pointed
out that the French, Belgian, Italian, and Japanese delegates had voted in
favor of the note and emphasized that “the disarmament of Germany is
not yet complete.”13

The following day, Nollet and Bingham met to settle their differences.
In what Nollet described as a “cold” conversation, Bingham stated that
ignoring his input in the previous day’s decision angered him. While Nollet
admitted he regretted not having Bingham’s consent, he also bluntly
pointed out that he was less than enthusiastic about Bingham’s lack of
support for French and Belgian disarmament policies.14 Ostensibly acting
as peacemaker but actually attempting to enforce French policy, the
AMCV, with its British representative notably in abstention, urged all
Allied governments to lend their full support to the IAMCC and the 10
March decision.15 The tension subsided on 14 March when the Conference
of Ambassadors ruled in favor of British opinion by overturning Nollet’s
decree and demanding the continued suspension of inspections.16

The fall-out from Nollet’s note of 10 March was not quite over.
Although proclaiming that Nollet’s decision was “discourteous and
improper,” the British government agreed suddenly to associate itself with
the infamous note for the sake of Allied unity and authority.17 The British
also reasserted the decision to refer all political questions to the Confer-
ence of Ambassadors.18 They stipulated, however, that subsequent inspec-
tions would be conducted with reserve in order to avoid incidents with
Germany. When Lloyd George stated that Britain would resume disarma-
ment operations and that Bingham would continue to cooperate with the
IAMCC, the issue appeared all but settled.19 Consequently, the Conference
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of Ambassadors overturned its previous decision and decided to support
the complete resumption of operations in Germany. On 21 March, Poin-
caré notified the German government of the Allied intention to resume full
control.20 Although the French premier was satisfied with British support
for resuming operations, he also warned his ambassadors of the dangerous
ramifications of Allied disunity. Poincaré feared the British would drop
support of a future French position regarding German disarmament,
thereby isolating France in German affairs.21 After the Allies’ declaration
to resume operations, the German government professed its intention to
abide by Allied decisions regarding the enforcement of the treaty but con-
tinued to claim that it was unable to afford Allied inspection teams secur-
ity.22 Thus, the fall-out of the Ruhr occupation continued to create
problems for the safety of Allied officers and also gave the German govern-
ment an excuse for obstruction.

The issue of the resumption of Allied disarmament operations in March
1923 emphasized the problem of the overlapping hierarchy of Allied
authority, especially when the Ruhr occupation exacerbated the tense
atmosphere in Germany. The split in the IAMCC between the British and
French factions, represented by Bingham and Nollet, respectively, wors-
ened with the incompatibility of each man’s vision and as each faced
tremendous pressure from national policy-makers. In addition, the con-
stant referral of questions to the AMCV undermined the authority of the
IAMCC, and Nollet often conspired with Foch to try to establish French
principles over Allied disarmament strategy. Illustrative of the problems of
developing a single Allied policy, the difficulties in resuming disarmament
operations stemmed in part from the British insistence in January 1921 to
refer all political questions to the Conference of Ambassadors. The British
had hoped to prevent a French political fait accompli but Nollet’s 10
March initiative proved it vulnerable. Nollet’s action, however, represen-
ted the last gasp of French independent initiative in disarming Germany,
and the French would no longer act without British support or leadership
in the enforcement of the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty. The
time for independent French action toward Germany disappeared, and
London now had the diplomatic initiative.

The Allies decided to test the hostile waters by carrying out a limited
number of operations at the end of March. The IAMCC ordered ten offi-
cial inspections of military establishments and factories, with a brief inter-
lude for Easter, to show Germany that Allied operations had indeed
resumed.23 Alhough forced to accept the resumption of control, Bingham
believed privately the new inspections would inevitably fail.24 The inspec-
tions were a disaster. Allied officers were unable to carry out eight of the
ten visits, due to the refusal of both German military authorities and
workers to allow Allied entry; Nollet demanded new action against the
German government.25 The only successful inspections occurred in Breslau
and Stettin, where British and Italian officers were able to examine a
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munitions factory and police school, respectively. Although minor inci-
dents were reported, one German nationalist newspaper demanded the
arrest of Nollet and advocated violence against all French and Belgian
IAMCC members on German soil.26

The response of British and French officials to the new wave of German
obstruction varied. The British reacted tepidly, with an air of self-
righteousness. Foreign Secretary Curzon used the failure of inspections as
justification for the British reluctance to agree to the resumption of control
and placed the onus of guilt upon the French and the IAMCC.27 D’Aber-
non labeled both French policy and the resumption of inspections as
“foolish.”28 French military officials viewed the increase in German
obstruction as a complete abrogation of the beloved treaty. The Confer-
ence of Ambassadors hoped to mollify the German authorities by notifying
Germany that the Allies wished only to execute the Five Points that had
been part of the Allied note of 29 September 1922.29

In a meeting of the Conference of Ambassadors on 25 April, British and
French viewpoints regarding the resumption of inspections reached a crit-
ical impasse that nearly destroyed the Allied structure of disarmament
operations in Germany. The British, represented by Eric Phipps, wanted to
affirm only the theoretical maintenance of control while the French, under
Jules Cambon’s leadership, wholeheartedly pushed for an immediate
resumption of all operations. Cambon asserted forcefully that “the British
Government signed the Treaty of Versailles and it must see to its execu-
tion.”30 However, Phipps would uphold only the right of inspections and
feared that any actual disarmament operations would result in violent inci-
dents. When Cambon threatened to take separate action to enforce the
treaty, Anglo–French relations teetered precariously on the edge of dis-
aster. Phipps’s refusal to back down, however, forced Cambon to retreat.
Phipps rejected a Franco-Belgian demand for the immediate cessation of all
obstruction, and Nollet’s frustrated outburst at his inability to conduct
effective control brought a sharp rebuke from Cambon.31 In the wake of
the difficulties created by the Ruhr occupation, the French could no longer
afford to act independently and had to satisfy themselves with yet another
written protest to the German government. French diplomatic initiative
against Germany and the use of military sanctions to enforce the treaty
appeared dead. Remaining disarmament operations in Germany were at a
standstill and, at that moment, few shared any illusions about the efficacy
of control operations. With France hesitant to act alone, Britain now held
the reins of control.

Allied disarmament operations in Germany were in dismal shape in the
spring of 1923, with their maintenance in suspense and their future course
unknown. In response to the French protest against obstruction, the
German government claimed that the Ruhr occupation rendered all French
and Belgian operations infeasible and that only British and Italian officers
would be allowed in German military establishments and factories.32
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Cambon was angry with what he considered a discriminatory German
policy but was not willing to take any severe action. In subsequent confer-
ence meetings, he continued to stress the urgency of the situation and
warned that Germany could be rearming during the suspension of control,
but the British refused to heed French exhortations and believed that the
current level of German hostility would negate the value of any resump-
tion of inspections.33 The British War Office thought that effective opera-
tions depended upon a satisfactory resolution, not of inspections, but of
the Ruhr occupation.34 Nonetheless, the occupation dragged on and con-
tinued to hinder effective Allied disarmament.

After the Cuno government admitted that it was afraid that ordering all
citizens and military authorities to stop obstructing Allied disarmament
efforts would undermine its precarious position with the people, the
British government experienced a change of heart. In order to maintain
solidarity and also wary of the state of German armament, the British
government decided to order the Cuno government to take immediate
steps to facilitate a full resumption of military control. The British also
added that all inspections must be conducted with “discretion and moder-
ation.”35 British policy was again fluctuating amidst chaotic conditions,
and even though the British favored leniency in disarmament matters, they
also wanted to finish the task at hand. More importantly, the British
government had firmly established itself as the decisive influence in disar-
mament operations; the power to inspect or suspend operations rested
with London. In order to placate German bitterness toward the French
and Belgians, and taking no chances amidst a hostile populace, the Allies
ordered IAMCC inspection teams to wear civilian clothes except on special
occasions.36 Thus, inspectors were to avoid incidents at all costs so as not
to upset the delicate political atmosphere in Germany. As a result, the
Conference of Ambassadors notified the German government of a renewal
of inspections, and the French and British stood united in policy.37

After months of protracted and bitter negotiations, the Allies resumed
disarmament operations in Germany on 28 June, but these inspections
failed in the same disheartening proportion as the prior inspections in
March, as eight out of ten visits yielded no positive results. The German
authorities refused entry into any facility for every team that included
either French or Belgian officers whereas the two inspection teams that
consisted only of British and Italian officers were able to carry out success-
ful operations.38 The German army withdrew its liaison officers and
abused a French captain.39 The fact that the Germans distinguished
between two camps of Allies was now obvious: those who participated in
the Ruhr occupation were not allowed to carry out their duties in German
installations while those who remained aloof to the occupation were
received, albeit reluctantly, as a necessary obligation. Nollet was com-
pletely flustered with this state of affairs but could do little to enforce
German compliance.40
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German obstruction forced the Allies to suspend disarmament opera-
tions yet again. The German government claimed that it could not protect
IAMCC officers from spontaneous attacks, and some French officers even
feared for their lives.41 The Allies made no attempt to resume inspections
for the remainder of the summer. Bingham believed that the Cuno regime
could do little in terms of Allied protection and pinned the future success
of military control upon the successful resolution of the Ruhr crisis.42 Pro-
paganda continued to inflame German public opinion and added to the
tense atmosphere throughout Germany. General von Cramon, who had
resigned his post as head of the German Army Peace Commission over the
Ruhr occupation, decried the bestial manner of the IAMCC by claiming
that French soldiers hung German civilians by their feet and crushed their
skulls.43 Such claims were ludicrous, but easily galvanized those who
blamed the French and Belgians for their economic plight.

As hyperinflation of the Mark caused the ruin of countless individuals,
winds of change began to blow through Germany. When the German
government, now headed by Gustav Stresemann, abandoned its policy of
passive resistance in late September, Europe sighed in relief. The new
government was also willing to comply with the Treaty of Versailles and
pledged Germany to a policy of fulfillment. Stresemann, an ardent expan-
sionist during the war who had since embraced liberal politics, marked a
distinct positive change in Allied–German relations. Stresemann based his
foreign policy on improving relations with France and Britain in order to
obtain territorial or economic concessions in the Treaty of Versailles. This
was the only course of action that could “file off the fetters” of the hated
treaty.44 Stresemann, however, was also a shrewd negotiator and looked
to settle two divisive issues for many Germans: the withdrawal of the
IAMCC as well as the Allied occupation forces in the Rhineland. The new
Chancellor/Foreign Minister hoped to oust foreign troops from German soil
and re-establish true German sovereignty.45 General von Seeckt also pres-
sured him to believe that the Allies wanted to destroy the German army.46

With the renunciation of passive resistance and the adoption of a new
German attitude to comply with the Treaty of Versailles, the Allies
renewed disarmament operations with eager anticipation. On 3 October,
the Conference of Ambassadors asked Germany to cooperate with the
IAMCC in the resumption of disarmament operations. In addition, the
French government agreed not to allow French or Belgian officers to
participate in any inspections until the Stresemann government replied to
the Conference’s note.47 However, Allied hopes of the full resumption of
control disappeared when Germany reneged on promises to take security
measures to protect IAMCC inspectors. At the beginning of November,
the Stresemann government replied to the Conference of Ambassadors that
the resumption of inspections would only aggravate the delicate political
atmosphere in Germany; it believed the moment was not yet right to
resume control.48
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The remainder of 1923 saw little progress toward normalizing relations
with Germany or resuming the enforcement of the military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles. The Allies were unsure of how to proceed, and the
divergence of British and French policies toward the resumption of control
added to the chaotic political atmosphere in Allied–German relations. In
November, in a meeting of the Conference of Ambassadors, the British
advocated partial control, where the IAMCC would only inspect “safe”
areas in Germany.49 This proposal clashed with the French wish to enforce
new military sanctions in the occupation of more German territory. Upset
over the return of the former Crown Prince to Germany (considered a war
criminal) and continued obstruction to Allied disarmament efforts, the
French threatened to occupy either Hamburg or Frankfurt.50 Cambon also
pointed out that the lack of a united Allied will to enforce the Treaty of
Versailles was a disastrous course to take. With the negative ramifications
of the Ruhr crisis plain for all to see, the British Cabinet rejected all talk of
occupation. In fact, the War Office suspected that the French drive to
renew inspections was a deliberate attempt to provoke Germany into vio-
lating the treaty, thereby justifying French vigilance in the Ruhr and
Rhineland.51

In a subsequent meeting of the Conference of Ambassadors, the British,
with support from the Italian delegation, threatened to withdraw them-
selves from the Ambassadors’ Conference and the Control Commissions if
the French enforced more military sanctions against Germany.52 France
backed down, and the uncertain Allies were able to forge an agreement
that influenced the future course of disarmament. In order to avoid further
Allied disaccord in the execution of the military clauses of the treaty, the
Allies decided to refer to the Conference of Ambassadors all subsequent
IAMCC decisions that lacked unanimity.53 The Allies also decided to take
action to settle the question of German disarmament. They reaffirmed the
full resumption of operations, under the threat of unspecified sanctions,
but prohibited all surprise visits. By taking away both the authority to
approve measures without majority voting and the right to surprise visits,
the Allies had left the IAMCC a shell of its former self.

The frustration of General Nollet toward the progress of disarmament
had grown dramatically with the suspension of military operations during
the Ruhr occupation in 1923. The steady erosion of IAMCC authority –
the supremacy of the AMCV, the referral of political issues and then all
non-unanimous decisions to the Conference of Ambassadors, and finally
the prohibition of surprise visits – had taken its toll on the attitude of the
French General. Nollet was extremely dedicated to supervising the execu-
tion of the military clauses of the treaty and with his powers stripped to
the bare minimum, he felt slighted and impotent. By the end of November,
Nollet loosed a torrent of criticism upon Allied decisions when he decried
the elimination of surprise visits and the abrogation of Council majority
decisions. He asserted that Allied decisions had paralyzed the IAMCC,
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destroyed morale, rendered control operations ineffective, and reduced the
IAMCC to a “powerless instrument.”54 Foch considered Nollet’s remarks
and lack of confidence in the ability to carry out his duties to be
“deplorable,” “undistinguished,” and warned that the head of the French
delegation of the IAMCC must be the last to speak of leaving his post.55

General Nollet had become a disgruntled subordinate to Foch and Allied
policy-makers, and the proud IAMCC President would be gone in a matter
of months.

Despite their opposition to the idea of the resumption of only partial
control measures, the French reluctantly accepted the idea in the face of
British determination. After a discussion among the Council in mid-
December, Nollet decided that disarmament first had to be re-established
with a few inspections before the IAMCC resumed full operations.56 Both
Bingham and Nollet agreed that all subsequent inspections had to be
carried out with tact and discretion. Alhough Nollet decided to implement
partial control, he was still smarting from the rebuke he received from
Foch regarding his reduced role in the disarmament of Germany, but
Nollet was a true soldier of France and reported to Foch that he had
accepted the watered-down control policy and his diminished authority in
a “superior interest.” The French General also warned Foch that disarma-
ment policy was shifting to London and that he needed all the support his
government could give him.57 Nonetheless, Nollet fixed a date for the
resumption of the first stage of military control. He scheduled the new
wave of test visits for 10 and 12 January 1924, in which IAMCC officers,
dressed in civilian clothes and accompanied by German liaison officers,
would inspect military establishments in eight German cities.58

The Hennessy affair

The political atmosphere in Germany all but stifled disarmament opera-
tions for much of 1923, but British and Italian officers were able to carry
out a few inspections. One such inspection, however, proved that con-
ditions in Germany were not conducive to success and in fact were danger-
ous for all Allied officers. On 30 October, Reichswehr troops stopped
British Major H.G. Hennessy of the Effectives Sub-commission near the
city of Chemnitz (Saxony), threatened him at gunpoint to surrender his
notebook, arrested him, and then marched the inspector into custody.
While detained in a Limbach hotel for four hours prior to his release,
Major Hennessy noticed that a number of Germans in civilian dress
appeared to be actual officers working illegally with the German army.59

The report of clandestine rearmament at a time when French officers were
unable to conduct inspections produced an immediate response from the
French government. The French proposed unspecified sanctions but
the British refused any further sanctions against Germany, especially since
the Ruhr occupation had already all but destroyed the prospects of full
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disarmament operations.60 When the IAMCC formally protested Hen-
nessy’s treatment to the German government and demanded apologies, the
British Foreign Office reacted angrily to what it considered to be another
breach in protocol by the IAMCC. The effect of the Hennessy affair led
Bingham to believe that effective control was a useless endeavor unless
Allied soldiers protected IAMCC inspectors.61 The Allies never gave any
serious consideration though to the armed enforcement of inspections.

Like the question of when to resume military control operations in
Germany, the fall-out of the Hennessy affair dragged on through the rest
of the year. Britain simply wanted to avoid any incidents that gave the
French new pretexts to enforce more military sanctions. The irony in the
aftermath of the Hennessy affair is that the French took a hard line toward
Germany for its treatment of a British officer, while the British settled for
lesser apologies and punishments.62 When a German liaison officer sent an
apology to Major Hennessy, the IAMCC considered it to be insufficient.63

Another consequence of the Hennessey affair was the status of Major-
General Bingham. Similar to Nollet’s predicament, Bingham’s authority
had been slowly eroding since the beginning of disarmament operations.
Under pressure from the Foreign Office, the rulings of the Conference of
Ambassadors, and Lord D’Abernon in Berlin, Bingham could do nothing
without referring all issues to higher authorities. By November 1923,
Bingham had to ask permission of D’Abernon and the Foreign Office to
agree to any inspections in Germany.64 He was, however, more amenable
than Nollet, and his moderate stance toward relations with Germany was
compatible with the restrictions placed upon him. Whereas Nollet warned
of German rearmament and disdained his loss of power, Bingham denied
the reports of German violations of the military clauses during the suspen-
sion of control and, unlike Nollet or Morgan, rarely complained.65

Resumption reprise

The new series of Allied inspections in Germany commenced on the fourth
anniversary of the implementation of the Treaty of Versailles and ended
two days later. The major aim of the inspections was to ascertain the state
of German disarmament; in essence, the Allies wanted to know if Germany
had rearmed during the IAMCC’s year-long sabbatical. Effective disarma-
ment operations had disappeared for an entire year, and the Allies wished
to determine whether the German military was in exactly the same state
that had existed prior to the suspension of operations in January 1923.
After making this initial determination, the Allies then expected to resume
complete disarmament operations in Germany with an eye to finishing the
task. One point that remained in suspense, however, was whether the
Allies would insist on the complete execution of all the military clauses or
content themselves with the execution of the Five Points.66 Since Germany
had never accepted the Allied proposal of the Committee of Guarantee as
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a bargaining chip to restrict disarmament to the Five Points, the future of
disarmament was steeped in uncertainty.

Two issues at the start of 1924 created a rift in the IAMCC and
emphasized the growing divergence of British and French policies toward
enforcing the military clauses of the treaty. The first question, a source of
interminable discussion, was whether the IAMCC should carry out sur-
prise visits to German military establishments. Ostensibly settled by the
Conference of Ambassadors in November 1923, the issue of surprise visits
re-emerged under the persistence of the highest ranking French officers of
the IAMCC. General Henri Walch, who would soon replace Nollet as
President of the IAMCC, considered surprise visits to be indispensable to
the effective control of German industrial and military facilities.67 This
French position, however, ran counter to British intentions toward
Germany disarmament. The British feared that surprise inspections would
inflame German hostility toward the Allies and lead to violent incidents.
The ramifications of such a policy could therefore provide the French with
a justification to occupy more German territory. Immediately preceding
the 10 and 12 January inspections, Bingham, without hesitation, told
Nollet that he considered any surprise visits to be “out of the question.”68

The British and French were in agreement over the basic concept of resum-
ing disarmament operations in Germany, and when the German govern-
ment contended that the Allies had no need to make actual contact with
German authorities in all subsequent inspections, the Allies held their
ground. On the eve of the renewal of visits, the IAMCC upheld its right to
visit any establishment in Germany whatsoever.69

The second issue was the assessment of the results of the January
inspections concerning the state of German disarmament. After reviewing
the reports of the inspection teams, the majority of the IAMCC interpreted
the results of the inspections in a negative light. Nollet reported that
Germany was rearming and once again posed a military threat to the
Allies.70 There was also a difference of opinion toward German behavior
in the two days of inspections. British officers had no complaints but
Nollet reported that the German military authorities had acted offensively
toward some IAMCC officers.71 Consequently, Generals Walch and
Guffroy, members of the French and Belgian delegations of the IAMCC,
respectively, proposed sanctions against Germany.72 Only Bingham took a
rosy view of the situation, denying reports of widespread German viola-
tions of the military clauses of the treaty or the blatant misbehavior of
German officials.73 With Bingham preventing IAMCC action with his
refusal to support sanctions, Walch rightfully claimed that the decision to
enforce unanimity of opinion in the IAMCC was destroying its ability
to act.

The status of the Allied disarmament of Germany had not changed
substantively a year after the Ruhr occupation uprooted Allied efforts
to enforce the military clauses of the treaty. The results of the January
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inspections gave the Allies initial insight into potential German violations
of the treaty’s disarmament clauses and illustrated the continued diver-
gence of Anglo-French opinion toward the resumption of operations. After
these inspections, the German government continued to claim that it could
not adequately ensure the safety of Allied control officers and the British
were hesitant to push for full resumption. In addition, the Reichswehr
Ministry opposed further inspections and any Allied notions to set up a
new control organization.74 In the face of bitter opposition from Foch,
who believed that the interruption of the work of the IAMCC was destroy-
ing it, the British government pushed initially for the suspension of all
inspections.75 As the month came to a close, the British proposed instead
the carrying out of “stock-taking” inspections to determine whether the
state of German disarmament had changed since the suspension of opera-
tions.76 This proposal would remain the cornerstone of Allied policy
toward the disarmament of Germany for the remainder of the year.

In March 1924, Nollet tried to re-establish the authority of the IAMCC
in Germany by proposing renewed inspections of German factories,
depots, and barracks. No longer satisfied with the mere fulfillment of the
Five Points, Nollet informed the German government on 5 March that the
IAMCC intended first to verify whether Germany had rearmed during
the suspension of control before continuing with the execution of the Five
Points.77 Thus, stock-taking visits would be only the first step in resuming
disarmament operations in Germany. The Allies estimated that these
inventory inspections would take two or three months to complete.78 In
addition, restricting the remaining disarmament obligations to the Five
Points was still contingent upon German acceptance of a smaller control
organization. The German government, however, soon rejected the estab-
lishment of a smaller control organization and instead supported the com-
pletion of disarmament under the League of Nations.79

In determining the state of German disarmament, the Allies hoped to set
a course for future control and the subsequent completion of the tasks of
the IAMCC. Bingham opposed such a wide array of inspections and
believed they would prolong the duration of disarmament operations in
Germany for up to two years. The British War Office advocated the
resumption of operations, but only if they were limited to a small number
of inventory inspections.80 The key to British policy was to avoid any pos-
sibility of abusive incidents with Germany.81 Conversely, the French were
extremely suspicious of German intentions and pointed out that the true
completion of the tasks of the IAMCC went beyond the execution of the
Five Points; they continued to uphold the full mission of the IAMCC.82

The issue of stock-taking visits continued throughout the spring without
any apparent hope of a conclusive settlement. Meanwhile, for those who
supported the resumption of full control, anxieties increased regarding the
state of German military strength. Had German officials and workers
remained as passive as the IAMCC officers and men who stewed in their
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German hotels during the suspension of operations? British Lieutenant-
Colonel Heywood, a compatriot of Morgan, warned that Germany could
rearm and replenish its military machine within six months of the with-
drawal of the IAMCC.83 Since the IAMCC had been in a state of limbo for
seventeen months, this alleged German military potential certainly pointed
to the need for a settlement of the resumption issue. French worries were
more intense than those of their British colleagues and focused on possible
increases in German military personnel. A major reason Nollet pushed for
carrying out the stock-taking inspections was to assess the reported aug-
mentation of paramilitary organizations in Germany.84 On 28 May, the
Conference of Ambassadors attempted to alleviate such fears by presenting
the German government with an ultimatum. Either Germany had to accept
the stock-taking visits and, contingent upon satisfactory results, the institu-
tion of a new form of control organization, or the Allies would support
strict compliance of all of the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles.85

Another factor in the disarmament equation was the first major changes
that occurred in the leadership of the British and French governments
during the occupation of the Ruhr. In January 1924, Britain elected its first
Labour government, under Ramsay MacDonald, who also took the posi-
tion of Foreign Minister. In the June elections in France, Edouard Herriot
of the Radical Party replaced Poincaré, the zealot of enforcement. The two
leftist leaders, who would last only about one year in office, took moderate
stands toward Germany and were open to conciliation concerning the
remaining disarmament of Germany. MacDonald and Herriot met in June
1924 at Chequers to attempt to settle ongoing problems with Germany. In
addition to discussing the implementation of the Dawes Plan, MacDonald
and Herriot drafted a joint note to the German government urging
German cooperation in disarmament operations and professing an inclina-
tion to withdraw the IAMCC with the fulfillment of the remaining major
points.86 With such short tenures in office, however, their impact upon
operations was minimal, and the Allied disarmament of Germany con-
tinued to muddle along.

Anglo–French policy differences over German disarmament in the wake
of the Ruhr occupation was a step toward the eventual termination of
Allied disarmament operations. After the decision to enforce Allied una-
nimity upon the IAMCC, the split between Nollet and Bingham helped aid
the paralysis of Allied disarmament policy. Repercussions soon followed
that changed the future course of the IAMCC. Fueled by the mounting
criticism of Bingham, Major-General Arthur Wauchope replaced Bingham
as head of the British delegation of the IAMCC in May.87 The Foreign
Office was Bingham’s most persistent critic, believing that he was inca-
pable of standing up to Nollet. Hoping to replace him, Foreign Office offi-
cials severely castigated Bingham for failing to notify the Foreign Office of
incidents the IAMCC experienced during the January inspections.88

Bingham had become the Foreign Office’s scapegoat for the paralysis of
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IAMCC operations and for the failure to convince the French that resump-
tion of control was inopportune.

The debilitation of control operations and the inability of the French to
coerce the British to meet France’s security concerns also had an impact
upon the French delegation of the IAMCC. General Henri Walch replaced
Nollet, the consummate French officer who had been largely responsible
for the success the IAMCC had experienced and who had been a constant
voice of frustration during the absence of disarmament progress over the
past two years.89 In addition, General Royé replaced the President of the
Effectives Sub-committee, General Barthélemy.90 Nollet’s support of
the strict enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty clashed repeat-
edly with Bingham’s moderate approach and, when his authority disap-
peared, along with the ability of the IAMCC to conduct operations, he
decided his position was untenable. Nollet, however, would not be simply
shunted aside as he soon became France’s new Minister of War under
Premier Edouard Herriot.91 In the wake of the Ruhr occupation, the per-
sonnel of the IAMCC had witnessed a transformation. The troublemakers
– Nollet, Barthélemy, Bingham, and Morgan – had all disappeared, and
both Britain and France hoped that the IAMCC could now settle its
internal differences and complete the work it had started four-and-a-half
years earlier. Regardless, the basic question of the compatibility of British
and French policy toward German disarmament, as well as the enforce-
ment of the treaty, remained.

The General Inspection

After months of vague answers, claims of inadequate authority to protect
Allied officers, and a diplomatic atmosphere filled with tension, indecision,
and general chaos, the German government finally gave the Allies a posit-
ive response to the issue of the continued execution of the military clauses
of the Treaty of Versailles. Formerly in opposition to the resumption of
control, the German government agreed on 30 June 1924 to the Allied
proposal for carrying out the General Inspection of the state of the
German military.92 Stresemann had implemented his plan to trade the ful-
fillment of Allied demands for treaty modifications. Above all, he wanted
all Allied occupation forces out of Germany. The Marx government
accepted the Allied General Inspection on condition that it would lead to
the end of military control and asked for the cessation of all inspections by
the end of September. The Allies were relieved that control was to resume
shortly but refused to fix a specific date for the end of the inspections.93

The inspections began in early September.
Britain and France were quite receptive to German acquiescence to the

resumption of control but still had to settle the differences between them
as to how to proceed. Nonetheless, they drew up detailed plans for the
General Inspection.94 Drafted by the IAMCC and approved by the AMCV
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and the Conference of Ambassadors, the proposal specified that the
IAMCC would carry out inspections to verify whether the state of German
armament – war material amounts, Reichswehr and police organization,
factory transformation and production, and so on – had changed during
the suspension of control. The IAMCC stipulated that the duration of the
General Inspection would be three to four months, each inspection team
would consist of two officers dressed in civilian clothes, every inspection
would have a German liaison officer present, and any surprise visits had to
have clear military objectives and importance. To appease German appre-
hension of the resumption of control after the Ruhr occupation, the Allies
delayed inspecting Reichswehr establishments for almost two weeks, and
the first surprise visits did not take place until two months into the General
Inspection.95

Although the personnel of the IAMCC experienced great changes in
1924 with the introduction of Wauchope and Walch, the authority of the
organization remained stable. Major-General Arthur Wauchope, a career
infantry officer who had been severely wounded in action in both the Boer
War and World War I, had spent his career in the Black Watch. His
gallant service during World War I helped lead to his appointment as the
new head of the British section of the IAMCC. Wauchope’s role in the
IAMCC was to act as a moderating influence upon French policy toward
German disarmament while simultaneously mending the shaky
Anglo–French relationship in the IAMCC. General Walch was similar to
Nollet in his approach to French demands in the disarmament of
Germany. Like his predecessor, Walch resented the diminishment of the
decision-making power of the IAMCC and pushed for the execution of the
military articles of the treaty. For instance, Walch advocated surprise visits
and opposed the ruling of the Conference of Ambassadors to enforce una-
nimity of all IAMCC decisions.96

The Allied General Inspection of Germany finally began on 8 September
1924 and lasted for just over four months. These stock-taking visits
attempted to reassess the state of German armament with an abbreviated
schedule of inspections. The work for both Allied and German officers was
strenuous. Initially, assessments of the new wave of visits were generally
positive and, after the first week of inspections, Major-General Wauchope
commented favorably upon the tasks underway. He reported that German
political and military authorities, as well as liaison officers and factory dir-
ectors, were cooperating with the IAMCC and believed that his opposition
to some French demands had helped increase German cooperation.97 As
time wore on, and the inspections numbered into the hundreds, ominous
signs began to appear that pointed to recent German violations of the mili-
tary aspects of the treaty. In October, Wauchope’s initial positive opinion
of the state of German armament started to waver. German cooperation
was waning and a number of factories that had not yet been transformed to
peaceful endeavors were actually manufacturing war material once again.98
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As the fifth anniversary of the effective date of the Treaty of Versailles
approached, another aspect of the treaty emerged within the context of
disarmament and became intertwined with the Allied enforcement of the
military clauses. Under the terms of the Versailles Treaty, the Rhineland
had been divided into three zones – Cologne, Coblenz, and Mainz – and
occupied by the armies of Britain, France, Belgium, and the United
States.99 At the Paris Peace Conference, the Allies agreed to withdraw their
armies from the three zones at five-year intervals if Germany fulfilled the
clauses of the treaty. Thus, German compliance with the treaty would lead
to the evacuation of Cologne in January 1925, Coblenz in 1930, and
Mainz in 1935. If Germany did not comply with Allied decisions concern-
ing the treaty’s provisions, the French, British, Belgian, and American
troops could extend the duration of the occupation. The Allies could also
choose to withdraw their forces at an earlier date (American forces with-
drew in 1923). Since the Dawes Plan had settled the reparations issue at
least temporarily, the fulfillment of the military clauses of the treaty
became the basis for the withdrawal of Allied troops from Cologne.100

Nonetheless, January 1925 marked the first actual test of enforcement stip-
ulated specifically by the treaty. The final report of the General Inspection
would be the ultimate Allied evaluation of the state of German armament
and, since it dealt with the fulfillment of the treaty, the report also had
implications concerning the withdrawal of Allied troops from the
Rhineland.

By the fourth and final month of the General Inspection, the French and
British began to question the state of German armament. Allied officers
discovered that Germany had not remained quiet during the suspension of
control, let alone fulfilled the remaining disarmament provisions. At the
end of November, the British War Office reported a general augmentation
of German military capacity. The numerous inspections revealed signific-
ant violations of the armaments and effectives clauses of the treaty. The
Armaments Sub-commission inspected 232 factories and found that
twenty had not been converted into peace production and nineteen were
actually producing war material. The Effectives Sub-commission dis-
covered the existence of the core of the General Staff, short-term enlist-
ment, trained volunteers, excess officers, as well as a centralized
organization of the police. This was not passive resistance but active
evasion. The War Office, however, while expressing dissatisfaction with
the various violations, believed that Germany had not substantially
increased her military capacity.101 The Foreign Office agreed. Similar to its
proclamations in 1922, the Foreign Office declared that the Allies had dis-
armed Germany relative to the strength of the other powers, even though
Germany had not yet fulfilled the military clauses of the treaty.102 The
French perspective on the state of German armament was less forgiving,
and continued uncertainty about the direction of Allied military control
abounded.
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In December, after three months of renewed inspections, the issue of the
Rhineland reappeared in earnest in Anglo–French discussions about
the military clauses of the treaty. The British War Office wanted to make
the withdrawal of Allied troops contingent upon the “actual process of
completion” of the Five Points.103 In mid-December, Foch reported that
the Germans had not yet even started work on the transformation of some
factories and the reorganization of the police. He was certain that
Germany could not fulfill the military clauses by 10 January 1925, the date
of the expected withdrawal of Allied forces from Cologne.104 Furthermore,
the conclusion of the British Cabinet pointed to a future crisis with
Germany. The Cabinet declared that minor violations of the military
clauses would have no effect upon Allied policy but, if Germany did not
fulfill major portions of the remaining disarmament issues, British soldiers
would remain in Cologne.105 Both MacDonald and Herriot agreed that the
withdrawal of their troops from Cologne had to be preceded by German
fulfillment of the military clauses of the treaty.

At the end of December, the AMCV produced a scathing report on the
results of the General Inspection. It pointed out that Germany had not
executed a number of military clauses and that there had actually been an
increase in German military strength since the suspension of disarmament
operations. Most importantly, Germany had made no progress on the Five
Points. Consequently, the Conference of Ambassadors decided to keep
Allied occupation forces in Cologne after January 1925.106 Without
waiting for the final report of the General Inspection, the Allies worked for
the remainder of December drafting an appropriate note to the Marx
government.107 By the end of the month, the only issue the Allies were
debating was the date in which to inform the German government of their
decision to maintain their contingency of troops in Cologne. Trouble
loomed ahead.

The Franco-Belgian occupation of the Ruhr had an impact upon inter-
national relations between Britain, France, and Germany, as well as the
domestic affairs of France and Germany. One of the repercussions of the
Ruhr crisis that historians have often ignored was the disintegrating effect
it had upon the execution of the military clauses of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles. From January 1923 until the autumn of 1924, the Allied disarma-
ment of Germany faced serious challenges to its future existence. As the
German government obstructed Allied disarmament efforts, and economic
destabilization fanned the flames of passionate revulsion toward Allied sol-
diers on German soil, Allied efforts themselves began to unravel. The
British often adopted a wait-and-see approach and advocated leniency
toward Germany, while their French colleagues demanded action and a
return to the status quo ante Ruhr, but uncertainty was in the air. The fact
that the IAMCC had increased its size to near peak strength in September
1924 is evidence of the serious nature of the disarmament of Germany
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during the Ruhr crisis.108 During the suspension of disarmament opera-
tions, neither Britain nor France held steadfastly to concrete policies
toward normalizing military control in Germany as both were subject to
fluctuating proposals and methods. Negotiations were difficult and subject
to the atmosphere of unrest and uncertainty. Anglo–French relations sur-
vived a true test when the Allies reached a compromise in the fall of 1924,
but the chaotic interlude had appreciably altered their methods and atti-
tudes toward the enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty.

A major effect of the Ruhr occupation was its impact upon Allied rela-
tions in disarming Germany. Although Britain and France feared the
diminishing hold of the treaty over Germany, France’s obsession with
security in the 1920s rendered her policy-makers often incapable of flexi-
bility. The chaotic political atmosphere of 1923 and 1924 precluded
normal disarmament operations in Germany, and the French demand (and
right) to resume full disarmament operations during the Ruhr crisis ended
in failure. The more France pursued aggressive policies to enforce disarma-
ment, the more Britain withdrew from its treaty commitments. The pro-
longation of disarmament, one of the direct consequences of the Ruhr
occupation, allowed the French an insight into German military affairs for
years to come, but such an outcome was not a conscious effort. The con-
stant pleas to resume operations, and the frustration of Nollet and Foch
prove otherwise. Witness to Britain’s moderate approach to treaty enforce-
ment, the French political and military leadership feared facing German
révanche alone and would no longer take action against Germany without
British consent. Simply put, France needed Britain more than Britain
needed France, and the power of treaty enforcement, and its reciprocal,
treaty modification, had shifted decisively to London. The future course of
German disarmament would take a similar path.
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11 Transformation

After the virtual suspension of disarmament operations for twenty months,
Allied inspections resumed in earnest in September 1924 with the General
Inspection of the state of German armaments. The issues of disarming
Germany and withdrawing Allied troops from the Cologne zone of the
Rhineland occupation had become enmeshed; the latter became dependent
upon the former, with the results of the General Inspection being the deci-
sive factor. Although the General Inspection lasted from 8 September 1924
to 25 January 1925, evidence of violations of the disarmament clauses led
the Allies to inform the German government prior to the end of the inspec-
tions that they would not withdraw their troops from Cologne in January
1925. This decision bitterly disappointed Germany but the Allies remained
solidly unified and intransigent to German protests of the Allied violation
of the treaty. As the disarmament of Germany entered its sixth year, the
same basic questions remained. Was Germany disarmed according to the
treaty? If not, had Germany at least complied with the Five Points? Initial
results of the General Inspection led the Allies to believe that the answer to
both questions was resoundingly negative, and the subsequent General
Report would leave no doubts.

Two major elements of the fulfillment of the military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles affected Allied disarmament operations for the remain-
der of the next two years. The first and most pressing concern was the
evacuation of Allied troops from the Cologne zone of the Rhineland occu-
pation. The Allies would have to address German violations of the military
clauses of the treaty, and only inspections could verify compliance. The
second concern, closely related to the first, was German fulfillment of
those provisions of the treaty that the Allies considered essential to
German disarmament: the Five Points. In order for the Allies to withdraw
the IAMCC from German soil, the German government would have to
redress violations of the treaty and then complete the transformation of
factories, surrender all excess war material as well as the 1918 inventories,
pass laws prohibiting the import and export of war material and binding
the organization and recruitment of the army to the treaty, and reorganize
the German police. Thus, even as the IAMCC entered its sixth year of

 



existence, only a substantial effort from both the Allies and Germany
would resolve the tasks of disarmament.

Cologne and the General Report

The report of the AMCV of December 1924, based on the inspections
carried out by the IAMCC, led the Allied governments to inform Germany
that their occupation troops stationed in Cologne would not withdraw on
10 January 1925.1 In predictable fashion, Herriot insisted that the
Rhineland was the key to French security while the German government,
now led by Chancellor Hans Luther and Foreign Minister Stresemann,
denied the validity of reported violations of the military clauses of the
treaty.2 Stresemann, a great advocate of German sovereignty, was out-
raged, and insisted that the German government had undertaken “consid-
erable efforts” in meeting Allied demands of the Treaty of Versailles.3

Claiming that the Allied memo of 5 January was “sadistic,” Stresemann
declared his intention to push energetically for the evacuation of Allied
troops from Cologne by 10 January.4 He believed that Germany had
already disarmed and declared the findings of the General Inspection to be
trivial. Nonetheless, Allied troops remained on the Rhine, their presence
legally justified by German violations of the military clauses of the treaty.
For the remainder of the year, Stresemann would negotiate with the Allied
governments to remove all Allied soldiers from the Cologne zone of
occupation.

The outcome of the General Report of the IAMCC, completed on 15
February 1925, was a foregone conclusion. The report assessed the exist-
ing state of the German military from the perspective of armaments, effec-
tives, and fortifications and gave the Allies little indication that the
disarmament of Germany would soon come to an end. Allied inspection
teams discovered illegal war material (rifles, mortars, explosives, machine-
guns, and assorted equipment), 30,000 surplus police, and illegal
machinery in the plants of Krupp and Deutsche Werke.5 The Effectives
Sub-commission, which uncovered the most egregious treaty infractions in
the General Inspection, reported that Germany was preparing cadres of
officers and NCOs, enlisting short-term volunteers, training youth in mili-
tary instruction, recruiting soldiers illegally, and organizing its railways for
war. Furthermore, Germany still maintained a General Staff, and many
questions remained concerning the existence of illegal paramilitary associ-
ations. Inspectors also found violations in Germany’s system of fortifica-
tions, where the Germans had modified some of their eastern forts and
actually constructed new forts on their coastal waters. In addition,
Germany had not yet passed any legal measures to prohibit the import or
export of war material. The Allies concluded that only strenuous efforts
would see to the proper execution of each of the Five Points.6

The final conclusion of the IAMCC in the General Report was that
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German military power in terms of armaments had experienced some
relatively minor increases, but the augmentation of German effectives
strength was substantial. This latter increase was especially alarming to the
French but Wauchope actually softened Walch’s language in the final
report and complained that the French were concentrating on rather minor
infractions.7 Nonetheless, the recommendations of the IAMCC left no
stone unturned. The IAMCC pointed out that Germany had to reorganize
and reduce its police forces, transform all unauthorized factories to peace
production, surrender remaining excess war material and the inventories
of 1918, pass laws to prohibit the import and export of war material and
to reorganize the army according to the treaty, suppress all paramilitary
formations, and restore all forts to their previous state. Essentially, the
Germans still had to fulfill their obligations to the Five Points as well as
address the additional infractions found concerning modifications in the
system of fortifications.8 Overall, the Allies declared that disarmament
remained incomplete and that they would continue to occupy Cologne and
maintain the IAMCC until Germany met their demands. The fact that
German violations increased in the absence of the IAMCC and inspections
also did not bode well for enforcing German disarmament in the post-
IAMCC era.

Two important diplomatic events also influenced Allied policy toward
German disarmament: the twin failures of the Geneva Protocol and the
Anglo–French Alliance. In the fall of 1924, Prime Minister MacDonald
had attempted to strengthen the League of Nations by proposing an inter-
national agreement (the Geneva Protocol) to make war an international
crime, uphold the demilitarized Rhineland through the threat of League
sanctions, and most importantly, give authority to the League of Nations
to settle all future disputes and oversee the reduction of armaments
throughout Europe.9 However, when MacDonald’s government fell in
November 1924 to Stanley Baldwin and the Conservatives, British policy
toward the Geneva Protocol changed dramatically; the Conservatives
adamantly opposed the Geneva Protocol on the grounds that it would lead
to Britain becoming the “world’s policeman.”10 The Foreign Office feared
that the impending rejection of the Geneva Protocol would harden French
resolve in maintaining Allied troops in Cologne and increasing disarma-
ment demands.11 In addition, the new British Foreign Secretary, Austen
Chamberlain, was anxious to allay French security fears and he lent his
support to the creation of an Anglo–French alliance.12 The Conservatives,
however, rejected the Anglo–French alliance and the Geneva Protocol in
March 1925. They believed that an Anglo–French alliance would only
incense Germany and force her into the hands of the Soviets.13 Without
these new guarantees to their security, the French intensified their insis-
tence on retaining troops in the Rhineland.

For the remainder of 1925, the Allies worked to see that Germany
fulfilled its obligations toward the remaining points of disarmament
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(especially the Five Points) while the Germans worked to oust Allied
troops from the Rhineland and the IAMCC from Germany. The IAMCC
continued to carry out inspections of German military facilities but they
were few and far between.14 Anglo–French discussions on German rectifi-
cation of treaty infractions and remaining disarmament tasks proceeded
well into the spring. Some British authorities believed that Herriot was
attempting to prolong the Cologne occupation to meet French security
needs regardless of treaty fulfillment.15 While Foreign Secretary Chamber-
lain viewed the Treaty of Versailles from a pragmatic perspective and
believed that German defaults of fulfillment of the military clauses justified
the prolongation of the Cologne occupation, he also pointed out that the
treaty should not be used as a weapon to justify political ends.16 Although
the French were certainly content with maintaining Allied troops in the
Rhineland for as long as possible, violations of the military clauses did
exist and there had been little, if any, progress toward fulfillment of the
Five Points since their enumeration back in the summer of 1922.

In early April 1925, the AMCV drafted a note to the German govern-
ment listing the points outlined in the General Report.17 The Allies were no
longer content with fulfillment of the Five Points but demanded additional
compliance with the infractions discovered by the General Inspection. On
4 June, the Conference of Ambassadors demanded that Germany fulfill the
Five Points, rectify various war material issues, and dismantle all modifica-
tions to its system of fortifications before the Allies would withdraw their
troops from Cologne and consider terminating the responsibilities of the
IAMCC.18 This note formed the new basis of Allied disarmament policy,
and the Allies measured subsequent German fulfillment against it. The
German government responded initially with exasperation and anger.
Chancellor Luther declared that the current state of disarmament already
outweighed the importance of fulfilling the remaining Allied demands and
did not justify Allied troops remaining in Cologne.19

Although Stresemann considered the Allied demands “sadistic,” his
insatiable desire to effect the withdrawal of Allied troops from Cologne
forced the hand of German policy. The German government, believing that
the end of disarmament was in sight, made strides to meet Allied
demands.20 When the Germans established the Pawlesz Commission
(named after its chief, Major-General Pawlesz) to work in conjunction
with the IAMCC in seeing to the execution of Allied demands, the Allies
overcame their initial skepticism. This new-found cooperation soon raised
hopes of finishing the remaining tasks of disarmament. Despite the slow
start and the multitude of tasks to complete, by October, Wauchope was
reporting that the IAMCC was actually experiencing steady progress in its
operations.21 The Allied position toward the withdrawal of its occupation
soldiers and inspectors remained unchanged for the remainder of 1925 as
the Allied governments placed responsibility for the execution of the
remaining disarmament points squarely in the hands of the German
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government. In the fall, Chamberlain emphasized that the evacuation of
Cologne depended “solely on the fulfillment of Germany’s disarmament
obligations.”22 The fact that Germany now cooperated with the IAMCC,
after spurning most inspections for the previous two years, filled the Allies,
especially Britain, with a sense of accomplishment. In fact, Wauchope
claimed that the Germans were cooperating with the IAMCC in an
unprecedented fashion. Nonetheless, he still believed that the Allied disar-
mament of Germany would most likely not be finished before the spring of
the following year.23

Locarno

Negotiations for a settlement of the issue of disarmament and for a new
Western European peace pact had started in the summer and picked up
intensity in the fall of 1925. When progress in the fulfillment of the
remaining German disarmament obligations resumed in the latter half of
the year, a renewed sense of optimism in Allied–German relations took
shape. Personal discussions among British, French, and German foreign
ministers increased in number and scope, and the bitterness of the past
began to recede. Austen Chamberlain, often suspicious of German inten-
tions, brimmed with hope and claimed that disarmament operations were
proceeding with great satisfaction.24 Two reasons account for the visible
improvement in Allied–German relations. First, German entreaties in
January 1925 for peaceful relations sparked interest in a new settlement in
the West. Second, the emergence of the three statesmen – Stresemann,
Chamberlain, and Aristide Briand – breathed life into moribund post-war
Allied–German relations. Stresemann supported improving relations with
the West while turning his eyes toward redressing grievances in the East,
and Chamberlain was open to settling remaining issues of the treaty that
continued to endanger peaceful relations. Briand, who became France’s
Foreign Minister in April, supported reconciliation with Germany but not
at a price that would sacrifice the security of France. By October, this
renewed sense of positivism culminated in the Locarno Conference, where
Britain, France, and Germany addressed their post-war concerns and
established a new peace settlement in the West. The “spirit of Locarno”
had embraced Europe.

The negotiations that took place in Locarno in October 1925 had a
significant impact upon the future of the IAMCC and general Allied disar-
mament operations in Germany. The background to the Locarno Confer-
ence had its roots in January 1925, when Germany faced the rumors of an
impending Anglo–French alliance, the possible ratification of the Geneva
Protocol, and the prolongation of the occupation of the Cologne zone. In
order to offset Allied threats to German security and sovereignty, Strese-
mann proposed a European peace pact.25 The security pact consisted of a
non-aggression agreement between the nations of Germany, France, and
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Belgium (with the United States as a hopeful trustee), arbitration treaties
between Germany and Western and Eastern European nations, guarantees
of the territorial status quo of Germany’s western boundaries, and the
maintenance of the demilitarized zone of the Rhineland.26 After the rejec-
tion of both the Geneva Protocol and the Anglo–French alliance in March,
Chamberlain, hoping to alleviate Herriot’s fear of lack of French security
and anxious that France might interminably delay evacuation of the
Rhineland, suggested to Herriot that they consider Stresemann’s peace
proposal.27 Consequently, negotiations between Britain, France, and
Germany continued throughout the summer and up until the opening of
the conference in October. With the withdrawal of French and Belgian
troops from the Ruhr Valley on 31 July, the Allies inaugurated this concil-
iatory period with the resolution of a divisive issue.28

Delegates from the Western European powers arrived in Locarno,
Switzerland, in October 1925 with hopes of ensuring international secur-
ity. The Locarno Conference opened on 5 October, with Germany, France,
Britain, Belgium, and Italy in attendance. Locarno, located on the shores
of Lake Maggiore in Switzerland, was the ideal setting for the peaceful
interludes of the negotiations. Embracing feelings of goodwill, Stresemann,
Briand, and Chamberlain developed great admiration for each other. They
discussed a number of issues, including disarmament and the Rhineland,
and forged a common policy toward Europe with hotel room diplomacy.29

The atmosphere of the conference, characterized by dinner parties, wine,
and cruises on Lake Maggiore, was conducive to the friendly relations that
generally persisted throughout the negotiations between the former
enemies.

During the second week of the conference, when the agenda focused
upon disarmament, Briand and Chamberlain asserted that they would not
allow any evacuation of the Rhineland until they witnessed more progress
in German fulfillment of the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty. In a
meeting on 12 October, both Chamberlain and Briand emphasized that the
evacuation of Cologne depended upon fulfillment of Germany’s military
obligations, not upon the signature of a new pact.30 Against a united
Anglo–French stance, Stresemann was therefore unable to make any
progress toward a Cologne evacuation while trying to obviate Germany’s
numerous military obligations. Stresemann considered Germany to be not
just disarmed, but unable to defend itself.31 While Chamberlain and Briand
worked together to rebuff German efforts to modify their disarmament
demands, Allied policy toward the disarmament of Germany would never
regain the level of unity evident in Locarno.

On 16 October 1925, amidst much pomp and international acclaim, the
Allies and Germany signed the Treaties of Locarno, which consisted of
four arbitration treaties between Germany and France, Belgium, Poland,
and Czechoslovakia as well as the crux of the settlement, a Western secur-
ity pact. The latter established a reciprocal treaty of non-aggression
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between the Rhine nations of Germany, France, and Belgium and upheld
the demilitarization of the Rhineland under British and Italian guarantees.
Although loopholes in the language, combined with future interpretation
of the pact, would lead to a paralysis of Allied policy when Hitler re-
militarized the Rhineland in 1936, in 1925 the world embraced the
Locarno treaties as a major step toward preventing future war in Europe.

Days after the conclusion of the Locarno Conference, the German
government produced a report on the status of its fulfillment of Allied dis-
armament demands. The Germans outlined four major categories of issues,
all in various stages of fulfillment.32 The first three lists were lengthy but
included such issues as the transformation of factories to commercial pro-
duction, surrender of various amounts of war material, prohibition of
illegal instruction of reserves, and the organization of railways. The Allies
were satisfied with the progress of these relatively minor points, and the
Germans assured them that all would be fulfilled by mid-November. The
Allies were distressed, however, that Germany considered the police and
paramilitary associations to be problematic. The French particularly feared
that without a settlement of these two questions, Germany would have the
means to re-establish a substantial military force.33 The Five Points, the
tenets of Allied disarmament policy that Germany had to fulfill in order to
initiate the withdrawal of Allied disarmament operations from its soil, still
remained in suspense.

The Locarno Conference dramatically changed the final course of
German disarmament. By allowing the British to use the new era of good-
will as a pretext to abandon overseeing the execution of the military art-
icles of the Treaty of Versailles, the Locarno proceedings had a direct
effect upon the subsequent dissolution of the IAMCC. After the confer-
ence, Chamberlain asserted in private that the peace of Europe could be
guaranteed more effectively through an atmosphere of understanding than
by the strict execution of the Treaty of Versailles. This attitude was the
antithesis of French policy. Furthermore, Chamberlain pointed out that
disarmament had been “fundamentally modified by the initialing of the
Locarno treaties” and advocated concessions regarding German police
forces and the fortress guns at Königsberg. Years before his brother would
establish “appeasement” as a household name, Austen Chamberlain hoped
that minor discrepancies between the IAMCC and German authorities
“would not be allowed to interfere with the work of appeasement.”34 The
Anglo–French effort that had refused concessions to Luther and Strese-
mann at the Conference now evaporated under “Locarno sunshine.”35

Within weeks of the conference, Allied disarmament policy toward
Germany experienced a great change. The British government, basking in
the glow of Locarno, claimed that the new spirit of conciliation that grew
out of the conference surpassed the need for strict enforcement of the
Treaty of Versailles. The slow but steady erosion of the tenets of Versailles
finally gave way to intense hunger for reconciliation with Germany. While
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Locarno was initially sweet to the British and French palate, it would even-
tually leave a bitter aftertaste. Focusing upon the conversion of German
war production as the one issue it deemed essential to disarmament, the
British government proposed 1 December as the starting date for the with-
drawal of Allied troops from Cologne, provided that Germany showed
itself willing to comply with the other Allied demands.36 After the German
government stated its intention to cooperate, Jules Laroche, the political
director of the French Foreign Ministry, and Marshal Foch agreed with the
British to begin the evacuation of Cologne. On 14 November, the Confer-
ence of Ambassadors officially ruled that the evacuation of Cologne would
begin on 1 December.37 The French had agreed to evacuate Cologne but
continued to assert that the IAMCC would continue operations until
Germany fulfilled its treaty obligations.38 However, the physical proof of
disarmament was already adrift in the sea of Locarno tranquility.

The Locarno Conference was truly a turning point in the disarmament
of Germany. Although the British had been moving steadily toward with-
drawing the IAMCC from Germany and were able to coerce the French to
accept a number of concessions in the strict enforcement of the Treaty of
Versailles, the Conference of Locarno had convinced Austen Chamberlain
that the Germans could be trusted after all. Consequently, the intimate
gatherings in Chamberlain’s hotel suite on the shores of Lake Maggiore
that fostered the promise of Germany’s good intentions pushed British
policy over the hump of appeasement. Chamberlain, the Foreign Office,
and the War Office began to preach the same line of policy in unison:
Locarno had dramatically changed the political atmosphere in Western
Europe and justified granting concessions to Germany at the expense of
the Treaty of Versailles.39 This modified line of British policy would shape
all subsequent negotiations and resolutions of the disarmament issues.
Following the abandonment of independent action after the Ruhr crisis,
the French would be swept along with the British tide.

Sunset of the IAMCC

As the last British, French, and Belgian troops marched out of Cologne
and its environs on 31 January 1926, the Allies disassociated the disarma-
ment of Germany from the issue of the occupation of the Rhineland.40

Despite the prognostication of Allied leaders in Paris in 1919 for a three-
month disarmament and fifteen-year Rhineland occupation, the final rem-
nants of military control in Germany would actually outlast Allied troops
on the Rhine. At the start of the seventh year of disarmament operations,
the Allies and Germany turned their attention exclusively to the remaining
points of contention in the hope of terminating disarmament operations.
All efforts focused upon the final points of disarmament that continued to
elude settlement. The Five Points remained unfulfilled, and a number of
other minor infractions continued to pester the French. This final full year
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of operations would experience painstaking Allied–German negotiations,
filled with Allied concessions and German promises. Yet the same issues –
the detailed organization of the Reichswehr and police, the existence of
paramilitary associations and new fortifications, and the passage of legal
measures to prohibit the import and export of war material – would
outlast the negotiations. The conversion by German factories to commer-
cial production had made huge strides in the past seven years, and without
further inspections, the Allies quietly put to rest this particular issue in the
aftermath of Locarno.

With the issue of the Cologne evacuation over and the inevitable with-
drawal of the IAMCC appearing over the horizon, the French focused
upon two major threats to their security. First, despite months of negotia-
tions and the glow of Locarno, the lack of German compliance with ques-
tions concerning effectives issues (especially the reorganization of the
police and the existence of paramilitary associations) continued to gnaw at
the French. Second, the dreadful possibility that the IAMCC would cease
operations before the League of Nations acquired the right to investigate
Germany’s military affairs led the French to believe that the entire work of
the IAMCC could be wiped out relatively quickly.41 The French strategy,
therefore, focused on working to ensure German compliance with the
remaining points of disarmament (contained in the June 1925 Note). If
this effort failed, then they could point out that the lack of fulfillment with
Allied demands must preclude the withdrawal of the IAMCC.

One other glaring problem was, of course, convincing the British that
the state of Germany’s military did not warrant the end of military
control. Here the French faced an uphill battle. The German government
noticed that the British were attempting to soften French rhetoric and
policy.42 When the Germans blamed the French for delays in settling the
disarmament question, the British agreed. Orme Sargent of the British
Foreign Office summarized the changing British attitude toward France,
Germany, and disarmament succinctly when he asked Wauchope “to
prevent disarmament negotiations from being artificially spun out by the
ex-allied governments contrary to the wishes of the German government,
for the express purpose of creating a pretext for the continued existence of
the (Control) Commission.”43 As Allied unity diverged, chances of German
fulfillment of the remaining clauses diminished.

While the first three months of disarmament operations in 1926
remained fairly quiet, in April, the police question re-emerged and domin-
ated Allied–German disarmament discussions. The Germans were deter-
mined to take advantage of the peaceful interlude after Locarno. Despite
the failure to acquire increases in the police force in 1920 and the sub-
sequent Allied allowance for greater numbers of police in the Rhineland
(but not overall numbers), Germany requested an increase of 10,000 state
police. The British thought the relatively small increase would not disrupt
completion of the remaining tasks but Briand stated that the 150,000
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authorized police was already a formidable force. The French President
and Foreign Minister also feared that another concession would open the
floodgates to further German demands for modifications.44 The general
German reaction after the Locarno concessions had already been marked
by avarice and raised expectations for more handouts.45 This was the fatal
flaw of appeasement, and Briand refused steadfastly to continue to disfig-
ure the Treaty of Versailles beyond its current transformation. The Allies
made no further concessions at this time but the police question, of course,
remained unsettled.

In the spring and summer, the Germans continued to exploit the new
political atmosphere left in the wake of Locarno. Awaiting word on
whether they had been admitted to the League of Nations, the Germans
continued to delay any fulfillment of the remaining disarmament issues.46

The German government believed that admission to the League would
force the Allies to replace the IAMCC with League control. Without a
backbone for dealing with major diplomatic issues and lacking any post-
IAMCC plans to investigate German compliance with the military meas-
ures of Versailles, the League of Nations could be swept aside by verbal
acquiescence alone. The irony is that both Germany and France supported
German admission to the League; Germany hoped membership would
eradicate disarmament and occupation, while France saw membership as a
means to secure the remaining disarmament of Germany within the League
context.

Two battles continued for the remainder of disarmament operations in
Germany: the Franco–German fight over fulfillment and the Franco–British
struggle over the enforcement of the remaining military shreds of Ver-
sailles. The British delegation of the IAMCC, led by General Wauchope,
began to appear as an apathetic bystander to the former fight, but as an
active participant in the latter, seeking more substantial concessions in the
future.47 Inspections of German facilities by officers of the IAMCC had
slowed considerably as the British opposed any visits unrelated to those of
the prior General Inspection. The Allies would soon resolve the two con-
flicts but, with the French hesitant to act independently, the ultimate
power of decision was in the hands of the British political and military
authorities.48 The British, however, were still not willing to concede the
remaining points of disarmament to the Germans as the presence of a
General Staff, excess police, paramilitary associations, illegal enlistment,
and the lack of a law to prevent the import and export of war material still
raised concerns for some Foreign Office members.49

Germany’s entry as a full member to the League of Nations in Septem-
ber 1926 had an immediate impact upon disarmament. After Locarno,
British attitudes took a prominent turn against France in support of
Germany’s cries for disarmament modifications. With German admission
to the League, however, the British dropped any pretense in supporting the
execution of the remaining disarmament issues. To the British, the new
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Locarno-induced atmosphere superseded the demands of 4 June 1925 that
had replaced the Five Points. The French merely saw written demands
replaced by rhetoric. In September, Chamberlain mimicked Stresemann’s
criticism of disarmament by labeling the IAMCC a “continual source of
friction and an obstacle to the policy of mutual reconciliation instituted at
Locarno” and he demanded the replacement of the IAMCC with an
unspecified system of control under the League of Nations.50 The Allied
effort to disarm Germany was all but finished as Chamberlain now asked
whether the remaining points of disarmament that lacked fulfillment con-
stituted a danger to British security. The Foreign Office suggested the
imminent withdrawal of the IAMCC, and any subsequent disarmament
discussions the French wished to continue could be taken up with
Germany under the purview of the AMCV.

Briand attempted diligently to offset the lack of British concern toward
German militarism in the last few months of 1926. First, he tried to settle
Franco–German questions in mid-September by meeting secretly with Stre-
semann near Geneva in Thoiry. The two heroes of Locarno worked out a
political deal to eradicate the Allied occupation of the Rhineland as well as
the IAMCC in turn for German economic assistance of France.51 The
French and German governments, however, summarily rejected these
grandiose plans. In addition, Briand pushed for the realization of the tradi-
tional French policy of security through physical guarantees. In meetings
of the League of Nations in December, Briand advocated the institution of
a permanent Allied inspection regime in the Rhineland. Despite the guar-
antee of the Locarno Treaty but under pressure from Stresemann to put an
end to the Allied occupation of Germany, Briand hoped to place an Allied
civilian body on the Rhine to inspect the state of the German military in
the Rhineland and elsewhere in Germany.52 Stresemann absolutely rejected
any notion of permanent inspection in Germany and, without British
support, Briand’s plans had no chance of success.

When Britain embraced the policy of appeasement after the Locarno
Conference, Major-General Wauchope became its prime instrument con-
cerning the disarmament of Germany. Wauchope now urged concessions
of all remaining points and worked to bring home the Allied troops as
soon as possible. While Wauchope’s attitude toward Germany and disar-
mament in general was similar to Bingham’s, the major difference between
the two was that Wauchope had the desire, demeanor, and support needed
to become a forceful tool of British policy. The new appeaser sought con-
cessions on many points dear to the French, including the police and para-
military associations.53 While the French worked to disarm Germany,
Wauchope’s skills in diplomacy disarmed the French. The British General
also had the full support of the Foreign Secretary and, unlike Bingham, the
Foreign Office.54 Chamberlain continued to point out that the peace of
Europe depended upon conciliatory relations and not the strict enforce-
ment of Versailles.
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French hopes of ensuring the final execution of the remaining disarma-
ment clauses in the fall of 1926 were dimming, as the French faced the two
insurmountable obstacles of German intransigence and British appease-
ment. The German government paid lip-service to fulfillment while placing
the blame for lack of progress upon the Allies themselves.55 When Philippe
Berthelot, Secretary of the French Foreign Ministry, admitted that he sup-
ported the withdrawal of the IAMCC if Germany fulfilled the remaining
disarmament points, a member of the British Foreign Office insisted that
the very points France considered crucial to security concerns were
“trivial, valueless, and unjustifiable.”56 The Foreign Office, however,
admitted that four major points remained unsettled – illegal enlistment
practices, police organization, laws for prohibiting the import and export
of war material, and paramilitary associations – but even these seemed to
change with the whims and moods of its officials.57

Still insisting on the execution of the military clauses of the treaty, the
French refused to agree that only four points remained. The existence of
the General Staff, new forts in Königsberg, and illegal military training
continued to raise the ire of French officials who would not part with the
Versailles Treaty. Briand was unwilling to transfer any military control to
the League of Nations with so many points unsettled.58 French pleas did
not move the British, who used Locarno and German admission to the
League of Nations as a pretext to support their six-year contention that
Germany was essentially disarmed. Only the question of war material truly
concerned British policy-makers now.59 The key British officials respons-
ible for German disarmament believed the IAMCC had worn out its
welcome. As far as they were concerned, any points that bothered the
French could be worked out between France and Germany.

In December 1926, the Locarno powers gathered in Geneva to make
one last major effort to settle the remaining points of disarmament.60

Chamberlain, Briand, and Stresemann intimately reunited in the hope of
re-creating their success of the previous year. In an attempt to generate the
goodwill of Locarno, Chamberlain held meetings in his room at the Beau
Rivage Hotel.61 The Allies and Germany hoped to settle the numerous
questions that had been in suspense for some time but there was no real
mystery as to the positions of all those concerned. The British wanted to
pull the IAMCC out of Germany so that the League of Nations, even
without any detailed plans, could take over any investigations of the state
of German military strength. The French still urged Germany to comply
with the litany of Allied demands that stemmed from the military clauses
of the Treaty of Versailles. Germany dug into a policy of delay, hoping
that the Allies would just walk away and allow the League of Nations to
take over an ephemeral form of military control. Many of the points left
over from June 1925, however, were working their way toward resolution.
The Allies had attained some degree of success immediately prior to the
Geneva meetings, and the Conference of Ambassadors relegated a number
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of points to secondary importance only. Subsequently, they dropped the
issues of the German High Command, coastal defenses, and railway
organization.62

In Geneva, Europe’s leaders focused upon two points: the import and
export of war material and the construction of new fortifications in
Königsberg. Without hopes of an imminent settlement on the baffling
question of war material – officially defining war material and seeing to
the German passage of a law to prevent its import and export – the Allies
bypassed the issue in order to look at the question of German construction
of eastern fortifications. The forts in question were no trivial matter, espe-
cially to Foch and Walch, who had previously reported that the Germans
had built numerous concrete reinforced forts in eastern Germany.63 The
German government justified the new construction (which continued
during the negotiations) on the grounds that the forts were for defensive
purposes only and that German forts must be allowed to maintain modern
standards.64 The French, armed with the Treaty of Versailles, opposed any
new construction while the British saw no reason to delay the withdrawal
of the IAMCC. Briand, however, insisted on some sort of agreement on
the final two disarmament issues before allowing the IAMCC to cease
functioning in Germany.

On 12 December 1926, the final day of the meetings, a breakthrough
produced a settlement that would have far-reaching effects upon the last
vestiges of the disarmament and military control of Germany.65 The Allies
and Germany agreed to allow the Conference of Ambassadors to continue
to discuss the war material and fortifications issues, and prohibited the
construction of all fortifications in Germany until both parties reached a
final settlement. More importantly, the Allies ordered the withdrawal of
the IAMCC on 31 January 1927, whereupon the Council of the League
of Nations would have the authority to resolve any remaining issues of
German disarmament. The League had already appointed a Commission
of Investigation for German military affairs that could carry out investiga-
tions of German establishments in the future but had worked out few
details concerning any actual operations.66 Not yet willing to bestow the
League with absolute independent authority in Germany’s military affairs,
the Allies also decided to attach military experts to their Berlin embassies
to help resolve the remaining disarmament issues. The French viewed the
possibility of the League of Nations overseeing the state of German mili-
tary affairs with skepticism and considered the IAMCC and the Confer-
ence of Ambassadors to be better suited to the task.67 However, the
pressure from Britain and Germany had been too great to be able to retain
the IAMCC any longer. To some degree, the French hoped the experts
would try to pick up where the IAMCC left off. Although the experts
immediately replaced the IAMCC, their investigative powers and authority
were still unknown.

After the December agreement, the IAMCC had six weeks left to try to
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complete the task of disarmament. The French and British officers of the
IAMCC refused simply to relax and enjoy their last few weeks in Berlin.
Up until the end, the British emphasis upon eradicating Germany’s poten-
tial to either produce or import weapons of war was evident as Wauchope
wondered whether the League of Nations had enough strength to prevent
the German war industry from rising from the ashes. Three important
questions remained under the guise of the IAMCC for the final month: the
police, war material, and eastern fortifications. The Conference of Ambas-
sadors settled the issue of the size of the German police when Germany
signed an accord on 21 December 1926, restricting the overall number of
police to 140,000 but conceding the exclusion of forest guards in the
overall figure.68 The other two issues, war material and eastern fortifica-
tions, remained unchanged.

The majority of French military officials were horrified at the possibility
that Germany might soon be free from Allied military control. They
launched futile last-ditch efforts to persuade the decision-makers to change
their minds. General Barthélemy, the former French President of the Effec-
tives Sub-commission, complained to a British officer in the Rhineland that
Germany was not disarmed and that the progress of the IAMCC had been
illusory.69 At the end of the year, the French Ministry of War produced a
dire Morganesque warning of German military prowess that made the
work of the IAMCC appear useless. In addition to evidence of hidden
stockpiles of war material and the maintenance of experienced cadres, the
War Ministry estimated that Germany had upward of six million men and
almost half a million officers and NCOs that could be called up, and could
easily raise 120 to 150 divisions of shock troops.70 If such a claim were
true, then the seven years of disarmament had failed. However, the
numbers were undoubtedly an exaggerated and desperate attempt to keep
the IAMCC in Germany, and the French Foreign Ministry considered the
report to be inaccurate.71

With the wheels in motion to bring the inspectors home, the Allies
needed to agree upon a final date of withdrawal. Similar to the task of
drafting the General Report in February 1925, the Allied governments had
ordered the IAMCC to produce a final report of the state of German disar-
mament before departing. After realizing the task was complex and exten-
sive, the Conference of Ambassadors allowed the last remnants of the
IAMCC to remain in Germany until the end of February 1927.72 The
month-long reprieve would allow the IAMCC time to finish the lengthy
assessment of German military strength, which was to be a primer for the
incoming experts. Revealingly, Foch indicated that the Final Report would
help the Allied military experts whereas Wauchope saw the report as an
aid to the League of Nations in its alleged investigative role.73 The future
of German disarmament thus involved three levels: the authority of the
Conference of Ambassadors to discuss and rule on the remaining military
issues (in consultation with the AMCV), the unspecified role of the experts
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to enter discussions with the Germans in order to effect a final settlement
of Allied disarmament demands, and the investigative power of the League
of Nations.

The final weeks of the IAMCC produced no progress toward the settle-
ment of any remaining issues. Discussions on police organization, illegal
paramilitary associations, the lack of a law to prohibit the import and
export of war material, and the existence of new fortifications in eastern
Germany proved futile. The German government hoped the Allied decision
to withdraw the IAMCC would lead to a settlement of all issues by the end
of January 1927.74 However, Germany would not comply with Allied
demands, and the question of disarmament survived. The inability to
resolve the remaining issues even dismayed the optimistic Chamberlain,
who could not understand German attitudes following Locarno. Chamber-
lain took verbal agreements and good intentions at face value, and the
inherent defect of appeasement was that it held no place for dishonor and
specious motives. Chamberlain admitted privately in mid-January 1927
that Allied concessions to Germany had led merely to more German
demands.75 Just over a decade later, his brother Neville would fail to learn
the same lesson. Yet Austen Chamberlain’s anger over the lack of progress
over the final details of war material and fortifications, or his belief that
Germany hoped to reconstitute the Reichswehr along nefarious designs,
did not allow him to fight the imminent withdrawal of the IAMCC. With
regard to the German promises of complete fulfillment of the remaining
military clauses of the Versailles Treaty, Chamberlain had gambled on the
spirit of Locarno and lost. The disarmament of Germany was in its twi-
light, and the nurturing rays of “Locarno sunshine” that had given life to a
new era of diplomatic trust and friendship faded away as the IAMCC van-
ished into the shadows.
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12 Superficial control

On 31 January 1927, the officers and men of the Inter-Allied Military
Control Commission left Germany, seven years after the start of disarma-
ment operations. Thrown into the cauldron of post-war chaos with a
complex mission to disarm a twentieth-century power, the IAMCC experi-
enced mixed results, with periods of incredible progress toward the degra-
dation of German military strength intertwined with longer periods of
frustrating inactivity. Although the IAMCC did not disarm Germany to all
the levels stipulated by the Treaty of Versailles, it successfully accomplished
its major tasks of eradicating German armaments, reducing the Reichswehr
to 100,000 men, and destroying the bulk of German fortifications. The offi-
cers responsible for disarmament operations – Nollet, Bingham,
Barthélemy, Morgan, Wauchope, and Walch – disappeared from Germany
along with the organization that had consumed them over the last number
of years.1 The only task that remained was the production of the final
report of the IAMCC. Yet one factor common to both the initiation and
withdrawal of the IAMCC was the element of uncertainty over the future
course of German disarmament. In fact, in 1927 the Allies faced some of
the same problems that the IAMCC faced in 1920. The organization of the
German police and existence of paramilitary organizations remained in sus-
pense while new problems, such as the construction of forts in eastern
Germany and the continued use of military establishments, were now the
responsibility of the untested League of Nations and the embryonic Allied
technical experts. The Allies had passed on the torch of disarmament but it
was evident to all that the flickering flame was burning out.

Concomitant with the withdrawal of the IAMCC, the Allies and
Germany worked out an accord concerning Germany’s eastern fortifica-
tions, one of the more contentious remaining points of disarmament. Since
1920 Germany had constructed eighty-eight forts, and the British and
French had declared any new construction illegal under the Treaty of Ver-
sailles. Unable to conduct extensive inspections since the General Inspec-
tion, and under British pressure to finalize the work of the IAMCC, the
Allies made some significant compromises in the final agreement. The
January Accord reiterated the original intentions of the peacemakers of

 



Versailles by stipulating that Germany maintain the forts on its eastern
and southern frontiers in their existing state. Germany could not increase
the number or dimensions of the forts and could only carry out simple
maintenance and basic upkeep of the structures. The final element of the
Accord, which amounted to a significant Allied concession to Germany,
allowed Germany to keep fifty-four forts that they had built since the start
of disarmament operations.2 The AMCV worked out the details of the
agreement, which represented the last tangible effort produced with the
assistance of the IAMCC.

The experts

When the IAMCC withdrew from Germany at the end of January 1927,
the question of the role of the League of Nations reappeared even as the
Allies still maintained a theoretical form of military control in Germany. In
their Geneva meeting of 12 December 1926 the Locarno powers had
declared that the League of Nations would assume the responsibility of
German disarmament upon the withdrawal of the IAMCC under Article
213 of the Treaty of Versailles. The Council of the League of Nations,
however, which assumed the authority to ensure German compliance with
Allied disarmament demands and which could order investigations of
German violations, did not become involved with German disarmament
following the withdrawal of the IAMCC. In fact, following German
entrance into the League in September 1926, League control over German
armaments was stillborn.3 Despite continued reports of armaments viola-
tions following the withdrawal of the IAMCC, the League never voted to
carry out any investigations. The Allied disarmament of Germany
remained completely in the hands of the Conference of Ambassadors,
AMCV, and the experts, and then disappeared altogether along with these
organizations by January 1931.

Despite the intentions of the peacemakers of 1919 to involve the League
of Nations in disarmament, the actions of League members in both
German and general disarmament never amounted to anything more than
speeches, proposals, reports, committees, and commissions. In addition,
the seeds planted by the Allies in the Treaty of Versailles and League
Covenant in 1919 for a general disarmament of the League’s members
never bore much fruit. Throughout the 1920s and into the 1930s, the idea
that German disarmament would be a prelude to a general disarmament of
the League’s members found itself adrift in nationalist and security-minded
politics. France, in particular, was hesitant to reduce its military capacity
and consistently allocated the highest percentage of its gross national
product of the Western powers to the military.4 Instead, the dream of
general disarmament was never able to free itself successfully from the
multitude of disarmament committees and commissions that dominated
the League’s agenda.5
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Although the Allies had decided to transfer authority over German dis-
armament to the League of Nations upon the withdrawal of the IAMCC,
they had also established the right to station Allied technical military per-
sonnel in Berlin to resolve the remaining disarmament issues. Con-
sequently, the Allies created a body of four experts and ordered them to
resolve the problems associated with the Allied demands of 4 June 1925.6

The Conference of Ambassadors would be responsible for settling any
decision of the experts that lacked unanimity. After deciding to pay for
their expenses, the Allied governments appointed French Commandant
Durand (Effectives), British Colonel Gosset (Armaments), Italian Colonel
Azzariti (Fortifications), and Belgium Major Pulinx as the experts in
Germany (Japan, never a strong partner in the IAMCC, no longer associ-
ated itself with the disarmament of Germany). These four Allied officers
represented the final attempt to enforce the modified military clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles upon Germany, and similar to the IAMCC, their pres-
ence in Germany would be measured not in months, but in years.

The creation of the experts addressed two crucial concerns for the
British and French. First, the need to establish a new body of military
control illustrated the lack of trust and respect that Britain and France had
for the ability of the League of Nations to oversee German disarmament.
While the French were advocates of the League of Nations as one element
of their quest for post-war security, they pushed for the physical presence
of Allied troops that could verify German compliance with disarmament as
another security guarantee. Second, the experts appeared to be the most
expedient solution to continue disarmament efforts through bodies con-
trolled by Britain and France (the Conference of Ambassadors, AMCV, as
well as the experts) without the numbers of Allied inspectors that
affronted German sovereignty. The Allies insisted that the experts were not
a replacement for the IAMCC despite the fact that their organization and
goals were almost identical.7 For instance, the experts were an Allied body
responsible to the Conference of Ambassadors (often through the AMCV)
for continuing discussions over the former issues of the IAMCC. Allied
leaders hoped that these four officers could negotiate with German officials
and hammer out final settlements of the remaining points. One important
obstacle, though, was whether the experts had the right to carry out
inspections to determine German compliance with Allied demands. The
British, French, and Germans would debate the idea of verification
throughout the period of the experts. In essence, the experts were the
belated implementation of the idea of the Committee of Guarantee that
dominated Anglo–French disarmament discussions in 1922. Yet how could
four officers resolve the same remaining issues where dozens had failed?

The IAMCC completed its Final Report on 28 February 1927 and
entrusted it to the experts as a blueprint for continued disarmament
efforts. The report comprised a comprehensive study of the numerous
accomplishments of the IAMCC. From 1920 to 1927, the Allies had
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reduced the German army from about 400,000 to 100,000 men, destroyed
huge stocks of war material, abolished compulsory service, converted hun-
dreds of factories from war to commercial production, destroyed a vast
network of fortifications, and stopped the import and export of war
material. Inspections, especially when supported by the threat of military
sanctions, had disarmed Germany. Germany’s intent to increase its mili-
tary strength was obvious, but so was the fact that German military cap-
abilities of conducting modern war had disappeared. The report also
added, however, that problems remained, and that Germany continued to
violate certain military articles of the Versailles Treaty. These issues
included the organization of the German police, use of military establish-
ments, existence of the High Command and paramilitary associations,
illegal recruitment and training of the Reichswehr and volunteers, and
passage of legislation to prohibit the import and export of war material.8

Given the past history of failed negotiations of the IAMCC over settle-
ments of these same questions, the four Allied technical experts in Berlin
assumed complex tasks without the necessary means (the right of compre-
hensive inspections) of accomplishing them.

After the experts received the litany of mission requirements, the four
Allied officers finally met as a group in Berlin on 10 March. Instead of
examining one of the problems enumerated by the IAMCC, the experts
discussed whether they had any right to visit German establishments to
verify compliance with Allied disarmament demands. The Allies wanted
specifically to be able to determine whether Germany was fulfilling its
promises under the accord reached on 31 January regarding the destruc-
tion of a number of eastern fortifications. The German government
opposed any inspections of the forts in question and considered its word to
be sufficient verification.9 Within a month, the British Foreign Office
refuted the legal right of visitation of the experts and went so far as to
oppose any future inspections of the League of Nations.10 Although the
Germans adamantly opposed any inspections by the experts, they did
suggest that inspections of fortification destruction in eastern Germany be
carried out by an American military attaché; Briand, however, rejected this
plan.11 The French pushed for verification of German compliance but
Briand failed to convince Chamberlain or Stresemann of the necessity of
inspections. In June, before seeing any progress toward the remaining dis-
armament issues, the War Office pointed out that the British government
supported the withdrawal of the experts as soon as possible but needed at
least German verbal acquiescence in fulfillment of the issues that had been
outlined in the Final Report of the IAMCC.12 The major difference
between British and French policies toward German disarmament in early
1927 and throughout the era of the experts was that while the former sup-
ported verbal promises of German fulfillment, the latter demanded phys-
ical evidence.

Allied disarmament efforts first focused upon the issue of whether
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Germany had honored its obligations in destroying surplus fortifications
under the January Accord. The Accord, a written agreement with specific
instructions, could be easily assessed by a few inspections of the forts in
question. In May, the Conference of Ambassadors interceded in the
ongoing discussions of the right of investigation by insisting on fort inspec-
tions. In addition, the Conference added that unless Germany allowed
investigations, it would request the League of Nations to carry out neces-
sary inspections.13 Although Germany professed its support for the transfer
of disarmament questions to the League, the German government opposed
all future inspections on German soil and hoped that German membership
in the League would prevent any talk of investigations. Consequently, the
German government began to seek a solution to Allied verification of the
fortifications issue.

As Britain’s expert, Colonel Gosset sought resolutely to resolve the
questions left to him and his colleagues by the IAMCC. Gosset, appointed
by Major-General Wauchope for his armaments expertise, was a former
IAMCC member. At odds with the Foreign Office, Gosset intended to
carry out his duties as prescribed by Marshal Foch’s instructions of
January 1927. Consequently, in June, Gosset reported that four major dis-
armament issues remained – Germany’s eastern fortifications (verification
of the January Accord), police organization (passage of administrative
measures by the German states to comply with the stipulations of Ver-
sailles), a law to prohibit the import and export of war material, and the
illegal use of former Reichswehr establishments by the police. He pointed
out that the Allies and Germany would soon settle the former three issues
but believed that only direct inspections could resolve the fortifications
question.14

On 16 June, Stresemann informed Chamberlain and Briand that he had
decided to allow one or two Allied experts to inspect the fortifications in
question to determine whether they had been demolished under the
January Accord.15 Although Stresemann added that this special verification
was not to set a precedent for future Allied inspections in Germany, the
British and French statesmen agreed with his proposal. Consequently,
Commandant Durand and Major Pulinx, the French and Belgian experts
respectively, carried out inspections from 4 to 8 July of Germany’s eastern
forts in Königsberg, Küstrin, and Glogau.16 These inspections determined
that the Germans had fulfilled their obligations under the January Accord,
and the Allies formally concluded the issue of Germany’s eastern fortifica-
tions with the stroke of a pen in July.17 The Allies also resolved one other
important issue. For years, the Allies had pressed Germany to pass legisla-
tion to prohibit the import and export of war material, and many technical
omissions had delayed Allied satisfaction. However, on 7 July 1927, the
Reichstag passed a law forbidding the importation and exportation of war
material that satisfied Allied fears of a potential source for augmenting the
state of the German military.18
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Following the successful resolution of the issue of eastern fortifications,
Britain and France began to push for the settlement of the other remaining
disarmament questions. The fort inspections carried out by Durand and
Pulinx illustrated the ease with which problems could be resolved when
Germany fulfilled its disarmament obligations and allowed limited Allied
inspections.19 Even the British Foreign Office and Stresemann reluctantly
agreed that a limited number of specific inspections could lead to further
success and effect the withdrawal of the experts. As a result, in the summer
the experts and their German counterparts agreed to a limited number of
inspections of German military establishments (mostly barracks), police
headquarters, and Rhenish forts.20 Gosset personally inspected a number
of military establishments throughout Germany, including those in
Hanover, Leipzig, and Breslau.21 For the next few months, the inspections
by the experts proceeded to satisfy both the Germans and Allies, yet a final
settlement of the nagging questions of disarmament remained elusive.

After the initial success of the experts in bringing to a close the fortifica-
tions issue and carrying out a small number of inspections, the remainder
of Allied disarmament efforts in Germany focused on two major issues: the
organization of the German police and the use of German military estab-
lishments.22 Even as the experts entered their second year of duty in
Germany, the police question contained many of the problems that had
existed since 1920. The Allies still maintained that the German states had
to pass laws that prohibited central or federal control of the police forces,
stipulated a precise training regimen, and ensured compliance with person-
nel restrictions. Without a full schedule of inspections, the Allies
demanded that Germany surrender budget reports on the police that indi-
cated personnel and administrative matters.23 In addition, the Allies
claimed that Germany was maintaining a surplus of police personnel in
former Reichswehr barracks (the Allies restricted the number to 35,000)
and insisted on German compliance. The Allies also demanded that
Germany purge the Reichswehr’s military establishments – the barracks,
training grounds, administrative offices, army hospitals, weapons depots,
and so on – of their military intentions and use them for peaceful purposes
only. Hundreds of these establishments existed, particularly on the left
bank of the Rhine. There were also minor issues – recruitment, organi-
zation of the German railways, military training of youth organizations,
surplus war material, and German coastal batteries – that Britain and
France continued to discuss with German authorities.24

Two major problems in enforcing Allied disarmament demands in the
era of the experts were the shifting attitudes of the British toward termi-
nating disarmament operations and the lack of an Allied policy in deter-
mining disarmament priorities. In 1927, the British Foreign Office opposed
inspections while the War Office favored them in limited numbers. At the
start of 1928, however, after witnessing success in some of the remaining
points, the War Office considered the continuation of the experts to be a

174 Goodbye to all that (1927–1931)

 



useless and expensive endeavor.25 Much to the chagrin of the French
Foreign Ministry, by May, Chamberlain believed the negative political
impact of the experts upon relations with Germany outweighed any bene-
fits of continuing disarmament efforts.26 Chamberlain urged the re-
establishment of normal relations with Germany. The Foreign Secretary
pointed out that the British government considered only the issues of the
police, military establishments, and Germany’s coastal batteries to be
important. Chamberlain’s proclamations also shed light on the problem in
determining the priorities of disarmament.

Both the British and the French believed that the reorganization of the
police and the transformation of military establishments were crucial to
disarming Germany. However, beyond these two issues, the various British
and French departments, as well as the Allied disarmament organizations
themselves (the experts, Conference of Ambassadors, and AMCV) seemed
to select randomly a few of the remaining disarmament points at various
times as “essential” to the completion of Allied efforts in Germany. The
lack of a unified Allied policy toward resolving the remaining points led to
indecision, uncertainty, and a prolongation of inefficient disarmament
operations in Germany. Aside from prioritizing the issues of the German
police and military establishments, the half-hearted attempts to attain
results simultaneously in numerous issues did not lead to further successes.

The French wanted desperately to find a solution to the organization of
the German police before the Allies withdrew the experts from Germany.
In the spring and summer of 1928, the French considered withdrawing the
experts but only on the condition that Germany satisfactorily resolved the
police question.27 Always concerned with matters regarding German
armed personnel, the French pushed for a last set of inspections to deter-
mine compliance, but the German government refused all inspections. By
July, the British government was ready to consider the immediate with-
drawal of the experts from Germany. Even Cambon appeared willing to
withdraw the experts in October. The Conference of Ambassadors
demanded that Germany take precise measures regarding their police
forces and paramilitary associations, and based withdrawal of the experts
upon fulfillment.28 However, a settlement remained elusive.29

Despite the Conference of Ambassadors’ proposal to withdraw the
experts if Germany resolved various disarmament issues, there was very
little progress in fulfillment of Allied demands by the end of the year. The
issues of the German police and military establishments remained in sus-
pense, and other minor points remained unfulfilled. The Germans were
also becoming more hostile to the continuance of the experts. On 20
October, the Mueller government declared that both the government and
the people wanted the immediate termination of the experts and that the
remaining questions of disarmament were internal issues only.30 Within
weeks, the Conference of Ambassadors renounced any ideas of withdraw-
ing the experts upon completion of the police and military establishment
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issues and offered a compromise. The Allied delegates asked Germany to
allow the experts to make spot inspections of the police and decided to
give Germany four years to convert their military establishments into com-
mercial uses.31 But Foch opposed withdrawing the experts and declared
that it would be impossible to inform the League of Nations that Germany
was disarmed.32 The Marshal was particularly angry that Allied conces-
sions elicited only German refusal of inspections and denial of violations.33

At this point, the British considered withdrawing their expert regardless of
any common policy with the French.34

In December, the British Committee of Imperial Defense, emboldened
by a recent Times article by Morgan and a War Office report, created a
rather sensational stir in British military circles when it claimed that
Germany was disarmed but would soon strive to become a European mili-
tary power.35 Winston Churchill, the current British Chancellor of the
Exchequer, was unruffled by the claims and put his trust in the French
army to counteract any German aggressive tendencies. Clearly, though, the
British military still harbored some reservations about the state of German
disarmament. Before the year was over, the Conference of Ambassadors
expressed its disappointment with the German government by pointing out
that the issues of the police and military establishments lacked fulfill-
ment.36 With numerous disarmament issues still in suspense, the four
experts remained entrenched in Berlin, working feverishly with the
German authorities to resolve the long-standing disarmament questions,
and longing for home.

The end of the road

In the last days of winter, on 20 March 1929, while the experts pressed for
the completion of the remaining points of disarmament, Marshal Ferdi-
nand Foch passed away quietly in his house in Paris.37 Foch had been one
of the most vociferous proponents of enforcing the military clauses of Ver-
sailles, and as the feisty head of the Allied Military Committee of Ver-
sailles he had clashed with both French and British political and military
authorities. While the authority and prestige of Foch could not be equaled,
French General Baratier assumed his role on the AMCV. The consummate
thorn in the German side, first as the glorious Commander-in-Chief of the
Allied and Associated powers at the end of World War I and then as mili-
tary adviser to the Conference of Ambassadors throughout the 1920s, was
gone; the AMCV would soon meet the same fate.

The experts continued to discuss possible disarmament solutions with
German military authorities throughout 1929. For the first half of the
year, the AMCV and the Conference of Ambassadors allowed the experts
to handle the difficulties alone. In fact, the Conference of Ambassadors
met only twice during the entire year, and progress toward settling disar-
mament was disappearing altogether. To make matters worse, the French
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were even reporting new violations of the military clauses of the Versailles
Treaty, no matter how small the infractions.38 One particularly bold
attempt by Germany to circumvent Allied demands included the use of
receipts from the sale of military establishments (ostensibly to convert
them into peaceful installations) to construct more modern versions.39

Gosset considered German violations to be trivial but, despite his lack of
consent, the experts reported to the AMCV that Germany possessed illegal
war material and was organizing paramilitary forces on its eastern fron-
tier.40 All the AMCV could do was pass the information to the Conference
of Ambassadors, which in turn would send a note to the German govern-
ment demanding changes. The cycle was monotonous, and at this stage of
disarmament, useless. Without the right of inspection, which both the
British and the French agreed they lacked, and without German compliance,
Allied efforts to complete the last points of disarmament were futile.

Allied enforcement of the disarmament clauses of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles was obviously winding down as governments and political con-
ditions changed. The inauguration of a new Labour government in Britain
under Ramsay MacDonald, with Arthur Henderson as Foreign Secretary,
dramatically altered Britain’s policy toward the Rhineland but had little
effect upon German disarmament.41 In France, governments continued to
change but the Foreign Ministry remained stable under the guidance of
Aristide Briand. While the four experts tried to settle the remaining disar-
mament issues, the political authorities began to reflect upon the history of
disarmament. Harold Nicolson, a member of the Central Department of
the Foreign Office, believed that true enforcement of the disarmament
clauses of Versailles could be attained only through military force. Since
neither Britain nor France were willing to threaten military sanctions to
enforce the Versailles Treaty, Nicolson resigned himself to acquiescence.42

Even Colonel Gosset admitted that withdrawing the IAMCC had deprived
the Allies of the only truly effective means of supervising the state of the
German military. Like Nicolson, he questioned whether the Allies had the
gumption to enforce sanctions against German violations.43 General
Baratier simply indicated that the withdrawal of the experts would leave
the job of disarmament incomplete.44

By the fall, the presence of the experts was becoming difficult to justify.
The British and French had previously agreed that they had no legal right
to investigate German military affairs, and negotiations were making little
headway. The British were pushing for the withdrawal of the experts, but
after threatening to pull Gosset out regardless of any agreement with the
French, the MacDonald government agreed to maintain their expert with
the others. The Foreign Office resigned itself to a pessimistic outcome and
believed that France would find excuses for retaining its expert in
Germany interminably; it came to the realization that the entire disarma-
ment question would never be settled satisfactorily.45 Publicly, the Allies
did not give up hope, and they sent a joint note to the German government
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in November requesting negotiations to settle all outstanding military
questions.46 But the outcome of the note was obvious. Almost a decade
after the Treaty of Versailles had come into effect, enforcement had
become a mere shadow of its former self. With no authority behind Allied
demands, and without the slightest chance of sanctions, the incentive for
German fulfillment had disappeared altogether. The hope that the good-
will of Locarno would spill over in the following years of European diplo-
macy had been naive. The Allies instead began to discuss a withdrawal
date for the experts.

French and German representatives made one final attempt at the start
of the new decade to settle the police and military establishment questions.
The intense discussions bore fruit. On 10 January 1930, exactly one
decade after the Allies officially embarked upon a crusade to disarm the
German military, the Allies signed an agreement with Germany to termi-
nate the mission of the experts. Given the struggle over negotiations
regarding the outstanding final points of disarmament, the settlement came
suddenly. The German government agreed to organize all state police
forces according to the Prussian model (Prussia had the largest force and
had been the first to organize its police along the lines of Article 162 of the
Versailles Treaty) and promised either to destroy all excess military estab-
lishments or convert them to peaceful purposes by the end of May 1930.47

Acting as an observer, the British government supported the accord and
agreed to uphold its principles. The lack of a British signature, however,
would later have an impact upon the French attempt to resolve the remain-
ing issues of disarmament in concert.

Nine days after the signing of the January agreement, the Allies decided
to withdraw the experts. Briand informed the German government that the
Allies would terminate the mission of the experts on 31 January, where-
upon they would hand over all further disarmament discussions to the
Conference of Ambassadors.48 Thus, disarmament was not yet complete,
but the Allies had resolved the two issues that had frustrated the experts –
the German police and military establishments. The experts remained in
Germany for a few months to draw up a final report but their official
capacity was over.49 Unlike most decisions made by the Conference of
Ambassadors, AMCV, or the IAMCC, the Allies negotiated with the
German government to sign the January agreement. The agreement
theoretically resolved the two major remaining issues and was the last
success the Allies could hope to achieve. The problem that remained, of
course, was Germany’s willingness to comply with the agreement without
any Allied will to enforce it.

The activities of the Conference of Ambassadors and its loyal advisory
body, the AMCV, had diminished significantly in the early months of
1930. The AMCV, created to deal with military questions only, became
expendable with the termination of the experts. In January, the Conference
of Ambassadors decided to terminate the AMCV when the experts handed

178 Goodbye to all that (1927–1931)

 



their Final Report to the League of Nations.50 Yet the AMCV did not
spend its remaining time quietly awaiting its departure. Dominated by
French policy under Foch’s replacement, General Baratier, the AMCV
attempted to reintroduce the issue of inspections to verify German com-
pliance with the 10 January Accord. Although the effort failed, the
AMCV, and even Briand, continued to point out that police reorganization
and the transformation of military establishments remained unfulfilled.51

The question that remained was how the Allies intended to enforce the
final vestiges of the disarmament clauses of Versailles.

In May 1930, the British put an end to all French hopes of maintaining
an Allied nature to the completion of German disarmament. The British
government severed its relationship to German disarmament in any official
capacity by no longer recognizing the authority of the Conference of
Ambassadors or the AMCV.52 The Conference of Ambassadors had met
only irregularly over the last two years and by 1930 was no longer
involved substantially with German disarmament. The AMCV, on the
other hand, continued to find German violations of previous Allied disar-
mament demands. The MacDonald government justified its disassociation
with these formerly Allied bodies by claiming that Britain did not sign the
agreement of 10 January and that it was strictly a Franco–German affair.
Thus, Britain believed that any disarmament problems which concerned
the French should be worked out between the French and German govern-
ments. The British still maintained representatives on the AMCV and the
Conference of Ambassadors but their roles were not constructive. In fact,
the British government instructed its representative on the AMCV not to
sign reports critical of Germany.53 Allied enforcement of the remaining ele-
ments of the disarmament clauses of the Treaty of Versailles was dead,
although the British government did point out that it would honor previ-
ous agreements.54 Ironically, Britain had to indicate its willingness to
honor agreements on the anniversary of the signing of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles, an agreement that Britain did not honor in its entirety.

French military and political authorities refused to give up on the execu-
tion of German disarmament. Under British pressure to dissolve the
AMCV, the French sought to exert their influence over any future inter-
national efforts needed to observe German compliance with the disarma-
ment clauses of the Treaty of Versailles. Fears of German rearmament,
fueled by years of violations of the military clauses of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles, continued to shape French foreign policy.55 In December 1930, the
French War Ministry introduced a proposal to create a substitute for
the French section of the AMCV.56 With the imminent dissolution of the
AMCV, the French hoped to maintain a grasp on the outstanding military
clauses of Versailles. The original proposal included the creation of a
French military advisory body to the Conference of Ambassadors that
precluded any Allied nature. Since the Conference of Ambassadors was
still officially an Allied body, the French hoped to influence German
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disarmament through collective action. Thus, the goal of the new organi-
zation was to exert French authority over possible international action
against Germany. The French General Staff feared that the lack of a mili-
tary advisory body to the Conference of Ambassadors would leave the
remaining disarmament points permanently unsettled and could lead to
more German military violations in the future. However, the French did
not have an abundance of time to plug the gap that would soon be left by
the AMCV’s departure. On 4 December, after adding its own observa-
tions, the AMCV sent the Final Report of the experts to the Conference of
Ambassadors.57

By the end of the year, the French Foreign Ministry was convinced that
the existence of the AMCV could not be prolonged. Without support from
the other member nations, especially Britain, the Quai d’Orsay agreed with
the Ministry of War to establish a French substitute for the AMCV.58 The
Foreign Ministry pointed out that a new military advisory body, working
in conjunction with the Conference of Ambassadors, would allow at least
a minimum of inter-Allied collaboration. In addition, the advisory role of
the new organization would facilitate any potential future inspections
of the state of the German military ordered by the Council of the League
of Nations. Throughout the winter of 1931, the French ministries dis-
cussed the new organization and modified its title and overall mission.59

Briand insisted on the confidentiality of the new organization after the
British responded to its creation with distaste.60 Both the British War
Office and Foreign Office were afraid that the French would establish a
monopoly of authority concerning German disarmament.61 The British
agreed that some points of disarmament remained, such as police organi-
zation, military establishments, and paramilitary associations, but were
not willing to take any steps to settle them. In fact, the British hoped to
reduce the critical aspects of the Conference of Ambassadors’ final note to
the League of Nations. Although Britain no longer enforced the military
clauses of Versailles they continued to exert their influence to reduce the
severity of French actions.

In March 1931, the French reached a final agreement on their new mili-
tary advisory organization when the new Minister of War, General André
Maginot, established the Section Militaire d’étude des Traités under
General Baratier. The Section Militaire was to resolve all unsettled points
of disarmament, act as technical adviser to the Conference of Ambas-
sadors, maintain the archives of the IAMCC and AMCV, study German
breaches of the military clauses of the post-war treaties (with an emphasis
on Versailles), work with the military representatives of the other member
nations of the Conference of Ambassadors, and prepare reports for pos-
sible investigations of the state of Germany’s military.62 Essentially, the
new organization was another AMCV, without the bothersome opposition
of Allied representatives but lacking international credibility.

The meetings of the Conference of Ambassadors had become all too
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infrequent in 1929 and 1930, and failed to produce any positive results
concerning German fulfillment of the military clauses of the Treaty of Ver-
sailles. With the desire of the British government to transfer all authority
to the Council of the League of Nations, the Conference was nearing the
end. The withdrawal of the IAMCC, the experts, and the imminent dis-
banding of the AMCV clearly marked the inevitable path toward the dis-
solution of the Conference of Ambassadors. The Conference maintained
that Germany had not yet fulfilled certain military clauses – the distribu-
tion, training, and housing of police, transformation of military establish-
ments, illegal Reichswehr enlistment, and the existence of paramilitary
associations – but took no action to rectify the ongoing situation.63 The
once powerful and authoritative voice of the war’s victors was now but a
hoarse whisper.

On 16 March 1931, after the Conference of Ambassadors sent the Final
Report of the experts to the League of Nations and adjourned for one final
meeting, the Allies dissolved the AMCV.64 As its final act, the Conference
of Ambassadors attached a note to the Final Report illustrating the lack of
German compliance with the remaining points of disarmament but point-
ing out that it no longer had authority to preside over such matters.65

These points, debated with little progress over the last few years of Allied
disarmament efforts, included the organization of the German police, the
transformation of military establishments, illegal recruitment practices of
the Reichswehr, and the existence of paramilitary associations. The same
old issues were now officially in the hands of the League of Nations. With
this transference of authority, the Conference of Ambassadors disappeared
along with any further enforcement of disarmament. Eleven years after the
Treaty of Versailles went into effect, the Allied organizations responsible
for the disarmament of Germany were gone, but the problems concerning
the lack of German compliance with certain points of disarmament were
not. As the Conference of Ambassadors faded away in obsolescence,
reports of German disarmament violations continued to clutter the desks
of both British and French military officials.66 The quest for world disar-
mament lay ahead. The Allied disarmament of Germany was over.
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13 Conclusion

Similar to calculations for a brief period of fighting in World War I, Allied
expectations for a short period of disarmament became mired in a diplo-
matic version of trench warfare. While the combatants of August 1914
thought they would celebrate victory by Christmas, Britain and France
originally hoped that they could withdraw the IAMCC after a few months
of inspections. The complexity of the Allied disarmament of Germany,
however, went far beyond the original expectations of Britain or France.
Disarmament on such a massive scale was unprecedented. Given the scope
and logistics of Allied operations, as well as the plethora of international
issues at the end of the war, the Allied notion to complete the demilitariza-
tion of Germany in a matter of months was unrealistic. The destruction of
armaments and fortifications, as well as the definition of war material, the
transformation of industries to commercial production, and the passage of
laws to prohibit the import and export of war material and to reorganize
the Reichswehr, were just a few of the numerous points of disarmament
that required clarification, discussion, and enforcement. Consequently, the
Allies developed disarmament strategies and operations within the context
of emerging difficulties, and the resulting Anglo–French decisions ulti-
mately disarmed Germany without the strict enforcement of the Treaty of
Versailles.

The disarmament of Germany arose in the aftermath of World War I
and remained a focal point in Anglo–French relations for over a decade.
Despite differences, Britain and France agreed initially that disarming
Germany was a priority in the search for peace and stability. They dis-
agreed, however, on how best to disarm Germany and to what extent.
Drafting a peace settlement was difficult enough, but enforcing the treaty
after such a devastating war presented the Allies with an enormous chal-
lenge. Post-war tensions and bitterness, fueled by the loss of a generation
of young men, created an environment hostile to success. Disparate British
and French conceptions of a post-war Europe (the balance of power versus
European hegemony and security) exacerbated the difficulties of enforcing
the military articles of the treaty. Yet Allied disarmament operations,
though far from perfect, were able to survive for eleven years to destroy

 



the capabilities of the powerful German military. In assessing the British
and French roles in the disarmament of Germany, three major conclusions
may be drawn: divergent disarmament priorities dramatically influenced
overall operations, Britain was the dominant partner in determining the
direction of Allied policy, and the Allies successfully destroyed German
military strength, most effectively through a united policy backed by mili-
tary sanctions.

Divergent Anglo–French policies

The divergence of British and French opinion over the most effective
means of disarming Germany influenced the development and enforcement
of Allied disarmament policy. Britain defined disarmament as the destruc-
tion of German armaments whereas the French definition encompassed the
fulfillment of all the military clauses but centered upon the effectives ques-
tion. From the inception of the military elements of the treaty at the Paris
Peace Conference until the final withdrawal of Allied soldiers, Britain
focused upon the destruction of German armaments and munitions, as
well as the demilitarization of German industry, as the most effective
means to disarm the most powerful industrial military complex in the
world. As early as 1919, Lloyd George emerged as a decisive influence in
pushing for the destruction of German armaments and industrial capabil-
ity to manufacture war material. His forceful and successful personal inter-
vention was not just evident at the Paris Peace Conference (where the
Allies also appointed a British general as President of the Armaments Sub-
commission), but at the Spa Conference in July 1920 when the Prime
Minister demanded a report on German armaments from General von
Seeckt and then severely chastised the German government for the amount
of remaining war material in the country. At the London Conference in
August 1922, Lloyd George further pointed out that the destruction of
armaments had left Germany militarily prostrate.

Most British military and political authorities placed a priority upon the
destruction of German armaments. The British Secretary of War in Lloyd
George’s Cabinet, Winston Churchill, agreed wholeheartedly that the
destruction of German machines and factories was the best guarantee of
disarmament. As a former officer in the Ministry of Munitions, Major-
General Bingham based effective disarmament upon the eradication of
German war material and the demilitarization of her armaments factories.
From the beginning of Allied operations, Bingham considered the destruc-
tion of German artillery to be a “matter of urgency.”1 Bingham supported
treaty modification through concessions but was responsible for the work
of the Armaments Sub-commission when the Allies witnessed the destruc-
tion of massive amounts of German war material. As early as July 1920,
Bingham reported that the IAMCC had eradicated most of Germany’s
guns, and within months the British government entertained ideas about
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replacing the IAMCC. But British interest in the armaments question did
not disappear. The presence of an essentially British group of officers in
the giant complex of Krupp from 1920 to 1926, and General Wauchope’s
emphasis upon the need to prohibit the import and export of German war
material from 1923 to 1926, lend credence to the continued priority the
British placed on controlling German armaments.

With the armaments question essentially settled by 1921, Britain
became more aloof to enforcement and considered many of the remaining
military articles of the treaty irrelevant to successful disarmament. Hoping
to withdraw the IAMCC from Germany in turn for the fulfillment of the
Five Points, the British alienated themselves from the French insistence
upon fulfillment of all the disarmament demands and began to advocate
general leniency in enforcing the remainder of the military clauses. Only
serious German evasions of the military clauses of the treaty, most notably
in May 1921 and January 1925, re-established at least temporary
Anglo–French unity. By the end of 1925, however, Austen Chamberlain,
the Foreign Office, and the War Office considered the disarmament section
of the Treaty of Versailles to be an anachronism.

French political and military authorities looked to the enforcement of
the entire treaty to ensure security. They considered every article of the
Treaty of Versailles, but especially the disarmament of Germany, to be
crucial to the safety of French sovereignty. Throughout the work of the
IAMCC and into the era of the experts, Marshal Foch and Generals Nollet
and Walch insisted that Germany fulfill its military obligations before they
would consider the withdrawal of Allied disarmament organizations from
Germany. Although by 1922 the French had relinquished any effective
means to enforce all the military clauses of the treaty by accepting the
British conception that only the Five Points remained, they never aban-
doned the hope to enforce all the Allied military demands upon Germany.
As long as Allied troops remained in Germany, the French authorities
believed that complete German disarmament was possible.

Within the context of the total enforcement of the Versailles Treaty, the
French were particularly intent upon German fulfillment of the effectives
clauses of the treaty. The fact that France had recently suffered the highest
proportional losses of any of the great powers in the war and had a
significantly smaller population than Germany led French political and
military leaders to emphasize German military potential in terms of the
superior manpower that Germany possessed. General Nollet hoped the
demilitarization of Germany would morally disarm the population and,
when it failed to do so, the French demanded physical disarmament. Thus,
the French consistently advocated the reduction of the Reichswehr and
police, and the eradication of the paramilitary associations as necessary
steps in the Allied effort to demilitarize the most urgent German threat of
military force. However, the British, never as concerned about the effec-
tives question as the French, considered doubling the size of the German
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army to combat Bolshevism in February 1920, increasing the size of the
German urban police in July 1922, and were often soft on the existence of
German paramilitary organizations.

The French emphasis on the effectives question was apparent through-
out German disarmament. As early as March 1919, at the Paris Peace
Conference, Clemenceau and Foch effectively negated Germany’s man-
power potential by demanding that the German army be limited to only
100,000 troops. A single line in the Versailles Treaty therefore reduced the
powerful German army proportionally to one of the smallest military
forces in Europe. Five months after the German government failed to con-
vince the Allies to double the size of its army at the Spa Conference in July
1920, Allied inspectors reported that the Reichswehr numbered about
100,000 troops. Similar to the enforcement of the major armaments
clauses, a year of Allied disarmament efforts had crippled the German
army, but a significant difference appeared between British and French
reactions to such progress. Whereas the British considered the issues of
armaments and the reduction of the Reichswehr finished by the end of
1920 and started to withdraw from their treaty commitments, the French
insisted upon the complete compliance with the treaty and emphasized the
reduction of the police, eradication of paramilitary associations, and reor-
ganization of the 100,000-man Reichswehr. British evaluations of disar-
mament, with the exception of Morgan, often pointed to past successes of
the IAMCC while the French, especially Foch and Nollet, instead looked
ahead to the points of disarmament that remained unfulfilled. The French
remained highly sensitive to effectives issues, especially the organization of
the Reichswehr and police and the existence of paramilitary organizations,
until the end of Allied disarmament operations.

British dominance

Since Britain and France had done most of the fighting on the Western
Front and emerged from the war as Europe’s predominant powers, they
eagerly inherited the responsibility and authority to determine the shape of
a new Europe. The development and course of German disarmament was
essentially an Anglo–French affair, with Britain becoming the dominant
partner. Although Italy, Belgium, and Japan had representatives on the
Conference of Ambassadors, the Allied Military Committee of Versailles,
and the Inter-Allied Military Control Commission, they rarely played any
decisive role in disarmament affairs except to side with either Britain or
France. The United States, a crucial player in the drafting of the peace set-
tlement, had only a temporary advisory role.

Modifications to the military clauses of the Treaty of Versailles as early
as 1920 established a crack in the rigid foundations of the French policy of
total enforcement, and from 1925 onward the British policy of appease-
ment turned the crack into a fatal fissure. Abandoning the complete
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enforcement of the military clauses of the treaty undermined the original
French position and allowed for the successful implementation of the
British concept of a disarmed Germany. The formal signing of the treaty
justified strict enforcement but French misgivings to act independently
proved too strong. France never recovered from its terrible ordeal in the
war when only Britain, Russia, and the United States allowed it to remain
free from German domination. Consequently, French political and military
leadership decided that acquiescence to British disarmament schemes and
the consequent maintenance of the tacit Anglo–French alliance addressed
the issue of security more than the complete execution of the Treaty of
Versailles and the loss of support against possible German aggression.
Instead of establishing itself as the pre-eminent European power after the
defeat of Germany, France sanctioned British modification to the Treaty of
Versailles and thus resigned itself to a future of diplomatic acquiescence
that lasted until the eruption of hostilities in 1939.

French submission to British policy allowed the seeds of appeasement to
take root in 1920 and bloom in the fertile ground of Locarno. Although
the first modifications of the disarmament clauses of the treaty were
Anglo–French decisions in face of German non-fulfillment, specifically the
decision to extend the period of reducing the Reichswehr to 100,000 sol-
diers in July 1920 at the Spa Conference, Britain soon followed an
independent course. The first signs of Britain’s willingness to modify the
military clauses of the treaty without regard to French wishes occurred a
year after Spa, when British military and political authorities believed they
had disarmed Germany and advocated replacing the IAMCC with a
smaller Allied organization. In January 1921, Lloyd George agreed with
his close adviser, Philip Kerr, that disarmament was open to modification.
Although the French continued to demand German fulfillment of all the
disarmament clauses of the treaty, they accepted the British conception of
the Five Points and the Committee of Guarantee in 1922. This change of
heart abandoned the complete enforcement of the treaty to modification
and weakened German motivation in fulfilling other disarmament aspects
of the treaty. The French had sacrificed the policy of strict enforcement on
the altar of Allied unity.

The French desire for British support to meet their quest for security
against Germany was not reciprocal. The enforcement of disarmament
shifted decisively to London during the Ruhr occupation and remained
dominated by British policy until the termination of operations. As early as
March 1922, after the British rejected the French hope to apply military
sanctions against Germany for lack of treaty fulfillment, Raymond Poin-
caré urged his ambassadors to work with the British regarding disarma-
ment operations. This need for common action subordinated the French to
British policy. For example, in April 1923, when the French tried to force
the resumption of Allied inspections and threatened to take independent
action, British insistence in suspending all Allied inspections forced the
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French to back down, thereby revealing the emptiness of the French threat
and the fear of acting without British support. In November, the French
threat to occupy Hamburg or Frankfurt if Germany refused to allow
inspections and the return of the ex-Crown Prince to Germany resulted in
Britain threatening to withdraw from the Conference of Ambassadors and
the Control Commissions; consequently, France dropped the idea of any
additional independent occupation of German territory. By December
1923, the French accepted the British idea of partial control and agreed
reluctantly that all inspections had to be made with discretion. General
Bingham’s rejection of French wishes to enforce sanctions in case of
German evasion of the military clauses in January 1924 rendered the
IAMCC powerless to act without British support. This is precisely what
Britain foresaw when it insisted in November 1923 that the IAMCC could
act only through the unanimous consent of all its members. France, pun-
ished for its Ruhr indiscretion, subsequently had to witness almost two
years of negligible disarmament results.

British policy toward German disarmament vacillated in response to
serious German treaty evasions but continued to determine the direction of
the Allied disarmament of Germany from 1921 until the end of operations.
Britain advocated moderation after the first year of disarmament opera-
tions but the Locarno treaties and German membership in the League of
Nations justified appeasement. After all, since the crux of the Locarno
treaties pledged Britain to support France in case of German aggression,
why should the Allies need to continue to disarm Germany so strictly?
Only weeks after Chamberlain and Briand stood their ground against Stre-
semann’s attempts to obtain evacuation of Cologne without fulfillment of
the military clauses in October 1925, Chamberlain accepted German
promises of fulfillment as actual compliance. The French buckled under
the loss of support for treaty enforcement and assented to British demands.

When Germany joined the League of Nations in September 1926, the
British Foreign Office referred to the remaining points of German disarma-
ment as “trivial, valueless, and unjustifiable.”2 Chamberlain now openly
doubted their relevance to British security. After the withdrawal of the
IAMCC, the experts were able to attain some degree of progress toward
the issues of fortifications and police despite the fact that the British
government had withdrawn its active and effective participation with dis-
armament operations, and even obstructed progress by denying the valid-
ity of inspections. In mid-July 1928, Chamberlain claimed that the
existence of the experts prevented the establishment of normal diplomatic
relations with Germany and pushed for their withdrawal. After the disso-
lution of the experts in May 1930, Britain severed official ties with the
Conference of Ambassadors and the AMCV, effectively terminating the
Allied disarmament of Germany. As the experts, Conference of Ambas-
sadors, and Allied Military Committee of Versailles faded quietly away by
January 1931, any hopes of disarming Germany strictly under the Treaty
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of Versailles died with them. The French had traded the enforcement of
the Treaty of Versailles for the maintenance of a semblance of the
Anglo–French entente of 1914 to 1918. As a result, Allied disarmament
operations disappeared before the complete enforcement of the military
clauses of the Versailles Treaty, and the Allies ultimately disarmed
Germany under British conditions.

Assessing Allied disarmament operations

Despite the scope and complexity involved in enforcing the military clauses
of the Treaty of Versailles, the Allies were able to disarm Germany with a
great amount of success. The size and offensive capability of the German
army in 1918 presented formidable challenges to Allied disarmament
efforts, yet the final results of the work of the IAMCC were impressive. At
the start of disarmament operations, Germany had an army of approxi-
mately 400,000 men, huge stocks of war material, thousands of factories
involved in military production, and an extensive fortress system. By 1927,
when the IAMCC ceased to function, Allied inspections had verified the
destruction of the stockpiles of armaments, the reduction of the German
army to 100,000 troops, the transformation of German military produc-
tion, and the dismantling of the German system of fortifications. Allied
disarmament operations had eradicated Germany’s modern military
strength by destroying thousands of artillery pieces and mortars, tens of
thousands of machine-guns, and millions of rifles, small arms, and rounds
of ammunition. General von Seeckt, the mastermind of effectives viola-
tions, knew that Germany could never survive an Allied attack without an
army equipped with a modern arsenal of weapons.3 The German army had
become a small defensive force, lacking the size and armaments to fight its
former adversaries and new neighbors. The Allies had also forced
Germany to retool her war industries and left her borders without a
significant network of fortresses and defensive works. Although Britain
and France never enforced all the military clauses of the treaty – especially
those concerning the German police and other organizational manpower
issues – the IAMCC and its inspectors from 1920 to 1927 had destroyed
Germany’s ability to wage a modern war.

With a team of four experts, the Allies successfully resolved some of the
less pressing issues of disarmament from 1927 to 1931. In this final period
of Allied disarmament operations, the Allies forced Germany to pass a law
forbidding the importation and exportation of war material, dismantle a
number of illegal eastern forts, and agree to reorganize its state police
forces. Only minor problems, such as the use of military establishments
and the existence of some paramilitary units, remained when the Allies
finally disbanded the Conference of Ambassadors, AMCV, and experts in
1931.

The IAMCC experienced its greatest period of success from the start of
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operations in 1920 to the beginning of 1921, after the progress exacted by
the Spa Protocol. During this period, the IAMCC witnessed the surrender
or destruction of over 80 percent of the total armaments that Germany
would ultimately surrender or destroy.4 In addition, inspectors ascertained
that Germany had reduced the Reichswehr to approximately 100,000
troops and dismantled most of its fortifications network. The remaining
years of Allied disarmament efforts essentially focused on verifying that
Germany remained at these levels and enforcing the less important remain-
ing points of disarmament that Germany steadfastly refused to fulfill. The
British assessment in 1922 that the Allies had disarmed Germany, there-
fore, was accurate to a point: Germany had no real offensive capability but
still had not complied with the details of the Treaty of Versailles.

The Allied enforcement of all three elements of disarmament – arma-
ments, effectives, and fortifications – experienced varying degrees of
success. Both the British and French agreed that Allied inspections verified
almost complete German compliance with the armaments clauses of the
treaty. The IAMCC in its Final Report in 1927 considered the armaments
question resolved. In essence, the destruction of war material ceased to be
a major Allied concern following eighteen months of IAMCC operations.
But the illegal production and export of war material and discoveries of
weapons caches continued the need for Allied vigilance and indicated that
German fulfillment of the armaments clauses was never completely satis-
factory. Allied prognostications regarding the impact of the enforcement of
the armaments clauses were also never wholly reassuring. Because the
Germans refused to turn over an accurate inventory of war material at the
beginning of disarmament operations, the Allies had to rely on the best
assessments of IAMCC and intelligence officers stationed in Germany.
Nonetheless, two of the biggest skeptics involved in disarming Germany –
Nollet and Morgan – believed that the Allies had all but destroyed
Germany’s armaments, particularly her heavy artillery.5

The multifaceted nature of the effectives question made it the most diffi-
cult to enforce. Unlike the armaments question, the French were never sat-
isfied with Allied progress in reducing German armed personnel. General
Nollet, Marshal Foch, and French military intelligence, along with
Brigadier-General Morgan, uncovered many surplus German military for-
mations, reserves, and associations. Inspectors could easily verify the
destruction of guns, shells, and fortified works but, short of constant sur-
veillance or even armed conflict, there was no similar method that could be
used to assess the potential threat of German military personnel. The Allies
placed severe restrictions upon the size and organization of the German
army and police forces, and hoped to dissolve the paramilitary organi-
zations altogether. Enforcing the effectives clauses was thus a lengthy and
arduous process. Despite German obstruction and General von Seeckt’s
attempts to establish German cadres for the future, the pervasive character
of the work of Allied inspections rendered the German army little more

Conclusion 189

 



than a domestic police force. By the beginning of 1921, after Britain and
France strengthened treaty enforcement through the threat of military
sanctions, the IAMCC had reduced the German army to 100,000 troops,
though the excess numbers of officers and the existence of a High
Command continued to plague Allied efforts until the end of operations.
By the time the Allies withdrew from Germany in 1931, they had also
reduced and reorganized the German police forces and eradicated most of
the organized paramilitary forces in Germany.

Allied disarmament operations concerning the destruction of German
fortifications were initially a complete success. Progress in dismantling the
massive German network of fortifications, from the concrete bunkers in
the Rhineland to the coastal forts around Königsberg, led to the dissolu-
tion of the Fortifications Sub-commission in February 1922. When the
British and French later discovered the construction of illegal German forts
in East Prussia, however, they allowed Germany to retain a number of
them simply because the Allies never viewed German defenses, especially
those in the east, as a serious threat to their security. Instead the Allies
wished to settle the remaining armaments and effectives questions, which
raised the more important possibility of offensive German operations.

Much of the credit for successfully disarming Germany belongs to the
Inter-Allied Military Control Commission and especially its teams of
inspectors, who worked feverishly to disarm Germany in an atmosphere
fraught with obstruction and danger. A rather modest force of inspectors
of the Armaments and Effectives Sub-commissions successfully supervised
the destruction of tons of war material, dismantled thousands of German
war production facilities, and presided over the reduction and reorganiza-
tion of the Reichswehr. They also worked assiduously to discover numer-
ous treaty violations, as Germany attempted to increase its military
strength beyond the scope of the Treaty of Versailles. Despite facing
obstruction at every turn and experiencing violent reactions from a frus-
trated populace, from 1920 to 1923 Allied inspectors all but destroyed the
military power that had recently threatened to dominate Europe.

The German strategy to circumvent disarmament was largely futile as
the Allies consistently rejected German attempts to modify the enforce-
ment of the military clauses of the Versailles Treaty. Time and again the
Allies foiled German efforts to modify disarmament demands, most
importantly when they rejected the German request for the establishment
of a 200,000-man Reichswehr at the Spa Conference in July 1920. Other
German attempts to increase their military strength above the restrictions
of the Treaty of Versailles that the Allies rejected included the conservation
of artillery and light arms in fortifications in 1920, maintenance of the
Sicherheitspolizei, modification of the definition of war material, increase
in the number of authorized war production factories, insistence on the
presence of a German liaison officer for all inspections, and demands to
evacuate Cologne in January 1925. Nonetheless, the Germans were able to
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achieve one significant success in modifying Allied disarmament demands.
After the German government successfully petitioned the Allies for police
increases, the Allies obliged them at Boulogne in June 1920 by granting an
increase in the German police to 150,000 men. This Allied modification
was an Anglo–French policy undertaken to combat the possible rise of Bol-
shevism at a time when the Weimar Republic was fighting for its political
livelihood.

Although the Germans were able to increase their military strength
beyond the restrictions of Allied demands through a strategy of obstruc-
tion and delay, these increases were trivial. By refusing to fulfill Allied dis-
armament demands, obstructing Allied inspections, and repeatedly
petitioning the IAMCC and the Conference of Ambassadors with requests
for disarmament modifications, the German government was able to
eschew its military obligations under the Treaty of Versailles. Con-
sequently, Allied deadlines for various facets of disarmament often became
meaningless, and some details of the military clauses of the treaty
remained without resolution for years. But German military violations did
not equal the success that Allied modifications of the military clauses of
the Treaty of Versailles provided.

The fact that the British and French remained in Germany until
Germany fulfilled the most significant military demands negated the value
of obstruction and delay. This German strategy allowed Germany to
violate some of the military clauses of the treaty but it also provided the
Allies with a justification to remain in Germany for eleven years. Other
than reinforcing the Anglo–French entente, the overall impact of German
treaty evasions was negligible when compared to the overall Allied demili-
tarization of Germany. Illicit production and stores of war material, excess
police and Reichswehr officers and soldiers, and the maintenance of para-
military organizations added little weight to the state of the German mili-
tary in the 1920s. When measured against the quantitative and qualitative
strength of the French army alone, the German army was a second-rate
defensive force. Germany had the intent to violate Versailles and increase
its military strength but certainly never had the capability to threaten any
of its neighbors. Hitler’s remilitarization of Germany started in 1935 on an
unprecedented scale because nothing impeded it – no longer did Allied
inspectors, supported by the threat of an Anglo–French policy of military
sanctions, have a presence on German soil.

The effectiveness of Allied sanctions

The disarmament section of the Treaty of Versailles was extensive but the
peacemakers did not give the same level of detail or foresight to the effi-
cacy of enforcing the military clauses. As difficulties emerged, for instance,
the passing of the initial deadline without progress, defining war material,
or authorizing the number of German armaments factories, the Allies had
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to develop disarmament policies that the peacemakers of 1919 did not
address. This flexibility fit the British mold of post-war diplomacy but
often created problems for the rigidity of French security policy. The most
egregious mistake of the Paris peacemakers was not to include specific
plans in the treaty to induce German fulfillment of the military clauses
through sanctions. Without the benefit of experience, Britain, France, and
their smaller partners had to develop spontaneous policies regarding the
detailed operations of disarmament while ensuring German fulfillment of
the treaty. The Allied coalition often formulated disarmament strategies in
Germany on an ad hoc basis, and this reactive and uncertain policy-
making facilitated the widening of Anglo–French differences and allowed
Germany to attempt to weaken Allied resolve. Yet when the coalition
worked together and formulated disarmament demands supported by mili-
tary sanctions, the IAMCC experienced tremendous progress.

The most important factor in assessing the progress and success of the
Allied disarmament of Germany was the level of Anglo–French unity
involved in the development of policies and the enforcement of the military
clauses of the Treaty of Versailles. When Britain and France formulated
common disarmament strategies and enforced them under the threat of
military sanctions, Allied disarmament policy was markedly more success-
ful in eliciting German compliance than when Britain or France felt
coerced into a decision or when they refused to threaten Germany with
sanctions. Three major events in the first five years of disarmament illus-
trate that common Allied policy supported by the possibility of sanctions
resulted in remarkable progress in the execution of the military clauses of
the treaty and accounted for the preponderance of the overall success of
disarmament. At the Spa Conference in July 1920, the May ultimatum in
1921, and in discussions regarding Cologne in January 1925, Britain and
France developed policies in concert that led to immediate increases in the
amount of German fulfillment and prevented any substantial successes for
German aspirations of disarmament evasions.

The first year of Allied disarmament operations in Germany experi-
enced the greatest amount of fulfillment of the disarmament clauses of the
Treaty of Versailles, and the preponderance of success occurred as a result
of the proclamation of the Spa Protocol in July 1920.6 After demanding
fulfillment of the disarmament clauses at the Boulogne Conference in June
with no visible results, at the Spa Conference Britain and France reiterated
their demands for compliance with the military clauses of the treaty. Most
importantly, they backed their demands with an occupation ultimatum.
The threat of French and British troops in the Ruhr set an Allied precedent
for the use of military sanctions as a political weapon and had a startling
effect upon German disarmament. For the remainder of the year, the
success of the IAMCC was unparalleled as the Allies witnessed an increase
in the amount of armaments that Germany surrendered and destroyed,
and Germany reduced the Reichswehr to 100,000 troops by the revised
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deadline of 1 January 1921. The key to success was the strength of
Anglo–French unity at the Spa Conference in July 1920 where Britain
especially demonstrated conviction in enforcing disarmament upon
Germany. The effectiveness of the use of sanctions in the Spa Protocol
influenced subsequent Allied decisions when the rate of disarmament
progress once again diminished.

After a successful period of disarmament, by 1921 German fulfillment
of the military clauses began to wane, so the Allies took steps once again
to enforce compliance. In the Paris meetings of January 1921, Britain and
France threatened to increase the extent of the Rhineland occupation
unless Germany continued to comply with disarmament. This ultimatum
failed to elicit any further progress in disarmament, and the Allies subse-
quently occupied Duisburg, Ruhrort, and Düsseldorf for the next four
years. Although the Paris ultimatum marked the sole occurrence where the
threat of military sanctions failed to force the hand of Germany in the ful-
fillment of the disarmament clauses of the treaty, it illustrated Allied con-
victions in resolutely carrying out the decision to use force. Therefore,
when Britain and France decided to apply an even more forceful policy in
London in the spring, the newly formed Wirth government pledged itself
to a policy of fulfillment. The London ultimatum of May 1921, in which
the Allies threatened to occupy the Ruhr if Germany did not comply with
new Allied disarmament demands, consequently resulted in further
progress in the reduction and organization of the Reichswehr and the
destruction of armaments. In fact, disarmament operations, buoyed by the
Spa Protocol and London ultimatum, convinced the British that the disar-
mament of Germany was nearing completion by July 1921. The Allied
attempt to elicit final German compliance through the replacement of the
IAMCC with a smaller control organization (the Committee of Guarantee)
in September 1922, however, resulted in no progress. The threat of sanc-
tions was simply a more effective means of enforcing disarmament than
the positive reinforcement of German fulfillment.

The third test of Allied willpower in the enforcement of the disarma-
ment clauses of the Treaty of Versailles occurred at the beginning of
January 1925. In a show of united strength and determination, Britain and
France informed the German government that Allied troops would not
evacuate Cologne due to the discovery of widespread evasions of the mili-
tary clauses of the treaty that occurred during the suspension of inspec-
tions. Unlike the previous Spa and London ultimatums, the decision to
maintain an Allied military presence in Cologne was legally justified by the
Treaty of Versailles. After the initial outrage of Luther and Stresemann
had abated, the German government decided to cooperate with the Allies
with alacrity, and the resumption of progress toward disarmament carried
into the Locarno Conference. Even at Locarno in October 1925, Chamber-
lain and Briand stood united against Stresemann’s insistence upon the
evacuation of Cologne before the fulfillment of disarmament when the
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British and French statesmen refused jointly to withdraw Allied troops
from Cologne until Germany complied with the military clauses. The
Locarno Conference was the swan-song of Allied efforts toward the
enforcement of disarmament. Soon afterward, Chamberlain wavered and
accepted German promises instead of actual proof of compliance. Self-
serving policies inflamed by the conflict of appeasement versus security put
an effective end to truly Allied policy toward the disarmament of
Germany. Any subsequent German compliance occurred sporadically and
was never close to the extent of progress that occurred under united Allied
policy supported by military sanctions.

Making and maintaining peace, especially after one of the most catas-
trophic conflicts in human history, was a monumental challenge to the
peacemakers in 1919 and beyond. A successful peace depended upon the
effective disarmament of Germany, one of the foremost military powers in
the world. While largely successful in destroying German military power,
the Allies did not always overcome such difficulties as the concealment of
war material and surplus troops; nor did they prevent obstruction, treaty
violations, and abuse. Consequently, some lessons may be learned from
the Allied disarmament experience in Germany. First, despite the strength
of the German army and industrial capacity at the end of the war, the size
of the IAMCC peaked at only about 1,200 soldiers, with even fewer
inspectors. An increased number of inspectors and surprise inspections
would have strengthened Allied assessments of German military capability
and led to a more effective means of disarming Germany. Second, the lack
of contingency plans for German opposition, even when most IAMCC
officers expected difficulties, diminished the otherwise solid record of
Allied disarmament. A firm Allied policy of sanctions, developed before
the start of disarmament operations, might have avoided the endless delays
and debates that followed discoveries of German violations or reports of
attacks on inspection teams. With a typical ad hoc Allied response often
bereft of stringent punitive schemes, military violations continued, and the
IAMCC, dissatisfied with the lack of compliance and fearful of German
intentions, remained in Germany well after disarmament deadlines had
passed. Third, if the Allies had continued periodic inspections of the
German military establishment after the departure of the IAMCC and the
experts, or had at least strengthened the initial plan for the League of
Nations to conduct and support subsequent inspections with possible sanc-
tions, German rearmament in the 1930s may have taken a different path.

The experience of Allied inspectors in the disarmament of Germany
after World War I should not be cast aside as obsolete or obscured by the
shadow of Hitler’s rearmament. With diligence, ingenuity, and the support
of an international coalition, IAMCC inspectors roamed the German
countryside in the early 1920s and stripped the German military of its
prowess. Only in their absence, and in a radically altered political and
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diplomatic climate, was Germany truly able to rearm itself for war. As dis-
armament and inspections continue to capture the attention of the inter-
national community in the twenty-first century, especially in places such as
Iraq, Iran, and Libya, Allied disarmament efforts from 1920 to 1931
should not be dismissed out of hand. Although this study does not provide
a blueprint for the policy-makers of today, it does shed light on the experi-
ences, successes, and failures that international weapons inspectors faced
in disarming a powerful and embittered nation. Such lessons continue to
be valuable today.

When the Allied disarmament of Germany came to a close in 1931,
Britain, France, and Germany were all left with questions. Britain had
imprinted Allied disarmament policy with its own stamp but had to face
the fact that operations had been prolonged for eleven years. France
emerged from the end of disarmament operations with the same amount of
national insecurity as at the end of the war. Germany was left with a small
defensive military and remained embittered toward Allied infringement of
its sovereignty. Overall, Allied disarmament from 1920 to 1931 had been
too long for Britain, too little for France, and too much for Germany.
Nonetheless, Allied disarmament operations proved to be a successful but
transitory endeavor to secure peace. The inherent industrial and military
potential of Germany proved too much for Britain, France, and the League
of Nations in the aftermath of the Great Depression, and Hitler trans-
formed the nation into the foremost military power in the world. Without
the presence of Allied inspectors, Germany resurrected the piles of gun
barrels, masses of discharged soldiers, and the dusty debris of fortifications
that Allied disarmament had left in its wake. The hinge of Anglo–French
relations in the 1920s had been the disarmament of Germany, and the bolt
in the hinge was the Allied enforcement of the Treaty of Versailles.
Without that bolt, the door to the future security of Europe fell open, and
Europe soon shuddered once again under the impact of war.
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